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FOREWORIJ 

The Collolvin& is the transcript of an oral hjstory inter· 

view re~ordcd on magnetic tape. Si»ce only minor cmcnda· 

tions have been made, the reader shoul~ consistently bear 

in mind that he is rcadin g" a tran$cript of the spoken 

rather than the lvritten Nord. AdJitionally, no attempt to 

confirm the historical accuracy of the statements has been 

made. As a result, the transcript reflects the intervicl>ee 's 

personal recollections of -a situation as he remcwbcred it 

at the time of the intcrvicl~. 

Editorial notes and additions made by USAF historians are 

enclosed in brackets. If feasible, first names, ranks, or 

titles arc also provided. /my additions, deletions and 

changes subse<!Uently made to the tr-anscript by the inter· 

viewce arc not indicated. Researchers may wish to listen 

to the. actual interview tape prior to citing the transcript. 
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KNOW ALL ll~r: ;I'{ Tlfi£SE PRESE JTS: 

That I , --~G=e~n~J~o~h~n_W~·~V~o~gt~------------------ · have this 

dny fln rt:icipil tcd in an or<ll- m<lr,netic -taped intervie1~ with 

~D~r~·~Jam~e~s~C~· ~H=a~sd~o~r~f~f _________ . covering my best recollec-

tion ot events and experiences wh ich may be of historica l 

significance co the United States Air Force. 

Understanding tha t the t ape(s) and the transcribed 

manuscript resulting t herefrom will be accessioned i nto 

che Archives of the Air Force to be used, as the s ecurity 

classification permits, by qualified historical researchers 

whose access has been determined to be in the best in-

terest of the United States Air Force, I do hereby volun­

taril y give , trans~n~, and assign all right , title, 

and 1nterest in the mer.~oirs and remembrances contained in 

the aforementioned r.~agnetic tapes and manuscript " to t he 

Offic .· of ir Force History, acting on behalf of t he United 

States o f Arte r ica, to have and tc hold the same f ot·ever, 

1 tn· h~ relinquishing for myself,! my executors, administra­

tors, heirs, and assigns all ownership, right , title, and 

interest therein to the donee subject only to the following 

restrictions : 

Accepted on behalf of the 

Office of Air Force History 
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SU~L'IARY OF CONTENTS 

General John W, Vogt had the rare distinction of serving 
as both Commander of PACAF and USAFE, opportunities which 
allowed him to have a much broader perspective of the world 
military situation than the usual career officer. General 
Vogt's interview reflects this global view which was rein­
forced by his experiences at the top levels of Government 
as· well as an enviable academic ba.ckground from Yale and 
Columbia Universities and the -Harvard School for International 
Affairs. The interview covers all aspects of General Vogt's 
diversified career and includes such topics as: combat 
experiences in World l~ar II, his working. relationship with 
Sec.retary McNamara, the Cuban missile crisis, the political 
debacle in Southeast Asia, and the USAF need for an all­
weather capability. 

iii 
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Guide to Contents 

Gen John W. Vogt 

Page( s) 

1 Early life in N'e"· Jersey, 

Z Grandparents came from ·Germany. 

3 Enrolled in civilian pilot training program while 
in college, 

4 Received flying training at Randolph and Ellington 
Fields. 

6 Assigned to Nitchel Fiel.d and the. 56th Fighter Group. 

8 Group was shipped to England on the Queen Elizabeth. 

9 Initial combat with Luftwaffe was difficult. 

10 Several leaders in th~ group shot down an impressive 
number of German aircraft . 

13 ~loraie was extremely high in outfit. 

15 Achieved eight ~nemy kills during World Wn II. 

16 Ai rcraft was damaged and crash - landed in England. 

18 Volunteered for assignment in Brazil. 

20 U-boat captains fled to Argentina after the war i n 
Europe. 

Zl Assigned to Mitchel Field as an intelligence staff 
officer. 

22 Attended Yale University and received degree. 

23 Was the first UFO office·r in the Air Force. 

24 No credibility in UFOs. 

26 Applied for and was accepted for graduate school 
at Columbia University. 
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26 
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32 
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57 
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Became an assistant to. the JCS representative on 
the senior staff of the NSC. 

Early involvement Kith Vietnam situation. 

Sent to PACAF as the assistant to the Deputy for 
Plans and Operations. 

Received 1-year fello1~ship to Harvard Center for 
lnterna,.tional Affairs. 

Became an Air Force planner on the JCS. 

l~as involved in the Cuban Crisis. 

Paul Nitze did country a tremendous service during 
Cuban Crisis. 

Robert Kennedy persuaded President Kennedy to 
withdra)\' air cover for Bay of Pigs operation .. 

President Kennedy was first to abandon traditional 
machinery for decision making. 

-
JCS was · bypassed in planning the Cuban invasion. 

Did not testify on Hill while Chief of Policy 
Planning Staff. 

McNamara was a believer in the computer. 

Past Sec~etaries of Defense have always gotten 
into the personnel business. 

~fcNamara went further than previous Secretaries of 
Defense. 

Administration selected targets to preclude 
indiscriminate bombing charges. 

Personal acquaintanceship with Administration 
members later helped while Seventh Air Force 
Collllllander. 

President was concerned over bad press reports on 
cross-border operation. 
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60 "Pipe'; incident caused uproar with the media. 

63 Why free hand was given in conducting air war in 
SEA. · 

64 Completely different operat ing pol i cies between 
Secretaries McNamara and Laird. 

66 McNamara spent billion on electronic defense line 
in Vietnam. 

67 Should not have become involved in ground war in SEA. 

70 l~ent to PACAF as Chief _of Plans arid Operations. 

72 LORAN acquirt-d for all -weather capabilili ty in SEA. 

75 Navy is the only service producing all-weather 
aircraft. 

76 Intimately inv~lved with initial F-111 problems 
in SEA. 

77 McNamara pushed for commonality.· 

79 F-lil was a good iircraft after bugs were removed. 

g1 F-llls used to support Mt-o tribesmen in Laos. 

84 F·llls successfully defended Phnom Penh. 

88 Protested Kissinger's order to stop bombing Hanoi. 

90 Six B-52s were lost over Hanoi ' to SAMs. 

92 LORAN-equipped F-4s dest~oyed missile assembly 
plant in Hanoi. 

94 LORAN-equipped F•4s guide B-52s over the target in 
Cambodia. 

95 

96 

No all-weather capability in Europe except for one 
wing ·of f·llls. 

McClellan Colllmittee was critical of ~lcNamara and 
the F-111 program. 

vi 
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100 Transferred back to Washington following Rolling 
Thunder campaign. 

101 Gen J. P. McConnell had great rapport, unlike 
General Ryan, with people on the Hill. 

103 Initially did not get along with Gen Earle Wheeler. 

104 General Wheeler requested report of everything said 
during a 2-year period. 

105 Secretary had fortunately _retained all previous 
records. 

107 Worked very effectively with Admiral ~loorer. 

109 Received report from Navy that a mutiny had taken 
"place on a munitions ship on the way to Thailand. 

114 Worked together with the Navy on a number of 
gccasions. 

115 

117 

Navy likes to operate independently. 

Authority to conduct ai'r war in SEA ·was never put 
in writing by the President. 

119 Assignment of Route Packs created interservice 
problems in North Vietnam. 

125 CINCPAC was remote from war but was trying to 
conduct affairs. 

126 Newspaper reporter printed distorted story about 
bombing dams and dikes in North Vietnam. 

129 Reporter claimed 10 Cambodian cities were bombed 
by. B· S2s. 

135 Was given authority to bomb powerplant turbines 
but not dam in North Vietnam. 

137 Pilot bombed Communist Party Headquarters in Hanoi 
by mistake. 

139 Modern constraints on co-anders are ridiculous. 

vii 
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140 Jane Fonda thought North Vietnamese were patriotic 
people interes~ed in the welfare of their country. 

142 ~isiting Senator slept through briefing on bombing 
of Cambodia. 

144 Bella Abzug visited SEA to see why Cambodia and 
Laos were being bombed. 

148 Gen John D. Lavelle was immediate predecessor. 

153 Inspector General was sent to SEA to investigate 
Lavelle affair, 

155 General Lavelle felt rules of engagement were 
implied. 

159 US airpower had to do what 500,000 ground troops 
had done previously. 

163 Effort made to destroy 130-millimeter guns in 
Quang Tri province. 

166 Army does not have a gun as effective as Russian 
130-millimeter type. 

167 Recollections of the Pueblo incident. 

174 Navy did not notify anyone of impending Pueblo 
mission. 

180 The United States, unlike North Korea, observes 
international rules. 

182 Maverick weapon system was ineffective in SEA and 
Europe. 

186 One-on-one system is not at all cost effective. 

189 Germans were developing a ~ystem called STREBO. 

192 The use of Agent Orange as a defoliant in -SEA. 

197 Air/Sea Rescue played an absolutely essential role 
in SEA. 

zoo Son Tay raid was conceived while J-3 in Washington. 

viii 
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ZOS Son Tay Raid. precluded any further effort. 

206 Comments on t he book, The Air War in Indochina. 

20-9 Communists were constantly fi e lding · improved 
weapon systems. 

212 Vietnamese general denied laser-guided bomb 
support because it was not cost effective. 

214 High cost of modern weapon systems. 

215 Was first Commander of Allied Forces Central Europe. 

216 F-16s l ~ck·, of all-weat.her capability made it 
unsuitable for Europe. 

217 Was impr.essed with Swedish Viggen aircraft. 

218 Flew European aircraft but was denied authority 
to test fly F-16. 

221 Kissinger killed- effort to bring F-llls to Europe . 

223 Area commander has little say-so over which weapon 
systems are procured. 

226 Selection of A-10 was bad decision fo·r USAF i"! 
Europe. 

227 Suggestions for lowering weapon systems costs in 
the tactical and strategic ~teas. 

231 \~as not a strong advocate of the B-1 bomber. 

232 Cruise missile has some potential. 

233 Opposed to expensive developments in the strategic 
area that drive costs up unnecessarily. 

235 Additional modifications after weapon systems 
have gone into production cause cost overruns. 

237 Excessive civilian control of field commanders 
should be avoided in the future. 

ix 
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Page(s) 

238 Was not too .optimistic in asse ssing North 
Vietnamese at the time. 

239 Terms of peace treaty were not obser ved by -North 
Vietnamese. 

240 l'latergate paralyzed US react i on to trea t y violat i ons . 

241 Accused of crying wolf when alerting Washington of 
treaty violations. 

245 US failure to react to treaty violations was a 
sellout of the South Nietnamese. 

248 Pathet Lao forces attacked in violatfon of cease­
fire in Laos. 

255 Informed by Ambassador Graham Martin that further 
visits to corps commanders were prohibited. 

256 Unwillingness to enforce agreement allowed the 
military victory to be given a~ay. 

258 Airpower played decisive role in Vietnam. 

261 General Hollingsworth exer~ed heroic effort to 
save city of An Loc. 

266 General Hollingsworth was unaware that his Army 
cohorts had initially denied him air support. 

268 ~~CV staff was rooted to the scene in Saigon. 

270 Army commanders traditionally depend heavily on 
their staffs. 

272 Air commander was wi dely separated from ground 
commander in Germany. 

274 Good working relationship with General Weyand. 

275 Eu~opeans have doubts of US sincerity following 
fall 9£ South Vietnam .. 

276 Urged by Washington officials to reassure South 
Vietnamese generals. 

X 
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Page(s) · 

281 Downgrading of PACAF Commander and poss i ble 
ramifications. 

283 Changes made after becoming USAFB Commander. 

289 Attacked ope:t;at i onal problems while General Poe 
took care of "housekeeping" duties. 

292 German General Ferber was assured by US officials 
that West would have 30-day warning of Soviet 
attack. 

294 Computers were a bad word in NATO. 

299 USAF aircraft l osses were initially heavy over 
North Vi etnam. 

301 With fusion of intelligence with operations 
ratios changed 4 to 1 in USAF favor. 

303 Could talk i mmediately by secure phone to Thailand 
but could not talk to German commander 250 
kilome.ters away. 

304 Doctrinal problems existed between air forc~s of 
NATO countries. 

309 US no longer enjoys tactical nuclea.r superiority 
in Europe . 

313 Security leaks were great within NATO. 

315 New emphasis is being placed on NATO. 

318 Senate and House Committee decided to cut all­
weather Navy A-6 aircraft program. 

320 Effort being made in NATO to standardize weapon 
systems. 

323 LORAN net is sti~l operational in Europe. 

324 Shortcomings of Harrier aircraft. 

328 Campaigned for improved version of F-4 Wild Weasel. 

xi 
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330 US Army has fallen behind i n electronic warfare. 

331 Sovi ets are active in chemical warfare exercises. 

334 Concerned about mismatch of US and Sovi et stra tegi c 
forces. 

337 Soviets have cleverly kept . strategic Backfire 
bomber out of SALT negotiations. 

341 Sovi et weapons advances .over US are disturbing. 

343 Soviets will not be content wi th parity. 

344 No nuclear protected facilit i es in all of N~TO. 

347 Gen George Keegan has been accurate in forecasting 
Soviet developments. 

349 Europeans have a large role. in the deployment of 
nuclear weapons. 

356 ~lcNamara was insensitive in his dealings with the 
European allies. 

358 French military part i cipation in NATO is essential. 

361 Communist influence in Western Europe has started 
to subside. 

364 Soviets will try to explo i t s i tuation in Yugoslavia 
upon 7ito's death. 

368 Gen Robert J. Dixon's pessimism regarding the 
declining US airpower. 

371 Infringement of roles and missions by the various 
services. 

374 One-unifor~ concept is not desirable solution. 

377 Army priorities must bc . considered by USAF. 

378 Helicopters and A-10 aircraft will not be survivable 
in European combat environment. 
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381 Loss of USAF pilots to the airlines. 

385 Modern airman is · more concerned with creature 
comforts. 

387 Lack of integrity in senior Air Force leaders. 

390 Problems with the OER system. 

397· Commanded both PACAF and USAFE. 

400 Retirement laws need some modification. 

404 Dissatisfied with USAF choice of weapon systems. 
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Taped Interview with Gen John w. Vogt, USAF (Ret) 
Conducted by Lt Col Arthur w. McCants, Jr. and 
Dr. James c. Hasdorff 

B: To begin the interview, General Vogt, I'd like to 

ask you a few questions about your early life. How 

large a family did you come from? And what kind of 

profession was yo1.1r father in? 

V: I was one of three children. I have another brother 

who is 4 years younger than I aa, who is living up in 

New York at the present time in the pleasure boatinq 

business, and I have an older sister, 2 vears older 

than I am. who is livinq up in New Jersev. 

My father was an accountant for the Union Carbide 

Company. The plant was located i~ north New Jersey. 

We lived most of my early life in the Elizabeth, New 

·Jersey, area because of the proximity to the office 

that he worked in, But he was the accountant for the 

Union Carbide company. 
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H: All right. I take it from what you are telling me 

' that there was no military tradition in your ' family 

at all? 

V: None whatsoever. I 'm the first, as far as I know, 

career professional military guy in the entire Vogt 

family. 

H: How long has your family been in this country, do you ! 

have any idea? . ' l 
V: My grandparents came over from Germany when they ~ere l 

young, in their late teens or early twenties, and they 

settled in the Elizabeth', New Jecsey, area. Both my 1 

I 

parents, _of course, were born here in this country. My 

mother was born in Pennsylvanial my father eight in 

New Jersey·. 

~: You don't have any idea when it was that they came to • 

this country? 

V: Well, let's see, we'll have to count back. Say, maybe 

100 years ago, somewhere around there. 

2 
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• 

H: When did you first have an interest in anything to do 

with aviation? 

V: When I was in college I enrolled in the civilian pilot 

training program and actually had a private license 

before I went to flying school. I did a little flying 

in p~ivate aircraft prior to my going into the Air 

Force. 

H: What triggered this interest? Was there any particular 

event or person that made you 

V: Well, I'll tell you quite frankly what my interest 

was in being prepared for military service, which I 

knew was going to be inevitable at that point. I'll 

never forget; this was back in. the early forties; the 

war was on in Europe; US (United States} involvement was 

becoming apparent, and I knew that sooner or later · we 

would be in the war. I much preferred to be in it in a 

professional capacity as a pilot than doing it the hard 

way on the ground and that really motivated my dr-ive to 

get into the flying business. And my civilian pilot 

training was more or less in preparation for making a 

career in the Air Force, ultimately. I say .Air Force, 

3 
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it was actually the Air Corps of the Army back in those 

d~ys. 

H: According to your biography, you went to both Randolph 

and Ellington Fields in Texas for · your flying training. 

Who were some of your instructors back then? Can you 

remember anybody in particular that stood out? 

V: I couldn't recall the name of anybody back in those 

days. They have all been completely erased from my 

memory. I have no idea. I actually went to primary 

flying school at Ballinger, Texas, which was a civilian 

contract school. we flew the old PT-19s at Ballinger. 

Then I went on to Randolph, and from there I was selected 

for multi-engine training. This didn't sit too well 

with me. I was actually anxious to get into fighters, 

but they made their selections on · a rather arbitrary 

basis back in those days, and I was sent to twin-engine 

flying school. Ironically, some of the boys who were 

selected for single-engine schools wound up later in 

bombers over sk.ies of Europe, and I wound up in fighters. 

(laughter) The reason for that is that timing being 

what it was I got out of the multi~engine school at 

Ellington at precisely the time they needed some pilots 

4 

U 1C ASSiT! ~. i .. ' 

This page is declassified IA W EO 13526 



UNCLASSllilED 
VOGT 

to fly P-38s, which were entering the inventory in 

increasing nu~bers, so they needed multi-engine people. 

I was sent up to Mitchel Field to the old 56th Fighter 

Group, which was scheduled to get P-38s, to be one of 

their pilots. Once again, fate entered into it and the 

decision was made somewhere along the line to convert 

the P-38s into P-47s, so I wound up in a single-engine · 

fighter after all, and that's actually. the airplane 

that we went overseas with, the old P-47 Thunderbolt. 

H: How was the washout ·rate during . the period that you 

went through? Was it pretty high then yet? 

V: No. The washout rate, I would say, was relatively low. 

There was great urgency about getti~g pilots into "the 

c~ckpit, and I think the process that was employe_d at 

the time was a pretty good one. If the guy was a 

reasonably good pilot and showed a lot of potential, he 

was put into high performance aviation. If he was the 

kind of guy that had to have a lo~ of support and help, 

he wound up in less critical areas. He may have been 

in the Perry Command or transports or something of that 

sort. So, unlike today where they are pretty stringent 

in their requirements, in those days we were anxious to 

5 
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get pilots. Remember we were ~oing into a dramatic 

expansion in the Air Corps back in those days from 

practically no airplanes at all, just 1,000 or more, 

up to 25,000 or 30,000 in a period of a couple of 

years--vast expansion required. 

B: Was there ever any doubt in your mind that you wouldn't 

get through? Or where you pretty sure of yourself? 

V: Well, I think everybody in flying school had their 

moments of doubt. All it takes is one bad check 

ride, you know, at the wrong time, and you are in 

trouble. I was, of course, helped by the fact that I 

had a private license before, and the earlier phases 

of training were. rather simple for me because it was 

much of what I had already learned. When we started 

getting into the advanced categories, it got more 

difficult, and I think, like everybody else, I had a 

few moments of doubt. But basically I think I knew 

that I could fly airplanes. 

H: You went. up to Mitchel Field, you said. This was 

another training assignment? 

6 
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V: This was right. after graduation from flying school, and 

I reported into the 56th Fighter Group, which was 

preparing to go overseas. They had P-3Bs assigned to 

them, but P- 3Bs were split off from the ~ain group 

early in the game and had formed ano.ther group. I 

think they wound up in the Far East somewhere. And 

those who remained were put in the P-47 Thunderbolt, 

which was just coming into production, out at Farmingdale, 

Long Island. We actually went to Farmingdale to get 

the first few airplanes to fly to work on and to train 

with. .I was with the first squadron ever to get P-47Si 

we were the first ones to fly it. 

R: You were one of the fortunate few that got to go directly 

over because so many of them, in the early days, were 

put in training assignments tand had a rough time getting 

out of it for the rest of the ·war. 

V: I have talked to many a guy who sweated the war out 

back here trying like the devil to ~et out of the 

country, but 'good fortune was mine and I just happened 

to move in the right di~ection so that actually within 

a year I was overseas and in combat. 
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H: Row were you ferried overseas? Did you go by ship or 

did you fly? How did they move you at that time? 

v: They picked the entire group up and loaded it on board 

the Queen Elizabeth, and we sailed over. The airplanes 

were brought over on decks of Navy ships, as I recall, 

Navy carriers. We were 'reunited with our airplanes 

in England. 

H: ~here did you wind up in England? 

V: The first base was ca~led Wittering. It was an RAF 

(Royal Air Force) field, and it was flying Mosquito 

bombers. It was a great, big old sod field, and we 

were actually flying the old Thunderbolt out of sod 

fields, originally. 

H: What were some of the first missions that you were op? 

V: The first year of our .active wor~ over there was escort 

work, primarily. We were mounting the •assive air 

campaign with B-24& and B-17s, and chey were going 

deeper and deeper every day. The P-47 bad considerably 

more range than th~ old Spitfires, Hurricanes, which 
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had been used previously. So we were elected to do 

most of the escort work. We were going well inside of 

Germany very early on, escorting bombers. And as I 

say, for the first year virtually all of our work was 

at high altitudes--30,000, 35,000, 40,000, 45,000 feet-­

unpressurized back in those days, trying to protect B-17s 

from enemy fighters, Hesserschmitts and Focke-Wulfs. 

H: Could you describe one of your par-ticular combat missions? 

What were things like back then? Were things so unsure, 

or did you feel that you had an early grasp on things? 

V: No. we wer~, you know, a fledgling Air Force with new 

equipment going into a theater that had been active 

several years in combat. The British were very dubious 

about the abilities of an airplane like the Thunderbolt 

to stay alive in Europe, because it had none of the 

maneuverability of the old Spitfire. And they told us 

early after we arrived with our airplanes that it was 

going to be tough going for us. And it really was for 

awhile·, because we were up against c011bat pilots who. 

were experienced in the Luftwaffe, and we were a bunch 

of neophytes, so we had to go through a learning phase. 

I was fortunate being with one of the original groups 
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with good leadership: Hub Zeake (Col Hubert) was 

the ~roup commander at the time. He was a very 

competent, natural combat leader, and we all le~ned 

together. We had lots of combat. We had lots of 

engagements with the enemy. Virtually every mission 

resulted in combat of one kind of another. We weren't 

all lucky in shooting an airplane down every time, but 

some of the leaders in the group, · the Jerry Johnsons 

(Lt Gen Gerald w.)~ Bud Mahurins (Col Walker M.], 

and Hub Zemkes, people of that kind, were .running up 

very impressive scores. 

The typical mission you ask, well, to give you a typical 

mission: We were on a mission one day escorting bombers 

(which) were on their way to Berlin, and there were 

some preliminary ~ngagements before they got into the 

Berlin area. The Germans sent up the Messerschmitt · 

llOs, which normally .were used only in areas where 

there was no escort because it was a twin-e~gine, 

rather slow fighter p~ane that was no match, really, 

for other fighters. · And we gQt into a scrap with them 

because they thought we had broken off our escort, and 

they came up to attack the ba.bers thinking the 

bombers would be unescorted at that point. But we had 
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really loaded our planes that day with all this extra 

fuel, so we were still there when they arrived, and we 

had quite a turkey shoot knocking down llOs. But on 

the way back we were all disbanded, and I heard one of 

my fellow pilots calling that he was in trouble. He 

said he was at 15,000 feet over Diimmer Lake. Dummer 

Lake is a prominent landmark on the way to Berlin. He 

said he was in a turning circle or a Lufbery with a 

Focke-Wulf 190, So I told him· I was nearing that spot 

on my way out and to keep turning, and I would be there 

in a few minutes. I finally arrived on the scene, and 

sure enough here's this airplane, another Thunderbolt, 

in a tight turning circle. Only the ·Focke-Wulf was now 

turning inside of him and was beg~nning to ·score hits 

on his rudder. He was chipping off pieces from the 

tail end. I told this fellow to keep turning, and I'd 

watch when he was head-on to me, and then I would make 

a head-on pass at the Focke-Wul~. It worked out fine, 

and I came diving in with all these 50-caliber machine­

guns blazing head-on. Tnis caused the Pocke-Wulf to 

break out of the turning circle, and the guy who was in 

trouble took off for England,· and I leisurely turned 

around to see where the Focke-Wulf had gone and dis-

covered that .he had turned into a turning circle with 
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me and was now on my tail. (laughter) The other fellow 

left, and I had found myself in a turning circle 15,000 

feet over Dummer Lake. (laughter) But the Thunderbolt, 

if it was properly handled, could stay in a turn, in a 

tight turn, with an airplane like that. It had one 

great .virtu.e, and that was it carried a hell of a lot 

of fuel and could stay up pretty long. You know, time 

was on my side even ~hough I had a long way back to the 

base in England; I probably had·considerably more 

endurance than he did. And he had already been in a 

tight turning circle for awhile, so he must have gotten 

to a bingo fuel situation, had to leave, and he sort of 

split •s• out · a~d left. I was never so glad to see 

anybody leave as · I was that fellow. 'l'hat' s more or 

less a typical mission. We always ran into Germans. 

We always had combat of one kind or another, and vir­

tually every mission "that we went on res·ulted in a 

shoot-down by at least one guy in the squadron of an 

enemy airplane. 

H: How was your loss ratio in comparison to other outfits? 

V: We did excepti~nally well in terms of victories to 

losses. I think we had as good a ratio as anybody. 
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That escort duty, of course, permitted
1
us to match 

airplane against airplane, which is I think a better 

test of how the German planes were doing versus ours. 

If you did a lot of groundwork, which we did later 

when the invasion came along, why, most of you~ losses 

were to ground fi .re and flak and that sort of thing. 

But we were holding our own very well, I think, better 

than breaking even, probably s0111ething on the order of 

2 to 1 in our favor, maybe even 3 to 1 for . periods of 

time in our favor. 

H: How was morale in general? 

V: Extreanely high. Morale was no problem at all back in 

those days. Motivation was keen, plenty of public 

support for what you were doing. Kids in the cockpits 

felt that they were heroes, unlike the Vietnam war 

later where one-half the population--not one-half but 

big elements of it--were calling you war criminals. Back 

in those days you could do no wrong, and morale was 

exceedingly high. ~is, incidentally, you know is an 

important thing with a fighter outfit. If a fellow 

feels that his country is with hi111, people are with, 

him, he is willing to go out and stick his neck out and 
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db the job. It is extremely difficult to do it when 

you get ·a lot of diss.ent. 

H: As you probably know, some of the early bomber outfits 

had real problems when they had such tremendous losses. 

V: Well, the bombers were really toughing it out. Th~y 

had to stay in that formation despite repeated enemy 

attacks. While the gunners were good, the losses were 

extremely high, and some of theiR were virtually wiped 

out on some of the missions. 

H: You dil!n't have any probleiiB of young fighter pilots 

never being able to adapt to a. c0111bat situation? 

V: One or two cases over the couple of years I was over 

there where 'the doctor would se~ that the fellows 

didn't have the mental attitude that would enable 

them to. hang in there. And he would usually be quietly 

whisked away with an assign•ent back in the ~tates or 

something, or to a ground job, but by and large, no 

problems. 

H: What was behind your various .aves while you were in 
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Europe? You started out as a flight commander, accord­

ing to your biography, and moved to Commander of the 

360th Fighter Squadron of the 356th Fighter Group. 

V: Actually, I started out as a wingman i~ the 56th 

Fighter Group, and then I became a Plight Commander 

in the 63d Squadron of the 56th Fighter. Group. 

Groups in those days were roughly comparable to 

the wings of today.. We had three squadrons and a 

group organization. I completed a combat tour with 

the 56th, and I went to wing headquarters. A wing 

normally had three to five groups assigned to it. I 

worked at wing headquarters for about 3 months, 

get.ting a little rest, and then I went back into the 

second combat tour, this time as a Squadron Commander 

in the 356th Fighter Group, which was also a Thunder­

bolt group. And I commanded the 360th Squadron of 

that group tor my second tour. 

H: How many enemy kills did you achieve. during your tour 

in World War II? 

V: I had eight confirmed victories in aerial combat. 
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M: Were there any additional that perhaps weren't con-

firmed that you felt were actually taken? 

V: Yes. we have some probables on the records, but 

confirmed were the ones where your fellow pilots . 

actually saw the airplane disintegrate, or the pilot 

bail out, or your gun camera ·film dem.onstrated this. 

We had gun camera film, of course, on all our missions, 

and if you got a confirmed kUl on your film, that 

was fine. But every now and then the fil,RI would come 

out blank or the gun camera would jam, and you would 

come back swearing you had shot somebody down, but 

you had no proof. Nobody had seen it. But, you 

know, we really weren't out to run up scores; we were 

out to get the war won. 

H: Did you, personally, suffer any aircraft damage? 

V: Oh, yes. I was bounced once while we were escorting 

bombers by a squadron of Focke-Wulfs when I was with 

the 56th Group. This fellow got a very lucky 90° 

deflection shot at me. I was the· number four man in 

the flight at the time, and he scored some hits on the 

turbosupercharger section, the ducting leading back to 
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the turbo which was in the rear. This caused all 

the supercharging to evaporate, and since we were at 

40,000 feet at the time, you know, I had no manifold 

pressu~·e, and the only way I could go was straight 

down. This fellow followed me all the way to the · 

Channel, blazing away with his guns all the time. My 

whole electrical system was out. I couldn't even shoot 

the guns. But when I got bac.k down to low altitude, 

the engine built up almost its full power again. It 

didn't need the supercharging down there, and I was 

able to fly very low and fast, sort of around trees and 

over barns, to keep' him busy flying the airplane . But 

he scored several hits on the airplane, and I was 

wounded in the process. The airplane was pretty well 

shot up, and I made a crash landing back in England on 

a British bomber field. But we got back all right, and 

the airplane was later repaired, and we used it again. 

It was flying again later. 

H: That's when you were awarded the Purple He·art, I assume. 

v: Yes. 

H: All right. What was behind your move back to the States, 
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then to Brazil? 

V: Well, I came back and took over a training squadron at 

Suffolk County Airport out on Long Island, but the war 

in Europe was ending now, and the war in Japan didn't 

require the numbers of pilots that we had once required 

in both wars. We were phasing down, and the activity 

was dwindling. I was getting a little bored with my 

training activity up there, and they were asking for 

volunteers at that ·time for s011ebody to take over 

an airbase in South America. Since I was young and 

unattached, I thought it would be a worthwhile thing 

to do, and I volunteered for this assignment. So I 

went down to Brazil and became the commander of our air-

base in Brazil and stayed there until the. Japanese war 

ended. 

H: Row did you enjoy that kind of duty? 

V: Very interesting. We had a worthwhile mission there. 

We were one of the major stops on the southern rouee. 

You know, when they ferry airplanes or equipment over 

to Europe, you go down through the Azores route and 

frequently stop at Recife. I ran a transport squadron 
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for the headquarters down there·: there was an Army 
.... 

command in South America, and we had a transport squadron. 

I was the commander of that transport squadron as well 

as the airbase commander. That was interesting duty 

for several years; a good chance to see South America. 

I had my own little B-25 bomber t~at we had converted 

for use flying around South America, and I got to see 

quite a bit of it. 

H: How was our relat~nship with the Brazilian Government 

at that time? 

V: It was excellent. The Brazilians actually had a squadron 

of Thunderbolts fighting in Italy at the time,· and the 

Brazilian Government, I think, was fully in support of 

everything that we were doing in our war effort. That 

Brazilian squadron leader came back from overseas and 

flew a whole batch of brandnew P-47s frora the factory 

on down to Recife where they landed. Quite a celebra­

tion when they were home for the first time after 

having been in combat in Italy. They just ' taxied the 

airplane to a stop, th~ew back the canopy, got out, and 

all the relatives were there to greet them, you know, 

and t~at was the last that we saw of thera. The airplanes 
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sat there for months {laughter) exactly in the same 

position they had been left when the pilots landed! 

lf: Well, I take it that Brazil was a little diff erent than 

Argentina? In Argentina, I understand that they had 

a pretty strong pro-Nazi sentiment during the war. 

V: Yes. An incident happened while I vas ther~ that may 

be of interest in the light of what you are saying. 

Some of the U-boat captains, after the war ended i n 

Europe, fled to Argentina and surrendered•down there 

where they were given asylum. The Brazilians had a 

large ship--I believe it was a cruiser, I can't recall 

the name of it now--but it disappeared one day. It 

didn't check in. It was out on patrol off the Brazilian 

coast, and it never showed up or it didn't report in 

that day. The Brazilians asked me if I could go out 

and reconnoiter for it. so we took some of our trans-

port airplanes an~ conducted a sea search for several 

days. We ultimately found some wreckage and floating 

debris and oil slicks. The assumption was that it had 

been torpedoed by one of .these Nazi submarines on . its 

way to Argentina. Just several days after the incident, 

a submarine actually did give itself up in Argentina, . 

20 

UNCLASSfti'tEl"' 



( 

VOGT 
UNCLASSIFIED 

and there was quite a furor; Th~ Brazilian Government 

wanted the return of the submarine crew and, of course, 

Argentin.a said, "No way!" So there were strained 

relations at that time. But I believe the story was 

probably a creditable one because this thing went down 

obviously very precipitously, probably due to an ex­

plosion, and the coincidence of-the....aub,;.-g.iv.J.ng , up a very 

short time after is probably more than JUSt coincidence. 

·a: Okay. What prompted your return from this tour then? 

You were only there for leas than 1 year. 

V: Well, the war ended comple·tely. The war in Japan ended, 

and the Brazilian Government said we now had to 

vacate our bases within 90 days. So I was given the 

job of disposing ~f our equipaent down there and closing 

up tne base. We were out within 90 days following 

~he end of th~ war. I reported back to the States 

at that point. 

8: Then after that you became~n intelligence staff officer 

out at Mitchel Field. How did you happen to get that? 

V: Well, when the war ended, you see I had not coapleted 
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my college. I had gone into the Army Air Corps with 

2 years of college. That was a requirement back in 

those days. And I had gone into the Air Corps actually 

just before Pearl Harbor. I was at Randolph when 

~earl Harbor occurred. Now that the war was over, I 

decided I really had to have that education again, so 

I went back to school. I went up to Yale and spent a 

couple of years there getting my degree. When I was 

in the last couple of months at ~ale, r had a telegram 

fJ;"om the Army Air CbJ;"ps saying they had begun the 

integration of 10,000 people into the Regula!;' service, 

and I had been one of the 10,000 selected. Would I 

accept the coamission? Well, I had a tough decision 

to make because I had actually taken exams for the 

Foreign Service. I had been studying at Yale in the 

foreign affairs field, and was interested in a career 

in diplomacy.. But all things considered, the fact that 

I bad ·come out ·Of the servic.e as a major and I would 

get my old rank back, and if I started· in the Foreign 

Service I would start at the very bottom as a lowly 

ranking Foreign Service officer, probably schedul.ed for 

some remote post somewhere; I decided this was a better 

deal, so I accepted the commission. The first assig~­

ment I was given was as an intelligence officer at 
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Mitchel Field. 

a: Did you particularly want that kind of an assignment? 

V: I didn't ask for it. I think they probably looked at 

my recent education and saw that I was in that related 

area, knew something about foreign affairs and that, in 

turn--! guess to some assignment officer--implied some 

knowledge of intelligence. (laughter) Anyway, I wound 

up in intelligence. I rather enjoyed that intelligence 

tour be.cause, among other things, I was--and the records 

will probably confirm this--the first UFO [unidentified 

flying object) officer in the Air Force. Back in those 

days unidentified flying objects were being reported 

for the first time. I was at Mitchel Piel:d, ·which was 

the headquarters of the Interceptor Command, and they 

gave the job of identifying some of these early scurries 

of flying objects to the intelligence people. 

[End Tape 1, Side 1) 

And since I was Chief of the Estimates Division, they 

gave the job of estimating what these unidentified 

objects were to me. I had an interesting time with 
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some of the early sightings. I remember one day I was 

out flying an airplane. It was an old C-45 Beechcraft 

twin-engine. We were on our way back one night from a 

trip somewhere in the South. We were down in the Richmond 

area when the copilot who was with me looked out and 

said, "Hey, there is s0111eth.ing flying on our wing. • I 

looked over there and here . is this bright, purple light 

sitting off the wing. We looked at it and couldn't 

identify ft. It seemed to be . going at exactly the same 

speed, and all of a sudden it veered around and sat off 

our left wing. We watched this thing for, oh, maybe an 

hour, unable to ~dentify it. I called on the radio and 

got no response, then I asked the controllers in the area 

if they ~ad traffic reported in the - ~rea of our airplane, 

and no results. So we came back, and I fiied 'an un­

identified flying object report, and it came back to me 

at my desk for disposition. (laughter) So I guess I 

was orie of the first to get into this business which 

has caused so much speculation in recent years. 

H: How do you feel about unidentified flying obj_ects? 

Do you think there is any credibility to it at all? 

V: No. I really don't. I think there is some explanation 
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' for everything that has been seen. I certainly don't 

believe that we're being visited by people fro111 outer 

space. 

H: Your period at Yale, you were out of the Air Force? 

V: Yes. · I was out of the Air Force. 

H: ~ompletely, then. I was assuming at first that you 

were on some kind of a bootstrap deal, but you weren't. 

After you finished at Yale is when you moved over. to 

Mitchel then? 

V: · After I graduated. from Yale, · my first assignment back 

in the Air Force was at Mitchel. 

H: And then after- your Mitchel Field assiglllllent, you wound 

up in the Office of Special Assistant to JCS (Joint 

Chiefs of Staff) for the NSC (National security Council). 

What kind of a position was this? 

V: Well, once again, there was a gap in there. I was 

interested in taking advantage of the advanced degree 
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courses by the Air Force, and I applied 

and was accepted for graduate training at Columoia 

University. I went to Columbia from Mitchel Field, 

and I spent 2 years at Columbia in the Columbi~ School 

of International Affairs. In fact, I was a graduate 

of the School of International Affairs at Columbia, 

1 graduated with a master's of international affairs 

degree. 

when I got out of that, I was assigned, unbelievably, 

in an area which had soaething to do with my training. 

I was sent down to the JCS. I was now a lieutenant 

colonel. And I beca.e an assistant to the JCS repre­

sentative on the senior staff of the National Security 

Council.· 

The National Security Council was the White House staff 

that did all the spade work on the development ol 

national policy papers. JCS was represented on that 

group by a two-star lldmiral, a fellow named Admiral 

Wooldridge (Adm Edmund T.J, and I was one of his assist­

ants. I attended virtually all of the senior staff 

meetings of the Security Council for several years. 

He was later replaced by an Air. Force two-star general 
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who turned out to be John K. Gerh~rt (Gen], who later, 

as you know, became head of the Air Defense command and 

NORAD [North American Air Defense Command!, and retired 

as a four-star officer. I served 2 more years under 

him and, incidentally, under two presidents in that 

job, initially under Truman [President Harry s.), and 

then, of course, under Eisenhower [President DWight 

O.J. ~e did work in all national ~ecurity areas where 

policy was being made. 

Some of my early assignments were early involvement in 

the Vietnam situation. · I reme11ber I was a member of 

a two-man team, a State Department man and myself, 

who were sent over to Paris right after the fall of 

Dien Bien Phu .to see if the French were going to con-

tinue their involvement in the Indochina war, and 

what arrangements could be made to continue military 

support for the non-Conmunist elements down there. 

So I was deeply inv?~ved, even in those d~ys, in what 

later turned out to be a very great involvement of the 

United States in Vietnam. 

I was exposed at an early age as a lieutenant colonel 

to·very top-level decision making. It was very 
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intriguing, a fascinating business. 

H: While we a£e on the subject, i n retrospect, what do you 

feel the United States failed to perceive at that 

particular time that they should have in regard to 

Southeast Asia? 

V: Well, I think people always , felt that with a .little 

more effort the war could be ended. In the early days 

we thought if we could keep the French- active down 

there and then support them with materiel and'other 

assistance that they could probably persevere. After . 
the disaster at Dien Bien Phu, it became apparent they 

were getting out. We then felt a nec~ssity, because of 

the security situation· in that part of the world, to 

sort of fill the .gap, I think the hope always was that 

with a little more of this or a little more of that 

the elements we were supporting would be successful. 

And over a period of years tne involvement grew and 

grew and grew . until we were finally down there with 

o~e-half million men. Always the assumption was~ 
Just a little' more will bring this thing to a 

halt, I guess that's how a lot of us get involved in 

a lot of things. We start out in a small way and the~ 
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increase our commitment. Once we bad started expend.ing 

m~n and 'materi~l. it was extremely difficult to write 

it off and get out. So, once involved your commitment 

is made. There were several turning points where deci­

sions could have been made one way or the other that 

would have bad a possibly different outcome, but always 

the decision was we were too deeply involved, too much 

committed: the security requirements demanded that we 

stay in there. I .don't quarrel with this. You know, 

I was part of this decision making , process at the 

lower levels back in those days, but I think, on balanc~, 

the decision was a right one. I think we finally, in 

1972, brought the war to a successful conclusion with 

a treaty and agreement that we could live with which 

would have insured the continued success of the South 

Vietnamese Government, but in the light of Watergate 

and everything else that happened, we ·didn't enforce 

the agreement. And everything that had been won by the 

hard fighting of our military people and our allies 

went down the d~ain in 6 months when we failed to 

enforce the agr:eemimt • .. That' a another story, I'm not 

sure we want to go on that one right now. 

B: We'll get into it later. Prom what I've read about 
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that early period, it seems th~t the United States 

failed to understand the nationali .sm that was arising 

at that time, plus the fact we got mixed up with fail­

ing to understand the nationalism vis-a-vis communism 

at the same time. And that these two wer·e so tightly 

interwoven that you couldn't simply separate them like 

we wanted to do, plus as you know, they hated the 

Fr~nch with a passion. So it was really a much more 

complex issue than what we understood it to be at the 

time. 

V: Yes. But I think, - if you look at it in perspective 

and in the light of what has happened since, you will 

find there is more to it than that. - We find, for example, 

righ_t now the war is still going on in Vietnam and 

Cambodia. Vietnamese are still involved in what I 

consider aggression. They are involved in Laos and 

Cambodia. They are involved certainly in a big way today 

in aircraft bombing raids and everything_ else, inci­

dentally using American equiP.aent, against Cambodia. So 

you have the ambitions and the aspirations of a Communist 

regime which is like any dictatorial outfit bent on 

achieving certain objectives. I don't think they've 

quit yet. I think the ultimate objective of the 
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Vietnamese CoMmunists is to control the whole penin­

sula. People who talked about •The Domino• theory 

being disproved had better look again because right now 

it is once again in effect. As unbelievable as it may 

seem, we now find North Vietnamese in control of all of 

Indochina. Everyone would assume they would be at peace 

with their former allies, the Cambodians and the Pathet 

Lao, and that peace would have been brought to the 

continent down there. It hasn't worked. They are back 

at it again. So it is something mpre than just a 

question of the aspirations of a people who wanted 

.. their own country, and wanted control of their own 

country, who wanted to be left alone and wanted the 

Fr~nch to be out of there--and the United States. All 

those things are happening~ they are still fighting. 

There is some other element, and I submit that elet~ent 

is the nature of a Communist regime which by its very 

essence and philosophy bas to have involvement in 

foreign adventures. Aggrandizement is part of its 

structure whether it·' s the co-unists over in Europe or 

the Collllllunists in Southeast Asia. It's part of the 

same pattern. 

B: We will, of course, get back to 11ore of that later. 
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But in the meart.ime, you spent quite a lengthy tour 

in the washington area at that time, a little over 4 

years, acco·rding to your biography. Again, what prompted 

your move to the Far East at that time? 

T: Well, when I finished my tour with .the Planning Board 

of the National Security Council, I was sent over to 

PACAF (Pacific Air Forces), and I became the assistant 

to the Deputy for Plans , and Operations. The Deputy 

for Plans and Operations at -the time was General Hunter 

Harris (Hunter, Jr.], and I wor~ed with .hia. We were 

actually the Far East -Air Forces·, initially, and we 

were over in Japan in the Tokyo area and then at Fuchu. 

Then they consolidated. They eliminated the Far East 

Comaand and consolidated everything under Pacific 

Command, so we went back and became part of PACAF, 

and ·I continued my duties for awhile in PACAF. Then i 

became an assistant to the Chief of staff of the Pacific 

Comaand, which was now enlarging, assuaing all the 

duties of the old Far Eastern Co111111and, The Chief of 

Staff a.t· the time 'Was Admiral George Anderson, 'fhO 

later -beclllle CNO [Ch·ief, Naval Operations] , and I 

worked for him as an assistant, reorganizing the whole 

couand and subordinate co-and structure in the Pacific. 
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So a lot of the command structure that evolved probably 

is traceable to som~ of the early work that we did back 

in those days when they expanded PACOM (Pacifi~ Command) 

this far. I was there, I think, for about 3 years, .and 

when that tour ended I was on orders to go t~ the Air 

War College. 

Before I could get there, I had a wire from Washington 

saying that the Air Force was participating, for the 

first tiMe, in a program up at Harvard. Harvard Center 

for International Affairs had just been formed, and 

they were creating fellowships, and they wanted some­

body from the Air Porce. The fellowships wouid include 

foreign students, personnel mostly from Government, 

from major countries--France, .Britain, Germany and the 

United States--and they wanted people who were midway 

in their careers. They wanted to bring them up there 

for 1 year and expose them to Harvard's views on inter­

national politic&. I thought this was a one-time 

chance· and an intriguing possibility, so I accepted . 

that, and I wound up at Harvard for 1 year. That's 

where I first met Henry Kissinger (Henry. A. I, who w~s 

the deputy director of the Harvard Center at the time. 

It was an extreaely interesting year. A real good 
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chance to meet people of comparable levels all over 

the world and sit there for 1 year and look at world 

problems. 

we had these unique opportunities in the Air Force. 

The Air Force has been very farsighted in providing 

fellowships and scholarships for people in the service 

)olho really want to ma}'e the effort. There's no limit 

to what you can do· or where you can go if you take 

advant~ge of these programs. It's very farsighted. 

H: Besides Kissinger, who .were some of the other prominent 

people at Harvard at that time? 

V: Weli, the director of the school was Bob Bowie [Rober~), 

who later became head of the Policy Planning Staff 

of the State Department and who, at the moment, is the 

Deputy Director of CIA [Central I~t.elligence Agency). 

He's Turner's (Stanfield) Deputy at Washington. 

Zbigniew Brzezinski was up there at the time, an asso­

ciate of the school. It was a very distinguished bunch 

who made quite a mark· on the ~orld. 

~: That must have been a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity 
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for you "t~ rub' shoulders with people like that. 

V: It was a very good chance to meet inte~esting people 

with far-reaching views on worldwide problems. 

H: Do you f~el that this was a much better opportunity 

then than the War College·would have afforded you? 

V: I thought I would get another crack at the War College. 

I thought this' was a one-time thing, and I had better 

take advantage of that. It turned out that I never did 

get back on the Air War College list and probably 

lost out as a result of it, but I had to make a deci-

sion, and I made that one. I don't regret it. I'm one 

of the few, I guess, general officers who has never 

been to a senior service school. I've been on the list 

of the Air War College and on the list for going to 

the National war College and never got to either of 

them because of some assignment priority. 

8: T.hat identical thing happened to Genera-l Jack· Catton, 

by the way. He never did make it to any of the pro­

fessional military schools. 
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After you left Harvard then, what was your next ~ssign­

ment? 

V: I went back to Washington, and I now became the Air 

Force pl~nner on the JCS. I was assigned to Plans 

and Operations, and my duty was to go down to the 

planners' meetings and represent the Air Force and the 

development of Air Force positions on the JCS. I spent 

several years doing th.is. 

H: Accordi.ng to your biography.' you were Chief, Africa, 

Middle East and Western Europe 'Intelligence Affairs 

Division. 

V: No. I came into Plans and was assigned initially to 

that job, not in Intelligence, but in the Plans shop, 

very briefly. I bad an assignment there a couple 

of ftiOnths, then they transferred me to the planners' job. 

B: Okay. In February 1963, you became associated with 

the OASD [Office of the Assistant Secretary of Defense). 

What kind of position was this? 

V: The Office of the Secretary of Defense was divided up 
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.. in.t .c:> sever~l assistant secretaries_, you know, and one 

'of .. t;hem is ISA ; ·'< International Security Af~·airs~~ The 

Assistant Secretary of Defense for International 

Security Affairs, who at the ti11e was Paul Nitze [Paul 

H.), needed a man to replace a Navy admiral as Chief of 

the Policy Planning Staff of ISA. Now the policy 

planning group was a group of civilians and military 

personnel who did studies for the Secretary of Defense 

in the International Security Affairs area. The man I 

was replacing was a fellow na~ed "Squige• Lee, Admiral 

"Squige• Lee, who was very active in a pr::ogram at 

that time called "The Multilateral Force,• the HLP. 

It was a program .designed to give an independent 

nuclear capability to a group of European nations, 

and they were talking in terms of putting mixed 

crews on submarines or vessels and equipping them 

with nuclear capability. So his tour had come to an 

end, and it was the Air Force's turn to supply a man 

down there, since IS~ was trying to rotate it ·between 

the services. It wasn't necessary that .they do it, but 

they interviewed several candidates, and since I had 

the educational background _and planning experience in 

Washington in the JCS, I was given the job. I actually 

beca•e the head of this planning staff, and I worked 
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into several assistant secretaries, you know, and one 

of them i's ISA, International Security Affairs. The 

Assistant Secretary of Defense for International 

Security Affairs, who at the time was Paul Nitze (Paul 

H.], needed a man to replace a Navy admiral as Chief of 

the Policy Planning Staff of ISA. Now the policy 

planning group was a group of civilians and military 

personnel who did studies for the Secretary of Defense 

in the International Security Affairs area. The man I 

was replacing was a fellow nam~ •Squige• Lee, Admiral 

•Squige• Lee, who was very active in a program at 

t .hat time called •The Multilateral Force,". the MLF. 

It was a program designed to give an independent 

nuclear capability to a group of European nations, 

and they were talking in terms of putting mixed 

crews on submarine~; or vessels and equipping them 

with nuclear capability. So his tour had come . to an 

end, and ~twas the Air Force's turn to supply a man 

down there, since ISA was trying to rotate it between 

the services. It wasn't necessary that they do it, but 

the~ interviewed severai candidates, and since I had 

the educational background and planning experience in 

Washington in the JCS, I was given the job. I actually 

became. the head of this planning staff, and I worked 
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there for . 3 or 4 years and was involv_ed !Jl a lot of the 
' '? .. " 

NATO [North Atlantic Treaty Organiz<\ltionJ planning, the 

rework of NATO documents and of all Military Committee 

documents. For example, the MC-14-2 series on NATO 

strategy was being revised. MC-14-3, which is current 

NATO doctrine, for example, w~s worked up in those early 

days largely on the initiative of Secretary McNamara 

[RobertS.], who was trying to introduce more con­

ventional capability into Europe. He was trying to get 

.away from the immediate use of nuclear weapons under 

all conditions and circumstances. He was anxious to 

build a firebreak between conventional/nuclear, and we 

were revising the documents. A lot of my time went to 

that· particular job. 

But I was also involved in the Cuban Crisis, working 

up positions for President Kennedy (John F.) and the 

Secretary of Defense in the Cuban Missile Crisis, and 

once again in the Vietnam situation. We did a lot of 

the planning work in that staff before our involvement 

in Vietnam--a very active business. I found myself 

in McNamara's office almost every day for an hour or 

more trying to translate soae of his thinking and do 

studies and policy papers. A fascinati~q period, a 

difficult one. McNamara was a very abrasiv~ guy.with 
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the military, and I had some of the most uncomfortable 

moments of my life standing in front of that big desk 

and being told what a damned fool I was. (laughte~ ) 

But I think we had mutual respect for each other over 

the years, and I wound up in some interesting assignments 

as a result of that. Of course, being in that job, I 

had occasion to deal with the State Department on a 

daily basis and with the staff in the White House, the 

National Security Council, .and it was an ever-enlarging 

circle of involvement because of the high-level activi­

ties of that particular shop. I think I served there 

for 3 years and l left there, I think, as a two-star • 

H: You mentioned Paul Nitze awhile ago. What was your 

impression of this gentleman? 

V: .Paul did . the country a tremendous service during the 

Cuban Crisis. I don't think the role that he played in 

the Cuban Missile Crisis is generally known or acknowl-

~dged. We tend to think that President Kennedy was 

a tough guy who made tough decisions, but actually 

during this period he needed a lot of handlioldi~~·. and 

I think vacillated for a period there, and Nitze w~~· 

one of the strong men. Back in those days he said, 
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"Stand firm and hold their feet to; the fire." That 

decision was finally made by the President, largely 

because of Nitze. And the outcome was a very success­

ful one for the President. As you know, the Russians 

backed down, and the missiles were removed, and the 

crisis was removed, and the diplo11acy of a tough nature 

proved itself in dealing with the Russians back in 

those days. Paul was the main architect of this tough 

policy at that time. Later he became associated with 

the disarmataent program. As you know, he was chief 

negotiator for the United States, ultimately. He 

resigned from that position later. People thought he 

had gotten soft because he was in the disarmament 

business. I think the record will show that he has 

been a pretty tough guy all through all this. I have 

a great respect for him. I see him quite a bit today, 

and I have professional relationships with him today. 

I think he resigned because he couldn't condone some 

of the things that were happening and the way negotia­

tions were going. I think he felt we were being taken 

in by the soviets. A lot of the writing that he has 

done since then bears out this view. He was very much 

c_oncerned about our giving away our _S~fl.!~ity position in 
. . " ' ' .... .... . 

negotiating 'with the Russians, and indeed I am, too • 

. I • 
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M: Jim, I have a question at this point. I don't know, 

last year at the War College, they showed us a ~ovie, 

The Missiles 2! October, that tended to lead us to 

believe that Robert Kennedy was the man behind the 

scenes in that. Could you shed your knowledge on any 

of it, ~hether that lends any credibility to the movie? 

V: well, the President was relying on his brother, Robert, 

who I guess was the Attorney General at the time, for 

a lot of policy advice in areas well beyond that of the 

Attorney General job. At all these National Security 

Council meetings involving the Cuban Crisis, Robert was 

always there offering advice, but he was by no means a 

·tough man. In fact, he was ~dvocating toward · the end 

that the President knuckle under and not really block-

ade. those ships. I think if somebody makes a study of 

this someday; they'll find that Robert was not the 

strong, determin~d guy that stiffened his brother's 

back. The final decision was probably made as much 

over Robert's objections as anything else. 

H: Along that line, when I interviewed General Breitweiser 

·(Lt Gen Robert A.) a couple of years ago, he was at DIA 

(Defense Intelligence Agency) at the time, and he 
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~'i 
.. me·ntioned· ltc was primarily Bobby Ke.nrtedy> that withdrew 

the air cover for the Bay of Pigs operation. He feels 

that that was direct l y responsible for the Cubans being 

pinned down on the beach and, therefore, not being able 

to succeed. Are you aware of any of this? 

V: I was, of course, involved, as I say, all during this 

Cuban Crisis period. And I was with the JCS when the 

Cuban incursion was being planned, which incidentally 

wasn't very much participated in bt the JCS. They 

had ~ery little to do with the activity, We were sort 

of being told about it after the fact, and they were 

certainly never offered the chance to do the actua~ 

military thinking and planning or recommending. But 

I would say that Breitweiser's view is probably an 

accurate one, because it fits the picture I just men­

tioned of Bobby, who was the softie on the scene rather 

than the tough guy. I think he probably, at that time 

when a critical decision had to be made, reminded the 

President of the horrible public opinion possibilities 

involved and everything else and •ay very well have 

been the force that caused him to change his mind. I 

know he was very active in those days in advising the 

.President and always from the soft side, never from 
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the tough, determined side. 

H: While we are in the period , could you summarize your 

impressions of the Kennedy Administration? 

V: I thought the President, when the chips were down, was 

making the right decisions. He, I think, was the first 

President to more or less abandon the old, traditional 

machinery for de~ision making that had been estab-

• lished by the National Security Act of 1947 and which 

created the National Security Council and, ot ·course, 

the various departments. It created the Defense Depart­

ment as we know it today. He decided to go into smaller, 

more intimate advisor type of relationship, and the 

work of the National Security Council staff and the 

machinery that ' had been set up was nominal as a result. 

The real decisions and the real deliberations were 

being takeri in this very select group. Of course; 

as I say, some people who traditionally bad no role in 

national security, like the Attorney General, was very 

much a part of it. In other word~, he relied more on 

people he bad confidence in and knew personally than on 

the machinery and the formal structure, unlike Truman 

and Eisenhower, who leaned very heavi~y on the machinery 
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a little difficult to grasp back in those days, because 

you never knew who had the ball or who was going to 

make the final dec i sion or the final recommendation, 

and the role of a Bobby Kennedy could be very pervasive 

in that kind of an environment because normal machinery 

and normal staff work wasn't filtering through to the 

Pre~ident. But basically, the President always seemed 

finally to make the proper decision, in my judgment, 

back in those da.ys, which 1 think says .an awful lot 

for him, because there were a lot of people giving him 

advice, and I think he ·was accepting that which was 

best. I applaud what he did, of course,. during the 

missile crisis and the way he stood firm in the face of 

Soviet persistence and demand. It took a lot of guts. 

Of course, back in' those days the strategic situation 

was very much better. we really had strategic superi­

ority, and if he ' was willing to stand up and assert 

that we were to the point wh,re we would be willing to 

use it, which he finally did, the other guy was almost 

certain to back down. But you never know. He had to 

make that tough decision, and he did. So I admire the 

•an for his staunchness and firmnes' and,his ability to 

make tough decisions, 

·., ' l 
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H: You mentioned awhile ago, the JCS office felt that 

they were being bypassed. I know in an earlier inter­

view with General LeM~y [Gen Curtis E.] he mentioned 

the fa~t that he didn't have any idea what was going on 

in relation to the Cuban issue while it was going on. 

It was alw-a~s an afterthought 

{End Tape l, Side ·2) 

H: we· can resume if you .. l ike. 

V: I think I was on the point that for some reason or the 

( other the public has been led to believe, by and large, 

( 

that the JCS were the masterminds of the Cuban inva-

sion. Nothing could be farther from the truth. JCS 

were periodically told or briefed on what the plans 

were and never really had a chance to get into the 

planning of that at all. Nobody asked for their advice 

on whether or not they ought to do it. It was a deci-

sion that was made by a different element of the Govern­

ment, and I can guarantee you that JCS involvement in 

that debacle was a remote one. That's true both for· 

the · planning for additional involvement and for their 

subsequent disastrous events that occurred, including 
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· ' the. withdrawal of air cover. It vas not a decision 

by the Chiefs, nor were they asked, as far as I know, 

for their v i ews on this. 

B: You already mentioned the controversial Mr. McNamara. 

But, as you know, he came under heavy criticism not 

only from the military end of it .but Congress. I n 

fact, there was so much enmity there before it was all 

over that there was almost no dialogue any more. were 

you involved in any of this to any extent? 

V: I didn't have too much to do with appearances on the 

. ·'~. . ; .. 

Hill back in those days. When I was Chief of this 

Policy Planning Staff for McNaaara, my work involved 

dealing with the other executive agencies of the Govern­

ment, but · I never had to appear over ·on the Hill to 

justify what we were doing. I did have, of course, 

involvement with foreigners, the Military COIIUIIittee 

Standing Group back in those days of NATO, and we were 

involved in European policy matters as well as things 

that were happening in Southeast Asia. But I had a lot 

of personal dealings with McNamara, and he was_a very 

.abrasive guy. You had this .feeling that he felt he had a 
' 

superior intellect, that he didn't need military advic~, 
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and he had, I think, a certain ·manner of demeaning the 

military. He would take people like LeMay and others,_ 

who were very famous ·and who had established a tremen­

dous military record, and give them the back of his 

hand. ·That's the kind of guy he was. A great superi­

ority complex. 

But, hav.ing said all that, I must also s,ay . th~t he had 

, ·a· -good mind, a brilliant thinker. And l . tf!ink !;n his · 

efforts to build a firebreak in Europe, he was on the 

right track. I think he appreciated that nuclear war 

was a different order of magnitude froM conventional 

war, that you ought to be able· to hang in with the 

conventional as long as you possibly can before you 

have to make the great, tough decision to go to the 

other way. It's still a very great problem today, 

We've come a long way since those days in giving our­

selves much more of a conventional capability in Europe. 

I think we have, as_a result, bought time so that we . 

don't inevitably, from the very first moment, have to 

·;~ ~~~-~~~£:~,n~~!11{;. ~ea~-ns • .. 
l 

H: As. you know, he was also heavily criticized for getting 

directly involved with military matters, such as how 
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given out and what type' of promotions. 

In other words, a well-rounded experience no longer 

entered the· picture. He was looking for special ist·s 

in, particularly, systems analysis or certain areas. 

In some fields he went way overboard in this respect. 

V; Yes. Those were the days, of course, when Alain Enthoven 

[Alain c.}, who headed up this analysis shop, really 

ru).ed supreme. l·lcNamara was a believer in the computer, 

and he was a believer in subjecting everything to 

detailed analysis. He tqought there was always an 

empirical answer. The subjective stuff like •ailitary 

vif!w• or somebody is experience · didn't inean very 111uch to 
I 

him. He thought you could sit dow~ and analyze all of 

the factors and inevitably come out with the right 

answer. I think as a result he was missing a great 

deal. I think he· suffered from that, because as we 

discovered in all our lives not everything is subject 
- ':.~ -· --.:"~, · ··~·· · 'J •• ~ . . 

to positive analysis with a positive answer coming out 

of a computer run. I think a lot of the criticism you 

just mentioned which is going around of him is fair 

and accurate. Be had no real military experience of 

. ~!s. own, but he was ~oing to subst~.~ut;~-~WY,_is_for 

th.at. · So he 11ade decisions and; did i:lti~· thil!t I t .hink 
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were wrong. I think he did get into the personnel 

business, but, mate no mistake about it, so had every 

J 

. <. 

', .f' '· 

other Secretary of Defense. They are all in the person-

nel business. They all have strong likes and dislikes. 

They pick people who they think will support them, and 

one of the chief attributes for getting ahead today is 

being well received up on the third floor a ·round the 

Secretary of Defense. 

H: Do you think that bodes ill for the long range picture · 

of the military? 

V: Well, it has its good and its bad side. If the m{litary 

were permitted to se.lect all the people who were going to 

ultimately wind up in the: hi:gber ranks and hi~her posi­

tions, they would probably select those types of people 

who were odented to the service 111iss t on. The man ·with 

a line background who had the various command and respon­

sibilities would be rewarded with the jobs that called 

for the three and four stars. But when a guy gets to be 

'a th~ee-star and gets called back to washingt~n, he is 

in~e~facing .with ' trie other·services and the Seccetary's 
· • . • • . .1, ' • • • 

· . . s _taff in ,oso {Office of the Secretary of Defense)~·. He's 

interfacing with ~ther ag~nci"es . of the· Government, and 
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be of very little use to him·in that kind of an assign­

ment. The Secretary of Defense, for example, when he 

wants a three-star to come up and serve in one of his key 

slots on the Defense staff, doesn't want a guy who only 

knows ai~planes and how .to conduct bombing llissions. 

He wants somebody who will go over and rep~esent his 

views or present some original and dynamic thoughts on 

national security issues. He wants a man to go over 

and represent him over in State or in National Security 

· Council, so he has a different requirement. I think 

he's got to have some influence and some say in that 

category,- of jobs. In other words, ~e can't ~imply say .· 

to the ·service, "Give me your Seventh Air Force c·ollllllan~er' 

or your Thirteenth Air Force Commander. He's three-

stars~ I want him to go represent me in the. NSC." The 

man may know ·nothing about it. But if he h'as worked 

with somebody over the years that he has confidence in; 

he's observed this man; he has seen him ~n assignments 

like that which he nbw has a requirement for, he 

may ask for him by name and say, •r want that guy.• 

Many an occasion I have seen the Secretary reject 

~~palinations ~rom. the service and the JCs. f,~· .joinl: j9bs 
. ~ . ' ~: ·. r ,. . ·. 

and'"select the 111an whom· he .bad personal knowledge of 

• ..so 
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because that's the guy he wanted. In some situations 

it amounted to a promotion for that man, too. He may 

not have been the guy the service wanted to P,romote 

but, at -that particulac po~nt in time, the Secretary 

wanted him, and he was selected, and he wound up as a 

four-star bec~use of the direct involvement of ·the 

Secretary of Defense. McNamara wasn't the only one 

that did this. They've all done it. 

H: I understand that he was unique, though, in respect 

to the Southeast Asia conflict in that he was one of 

the first Secretaries that ever .went so far as target 

selection on a day-to-day basis. 

V: W~ll, 1 know that role inti11ately, because I was part 

of the process back in those days. Tbe ·JCS would sit 

down and compile a list of tacgets, maybe 350, 395 

things, that they wanted to hit--this is ~uring th~ 

old •Rolling Thunder• days. That iist would come up 

to my shop, Policy Plans shop of ISA, and I would 

then go over it, then take to my boss, who was 

- .... 

Paul ~itze, what I thought w~re . the reasona~le ~hoices. 

ba!ied ·on ' th~ original Chiefs' selection,· pl'1,1a what 1 

Jcne.w to be the policy objectives of the Secretary of 

. .> 
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Defense and my boss, Nitze, and ·thEi'-•President·;· ··Nitze 

would,then take it to McNamara, and they'd hash it 

over, and he would make his own selection, then he 

would go over to the White House and sit down with 

the President, and the two of them would select the 

targets ,to be hit the next week. And that .was the 

process. 

When I later had the chance to get down there and run 

the a~r war, Linebacker, the first thing I did was to 

insist that that procedure be aband.oned. I said, "I 

can't run an air war based on the restrictions that 

poor Spike Momyer (Gen William W. J had imposed on 

him." They often made picks of certain types of 

targets in part~ of the country which were wiped out 

by weather, and other areas which were wide open 

couldn't be hit because they were not on the list 

that day. It was crazy, but that's the way they did 

it. They were e·xercising very tight control, you 

see, from the top on the very targets to be hit. I 

'didn • t have that problem. I had an ·understanding 

when I went down there that this would not happen, 

,;,' . .~ ·;· : ·~· '): · . ilnd it didn't·. I, picked the . targe~,:~'!e.U,. _:·· Now,. 

, :' there were certai~ .target~ that w.er~ ·rf:/:iimits. It 
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was a different approach. They said you can't hit 

this, this, this, or this, but everything else i s up 

to you, when you hit it, and what you h i t. 

H: flow did you feel about that limitation? 

V: Wel-l, the kinds of things that were off l imits were 

very few in number, and they had strong political 

overtones. Fo~ example, they didn't want us striking 

right in the heart of Hanoi itself. There was a lot 

of criticism of the .Administration for indiscriminate 

bombing, and civilian casualties were always matters 

of great interest in the press. Unlike in world war 

I1 when you could go out and bollb a whole city and be 

applauded the next day for having bombed .Dresden or 

Hamburg or some other place, 30,000 people killed, 

that was a war objective. Now, iE you went out and 

killed 150 people accidentally in a bombing raid, 

why, this was criminal. So the Administration was 

very conscious of this attitude on the part of the 
. ' . . 
press and public opinion, and they wanted to insure 

that targets which would result in these lt.inds ·of· 
l 

c'asuafties were ~ff limits. We were not permitted, : 

until Linebacker II, to bomb the powerplant in the 
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''.· .,·qeart op'.\Jiario.i,, Lor example ,".nor ,· wet,e' )we c perlnttted to 

bomb their military transmitters and ov·erseas communi-

cations sites in Hanoi for this very reason until 

Linebacker II. That was the real reason for the 

handpicking--the attempt to steer a course between a . 
very hostile press and a public which was influenced 

by the press about things. like indiscriminate bombing 

and casualties and so forth. A totally different 

war, and I think that's why the President felt he had 

to be in the act. He didn 1 t want to turn it over to 

the military and have, you _know, debacle and chaos 

and then the whole thing turn to worms in regard to 

the public. 

H: I guess it was a matte / that it boiled down to the 

President never really having full faith in his 

commanders. 

•· .... . ~ •. ' ~ .. . ..... ~ . . . 
' · V: I think, in the fi'rst place, tbe Pte$1dent;. rarely 

\ i "·::' ' " . ~ 
·• 

knew the commander involved. In the second place, he 

didn't want to leave ·anything to chance. He may have 

felt that ~he guy was a good professional and all 

that, but 

there. was 

be raay have thought , tl)~t that. g~y d<;>!lln . . ·. . ~ . ~.~.- . ., _:. ~ .. . . . . . ··• . 

more conc~rned about winn~ng · a war than 
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with public opinion back in the States 

at things a little differently, so he 

trol. 

8: I guess you'd call that the scourge of 

cations where in the old days 

have known what was going on. 

communi-

ldn't 

V: . No. He had to issue general guidance and et his 

B: 

,; 

commanders do the job, But I must say, 

down there and ran L-inebacker the last 

the war, I didn't have those -kinds 

I -~tfll had restrictions. When we 

of it later, I'll talk about some of the 

very real and very troublesome and 

a commander, but nothing like poor 

trying to live wi th Rolling Thunder where 

handpicked by McNamara and the President 

breakfast meeting over in the White 

! "understand the way that scenar.io would 
"' 

the President would come in and thep af~ 

;bit turn things over to Mr. McNamara, 

walk out, and Mr. McNamara would pull 

· .. 
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book,, ,and assign the targets for that -day. 
·-, 

V: The President would generally discuss with McNamara 

. c .,. .· . ' 

:· • -' 
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the way things were going, all the concerns that we 

talked about, and the need to put some pressure on· as 

counterbalanced by the public uproar that might result, 

and so they'd carefully weed their way. through this 

target list to find targets that satisfied the require-

ments of both extremes. It was a torturous process. 

As I say, for the guy who was trying to run the war, 

it was very frustrating because •any, many times the 

targets would be targets that couldn't be hit at that 

time of the year. If you had a northeast monsoon, 

for example, and visibility was down and you were 

asked to hit a precise target of small dimensions in 

bad weatller, you simply couldn't do it. And then 

they would get impatient in washington and demand to 

know why we hadn • t hit those targ.ets that had been 

scheduled, you see, for that period· 

M: Jira, ·this brings up a question that 1 had. I odgi­

nally had a question about an article that I read. It 

said Linebacker did more in 3 mont?s than Rolling 

Thunder did .in 3 _years. You answ~r:e~ ·t~.a~ . question 
··>· .1 · · : r 
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really, but it generated a second question, sir. 

This trust that the Administration had, do you th ~nk 

that was related to knowing you personally from your 

previous assignments? Or do you think that was 

~enerated from with!~ the Administration, a different 

Administration? 

V: Well, I think the personal relationship, part of it, 

had a lot to do with it. I had been Director of the 

Joint Staff prior to going to Southeast Asia, and I 

had been involved in many of the WASAG meetings. This 

is the Washington Special Activities Group which was 

sort of the miniature ariD of the NSC that was· doing . 
JDost of the planning for Cambodian operations and the 

various things that were happening in Southeast Asia 

and crises all over the world, for that matter. And I 

was personally known to all these people. I had been 

asked ey the President on a nUlllber of occasio~-s to 

brief iaportant people. For example, I recall one 

day when I was sitting in ray office, and the phone 

rang, and it was Henry Kissinger who s~id, •The 

President would like you to give a briefing.• I 

said, •pine.• He said, •rt•s for the Governors. He 

has all the Governors in and he's having a lunch for 
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themr and he wants you to come· over alid ifbrief them· on 

the whole situation in Southeast Asia, where we are 

and what's happening.• I said, •Fine. I 'll be willing 

to do that. When is this going to be?" He says, 

"This morning at 11:30." This was about 9 o'clock in 

the morning when I got the call. This happened on a 

number of occasions. I would have about 1 hour to 

get a major speech ready for all the Governors. 

One other notorious occasion, I came in one morning 

and I was summoned up to Secretary Laird's [Melvin 

R.} office. He was sitting there at his desk with 

Dan Henken, who was his advisor for public affairs • 

. He said, "The President called over: he is concerned 

about the public image of our involvement in this 

Laotian cross-border operation.• You may recall we 

were conducting an operation to pinch off the Ho Chi 

Minh Trail, using South Vietnamese troops and some 

American helicopter support, and the thin9 was getting 

a bad press, and the President got concerned. He 

wanted the whole thing discussed publicly and aired, 

either on radio or in front of television cameras, 

and he called over to Laird the evening before. 

So I find myself up in his office now at 9 o'clock in 
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the morning. I'm sitting there and Tom Moorer [.Adm 

Thoaas A.), who was the Chairman, and Laird said, 

•well, we've got to put on some kind of briefing. 

It's got to have wide media coverage. The President 

is concerned about the way this thing is going in the 

press. He thinks we are doing much better, militarily, 

than the press is depicting, and ne wants the whole 

story told. Wnat do you guys think we ought to cover?• 

So I'm sitting there chipping in ideas: •well, we 

ought to cover this,• And Tom Moorer is sitting 

there chipping in some thoughts. Finally, I said, 

· "When is_ this going to occur?• He said, •well, it 

will -occur this •orning.• I said, •Fine! Who is 

going to give it, you, Dan?" Laird said, "No; we 

thought you would give it.• (laughter) I . said, 

"What time is it going to be?" He said, "Eleven 

o'clock." And it is .now about 9:30. I said, "what's 

it going to be?" He said, ~well, we'l~ have all the 

media there. It will be on the air, and we'll have 

some television in there. we'll have it broadcast 

live, a~d you'll be up there briefing all these guys.~ 

I said, "That's an hour from now.• "That's right!" 

(laughter) Th~t was the famous pipe incident, in• 

cidentally, where I was accused of misleading the 
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American public by producing'' a pipe >· 

--....... 
One of the things I had said in my briefing was that 

we had reached the oil or petroleum pipeline which 

had been built by the North Vietnamese, down the Ho 

Chi Hinh, and which was supplying petroleum products 

down at the southern end for 'its fighting foz:ces, and 

we had gotten a report the day before that the 

troops in the operation had finally reached the pipe 

and had sevez:ed it. Then I produced a piece of this 

pipe and I said, •sere's a piece of pipe like that 

used on the pipeline.• I had never seen that pipe 

before in my life. It w.as sitting on Laird's desk 

that morning when I was called up to his office. It 

had been gotten ~hz:ough Special Operations Forces who 

had gone in there some time before. You know, we hao cer­

tain highly clas.sified operations. I wasn't e\fen privvy 

to these as Director of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. They 

had been in there and grabbed a piece of this pipe 

soce months before; either Henken or Laird thought it 

would be a great idea to show them the kind of pipe 

that was used, and I was asked at the proper time to 

. . produce this piece of pipe during the course of the 

briefing and say, "Here's a piece of pipe like that 
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which we captu~ed yesterday,• and those were my words. 

I used exactly those words. Well, I went off on a 

trip to the British Joint Staff. We had a Joint 

Planning Staff meeting over in London, and I was gone 

for 4 or 5 days. During that period, the press said 

somebody had revealed to them that this wasn't a 

piece of pipe taken from the pipeline at all. It was 

a piece of pipe taken by Special Forces many months · 

before and that I was misleading the American public 

in believi~g that was pipe from the pipeline, and 

they were casting great doubts upon my statement that 

we had actually taken or captured the pipeline. 

Well, I got back, o_t course, and the Hill was all 

excited about it and we had to actually take a verbatim 

text, which we fortunately had, from the tapes of 

what I had actually said. And I had not said that, of 

course. I said it was a piece of pipe like that. I 

was unable to tell them where it came from because it 

was from this highly classified project, you see, 

that I wasn't even privvy to at the time. It was · 

produced that morning in Laird's office. But I took 

an awful ~eating in the press for many month~ about 

having misled the American public. I got letters, 
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I remember one doctor wrote me and said he was disgraced 

by the fact that military people in responsible positions 

like mine would mislead the A~erican public. I sent him 

a letter back with ~ transcript of the actual briefing 

so he could see for himself that I didn't in fact say 

that that pipe had come from that raid. And I said two 

things: First, there is no question in anybod~'s mind 

t~at we actually got to the pipeline, or the fact that 

we severed it and we will have actual pieces of pipe 

from the raid itself shortly. The pipe was from 

a bi~hly classified operation that I was not even 

privvy to so I , couldn't disclose the source; therefore, 

all I could say was that it was a piece of pipe like 

that which we now had taken in the pipeline. I 

said, third, the only reason I would want to deceive 

the public would be if we really hadn't taken the 

pipeline and I was. trying to .•~slea.d them into believ­

ing we had, and there was no question that we had as 

subsequent evidence demonstrated. So this guy wrote 

me a nice lette.r back later and said he w:as reading 

the paper, and he thought that everything he read in 

·.the paper was credible, and he had to .believe i,.t_~ 
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Now that he had a chance to read the actual text and 

· to ~now the facts, he appreciated the fact that I had 

been a victim of what many a man i n publ i c l if e has 

been. The press will latch on to something, you know, 

and really blow it up ·out of all proportions. 

I was to have this happen many t imes later. I'll 

tell you some stories during the Vietnam phase of 

things that happened to me that were absolutely un­

believable, · but which in this free country of ours 

with its free press, they can get away with, which 

they do all the time. · So that pipeline thing was 

quite a thing. 

But :to get back to the basic question: Why · 

did I wind up with more of a free hand? 1 had been 

working over in the White House; I was known. to the 

President through these various briefings. I had 

been called over on a couple of occasions to talk to 

him ·about military matters that I was intimately 

f·a·mill~r Jwith. Pirsl., , as 'the J-3, I waS the Chief of 

Operations for the Joint Chiefs, and then the Director. 

l had been .involved, for exampie, . in the planning for 

the Son Tay Raid, and 'the P.resident had been aware of 
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••my· involve~~!}t :, j._n that. r think· he ha.d c'on~idence in 

me. But before I went to Vietnam, he called me to 

the White House, and we bad a long session that lasted 

over an hour where we discussed what had to be done. 

You recall, there was a major invasion underway now 

and the enemy was taking Quang Tri and advancing south, 

and the forces wer~ collapsing all over the place. Our 

ground involvement had about ended with the Vietnamiza­

tion program, ·and we had to do it a~l with airpower now. 

He had asked me, ~What do you need to do the job?• And 

some of the things we discussed were these very •things. 

I said, "I can't have people telling m~ what targets to 

hit. I've got to get the c0111111and arrangement squared 

away so I'm not answering to 14 bosses on matters of that 

kind. I've got to be able to run the war.• And he said, 

"You've got all that authority. You· go down there now. 

I send you down with that authority to do all this.• 

Incidentally, he never put it in writing,' and I had 

problems later as a result. 

" 
H: Did you se.e quite a transition between Secretary 

McNa~ara ;mp ~e~ret~,rY Laird in ,mode.s of . ,o,geration 
and . so forth? . .. :, . ' ·t·;;\::' . .-

b4 
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· V: Oh, yes. Totally different types. Laird was a con-

summate politician. He knew the Hill intimately, , and 

. he was very much at home over ther·e hav .ing been ·on 

the Hill for many years • . His relationship with the 

Hill was good. He had a much better feel for public 

opinion. McNamara spurned all that. He didn't want 

to be bothered with those guys over there. They were 

thorns in his side. He was above all that, and he 

was very abrasive with Congress. A totally different 

approach, totally different .• 

H: From the military end of it, did things take a different 

outlook altogether then? 

V: Well, I think Laird had a far better relat!Qnship 

with the military and with the military leaders. I 

think be listened to their judg~ent far more than 

McNamara had. Of course, it was a different situation 

now. We were involved in a shooting war, and it's 

.kind of hard for a Secretary to say to the military 

guys, •You don't know what you are doing.• I think 

even MCNamara had soae difficulty trying to interject 

.himsel:f into that arena. 
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:~·:;~~rlow, he - ~~me up' with this brigh/iif!l ::,; \:on-

ducting a line--a defense line, electronic defense 

line--across the northern tier which turned out to be 

a total bust. He spent billions doing that. We all 

told him it was a nonstarter, but he wanted to do it, 

and he did it. The man could never understand the 

dynamics of military operations. He thought if he 

just cleared a path across tha.t jungle, X meters 

wide, and put some guard towers there and then put 

these listening devices in, the enemy could never 

· come across. 

· What .he doesn't understand is if you don't control 

that part of the jungle, the guard tower won't last 2 

days. If you don't have sufficient military force in 

there to defeat the-ir main forces that are moved into 

that area to knock that tower down, you are dead, and 

the enemy could pick his time and place, and that 

line became a series of holes after awhile through 

which they poured. The whole thing was improbable 

from the very beginning. There wasn't a man in the 

JCS wbo wanted that concept and thought it was worth 

putting all the money into it. Yet he ~ut, I t~ink, 

$2 billion into the whole thing. A total loss, as 
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H: General 0. P. Weyland (Gen Otto P.l likened our 

operation in Vietnam to trying to dam up a water­

fall from the bottom. (laughter) How do you view 

that? 

V: Well, the war initially, and back ·in Komyer's day 

when. he was running it and the days when Lou Clay 

{Gen Lucius D,J ran it and George Brown (Gen George 

S.), it was a different type of war. You see, it' 

wa·sn' t! main force operations which it ca11e to be 

after the invasion of 1972. After the Easter invasion, 

we were faced for the first time with modern f~rces, 

modern equipment. You know, T-54 tanks came .i:oll:ing . 

in, and the Sagger-wire guided missiles, and the SA-7 

surface-to-air missiles, and the su-23, -24s in great 

numbers. All kinds of new equipment--the- 130-millimeter­

guns, long-range heavy art.illery, and with forces 

trained fo.r conventional operations on a large 

scale. So the whole nature of the war changed at 

that point. . It wasn·' t the guerrilla activity and 

~he kind of. thing that my predecessor& had to deal 

with •. 
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H: General Vogt, would you iike to continue with what 

we were speaking abo~t on the other side? 

V: · Yes. I think I was saY,ing at that point that in many 

ways my predecessor's job of running an air war was 

more dif~icult because of the nature of the ear'lier 

war. Finding targets has always been a difficult 

task in the jungles of SOutheast Asia, but wpen they 

were fighting a guerrilla war, it was even more diffi- -

cult. When they started main force operations, there 

were more of them; they would come in in conventional 

style, and we could find them and work them over much 

more effectively. so the targeting problem was some-

what less complex for us than it was for my predecessors. 

H: Should we have become involved in a land war in Vietnam 

"· I to begin with·, or should we ha~e limited'" our inter-

vention to naval and air assaults as several people 

advocated? 

.'!/: .• Well, you ~no':', it'~ very difficult to analyze what 
'. ~ •• ·, " •• • ~ ' ' • 4 f . . .. ' - , ' . 

:wul'd have happened ·if we hadn • t become 'lnv.oived on 
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the ground. It may be that the ground war would have 

been lost, that the enemy would have overrun most of 

the major areas, and there would have b~en very little 

left to work with. I remember when I was back in 

Defense, back in t~e days when this was being debated-­

whether we ought to get involved more on the ground, 

or in . the air, and on the sea--l took the position 

that we should not get involved on the ground, that 

we ought to put more air capability in there and be 

more decisive in our air activities. · You know, 

finally, it was air action that brought the war to a 

· halt. The decisive campaigns of Linebacker 1 and II, 

I think, finally convinced the North Vietnamese that 

they ~uldn't go on~ they had better negotiate. And 

it brought them to the conference table with a feel­

ing that they had to bring this thing to a conclusion. 

Conceivably, this· could have been done earlier by· the 

. effective use of air if we had taken some of the 

restraints off of it and used it effe~tively, say, 

back in 1968. But we didn't. 

Once again, we are Monday morning quarterbacking. It 

•ay be that the whole ground positfon_ would haye 

collapsed in tbe meantime, and the war would have 
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been lo!;t on the ·ground and, therefore,.:.rost in its 

entirety. I really don't know. But I was one of the 

advocates of no i ntervention on the ground and con-

s i derably stepped up activity in the a i r. 

H: When you moved over to PACAP, after spendi~g a con-

siderable amount of time in Washington, did you feel 

you had an understand i ng of the overall picture better 

in Southeast Asia than the average co111111ander at that 

time? 

·v: I think I had a feel for what they were hoping to 

achieve at the political levels with our military. 

activity down there, and this ti~e when I went back 

to PACAF, I was a two-star general, and I was Chief 

of Plans and Operations for PACAP with a very large 

responsibi l ity for our activities in Southeast Asia. 

Back in those days, t he war was being largely run 

from Honolulu by Admiral Oley Sharp IAdm Q. s. Grant] • 

Oley Sharp was commander in Chief, Pacific, and he 

was part of this process of selecting ta~gets. He 

was .trying very hard to carry out the intent of the 

.decisions that were being made ~~ Was~!ngton, but he 

was being frustrated by a number of things, inclucHng 
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the weath~r. It was there that I got an early feel 

.for the ~eed for all-weather air capability, which, 

incidentally, we still don't have today in tbe.United 

States Air Force. But I would be c~lled in along 

with my counterpart in the fleet, Admiral Bush Bringle 

[Adm William Floyd), who was Chief of Operations for 

the Pacific Fleet. We would be called into <,Hey 

Sharp's office, and he · would demand to know why we 

· hadn • t destroyed the tatget 1 ist that had been selected 

by washington the previous week. It g~t a little old 

to keep telling him, •The weather was bad, the weather 

was bad, the weather was bad.• I knew then that we 

had to do something more than just offer excuses. I 

~ried very hard to get washington interested in all­

weather capability, but it's ~ard to beat the syste~. 

There are a lot of people advocating a l9t of things 

in Washington. They all have their pet projects, and 

one of them wasn't all-weather capability, unfortunately. 

But I talked the Chief of Staff of the Air Force into 

putting s011e money into the I!ORAN (long-range na.vi­

gationl system. As a matter of fact, we did put 

about $25 million of Air' Force aoney into creating 

those Coast Guard-equipped LORAN stations. They were 
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run by the Coast Guard in Southeast Asia. Then I 

asked for the development of the system in any air-

plane that could use the system for precise bombing. 

We never did get it out of the Air Force; p_er se, but 

McNamara, who was interested in this electronics 

barrier that we talked about earlier, had to have the 

~eans of deli~ering electronic devices reg~rdless of -

weather to keep the field active, and he said to the 

Air Force, "By golly, I want an all-weather capability 

for delivering these things.• Well, the only thing 

that was advanced enough, which I had known of course 

earlier in the game, was LORAN. so with some of OSO 

money that McNamara coughed up and with a great deal 

of hammering on them by 050, the Air Force finally 

developed a LORAN bombing capability in a few air­

planes, This LORAN system was put into the F-4s, and 

I used them later during Linebacker, with very great 

effect·. I '11 tell you the story later about Linebacker 

II where we literally saved the 8~52 effort with some 

LORAN bombing that was done by some -F-4s. 

I was to learn even after I · got down to Southeast 

Asia the importance of being able to bo~ when the 
. ' 

weather was bad. The whole Easter offensive had 
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begun under the cover ·of the northeast monsoon. The 

enemy had deliberately kicked it of.f during the bad 

weather period of the northeast monsoon. And air was 

pretty much precluded from effectively supporting the 

ground forces. So they were being defeated and pushed 

back. Then they t~ied to use naval .gunfire support. 

That didn't work too well, because they had noway of 

spotting for the gunfire. They had to have ·air up 

there in order to spot the fire and bring the fire 

down on the targets, and without air up there to do 

that, the fire was ineffective. Besides, the Navy 

had to ·back offshore because the shore batteries, 

the 130-~illimeter guns of the North ~ietnamese, were 

beginning to hit the destroyers. So they had to back 

out of range. 

But tHis all-weather problem is with us today even. 

We have it in Europe, in NATO. We have never really 

co•e to grips with it. It is ~he greatest single 

deficient:y I s ·ee in O!!r tactical aviation today. As 

we discovered in L~nebacker II, the boabing · accuracf 

of even our strategic forces is not all that g9Qd, 

and we had lots of problems in us.ing B-52s in bad. 

weather for the very same reason. The equipment was 
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designed for nuclear weapons, where it didn't make 

much difference if you were 1,500 feet off the target. 

you were still in the blast area. But with conven­

tional bombs, trying to drop them to do some damage 

and effectively hit a target with accuracies less than 

500 feet simply couldn't be done. You would think 

we would have lear.ned our lesson and would have fixed 

all those problems, but we are in the same boat today. 

We still haven't really gone to work and come to grips 

with being able to fight wars when the weather is 

bad with airpower. 

H: Where do you see the problem ·as lying? Is it with 

the Air Force, or the fault of Congress not appro­

priating funds for it? 

V: It's a combination of things. First, there are people 

who say they advocate all kinds of systems which are 

pets of theirs, and they push those. There are people 

in OSD who want to get the cost of the force down to 

the point where they think it is manageable. They, 

for the last several years, have contrived this 

high/low force mix that you can only buy so many 

high-cost fighters' the bulk of the force has to be 
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made up of low-cost fighters. The low-cost fighters 

are things like the F-16s and A-lOs that don't have 

this all-weather capability. And this puts a very 

great burden, when the weather is bad, on the few 

airplanes "that do have some capability. The f'-111 is 

.a great all-weather bombing airplane with lots of 

capability, but it's out of production now and, 

presumably, it is an asset that is dwindling. You 

see, as the years go on, we won't be able to replace 

it. 

The Navy is the only outfit today that's building an 

airplane, still coming off production "lines, that has 

an all-weather capability. They invited me about 

1 l/2 months ago to go down and fly their A-6~ 

TRAM [track1ng radar automatic monitoring) equipped 

airplane, and I went down and flew a trainer for 1 

day and actually flew the airplane on a bo11bing range. 

I had bombing accuracies of better than 100 feet with 

.af practice bombs for 2 days work, training. They 

are very good systems. We don't see~ to be that 

interested in the Air Force for SOlie reason or the 

otherl But I 4o"know that if a war ever came in 

Europe, during the many, many months of bad "weatber 
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over there, we'd be hard-pressed to find targets and 

destroy them in bad weather. So, it's a lesson that 

we really haven't learned yet, but r learned it in 

Southe!lst Asia. 

H: You mentioned the F-111. As you probably are very 

much a~are, they had a lot of initial problems with 

it when it was first brought into Southeast Asia. 

Are you familiar with that? 

V: Intimately. The airplanes were brought over in the 

late sixties in small numbers, and they were intro­

duced into operations with d1sa9trous results. The 

aiz:plane wasn't ready for combet. deployment. We lost 

four or five of them, never even knew what happened to 

them. They just disappeared off the face of the 

earth. The airplane itself had a lot of bugs in · it 

which had not been ironed out, and it had been moved 

in too eady. But if it had been moved in for the · 

reasons that I have just described, you ~now, the 

need to be able to do soaeth~ng about the bad weather 

situation. Now, I asked for them When Linebacker 

came along. I wanted them back over. We had had a 

lot of experience with thea now, and they were 
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b!ought back ove~. We had some problems with them 

initially, and we had a lot of g~owing pains, but 

when the airplane settled down ove~ t~e~e, it did a 

t~e111endous job. It wa.s fantastic. We ultimate!~ 

flew lite~ally thousands of so~ties in close suppo~t 

of friendly troops through terrible weather, in the 

middle of the night, ·through monsoon seasons, dropping 

bombs in close support using a beacon. we were bomb­

ing off beacons which we gave to the troops on the 

ground. And we wer~bomhing_~thift, in some cases, 

200 meters of friendly forces, totally blind. so the 

airplane has great capabili~ies. A lot of the bugs 

are out of it now. 

·a: I assume you were in Washington during the early 

years of the F•lll and all the problems that arose at 

the time. 

V: Yes. 

H: would you like to discuss any of that? 

V: Well, the F-111, you see, w~s conceived of, o~igi­

nally, as 'a multiservice airplane, or multipurpose 
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airplane. It was supposed to do ttie job for the Navy 

and Air Force, and McNamara was pushing ~ single 

airframe for the two services in hopes of gaining 

economies thereby. 

8: C0111110nality. 

V: Commonality was what .he was talking about. Now the 

things that make an airplane fine for land-based 

.operations aren't necessarily the things that are 

good on a carrier. You take the extra stress needed 

on landing gears and all for carrier airplanes. It 

just a~ds an awful lot of unnecessary weight to 

land-based air and places limitations on our range 

and payload which we shouldn't have to have. On the 

other hand, the Navy needs it to work off their decks. 

So, in trying to force a single airplane, the inevit­

able result ~ame about; namely, it wouldn't work. 

T~e Navy bugged out of the program, and I think for 

good and sufficient reasons. 

Also, there was some question about whether or not 

the right manufacturer had been picked to build the ~ 

airplane. Remember, there had been a coapetition 
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between Boeing and General Dynamics tbat had built 

this airplane. A lot of people felt that the Boeing 

airplane was clearly the better airplane, and poiitics 

dictated the selection of the airplane. I don't know 

if that's the case or not, but I do know that the 

selection was made, not b_y the military per se, but 

by the political levels above the military and the 

decision to go to Texas. As a matter of fact, it 

probably did have some foundation in politics. 

But the airplane has been an excellent airplane now 

that we got the bugs out of it. I have great con­

fidence in it. I have flown in it, and the job it 

di:d for me in Cambodia and Laos when nothing else 

could fly was just unbelievable. I used it again 

over in Europe. I was instrumental in bringing a 

second wing of F-llls over to Europe because of the 

weather proble~s over there. I remember in Reforger 

1974 1 during the Reforger exercises following the 

deployment of the Reforger divisions over to Europe, 

the weather was bad for about 14 ~ays in a row, and 

only 5 percent of the tactical air that had been 

scheduled to go in in support of the exercise could 

fly. ~e rest of the air was grounded, but the 
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Pointing out this thing that I am talking about--the 

importance of having an airplane that can ' work, and 

find targets, and hit targets in that kind of weather. 

Unfortunately, we are putting a lot of money into 

things like A-lOs and F-l6s which can't do any of 

this. They have n2 capability whatsoever of· flying 

in bad weather and finding targets. Further.' they are 

going to be the bulk of our force in Europe, and it 

causes me great concern. 

a: As you mentioned, several previous interviewees men­

tioned the fact that they, too, felt that the F-111 

proved to be ultimately a fine aircraft, ~ut the 

stigma that was eariy at~ached to it was never over-

come. 

V: Well, overcome in whose minds? t~it•s the question. 

Certainly in the minds of the guys who -had to fight 

with it, and in 'my mind, it proved itself. I would 

loved to have had many more of them over there to do 

that kind of job that. we had to do. 
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I'll. give you an example, in 1972 I had a call from 

.., 
·' . 

Ambassador Godley [G, McMurtrie), who was our Ambassador 

in Laos. He said, 0 l wish you would come up here to 

Laos immediately. We are having great problems with 

Gene~:al Vang Pao {Maj Gen) , who is conducting the 

campaign up here. He is threatening to quit the war. 

He's going to pull all his Meo tribesmen out of the 

war, and he is going to leave the Plaine de Jarres to 

the enemy.w ~is would have disastrous effects. I 

said, •what's the problem?• He said, •well, he said 

he isn't getting the air support that's been promised.• 

·so I flew up the next day and picked up Godley, and 

we went up to Vang Pao's headquarters up in Long 

Tieng, which is on the Plaine de Jarres, on the ridge 

·above tbe. Plaine, and Vang Pao laid it. on the line. 

He said, "You know, your Assistant secretaries came 

over here, your Deputy Secretary of Defense, people 

from the State Department, and they guarantee me all 

this air support, and we don't get it. Where is it?• 

I said, •well, you have this terrible season of the 

year called the slash.,and-burn season when ' the visi­

bilfty drops to . zero ;snd airplanes can't fly. • He 

said, _-I knoW, but I have to fight in that kind of 

weather. And no a~i'r support· here.• I said, "Well, 
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to support you up here in this "terrible visibility.• 

He said, ~Well, I'm quitting the war if I don't get 

this air support. • 

Well, zight then and there I created~ in my own mind, 

something that we had never done before with the 

F-111 in actual combat, the beacon bombing system. I 

said, •well, General, 1 am going to give you a new 

airplane. and a new system.• And I didn't even know 

. if I could do it, but I knew I had to keep him in 

the war. I said, •we are going to give you little 

~eacons · which your people can carry around, and all 

you have to do is give the enemy's range 'and bearing 

from those beacons, and we'll drop bombs anywhere you 

want them.• Well, he didn't believe it, and Godley 

didn't believe it. Nobody believed it up there1 I 

wasn't sure myself. I didn't even have the beacons. 

The Air Porce had never bought the beacons even 

though the airplane had the capability. 

I w~nt all over the Pacific to scrounge beacons from 

·the Marine units which they the11selves weren't using 
. r ~~~:~ · .· .i .. ~,_:' .. !.; : ~"'~-· . · r · 

· ' . but which they had bought initially to use with 
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their A-6s. Nobody ever quite brought all these 

things · together to use in the operation. I picked 

these things up at Iwakuni and got some at the Marine 

Kaneohe station in Hawai i , and finally got enough 

beacons together and brought them out there and 

worked out a system so that the little fellow o~ the 

ground-- in this case t he Laotian--who was under attack 

by mortars or artillery, or about to be invaded or 

overrun, could turn on this lit~le h~ndheld battery­

operated beacon, which would put out a radar signal 

to be pi cked up by the P-111 radars, and the airplane 

would come in, and then they would bomb on a bearing 

and at a range given to him by the guy on the ground. 

He ,ould say t .he· enemy is 320° a~ so many meters, . and 

they could just crank this offset. into the .radar. 

They'd pick up this pinpoint beacon, which was coded 

and would show up clearly; and then offset 

bomb on that with great precision. We were every day 

bringing the bombs to within 400 meters in the Laotian 

campaign. 

Later in Cambodia, where I used it dO'ol'n there, we . 
. ' 

"brought it to within 200 meters. You know this is 

quite an achievement when you consider the A~my itself 
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· 'usoili"~' li~ei' e't:o ··have' about 600 to soo met~rs . 1:l e~.ra~ce_ 

for their artillery fire in support of their own 
\ 

troops. Here we were, it was solid overcast a ll 

around the clock# many of .these things would happen 

in the middle of the night# the rains would occur, and 

we would have to go in: these airplanes were deliver-

ing. It literally saved Long Tieng and a place called 

Bom Long which had been under attack. It literally 

saved these bastions for Vang Pao, and he was a 

totally different man after that P-111 was brought to 

bear and supported him. The bo~bing job we did there 

was, I daresay, one almost nobody knows about. Very 

few peopie, even within the military, know all about 

that Laotian campaign and . the precision bombing, and 

how it literally saved the Plaine de Jarres. 

The same thing happened later in Caabodia when Phnom 

Penh was surrounded by 25,000 troops closing in within 

3 miles of the main airfield there. We did the same 

thing, gave the Cambodian forces a beacon and bombed 

around the clock in close support of them and saved 

the city of Phnom Penh. It caused so much destruction 

~· .· : ·:~~ ~ ..-..; ~!.':.~'· .'?.f-;; t.he Cambodian , en.~~ forces ..- . th~t even}·/\~ ,~-~a..rs 
·· ···' ,· 'tater after our botDbing stopped ·, the caabScfiarufwere 
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still holding their own because of the g~eat deci­

mation of ~he attacxing forces essentially with the 

P-111 system and its great accuracy. 

1 toox the airplane to Europe when I became the 

commander over there and demonstrated our capability 

to do this in support of the ground forces by staging 

a live bombing on the Grafenwohr Range. 1 took the 

corps co111111anders from all the corps and assembled 

them out there--German, Belgian, Dutch, os, Canadian-­

put them out there in the grandstand. We had a beacon 

there; we had some old tanks assembled out in the 

middle of the range, and our F-llls came in and bombed 

off that beacon and rolled over four of tho~e tanks 

that were sitting out thertt in the field, bombing ­

through solid overcast. These guys were astounded. 

This is the Jcind of capability that you really need. 

The Battle of the Bulge in World War II, when all the 

air support ceased for 2 weeks during bad weather, 

resulted in a tremendous bulge in the friendly lines. 

The ·Geraans almost pushed us into the ocean, because 

of lack of· air support. Today, in the face of . fast­

moving Soviet armor, whi~h has a capability to stage 
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you get 2 weeks of bad weather -and there is no air, 

the whole war could be lost. And yet people calmly 

sit back and say, *What ' do we need all-weather for? 

We'll wait till the weather is good and fly.• . We 

find people, sincerely, in the planning business in 

washington today making assertions like that. How 

they can do it, I don't know. My history and ex-

perience has been one of great disaay. 

I recall several Presidents literally pulling their 

hair out because of our inability to use air when the 

weather was bad. President Johnson [Lyndon B.), when ' 

he was working the Rolling Thunder campaign, was 

trying to put some pressure on at one period of time, 

couldn't understand why tactical air, naval- and ground­

based, couldn't bomb when - the weather was bad. He 

wanted these targets k.illed; he wanted the objectives .. 
achieved that week. And we couldn't do it.· 

Later, I saw President Nixon .(Richard M.), during the 

Easter campaign--which I mentioned earlier--which was 

conducted under the cover of the northeas~. m~nsoon, 

',, .~--;'· ::'·:~ - ~~t·:lit.e~ally going nuts over the fact ,that' t~ct:i.cal ail- · " 
\l· .. 
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couldn't be in there to stem those tides of ground 

forces. And when people went over and said, "The 

weather is bad.• fte said, "My God~ we pu t people on 

the moon. Why can't we attack targets with tactical 

air?" The question is: "Why?" I don't know~ I 

showed that we could do it with certain systems, 

but then, not the systems we are equipping the Air 

· Force with today. It's not the -stuff' we are buying. 

Por example, when I left Southeast Asia ana went to 

_Europe, there wasn't any LORAN capability in all of 

Europe. It was 2 years after the war had ended down 

there, and LORAN proved to be absolutely vital to us. 

1'11 tell you a story about LORI!N here now that we 

are at this point and while we are on tile all-weather 

subject. 

H: Go right ahead. 

V: The President ordered Linebacker II. He ordered 

Linebacker II because of a tact~cal error that was 
I . . . 
11ade by our diplomats. After Linebacker 1, tne enemy 

. was suing for peace. They were hurt rea~ bad. Host 

of the 11ajor targets had been obliterated in the 

.·, 
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North. All the powerplants ~ere out except the one 

right in Hanoi, and they were hurting very badly, and 

they were ready to conclude an agreement. Kissinger 

and Le Due Tho got together and the indi~ations were 

that the agreement was imminent. Kissinger then 

informed me that he was going to order the ~ombing 

stopped in the Hanoi area as a gesture of goodwill 

to speed up the signing of the agreement. This was 

now in October 1912. I protested and said, "You 

know our history with Communists is one of having to 

keep the beat on them in order to get them to do 

anything. If you take the heat off them, they may 

never sign.• 

Kissinger left Al Haig [Alexander) down there to work 

on me. Haig said, "You know, you are out .of your 

head, John. You do~'t know anything about these 

negotiations. Le Due Tho and Henry are just like 

this, and this agree~ent is imminent, and we are 

going to stop the bombing.• Well, we stopped the 

bombing and within 1 week all the things that had 

previously been negotiated and agreed to became s~uck 

.' ; .' .: ' .-r.:.: . < again. The wbole· i1greemeftt'was nov .up. for grabs: 
-· • t';." • . . . - . • ~·: ·. - : ~ • 

·~:· :• iteu that had been resolved were now issues. again. 

., ' "'" , · · ~The·:he~t was off them., so t~e~ w~re~:.~ ~!'~~~~a~}n, ip' . . 
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earnest any more. 

I sent reconnaissance planes up there and I could see 

them rebuilding the powerplants: Soviet airplanes 

were landing and unloading equipment. Electronic 

stuff was coming in. The railroads were being rebuilt 

with China and trains were coming back down. They 

didn't want an agreement at this point. They thought 

that, politically, it would be impossible, having 

stopped the bombing, for the President . to do it again, 

and they were sitting there thinking they bad it 

aade. Then the President had to Qake the very, very 

tough decision to go to the use of B-52s which in-

curred some risks and which, of course, aroused 

public opinion against him all over the world, and 

especially in this ' country. 

Now, the B-52s went in to hit the same targets that we 

had destroyed in the tactical campaign of Linebacker 

I. The only additional targets we were now 

permitted to hit were the ones in Hanoi that ·I talked 

about earlier, the powerplant in Hanoi and the tians­

aitter facilities. They were the additional t~gets 

now· put on the list. Incidentally, both those targets 
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were hit by tactical air and not by the B-S2s • . ' 8-S2s 

couldn't be used because of their inaccuracies on 

targets of that kind. 

After 3 days of bombing, in 1 night we lost six a-S2s, 

and the SAC (Strategic Air Command) Commander called me. 

It was J. c. Heyer (Gen John C.) at the time and said, 

"God, we've got to do so~ething. These guys are getting 

to us with missiles. We have got to do something." He 

and I both agreed that the problem was that the enemy 

was assembling these missiles. They were coming in 

off Soviet ships, on lighters, being trucked to an 

assembly plant in southeast Hanoi, assembled during 

the day, and then they would be out on the sites for 

firing that night when the 8-52s ca~e in. All our 

electronic capability couldn't screen those B-52s 

from these missiles. They were burning through, and 

they were homing on th.e bombers. 

so J. c. Meyer said, "The only thing we can do is hit 

this missile assembly pla~t and destroy it so they 

can't fire the missiles at Me.• He tried to get 

authority from Washington to do this and was denied 

that authority. He was denied the authority, because 

90 

UNCLAS~TFtED 



( 

.. 

VOG'l' 

during that whole 11-day Linebacker II campaign there 

was only about 4 hours of visible bombing weather. 

The rest of the time it was all bad weather which 

required radar bombing systems or all-weather bombing 

systems. SAC's miss· distances, using their all­

weather systems capability, ' was 1,400 feet or some­

thing like that. Somebody did a quick calculation in 

· washington and decided if you put the SAC bomber, on 

this little missile assembly plant, which was right 

.in the city, that they'd kill 24,000 civilians just 

from the misses, and he was denied the authority to 

do it as a result of this. 

He called me and asked me to do it with my LORAN 

· airplanes, the history of which we have described 

earlier in the briefing. .I said, •You know, this is 

.quite a task you are asking lite to do becaus.e l might 

miss, .too, and kill a lot of civilians.• He said, 

•well, you are always bragging about your ~ORAN capa­

bility. Here's a chance to prove it. In any case, 

you've got to .do it. I've been denied the authority. 

For God's sake, you've got to try to get it.• So I 

called up . the Chairman of the JCS, with whom I had 

worxed, of course, in washington and with whom I 
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talked almost every day when 1 was r·unning ··the war 

down there on secure telephone, and said, •can you 

get me the authority?• Tom Moore got the authority 

for me to do it with LORAN-equipped P-4s. 

Those guys went in there in broad daylight and bombed 

through a solid overcast from 20,000 fee.t, with 

missiles being fired at them I might add--48 missiles 

were fired at that little 16-ship formafiofl--and they 

were in tight bombing formation i!S they went over the 

target, right over the heart of Hanoi, but they des­

troyed that missile a·ssembly plant. SAC losses went 

down to very manageable levels for the rest of the 

campaign as the result of this. So it was the all­

weather capability of these few tactical airplanes 

that we had ove~ there, LORAN-equipped, and the 

limited experience -that 1 had gained with them in 

bombing u~ around Hanoi that enabled us to do that. 

So that's a little lesson in airpower that's forgotten, 

too. 

Por example, I was talking to Russ Dougherty [Gen 

Russell E.), the former SAC Commander, a few months 

ago. He had never heard the story I've just told 
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you that the SAC bombers were literally saved by 

tactical application of all-weatner bombing. 

H: These were F-4s wi th this LORAN? 

V: Yes. Another thing he had never heard; during the 

campaign in Cambodia, we were using these S-52s in 

s~pport-~and this· was after the war had stopped in 

~Vietnam--and we were trying ~esperately to save Phnom 

Penh. We were bringing 8-52s in. The B-52s, while 

operating in Vietnam, were being directed by Skyspot, 

ground-based radar, which would direct the~ over the 

' target to a release point, and they would be told 

when to re~ase because the internal syste11s on the 

SAC bomber wasn't capable of doing the job with 

enough .accuracy. 

N~, when we were forced out of Vietnam, the Sky-

spot, ground-based radars were disbanded, and we were 

not permitted to put them in Cambodia because the 

Congress had now rule.d that there would be no us 

personnel on the ground .in CaJDbodia. Everything had 

to-be~ one t ·ro!l- the 'Witbout any Skyspot, the 

B-52s couldn't be guided with any accuracy, and it was 
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very risky to. take a s~s2 in and have it bomb off its 

own system in close proximity of the ground forces, 

because you might ~ipe out a w~ole friendly element. 

We were bringing t hose B-52s in during this bad monsoon 

weather~ . leading them in with F-4 LORAN-eq~ipped 

airplanes~-another airpower lesson few people have 

remembered--but these airplanes were picked up 100 

miles out from the target by my LORAN F-4s and guided 

in with great accuracy. 

(End Tape 2, Side 21 

I was telling the story of how we were guiding B-52s 

in wi'th _LORAN-equipped F-4s. The B-52s would fall in 

line behind a Pathf inder F-4~ they would keep a fixed 

distance behind, using their own internal radars to 

station keep on the F-4, one behind the other. The 

F-4 would lead them over the target and start their 

computer going at the release point, and that's how 

.the B-52s were bombing in . Cambodia, because their own 

internal systems_ were incapable of that kind of accuracy. 

Here we have tactical airplanes leading strategic 

bombers in on all-weather bombing missions, which I 
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think tells a little story in itself. This fact, 

that we had done this, was unknown to a great many 

people back at SAC. Over the years 1 have run into 

lots of people who questioned whether or not it ever 

happened. And as 1 say, I ran into General Dougherty 
I 

a few months ago,. and I was telling him this story. 

lie had never heard the story before that SAC did its 

bombing in Cambodia led in by tactical airplanes 

equipped with LORAN. And I . think there is a tendency 

in the Air Force to forget many of these hard lessons 

that we learned in actual combat and dismiss them 

from our minds and do nothing about them, consequently. 

so when the next situation arises where we need all-

weather: capability, nothing has been done to supply it. 

When l was made commander in Europe and I got over to 

Europe, I discovered there wasn't any of this capa­

bility in Europe. Nobody had put any LORAN in over 

there, and there was no all-weather capability except 

for one wing of F-ll~s that, incidentally, had never 

done any beacon bombing. And there weren't any 

beacons over in Europe despite this long history of 

it in Southeast Asia. It's almost as thoug~ all the 

experience we had learned over there had been denied 
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to the p_eople in Europe who were doing something 

entirely different. You ask me how this. can happen? 

I don't know except that one guy runs that part of 

the world, .and one guy runs the other and never the 

twain shall meet. 

M: That brings up an interesting point I noticed in the 

bioq.raphy there. You are the one who has been Commander 

of both PACAF and USAFS [United States Air Forces in 

europe). Maybe this is an area that should be looked at 

in the future. I think, as you pointed out, it's kind 

of two separate things, and each does it his own way. 

V: It very well bears looking into. I think it could 

stand a review. 

H: One final thing before we break. This stigma against 

the F-111 that I mentioned earlier. I, particularly, 

think that it stems from Congress. As you know, 

during the formative years .of the F-111, the McClellan 

(Sen John L., Appropriations} Co-ittee, particularly, 

was a very big critic of the way the F-111 was being 

produced and~ particularly, of Mr. McNamara. I wonder 

if you could add anything to that. 
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V: We"ll, there was a lot of concern. .about!, as I say, 

the selection process, whether or not the right 

manufacturer had been picked to do tt, whether or not 

the airplane really had a valid mission. Most people 

didn't understand what the missio~ was. The Air 

Force itself had some doubt as to how it was going to 

use the airplane. I think it took actual combat 

experience to demonstrate the capabilities of the 

airplane. You know, if ·we hadn't had that experience 

with it over there _in Southeast Asia, a lot of people 

could probably still be maintaining that it was a 

worthless airplane. My problem with the . F-111 was 

not the airplane itself but with the ordnance tbat we 

had to use to bomb with. That's another subject we 

may want to spend s011e ti11e on later, but I have been 

constantly crying for better, improved conventional 

ordnance. We still dropped 500-pound bombs, primarily, 

which you know are very ineffective. Unless you get 

direct hits with them, you don't have anything. 

People are amazed, for example, when I tell them that 

a 500-pound bomb has to hit within 9 feet of a tank 

in order to do any damage to it. If it falls more 

than~ feet away, the tank. rattles on oblivious 

to what bas been happening. To get 9-foot accuracies 
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with any kind of a system is extremely difficult, 

even with your guided weapons, and to do it on a 

regular basis with the bulk of your airplanes is 

extremely difficult . I used to decry the fact that 

we would send an airplane out, like an F-111, which 

would consistently get CEPs (circular er~or probable) 

of 150 feet and then drop bombs which couldn't hurt 

anything unless they were within 9 feet. We needed 

ordnance that had area capability. And only now is 

the Air Force really getting to work on this. 

They have a new program called the WAAH program, the 

Wide Area Antitank Munitions, which shows a lot of 

promise, but it's been a long, difficult process 

trying to get people interested into putting any 

money or ~ffort . into this kfnd of capability. An 

F-111 drops a string of twenty-four 500-pound bombs with 

a 40- to 50-foot interval between each one of theA!. If 

tanks . are in there, the chance of hitting a single 

tank when they deploy in battle formation is virtually. 

nil. So we have got to get on with i.111proved munitions 

for these airplanes. Now if it is nuclear war, that's 

something else. Anybody can hit anything with a 

nuclear bomb, but the kind of constrained wars which 
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we are apt to find ourselves figh_ting, like Southeast 

Asia, Korea, or lim~ted operations elsewhere around 

the world, you've got to have aerial-type weapons 

that'l~ kill armor and hit targets and destroy them 

over wide areas, an(J then combine it with a capability 

to do it under all-weather conditions. That's the 

lesson I learned the years I • ve been involved in 

fighting wars in Southeast Asia. And I might add in 

World War II, you know. 

As a squadron commander, I was flubbing around over 

there trying · to find targets in that lousy European 

weather. we were.having great difficulty. I said 

back in those days, •There must be a better way than 

stooging along and breaking through a cloud somewhere 

to find you are over a flak trap th.at' s shooting at 

you.• The accuracy of our bombers, even in those 

·days, was fine during daylight' hours with the Norden 

bollbsight, but tell the.11 to do it when the weather 

was bad or at night and,_ you know, they couldn't do 

it. Unless it was a whole city, they couldn't bit 

it. The navigation capability was crude. l have had 

B-17s, which I encountered during World War II deep 

inside of Europe, ask me on the radio what the heading 

99 



UNCLA SRfFJ~f VOGT 

was back to England. So we really haven•·t put the 

emphasis on these pr~grams that we should have, and 

we've got to do it. 

Like 1 mentioned earlier, if a campaign starts in 

Eu~ope wi~h that tremendous Soviet armo~ capability 

to move very fast, and you've got several days of bad 

weather, the war could be over. The breakthrough 

could occur. And without air, the ground forces will 

not hold in Europe. They depend very heavily on 

tremendous firepower support froD the air forces. 

And if they are not flying, God help usl Do you want 

to break at this point? (pause) 

With the termination of t~e Rolling Thunder campaign 

in 1968, I was transferred back to Washington, and 1 

became Assistant Deputy for Plans and Operations for 

the Air Staff. My job, at that time, involved working 

with the Chief and for all of his appearances over on 

'the Hill. I bad to get him ready for his budget 

review process, committee hearings. The Chief at the 

time was McConnell (Gen John P.), and I found he was 

a very easy •an to work with because he was known and 

very well liked over on the Hill. That has a lot of 
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bearing on how successful your appearance is. If they 

like you, that's one thing; if they don't like yo~, . 

that's something else. McConnell could walk in, and 

he would have four or fiv e old ·cronies jump up, come 

over and shake his hand, and ask him when they were 

going duck hunting again and that sort of thing. It 

was much easier during the process of get:ting 

the testimony out on the table, because it was a free 

· and easy flow. If he didn't have something right in 

the top o,f his head, in~;tead of badgedng hiRI about 

it, they would say, •well, J. · P., get that for us, and 

we'll put it in ·the record later,• you see. That 

aade it fine. You didn't have to worry too much 

about all these details and cramming his head with a 

lot of irrelevant data, because he knew tha~ he 

could always supply it for the record later. I found 

working with him over on ·the Hill to be a very pleasant 

experience, and I made a number of contacts in that 

job. That was my first real exposure to the Hill, 

how the- committees worked, and how the staffs operated, 

and so forth. He was a veteran at that sort of thing. 

He could .really effectively operate over on the Hill. 

Unlike his successor, Jack Ryan [Gen~ohn D.], who, 

you know, didn't like to ~e over there on the Hill 
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and felt very uncomfortable about it and was sort of 

caustic with the people. Ryan had a great grasp of 

detaif and a great grasp for what was going on in the 

Air Force and knew, essentially, the answer to all 

the questions that were asked him, but .his manner was 

one of giving the most curt and short answer that he 

could possibl y come up with. which made them a little 

unhappy over there. But he was a totally different 

type of guy. 

weq, t;hat was a little digression, but let me say 

that when I got back and was made the Assist~nt 

Deputy of Plans and Ops, I_ did find myself spendi'ng a 

lot of time in this area of the Chief's relationship 

with the Hill and his appearances over there. And, 

of course, I got involved in the planning process for 

the Air Staff and some of the JCS activity. 

Shortly thereafter, I was ~elected to go down and be 

the J-3. It was the Air Force's turn to supply a J-3 

for the JC$, and I was picked by McConnell to do this 

and went on down and became the J-3. This was a very 

interesting period, of course. A lot of things were 

going on. The war in southeast Asia· was heating up. 
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And we went through the interesting things that I 

described fro~ ~y earlier testimony, some of the 

tough decisions that had to be made with regard to 

Southeast Asia, and there were all kinds of crises · 

happening all over the world, and 1 found being the 

J-3 to be a sporty proposition. 

I h4d a secure phone in my quarter~. I lived at 

Bolling at the time. And it rang three times, at 

least, every night, 7 days a week, for the whole 

year I was a J-3. 1 would wake up in the middle of 

the night and have, you know, to resolve a problem, 

or decide whether or not to get the Chairman out of 

bed or take whatever action had to be taken. It is 

a very demanding assignment, or it was back in those 

days. I guess now that we are in a more peaceful 

environment, it has relaxed somewhat; but 1 would 

suspect that even today the J-3 is an awfully busy 

man. 

I was the J-3 under Buzz Wheeler JG~n Earle G.), who 

was the Chairman at the ti11e. .Initially, I had 

proble.-s with General Wheeler·. ·lfe and I didn't seem 

to hit it off, initially. This was all turned 
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around ultimately, and we became very good ·friends 

and very close colleagues. I think I became a very 

trusted confidant of his and accompanied him on 

almost all his appearances, briefings over on the 

Hill and over in. the White Hou~e and supported him 

on many occasions. He was an excellent briefing 

officer and did a really good job in the higher 

echelons i~ selling th~ military view. I was privir 

leged to be in on a lot of those se15sions with him. 

I remember in 1973 I was sitting down in Southeast 

Asia. The war was over in Vietnam, and I think we 

had just concluded our bombing in Cambodia, and I was on 

a little base at Nakhom Phanom, and I was heading up 

the US Support Activities Group, USSAG. That was a 

command that was created after the war ended in 

Vietnam. I had an Army deputy, and a joint staff--

Navy, Marines and everything else--on it. We were 

finishing_ the ·war . up in Southeast Asia, Cambodia, and 

Laos. General Wheeler sent me a message. He said 

he had been asked to appear over on the Hill, and he 

had to report on everything he had said during a 

2-year period. in briefings to the Congress, the issue 

being whether or not the Congress bad been ·previously · 
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notified about this secret bombing that was going on 

in Cambodia. He had to remember everything that had 

been said a nd done. Here I am sitting out in this 

remote part of the world with access to virtually 

nothing .in the way of records, and I get ·this message: 

-•Please tell me, can you remember what we said at 

these various briefings'? Or what briefings we actually 

gave? And what we said at them?• l had to sit down 

there and try to. plece all of this together, and it 

was really something. I had a first-class secretary 

who had been with me back in those days and who had 

gone _to Southeast Asia with me, a girl named Nancy 

Collins, and she saved stuff. She bad hauled stuff 

down to Southeast Asia that had no bearing at all on 

my new job, but we had P.acking cases full of that 

stuff. She pulled all thi's · s .tuff out, and I had . 

almost a complete record of all the briefings we had 

given over on the Hill when I was J-3. we put to­

gether a 14-page telegram back to General Wheeler 

which, I und~rstand, he later used as the basis .for. 

his testimony over in Congress. This sort of thing 

happens. 

But .working with Wheeler was ·a good experience. He 
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is a very capable guy and a very smooth un in relations 

with the higher echelons over there. Then he~ of 

course, retired. Admiral Moorer [Aam Thomas H.} came 

ip, and I now became the Oirector of the Joint Staff. 

But during that J-3 period, we were working on a 

number of things like command and control. How would 

the National Command Authority be able to make a 

decision in the face of an imminent nuclear attack? 

And I think I probably h~d as ~uch to do as anybody 

with the creation of these new airborne command post 

airplanes, the choice of the -747 to do this particular 

job. Because I perceived a very great need to h~ve a 

survivable platform in case nuclear war was imminent. 

You know, you have to have s~eplac.e to go with your 

decision makers. 

The Soviets, of course, have dug a lot of big under-

ground shelters, and they put their top echelon in 

~hem every year and conduct exercises from them. 

We've never done anything liKe that, and there's 

really no place to hide in this country. Our so­

called secure command posts really aren'~ very secure. . . . 
Even the Cheyenne Mountain, by nuclear war standards, 
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is not very survivable. So the airborne command post 

was a great project of mine. I used to command 

several Navy ships in my capacity as J-3. I had 

operational control over th~ cruiser, Northampton, 

and a baby carrier~ and one other vessel, which were 

alternate command posts. In case of nuclear war, we 

dispatched the command authorities out to these 

vessels. They were all yanked out from under me by a 

budget cut one day between the Secretary of the Navy 

and Secretary of Defense. They got to cutting forces 

one day and, without telling any of us, eliminated 

these vital command vessels: But that's another 

story in itself on how decisions are ~ade on important 

matters like this. Frequently over issues like, 

where are you going to save some money? 

When I became the Director and Admiral Moorer became 

the Chairman, we worked together very effectively for 

a couple of years as a team. I attended all the 

meetings over in the White House with him on all 

major crisis matters, and he and I would go over and 

sit at the WASAG and give the military views on any 

decision on any crisis that was occurring anywhere in 

the world. It was a very unique experience. 
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much out o f the chain of command. These decisions 

were happening and being made very, very fast; there 

was no time for the corporate body to meet, and most 

of the Chiefs, themselves, were finding out what had 

happened the day after it happened when we would give · 

them the debriefing of what had happened the night 

before, I think it was just a revelation to me that 

the decision making pro~ess within the Pentagon is a 

cumbersome one, particularly as it involves JCS 

machinery. The committee system of sitting down and 

arguing everything out and getting a common position 

is all ~ight in the planning phase when you've g?t 

lots of time, but during crisis situations when you 

have to react immediately, it doesn't work. You 

can't sit there and yet a service position together 

and have it ha~~cred and hassled and worked over for 

3 or 4 days when you need to take action in the next 

hour or two. 

So what evolved was essentially the system I have 

described, the Washington Special Activities Group, 

consisting of CIA, Defense Department, State Depart­

ment and JCS representatives, and the White House man--
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who was Kissinger--and we'd meet in crash session at 

anytime of the day or night to deal with . problems. 

Then if it involved military forces, as it most 

usually did, we'd have to go back and prepare all the 

execution messages and the directives to the commanders 

in the field. so that covers pretty generally my 

period back in Washington; I then left for southeast 

Asia during the Easter spring offensive in April 1972. 

H: I have a couple of questions. Y·ou mentioned that 

while you were J-3 there were any number of crises 

that developed. What were the nature of these when 

you were called in the middle of the night? 

V: I'll tell you one. 'l'h·is one is a little far out, but 

it was typical of the kind of problems that I ran 

into. 

The phone rang one night in the middle of the night, 

and it was the duty officer at the National Military 

Counand Center, which is unde~ the J-3. And he said 

that the Navy had reported ~hrough their Navy communi- . 

cations channels that there' had been a mutiny on a 
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, munitions ship on its wa.y to Thailand with bonibs for 

some of our airplanes. There were some 5,000 bombs 

on this thing. The mutineering members of the crew 

had seized control and had locked the captain and the 

first mate in his cabin and were now in control of 

the ship, and they were taking it into a Cambodian 

port. They were concerned because the guy who had 

captured the ship was threatening to blow the ship up 

unless the Cambodian authorities came out and took 

him ashore and listened to his grievances. The Navy 

had intercepted these communications, which were 

radio calls from the ship, describing the situation on 

board, and they had filtered through Commander, Pacific 

Fleet. He was now calling National Military Co1111and 

Authority in Washington sayiny, •what are we going to 

do?• 

Well, I'm awakened in the ~iddle of the night with 

•what are we going to do?• •well,• I said, •the 

first thing we have to do is get aho.ld of the us 

Ambassador. First notify Defense and State, then get 

ahold of our US Ambassador down there and tell him of 

this situation and tell him to go to the Cambodian 

Government and advise them that this ship is putting 
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into one of their ports and that they should go out 

and meet it. And tell them that it's a dangerous 

situation because it's loaded with 5,000 bombs on its 

way 'to the war in Thailand, and we've got sort of a 

crazy guy who is' threatening to blow it up. So it has 

g~t to be handled delicately.• Well, then, the 

problems began to arise. First, we discovered 

there were no communications at night with the 

Embassy in Cambodia. The Embassy maintained communi­

cations through its own comm [communication) system 

with the State Department only during working hours, 

and at s.o'clock they shut the place up and went 

home _or went to their respective quarters •. So 

there was nobody on duty, and there was no way of 

getting word to this guy. So I said to the duty . 

officer, •There must.be someway. We'll have .to try 

commercial phone calls.• We discovered noW that we 

have to go through Tokyo exchange in order to get to 

Cambodia on a commercial line call, and there's 

a waiting list and we a:re number li on the list. We 

have no priority; the fact that we are military, us, 

urgently trying to get to an Ambassador didn't make 

any difference to the Japanese· phone company. You 

get on the list like everybody else; (laughter) 
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They've got other clients. We were sweating out a 

priority to get a phone call through to the Ambassador 

on a commercial system to tell him to go down and 

open up h i~ communicat ions so he can find out what we 

want to do. 

This thing grew into a real cliffhanger because the 

captain, who was permitted to talk over the radio, was 

urgently broadcasting the threats of this madman to 

blow the ·ship up. He said, "It's going to happen in 

the next hour unless somebody gets out here.• They had 

now gone into the port, and nobody was bothering to 

come out. The Cambodians didn't have the notice that 

the ship was out there. The anchor had been dropped, 

and the ship was sitting in the harbor, and this nut thinks 

they are conspiring against him, and the Cambodians 

aren't coming out delib~rately, and he is going to blow 

the ship up. Well, it's a long story, but we finally get 

through on the commercial line, and tbe Ambassador 

rushes down to the Cambodian Government, and they 

finally get somebody out there, and this guy· is taken 

ashore, and the ship is saved, et cetera. But there's 

a typical crisis. You see, it probably never got in 

the newspapers which happens ad nauseam ail -through 
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They've got other clients. We were sweating out· a 

priority to get a phone call through to the Ambassador 

on a commercial system to tell him to go down and 

open up his communications so he can find out what we 

want to do. 

This thing grew into a real cliffhanger because the 

captain, who was permitted to talk over the radio, was 

urgently broadcasting the threats of this madman to 

blow the ship up. He said, ··n•s going to happen in 

the next hour unless somebody gets out here.• They had 

now gone into the port, and nobody was bothering to 

come out. The Cambodians didn't have the notice that 

the ship was out there. The anchor had been dropped, 

and the ship was sitting in the harbor, and this nut thinks 

they are conspiring against him, and the Cambodians 

aren't coming out deliberately, and he is going to blow 

the ship up. Well, it's a long story, but we finally get 

through on the commercial line, and the Ambassador 

rushes down to the Cambodian Government, and they 

finally ge~ somebody out there, and this guy is taken 

ashore, and the ship is saved, et cetera. But there's 

a typical crisis. You see, it probably never got in 

the newspapers which happens ~ nauseam all ~hrough 
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the year. All these little things are happening in 

the evening, and then the . guy who is the J-3 has got 

to do something about these things that are happening. 

H: Well, did the tempo of this sort of thing pick up 

with the press' hostility toward the war? These · 

types. o"f incidents? 

V: I don't know if you· can directly relate them one with 

the other, but there were terrorist incidents and 

things of that sort that, I think, in part were 

stimulated by the whole Vietnam era and the feeling 

against the Vietnamese war. There were riots and 

crises situations that were occurring many, many 

times, threats t .o some of our installations and so 

forth. But it was a constant crisis atmosphere all 

during that period. It really took a lot of time and 

attention and work. 

H: This difference you mentioned you had earlier with 

General Wheeler, initially. Did this stem mainly 

from an Army versus Air Force view, or what was the 

nature of it? 
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V: No. I think it was a personality problem more than 

anything else. I think Wheeler and I sort of looked 

each other over and decided, •nell, I don't like him, 

and he doesn't like me.• (laughter) We JUSt had to 

work together for awhile to appreciate each other's 

virtues and qualities. But I must say, he is a very 

big-minded guy, and our initial differences evaporated 

when we got together on a . few crises and had to get · 

the job done. Later on, you know, we had a very, 

very close relationship. 

H: While we are on this subject, any number of inter­

viewees that I have talked to in the pa.st has voiced 

the opinion that of the · various services the Navy was 

always the mos.t intransigent on practically. any. view. 

Did you experience ~ny of that? 

V: Well, I had a lot of service with th.e Navy, and I 

wor.ked for a nwaber of Navy people. When I was first 

in the JCS doing that NSC work, I worked for Admiral 

Radford [Ad• William Arthur], and I had a very close 

relationship with him. And this Admiral wooldridge 

that I talked about earlier was my iamediate boss. 

When I was in the Pacific in C~NCPAC, I worked with 
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· Admi"ral Anderson .[.Adm Georqe) and Admiral Felix Stu~p· 

(Adm Felix Budwell). I had a qood relationship with 

them. I think I have been associated with Navy guys 

more than any other man I can think of in the Air 

Force probably. And of course, when I was the 

Director for a couple of yea.rs there, I worked with a 

Chairman who was Admiral Moorer. I found that I 

could get along with the Nav~ very well. I think the 

feeling that you often hear expressed is that th~ 

Navy likes to do i .t their own way, and ther aren't as 

apt to join in on the joint aspects as the other 

services. I think that's true. They do have this 

tendency to want to operate independently, but · it's 

the nature of the Navy's mission. You see, they have 

their own ground forces in the Marines, and they have 

their own Air Force. They like to keep the unity of 

that organization separate and distinct fro~ the Army 

and the Air Force. But I found the~ real professionals. 

In the war in Southeast Asia, I had a Navy admiral 

assigned to my headquarters, when I was the commander 

down there, who did a fine job for me. In fact, 

th~re were some 80 Navy people on my staff when I 

was conducting the a ~r war in Southeast Asia. We had 
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close liaison with Fleet Operations. 
The Fleet 

Commander or the Task Force Co~ander who was con­

ducting the Navy bombing operations worked very closely 

with me. Be was a fellow named Copper, Admiral Hut~h 
Cooper, a real professional airman who did a very 

fine job, and I found that 1 could work with him 

very well. Now, I would much have preferred, of 

course, to have control of the whole air situation 

qyself. Anybody would have. 

Incidentally, that was one of the things I thought 

the President and I had agreed on when I went to 

Southeast Asia, that I would, in fact, be able to run 

all operations involving air. The President thought · 

he had given ·me that authority because very recently, 

when he was writing his men~oi"rs, he contacte'd me 

through another party and prepared a paragraph for 

his book, which never appeared in his book, which got 

to the point of the authorities he had given me. He 

had gone way beyond what I thought he had given 

me in writing this paragraph, and I sent that word 

back. So we sort of agreed to drop the whole thing 

from the book until we could get it straightened out. 

In actuality, what he said was that he had told ae I 
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had full responsibility for running the whole war, 

not only the air portion of .it, but in actuality, he 

tol~ me I had full responsibility for the air war but 

then never followed through and had the directives 

written that gave me that authority. So when I 

went down there, I ran into the same problems that 

all my predecessors had run into. I had bosses all 

over the place. If I was working in Laos, the man 

who thought he was my boss was the Ambassador in 

Laos, Mac Godley at the time. A hell of a fine guy. 

Be and I workea together very well, but he let it be 

known very clearly that when I was fighting in his 

country, he was the boss. 

[End Tape 3, Side 1) 

In Camboaia the same thing applied . Whenever I 

planned any new activity in Cambodia, I would have to 

go down to the Embassy and square it away with the 

Ambassador and tell him what I was planning to do and 

get his authority to do it. They were my bosses, in 

essence, of the campaigns I was conducting in Laos 
I . 

and Cambodia. 
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When l was bo~bing in South Vietna•, everything had 

to be okayed, of course, by my iamediate boss, who 

was MACV (Military Assistance Couand Vietnam}. When 

I was bombing up in the North, I had two bosses to 

contend with, the CINCPACAF [co .. ander in Chief, Pacific 

Air Forces} ColiUIIander, who was Lou Clay, fortunately., a 

guy who had been in Vietnam and knew my problems and was 

very helpful as a result, because he'd been there, and 

he knew what the trouble was. I found his help to be 

very constructive, and be ~as a fine guy to have as an 

immediate bos~. But he was a boss. 

Then I had the CINCPAC commander sitting up there in 

Hawaii. In this case, Admiral Gayler {Adm Noel Arthur 

Meredyth], who was less sympathetic and was more 

difficult to work with, but who felt that he was 

running the war in the North and was issuing direc­

tives on that. So you see, I baa a different boss 

for each area of the world in which I was conducting 

my military operations. 

On top of that, I had the Chief qf Staff of the Air 

.. Fprce sending me messages fro111. Waahing.ton, and ~ had 

the Chairman of the JCS calling me almost every day on 
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the telephone telling me what I could or couldn't do. 

But that was helpful', too, because Moorer was an 

extremely able guy who had a good feel for the political 

requirements, and he knew .what the traffic would 

bear, and he was sort of a buffer between those of us 

fighting the war down there and the policy makers and 

decision makers i'n the higher levels. I thanked my 

lucky stars many times that he was the guy up there 

running interference for us, because it made our 

job so much easier in running the campaigns, pa~ticu­

larly the Linebacker campaigns. 

I don't know if you want to get on the war in Southeast 

Asia now. We had gotten through my duties, I guess, 

as J-3 and some of my work as Director. 

H: One other thing related to the Navy. As you are well 

aware, when things were set up in Southeast Asia, 

particularly in North Vietnam, they assigned different 

Route Packs, and this was one big criticism that the 

Navy was assigned such and such Route Pack and the 

Air Force some other one. Pilots would often complain 

they could see enemy activity going on in the Navy's Route 

Pack area but couldn't do anything about ' it, because 
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they would get in hot wate~ fo~ going ove~ the~e. 

They said it c~eated a lot of interse~vice rival~y. 

we~e you awa~e of any of this? 

V: Of course, the Route Pack thing goes way· back to the 

Rolling Thunde~ days. l think I mentioned I was 

Chief of Operations for PACAF, and my counterpart was 

a guy named B~irigle, Admiral aringle. we had to 

wrestle with this problem of who had responsibility 

and where because the Rolling Thunder war was con­

ducted from Honolulu back in those days. Admiral 

Oley Sharp was a very st~ong-minded guy, and he felt 

it was his responsibility, and he was on top of this 

thing every day. He was conducting meetings at least 

twice, sometimes three times a week, on what we were 

going to be doing in the nex.t phase of "the bombing 

down there, and Bringle would be directed to carry 

out the Navy portion. of it, and I would be told to 

imple.111ent the Air Force portion. Now, you could have 

gone two ways: One, na.111e an overall air co11111ander 

and have him responsible for coordinating all of the 

activities throughout" all the areas. That would have 

necessitated a single, air collllllander. That probably 

would have been the better way. But becaUse of · ·Navy 
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concerns and disagreement in the JCS, it was agreed 

that we wouldn't do that, but we would divide the 

territory up so that instead of .having one guy direct 

all operations in all areas, we would divide it up 

geographically and have two guys conduct operations, 

each in his own area. There was no other way you 

could do it, because it takes monitoring by head­

quarters to .constantly be on top of everything that's 

going on in his area of responsibility. So that gave 

rise to the Route Pack system. 

Now, essentially, the Route Packs were picked for the 

convenience of the fleet, primarily. They were off 

the shore there anchored off--not anchored--but 

cruising around in the Gulf of ·Tonkin, and the Route 

Packs that were given to them were those that were in 

closest proximity to their ships. They had, as I 

recall, Route Packs 2, 3, and 4, which were right 

along the coast in the upper sections. And we were 

given Route Pack 1, and we had 6 over in the extreme 

west and Route Pack 5, which was the Hanoi area 

primarily. so they were largely responsible for 

Haiphong and the coastal strip south, and we were 

responsible for Hanoi and the areas to the north and 
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the west, and to Route Pack 1 whYch was just north of 

the DMZ [demilitarized zone}. That's how that worked 

out. What that saved, you see, was a great deal of 

detailed coordination. Otherwise, you wouldn't have 

been able to operate. You would be flying in each 

other's bombing pattern. You would be bouncing each 

other by mistake if you were in there, and the Navy 

was in there. It would have been very difficult to 

do· it, so this was one feasible way of doing it, and 

it was the system that was used throughout all the war 

in the north. 

The war in the south was different, and the war in 

Laos and Cambodia was different. When there was Navy 

participation there, it was under my command and my 

control. They would come in and tell me the day 

before how many sor~ies I would get the next day, and 

they'd report to my controllers, and they would be 

put into tlie targets th.at we wanted them in under our 

control. The Marines, ~ho were actually based in 

Thailand--we had two squ~drons of Marines at Nam 

Phong--were under my operational control. I actu-

ally tasked them and picked the targets for them 

and put them. on their missions. There was a squadron 
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of Marine ~-6s and f-4s, and we sent them frag [fragment! 

orders just like Air Force units. They were given 

their mission and instructions just like the Ai r 

Force units. 

But the Navy had to be .coordinated with in any areas 

where we'd be in juxtaposition. That sometimes got 

difficult because of the co-uriications problems. 

But I did have this Navy liaison staff right with me 

in ~ headquarters, both in Saigon and later up in 

Nalthoa Phano.m, with a Navy admiral who maintained 

contact with the fleet and who coordinated these 

activities so that we didn't run into each other. 

I think the war could have been fought more effectively 

had there been one comaander. I think we could have 

done thing~ mutually to each other's advantage it we 

had been able to use forces simultaneously. 

I re•ember once we worked a coordinated mission 

with the Navy, took several days to plan it, and we 

were attaclting so111e targets in the Hanoi area. They 

were going to come in froa the sea ~n the east side, 

and we were going to coae in fro• the west, and we 
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.:);: were going to saturate the defenses with this great 

wa~e of airpla~es. The~ we had the targets picked 

that we were going to hit, and we thought we would do 

great damage and saturate his radars and overburden 

his interceptors and so ·forth. The concept was good, 

good sound tactics. The mission day came, and we 

launched and went up there, and the guys came back 

and reported they hadn't seen any Navy airplanes, out 

they had carried out their portion of the mission. 

There were plenty MiGs around, as usual. They were 

buzzing all over the place. And lots of SAMs (surface­

to-air missiles), and th~re didn't seem to be too 

much diversion going on, so they questioned the effective-

ness of the strategy. 

We found out the next day that the Navy had never 

launched. They had some local sea condition out 

~here where they couldn't launch, so they didn't tell 

us _that they weren't going. They simply didn't go, 

and we went in by ourselves thinking that we were up 

there with support coming in from the sea. so, that 

sort of thing happened, you see, where the Navy commander 

on the scene haa the authority to cancel his mission. 

I'm no~ saying it was wrong. He had so~. operational 
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situation which made him decide he couldn't go, but 

there was no way, apparently, for him to tell me right 

then and there he was doing it, and I didn't know 

until the next day that he had ~one it. So that kind 

of a problem did exist. But by and large, the Navy 

.was ~ooperative and helpful, and the people that I 

· worked with were professionals. I went out to the 

carriers. I flew in a Navy fighter from the carrier. 

That was quite amusing •. One day I went out there and 

talked them into letting me fly an A-4 two-seater. 

All these gobs came swarming up from the companionway 

to see 11e being belted into the back seat. So I said 

to the yeoman who was strapping me in, •aoa, haven't 

these sa.Uors ever seen an Air Force general get a 

ride in one of these airplanes before·?• He said, 

•Hell, General, we ain't never seen a Navy admiral 

get in one of theset• (laughter) But they were 

really a professional bunch, and they did a very fine 

job. 

• The N~vy and I both had more trouble with CINCPAC 

than with each other, of course. C:UICPAC was up 

there rather reAiote f·rOID the war trying to tell us' 
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';',~what. to .do, ' and he was making very gre~t' demandS:' on 

both the Navy and ourselves. In fact, he was rougher . 

on the Navy than he ' was on the Air Force. This was 

Admiral Gaylor up in Honolulu. 

I think, by and large, however, despite the proble11s 

that I talked to you before about having many bosses, 

because I happened to be down there and something had 

to be done that day, I had the authority to do it, and 

I would do it. And it was a question of squaring it 

away with my various bosses the next day. 

There were constraints that still existed. People 

still were concerned about civilian casualties·. They 

were concerned about hitting targets that some people 

believed didn't contribute to the war effort. We 

went through that great hubbub about bombing daas and 

dikes, which was all a lot of baloney. We weren't 

bombing dams and ~ikes, ·and yet the press insisted 

that we were. Finally a guy caae down--a newspaper 

reporter--and demanded to talk to me about why I was 

bombing dams and dikes. I told him we weren't. Re 

said, •Qb, but y9u are because, you know, every day 

· ·· ·: ,;,~~e ~ti getting· report!! ·of this. • So I s~i~~;)I' i~ . 
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tell you wHat I'll do. I'll put you upstairs with 

the intelligence people who do all the BOA, the 

battle damage assessment. We take photos of every 

bo.nb we've ~ropped, and I'll let you look at any 

photos for any day of any of the bombing that we have 

don~ all during this Linebacker campaign. You thin& 

that you have heard somewhere that we have bombed a 

dam or a dike. You can go to the record and they'll 

puil it out. • Thi.s guy went up there, and he spent 3 

hours'and he pulled out all these things, and when he 

got all through, he had to admit 'that we weren't 

bombing dams and dikes. 

I .said, "Now, I will admit to having bombed a dam and 

a dike. Two of the~, by accident, when laser bombs 

didn't guide and we took. a chunk out of them, but in 

neither case did we breach it.• Be wanted to see 

those, and we showed him those pictures. I said, 

•Those are the only, to my knowledge, dams and dikes 

that even had minor damage · done to. them. • This guy 

said, •Thank you, very much.• And he went back, 

presumably, to write a story. 

A week later I · got a call fro~ the Commander in Chief, 
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Paci.ll.ic Fleet, Admiral -Chick" Clar~'./lBernard A. I ,>· who 

was up in Honolulu and who happened to be a friend of 

mine over the years. He was very irate. He said, 

"Why did you tell the ~ York Time~ that the Navy 

was bombing the dams and dikes?" I said, "I never said 

anything like that." He said, •well, you are being. 

quoted. There's an article that has appeared in 

washington. The Navy sent it to me, and it's now here 

in the Honolulu Adver~~· . a repeat of it, where you are 

quoted as saying the Navy is doing it.• I said, •wait a 

minute. I have the tape of that interview. I'm going to 

se~d it to you,• which I subsequently did. Not once was 

the Navy mentioned in the whole interview. We finally 

got ahold of this reporter and asked him why in the 

hell he could say something like that. He sai~, •you 

did, by inference. You said you weren't doing it 

and, obviously, somebody was doing it. The only 

· other guy out there that was ·bombing was the Navy, so 

it must have been him. So, by inference, you were 

implying they were doing it.• That's the kind of 

problem you run into with the press that I alluded to 

earlier. They'll t.ake something and just completely 

distort it and quote you or misquote you in a head­

line where it- gets you in trouble with a lot of 
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people, undeservedly, really. 

I remember another incident when I was bombing i n 

Cambod i a. This was 1973 and we were trying to save 

Phnom Penh. I got an urgent message from Jerry Friedheim, 

who was the Assistant Secreta r y of Defense for Public 

Affairs, and he said, ql am quoting an article f rom 

the washington Post and ~ ~ Ti~es. It is date­

lined Cambodia in which the charge is made by this 

reporter that you used B-52s to destroy 10 Cambodian 

cities, and that this guy personally interviewed the 

refugees from these cities. I must have an immediate 

ans~er to these charges. The affair could develop 

into a nasty· publicity situation in washington. 1 

must have a t'epl y in the next 24 hours.• The guy had 

named the 10 Cambodian cities or villages. I sent a 

r econnaissance airplane· out to eacn one of them 

immediately, brought the pictures back. I had them 

on my desk within a matter of hours, and we had them 

blown up into big 11 X l4s, and there were no B-52 

boab marks on any of the 10 cities that this guy had 

named, not a single B-52 bo~. Of the 10 cities, 7 

of the• had virtually no war damage of an·y k~nd. 

·They may have had minor, you .know, shell damage 
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.';or som~t.ll:~ng ·of that kind. Ttp:',i(f "'.,..Q,t.lnffs h,,~d ,_bombing 

evidence. These were in the Parrot Beak. The bomb-

ing was, by my experts, typically th~ bombing ~one by 

the South Vietnamese Air Force. They were 250-pound 

bombs, which we never dropped. These were 250-pound 

bomb craters. Even this was minor damage on the 

outskirts of one of these towns. But the 10 towns 

were virtually untouched. I sent all these things 

back by special courier with all the actual photo­

graphs and the t~xt and the data. We hit our com­

puters with the missions we had run at the various 

times and so forth, proving conclusively: first, t~a~ 

the towns ·had not been destrqyed as alleged; · no B-S2s 

were involved . as alleged. The destruction was· very 

. minor contrary to what the article said. That thing 

went back by special courier and nothing ever appeared 

to refute the arguments this guy bad presented in his 

news article. 

1 couldn'~ get an answer back as to why we weren't 

coming up with a counter to it. Finally, on the next 

trip back, some 3 months later, I rushed up to Friedheim's 

office to find out why in the hell he ~.alin' t blasted 

this guy. for 'this 111isre~resentatiori, . 8~ it.:l.id, •well, ... 
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the whole thing died down a couple of days later, and 

we didn't think it was worthwhile dredging it back up . 

again and stirring the whole mess up again. So we 

just let it die.• But on the ·records, you see, in 

the newspapers for some histori an in the future who 

·comes across it will be an article that may be the 

basis for something he writes later about indiscrimi­

nate bombing in Cambodia by the United States Air 

Force. Never refuted! Left to go unchallenged 

because it would have been more of a chore to dredge 

it up and to kick it around again than to put it to 

rest. I found that happening ~any, many times. The 

whole dams and dikes thing was a good illustration of 

it where charges were leveled almost every day that 

we were bombing dams and dikes when we were bending 

over backwards to keep trom hitting any of them, 

straining our operations. so we wouldn't hit .them, and 

making the job more difficult for our pilots ~o be 

sure that we wouldn't bit any, yet to destroy a 

.target nearby that had to be destr~yed. 

Hz Didn't it appear rather ludicr~us that th~ military 

'would have to defend an action like bombing the dams 

and dikes? WOuldn't that be an ideal military target? 
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Well, you s~e, the press campai9n was·- Sti(jgeSti ng ihat 

we were indiscriminate i n our bombing, and this wa~ 

used as part of the evidence of our being i ndiscrimi-

nate. We were bombing dams and dikes which harmed 

the poor farmer who i s trying to grow rice, and we 

are flooding villages and causing.needless loss of 

civilian lives and making life miserable for these 

poor people when it really isn't a valid military 

target. You know, 'it • s not contributing to the war 

effort. That was the thrust of all that argument. 

And it went on and on for months unchecked. We never 

did put it to rest even when we had the guys down 

looking at the actual target work •. 

Now, the amount of constraints placed on us to insure 

that there were no civilian lives lost and to 

minimil:e da1nage to t he countryside were quite 

extreme, and we never had anything like that, of 

course, in previous wars. But in this war they 

were very much there-, and r bad to be conscious every 

time I went out on a mission of this fact. I'll tell 

you an example of the extremes to which this was 

carri·ed. 
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When we got through, during Linebacker 1, destroying 

virtually _all of the powerplants, with the exception 

of the one in Hano i which was protected--the Navy 

. worked on thos~ in Haiphong and destroyed all of them, 

and 1 knocked out all the powerplants surrounding 

~he Hanoi area and the upper part of the country-­

they were now virtually without power. They were 

resorting to small power generators, and the whole 

war effort was suffering very badly up there. The 

cities were going dark, and the factories couldn't 

produce any more, having a major effect on morale. 

The Russians had been building, at the same time, a 

hydt:oelectric powerplant up northwest of Hanoi. 

They had dammed up a river and hao built a big earthen 

dam with a big concrete spillway .encased, and on this 

concrete spillway, they had constructed the generator 

plant, and it had, as I recall, three very large 

turbine generators. The capacity of this was such 

that if they got it working and tied into their grid 

system it would replace something like three-fourths 

of all the electricity that we had destroyed previously 

·and, you know, really put them back in business. 

So one day the intelligence 9uys came in and said, 
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•well, t"hey 1.ve done it. The:t''ve t U:rned on the power 

at Lang Chi." I think the name of the place was Lang 

Chi. "And t he power is on again all over North Vie t nam, 

and t his damned hydroelectric plant is re'ally turn i ng 

it out." They recommended- that we destroy it. 

So I went back and asked . for authority to destroy 

this plant·. I coul dn't destroy it because it had 

been one of these that had been put on this excluded 

category. I now felt I needed authority to destroy 

it. The answer came back, "No: you are denied authority 

,to destroy it. The reason is that the generating 

plant itself is located right on the face of the da111 

and if in your efforts to knock that out, you hit the 

dam you are apt to breach it, and this will -cause a 

rush of water· that will go down river, and there are 

seven small vi l lages d~4nstream that could be wiped 

out, and we don't want to suffer the loss of life.• 

So I appealed it, and I talked on the phone to Admiral 

Moorer. I said, "You know, this is insane. We have 

gone to so much trouble to bring them to their knees 

and destroy all this power, and now, by the pull of a 

switch, they're maki ng up all this deficit again. We 

have got· to destroy this'thinq.• . He said, •well, I 
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tried. I can't. They are afraid you are going 

to breach the dam. I'll tell you what, I'll try to 

get authority for you to do i t if you can precision 

bomb it.• I said1 "Well, 1 can do that. I'll use 

laser bombs, and I'll take my best crews, and we'll 

try our ~amndest ·to keep from hitting the dam.• He 

said, "Well, let me talk to them." So he did, 

A Qouple of days later he called back and he said, 

"Okay. I've got you the authority. You go ah~ad and 

do it. But don't hit . the dam.• He had gotten the 

authority from them on the understanding that I wouldn't 

hit ~he dam. (laughter) Now, this dam • Here 

it is, you see, and this powerplant is 50 feet from 

the base of it--50 feet! And we are supposed to 

destr.oy these turbines SO feet away frolll this dam and 

under no circumstances bomb the dam. That's the 

conditional authority that I was given--to knock it 

out but under no circumstances hit the dam. 

Well, I went up to Carl Miller [Brig Gen Carl s.J, 
who was our wing comm~nder at the ti•e, flying these 

laser guided bombs--there's one of them over there, 

incidentally (pointing to a modelJ--and we had a big 
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prayer sesl!lion. I said to these guys, •You know, ~·m 
I 

going to do it, but if you guys hit the dam, don't , 

bother to come back here. Just keep flying west, 

and I 'll join you over India or some other place." ! 
I 

These kids put twelve 2,000-pound bombs through the 

roof of a building that was SO feet wide and 100 f ~et 
long. If you want to talk about precision bombingl 

there it lofas. They didn't touch the dam at all. ~ 
sweated the whole mission out, of course, because ~ t 
was my neck if we wiped the dam out. But that's t~e 
kinds of conditions and constraints, you see, thatJ 

were being placed on the commanders. No loss of 

human life. 

I remember once when we were bombing in the Hanoi 

area and were using· laser bombs. Virtually all my' 

bombing in Hanoi was with laser bombs, because I h ~d 
I 

to be precise. I couldn't kill populations, and we 

had to l earn techniques for bombing with these pre 

cision weapons. · we only had four systems, four op~ra-
1 

tional systems, where we could lase the targets. I 
These were Pave Knife systeiiiS. They were experimental 

I 
pods th'at we were using, and they had never been I 

' 
produced in any numbers, and we went through that l 
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whole Linebacker war with four operational pods. We 

~ad to break our necks to keep them from being lost 

in combat missions. We went to all kinds of ends 

just to see that those airplanes were not lost 

over enemy territory because i~ would have drasti­

cally reduced our capability to do this precision 

bombing. 

Anyway, these kids were up there on this mission, 

bombing in the Hanoi area using lasers, and one of 

the bombs was a no-guide--it doesn't guide--and it 

goes crashing rLght into a highly populated center of 

Hanoi, right through this big building. This kid 

comes back, and he tells me very frankly that he 

bombed what looked like a big civilian residence .or 

something there. He's sorry as hell that the bomb 

didn't guide. So I knew I was going to be in plenty 

of trouble. I got the guys to get out all the photography 

of the city and we would identify a number of 

buildings up there, and l'd put the intelligence 

people to work on it to see what we had hit. I thought, 

•well, golly, maybe it's the local hospital. It 

could be a local o~phanage.• It could be all kinds of 

horrible things. It turned out to be the Communist 

137 

'i 



UNCLASSiFIED VOGT 

Party Headquarters. (laughter) One bomb! Of all the 

buildings it could have hit, it went smashing into 

the. Conununist Party Headquarters. And you know, I think 

it had a salutary effect on the outcome of the negot[a­

tions, because I really think these guys thought we 

were now going after Communist leadership. They thought 

it was a deliberate move, and these Americans with 

their precision bombing had precisely bombed this 

thing right in the heart of Hanoi, and •They are 

after us, the leadership. My God, we had better 

start talking.• (laughter) But it was all an accident! 

Of cou~se, when I reported back what it was, nobody 

said •boo• to me. In fact, I talked to Tom Moorer 

here, within the last month, about this incident. I 

said, "You know, you never sent me a reprimand at all 

for dropping that bomb right in the heart of Hanoi.• 

He said, •t<lobody ever made an issue of it. • (laughter) 

But you see, there was a building that was off limits. 

~bat was not on the authorized target list. Hobody 

would ever permit you to do it because they were 

afraid you miqht hit the building next door by mistake 

and kill some civilians. That's the kind of con­

straints we had. 
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You compare that to what we were doing in World war II, 

when, like I say, the RAF would go out every night 

and firebomb a whole city wi th l,OOO bombers and 

destroy 20,000 people. And people thought that was 

·a valid objective in a war. Now, you kill one 

civilian by mistake and you are on the carpet. The 

commander is held responsible. These kinds of 

constraints were on us all the time we were down 

there. we had to be very careful and very conscious 

of it. The thing that makes me mad is the picture 

painted by the press was of indiscrblinate bombing. 

You know ; so many times those words appeared in 

articles like the one I've described of wi{ling out 

Cambodian cities. The facts were just the opposite. 

---------a: You know, what you were mentioning about the press 

not seeing any value i n bombing dams and dikes. 

Generar o. P. Weyland would certainly take exception 

to that because be feels that's one of the very things 

that brought the North Koreans to the peace table, 

because once they had problems keeping food on the 

table, the whole civilian po~lation was pouring 

pressure on thei r leadership to get it over with. 
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V: Well, 1 know General Weyland. Re ·is a very great air 

commander. He's a fine man, but he is of a different 

era. He's not of the era of the Vietnam constraints 

and controls. Things changed drastically, even from 

Korea. Now, they had their problems and restrictions 

in Korea, ,too, <!S opposed to World War II, but nothing . 

like those that were placed on military operators in 

Southeast Asia. 

H: Would you like to bring. in something? 

M: I would just be interested. I have heard various 

comments of individuals about Jane Fonda's and Ra111sey 

Clark's visit, and the outcome of their visit, if you 

would care to comment on that. 

V: Well, I hope ·that Jane Fonda is having some second 

thoughts now. I think she thought that the North 

Vietnamese were patriotic people who were motivated 

pri11arily about concerns for the welfare of their 

.country, and that they wanted to be free of foreign 

entanglement. 'they were basically decent people who 

were humane and kind in their treatment of our prisoners 

and so forth. 
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The only thing s.he ever saw, I am afraid, was evidence 

of that kind. You know, people went out of their way 

when she went down there to convince her that the 

picture I just painted was a real and an accurate one. 

She was shown prisoners of war (POW] who were selected 

very carefully because they weren't as decimated as 

the others or as emaciated and who were more willing 

to play the game and say that .they were well treated. 

Now that all the facts are out, perhaps her views are 

changing a little. We know now the terrible story of 

the conditions that our FOWs were subjected to. we 

know of the great inhumanities of the North Vietnamese, 

not only to our people but to their own people. 

They were certainly not civilized in the sense of the 

word that you and I know it. I think she must be 

having some doubts today also about her initial assess-

ment about these people, because here they are up to 

their necks in another· war. As you •entioned earlier, 

they are bombing over in Cambodia. They are doing 

the same things that we were accused of doing, bombing 

in the Parrot's Beak, and waging a major war against 

a neighboring country. ~hey have bee~ active up in 

Laos doing the same thing. So the co.plaint that we 
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have heard t::hat if -~e left ·them alone and got out of 

their country, they would live peacefull:t"with their own 

neighbors was a speculative dream. 

(End Tape 3, Side 2) 

Well, the strong views of people who opposed the war 

in Vietnam had colored their obJectivity._ I had 

ample evidence of it during their visits. I remember 

in one ease--l won't mention the name here because 

the man is still active in politics--! received a 

message from a prominent Senator who was opposed to 

the war in Vietnam. He said he wanted · to come down 

and talk .to me personally about my bombing in Cambodia. 

This was after the war had ended in Vietnam and I was 

in Nakhom Phanom, Thai~ana. so he arrived in 

Saigon. We sent an airp}ane over from Thailand 

to pick him up and brought him over, and we had 

briefings all prepared .for him. When he landed, it 

was around noontime, he said, •r hope I'm going to 

have a chance to eat before we go .into the briefings.• 

And I said, •Yes. • A very nice guy, in.cidentally, a'n 

amiable fellow . we went over to the club · and had a , ·: .: . 
little 'saeal there f.or bill, and we had ·a drink for 
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hi~, a martini, and he polished that off, and . as I 

recall, he had a third one and he polished that off. 

Then he had a big lunch. We went over to the briefing 

hut, and I baa· this _young offic·er giving him a complete 

rundown on why we were bombing and where we were 

bombing in Cambcidi;!. The lights went out and prett~ 

soon we heard this loud snoring. Well, it was the 

Senator. He had fallen asleep right alongside of 

me. Well, he had been traveling a long distance; 

it's true. He had been on airplanes for a long time 

and he had been pushing all the way through. That 

lunch didn't help, and the martinis certainly didn't. 

He was tired. But now he gets here for the prime 

purpose of the whole visit, to find out for himself 

what's going on, and he goes to sleep. 

Well, it got a litUe embarrassing. This young man 

who was giving th"e briefing could hardly hear himself 

over the snore. So he finally stops and he goes like 

this (11otions) to me, and I went like this--cut it. 

We turned the lights on, and I shook him and I said, 

•well, Senator, you have heard the briefing,• He 

said, •well, that was excellent. I came down here to 

find out this sort of thing. That's why I'm here.• 
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!le hadn't heard a thing. Well ,_. we pu_t him on an 

airplane, and now we flew t.im directly into Phnom 

Penh. !-lind you, Phnom Penh is under siege, 25,000 

enemy troops right around the outer limits of the 

town trying to move in and we are bombing trying to 

keep them at bay. He gets off the airplane, and he 

had arranged a news conference; he had sent word on 

ahead through one of his aides that he was coming and 

all the press was waiting at the airport·when he got 

there. And he conducts a press interv\ew right at 

the plane side. 

He said he had come all the way down fro~ Washington 

to find out for himself the true story, and he was 

glad he did because he was now more convinced than 

ever that we were wrong in what we were doing and 

that he had just come fro• the headquarters thdt was 

planning and conducting the bombing campaigns. And 

he spoke authoritativeiy. Then he proceeded to say 

everything he had said in Washington against the 

bombing. You know, it's kind of disheartening when 

som.ething like that happens. 

On another occasion, I got a message from. Bella Abzug 
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(Bellas., o~NY], who was at that time in Congress, 

very much opposed to what we were doing in Cambodia 

and Laos. She said sne wanted to come down and talk 

to me. I. invited her down and said, "I will arrange 

a full day's briefing for you.• She appeared in 

Saigon and I sent an airplane over to get her to 

bring her up to my headquarters. But the pilot 

called me from Saigon and said, "She doesn't want to 

come to your headquarters right away. She wants to 

go ~P to Laos to Vientiane and wants to talk to the 

American Ambassador first.• SO I said, "All right, 

fly her up there.• 

In the meantime, I picked up the phone and called 

Ambassador Godley and said, "You are about to have a 

visit from Bella Abzug, who is out here to find out 

why we are bombing in Cambodia and Laos.• I explained 

the situation to him and he said, •well, fine. I'll 

welcome her. I'd like to talk to her and· te.ll her 

what we are doing.• I said, •well, I'm going to get 

a chance to talk to her after you are through because 

she is· going to coae back to 11y headquarters.· · So 

she goes ~P there and spends the night. The next 

morning the pilot called and said, •aey, she doesn't 
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want to come down to your headquarters.~ - ·I said, 

"Now what does she want to do.• She wants me to fly 

her and her husband and a secretary that they have 

with her directly ~o llongkong." I said, •No. Tell 

her to get on commercial air, and you come on home.• 

He said, "Are you sure you want to do this, General?" 

I said, "Yes.• So we left her stranded up there. 

Now, the whole purpose of the visit, presumably, was to 

come out and find out why we were bombing. She was 

going to come to my headquarters to find this out and 

yet she would rather ga to Hongkong than down to my 

!leadquat;ters at that stage of the ga111e. I don't-"Jtnow w 

or what she had in mind, whether it was urgent business 

or a shopping tour or what, but she couldn't find 

time now to cOAe down to talk to me to find out what 

we were doing and why we were doing it. ·And as I 

say, I left her there. Godley had to make arrange­

ments to get her on commercial air up to Hongkong. 

That's the sort of things you run into with people 

with their minds .made up who don't want to really see 

the facts and who won't listen or go through the 

motions of . . listening, just sleep throug~J.t •.. It .was 
·'. 

,disconcerting · ..because we had a real stor·y" .to ¥11 ~ · 
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you know. We knew what was happening there and we 

kne~ the true military situation. We could reassure 

these people about the great care we were exercising, 

av~iding indiscriminate bombing, and the care we took 

to see that there were no civilian casualties. I was 

very proud of our record in Vietnam, all during 

Linebacker because by their own count, I . think the 

whole Linebacker campaign resulted in less than 1,000 

casualties, civilian casualties, in all of Vietnam. 

That's by the official statements of the Vietnamese 

themselves. 'J'h is is almost inconceivable·. we had 

"dropped more bombs ..,hen I was the coiUiander down 

there in these two Linebacker campaigns than had been 

dropped in the whole European campaign while we were 

involved with American· forces. People don't know the 

magnitude of this thing. 

H: Why don't we discuss the Lavelle (Gen John D.] affair, 

then, while we are talking. about this sort of thing? 

V: Have you had a chance to interview General Lavelle? 

H: Yea; we have. 
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V: Good. General Lavelle, of course, was my immediate 

predecessor. He was down there at a very difficult 

time. He was down there at a time when there was 

delicate negotiation going on where they were hoping 

to get detailed peace discussions going with the . 

Vietnamese. As you Jtnow, _there had been meetings 

unbeknownst to most of us in third nations between 

the Vietnamese, , North Vietnamese and the us State 

Departmegt people, with a view toward getting a 

dialogue going. The Administration had decided that 

we were going to play a very careful watch and wait 

game and that we would limit all of our bombing to 

the area just immediately north of the DMZ and to 

in-country, and that we would avoid any major military 

operations beyond that up in the north. All the 

bombing stopped during this period in the Hanoi 

area, and the bombing 'effort that we had mounted 

during Rolling Thunder was brought virtually to a 

halt. This was the period when George Brown was down 

there as the commander and Lou Clay, who followed 

him. 

The air war was essentially a war in-country, the war 

in the south. They were not responsible for eajor 
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operations up in the north, They didn't have the 

problems that Momyer and I had with . the large cam­

paign in the north, which was another order of magni­

tude of activity. 

In any case, the Administration wanted to give the 

appearance, in order to get this dialogue going, of 

great constraint and great restraint on ou~ part. 

And they had deci ded on a set of rule~. The rules 

were that out of prudence we would continue· our 

reconnaissance activity north of the DMZ to ma~e sure 

that no surprise attac~ was being planned or being 

mounted against us, so we had to mount surveillance 

and armed reconnaissance, or reconnaissance, along 

the Route Packages. Not armed reconnais·sance~ they 

were armed all right but they weren't permitted to 

find a target and destroy it. The nature of the 

mission was· to ferret out what was happening on the 

approaches to South Vietnam across the DMZ, and 

we ver.e li11ited to an area ma¥be some 20 11iles north 

of the DMZ and all up and down the•aajor routes 

feeding down into the DMZ area • 

. Now Lavelle was the co11111ander during this period, and 
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it was a tough period for him and for the guys that 

had to do the job bec~use the rules were that you 

could not fire on the enemy until he fired on you 

first. And this was handed to the Defense Department 

by the President. These were agreed rules which were 

passed on by the JCS to the Coaander in Chief, 

Pacific, and on down to HACV, who was General Abrams 

[Gen Creighton W.), and to Lavelle, . who· was the Air 

Commander. Very clear--you cannot fire unless you 

are ffred upon first. 

Now this was putting his pilots in a disadvantageous 

position because they''d have to fly along, down low 

enough, so they could. see what was happening which 

put them right down in tne area of withering ground 

fire. On many of these missions they were receiving 

ground fire and they were losing airplanes. Guys 

would fly along over a spot and brrrrrrrp, a burst 

would come up behind them and before they could do 

anything about it an airplane would be down. The 

thing was very difficult on the pilots, very demanding 

on the pilots because it put the• at a great disad­

vantage. It was all right to say, 10 You ca.n't fire 
, · unless you are fired on first,• but the ~actical 
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it was a tough pedod for him and for the guys that 

had to do the job because the rules were that you 

could not fire on the enemy until he fired on you 

first. And this "(as handed to the Defense Departlllent 

by the President. These were agreed rules which were 

passed on by the JCS to the Commander in Chief, 

Pacific, and on down to KACy, wbo was General Abrams 

(Gen Creighton W.], and to Lavelle, who was the Air 

Co111111ander. Very clear--you cannot fire unfesa you 

are fired upon first. 

Now this was putting his pilots in a disadvanta9eous 

position because they'd have to fly along, down low 

enough, _so they could see what was happening which 

put thea right down .in the area of withering ground 

fire. On many of these missions they were receiving 

ground fire and they were losing airplanes. Guys 

would fly along over a spot and brrrrrrrp, a burst 

would come up behind them and before they could do 

anything about it an airplane would be down. The 

thing was very difficult on the ·._pilots, very demanding 

on the pilots because it put them at a great disad-

vantage~ It was all right to "ay, •rou can't fire 

unless you are fired on first,• but the tactical 
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situation was such that it made it almost impoasible 

for you to fire on him after he flred on you because 

you are moving very fast and you go beyond the . spot, 

and he's under cover. You know, · to go back and find 

where the fire .came from even would be difficult. 

They were very cagey about the way they were doing 

it, you know, they'd wait until y·ou were overhead and 

blaml 

I think. General Lavelle fo_und this 1ncreasingly diffi­

cult to live with and found it difficult to· justify 

to his pilots. In known areas of enemy firing--as I 

recall it to the best of my knowledge-·he started 

a policy of preemptive strafing where his airplanes 

had been lost previously and where it was likely 
. . 

they were going to be hit. I think he was actually 

dropping bombs in some instances. I guess his reason-

ing went like this: I know they are going to hit me 

here because it has happened before. My pilots are at 

a great disadvantage, and I will interpret the rules 

from Washington liberally here and, in these instances, 

bomb or strafe first, suppressive fire, to keep thell · 

from hitting my pilots in known areas of prevlous 
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incidents where I have lost airplanes.• 

Now, he did ' this without notifying ashinqton that he 

was adopting this policy . The frrst evidence that 

drifted back to us that this was going on was some 

people who had been out there who came back and who 

had heard rumors of this, and then the operational 

r,eports that were coming in didn't jibe. The munitions 

expenditures didn't jibe with the number of opera-

tional reports of missions. They were using more 

r -ockets and bombs and 20-millimeter fire, rounds, and 

so forth, than was justified by the mission reports 

that we were getting in. So he had set up a dual 

bookkeeping system w.here one thing woulo be reported 

back only to him, and the other would go into the 

main reporting system, I think, without realizing that 

there were other systems that would cross-check this, 

like logistics. 

In any case, when the word got back that this was 

possibly going on, General Ryan, who was Chief of 

Staff of the Air Force, got concerned about it. He 

•ade a· trip out there; he was going out anyway, but 

he made a special point to check with Lavelle on 
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beginning to reflect on the Air Force. I only 

know General Ryan's part of this, because I was back 

in Washington at the time. But anyway, General Ryan 

came back and assured the JCS that he had personally 

talked to General Lavelle, and that this was not 

going on; this was not happening. So General Ryan, 

you see, had put his reputation, his word, on the 

line with the Chiefs, and this was passed on up the 

line to higher echelons up in Defense where there 

were some concerns also. But it was, in fact, going 

on. And, of course, the bubble finally burst, and 

the evidence was very conclusive, and now General 

Ryan sent out an inves~igating IG (Inspector GeneraJ.) 

team, who went out and really did a thorough search, 

and at that point, Lavelle said, "Yes, dammit, I did 

it, and I did keep it from my superiors. But I 

thought it was the sort of thing that washington 

would condone.w Well, it wasn't, you know. And if he 

thought that, originally, he certainly would have 

told General Ryan on his .first trip out there that, 

"Yes; I a111 doing it, and I know you people will support 

me. • But the way he did it, you see, tfas 1:0 ~ay· '"No,,.,_ 

he' hadn't done it, and then he 'put General Ryan on 

153 

·.;..,. 



UNCLASSIF1EI . VOG'l' 

the spot with all his supeciors. I think General 

Ryan had no recourse other than to make it an IG 

issue, and when the lG discovered it, then it was a 

court-martial type of thing, deliberate !Disrepresenta­

tion and deliberate lying to t~e Chief of the Air 

Force when he asked the questijn. You may get on 

this further if you ever get a~ound to interviewing 

General Ryan, and someday you presuJRably wUl, and 

' ' • ,,. 

ask his view of this. But this is my best recollection 

of it. 

Now, in defense of General Lavelle. Ris troops really 

were in an indefensible' position. He knew he couldn't 

get Washington to change the rules, so he stepped in 

to help the guys in the cockpit and stuck his own 

neck out in the process of doing it, and he got it 

cut off. was he wrong? Or was he right? 1 don't 

know, except 1 think, in this day and age, you know, 

coa~~anders simply can't operate that way. You've got 

to be very cognizant of the rules of the game, because 

tbe washington-le~el control is very absolute and 

very precise. 1 have never talked to General Lavelle 

about this since this incident occurred. And I would 

be curious to find out from you what he' did say in 
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H: Well, I didn't conduct the interview personally, but 

a member of my of.f ice did. Accordipg to him, he said 

that General Lavelle felt that, although it was not in 

any written rules about how he was to conduct things, 

it was always implied. At least he had the feeling 

that he had this extra leeway that we were talking 

about, and when things started turning sour, 

they all backed off and left him· standing there naked, 

so to speak. 

V: Well, I think there are two things wrong with that: 

One, of course, is that the reporting system he had 

for this was known only to hims'elf, so it wouldn't 

have been known back in Washington; and the other 

thing is this incident I just told you about of 

General Ryan's going out and personally talking to 

him. He was very much concerned and made this trip 

and actually asked the direct question. As I say, to 

correct the record so we are absolutely clear on 

this, General Ryan should be asked for his'viev on 

this. That is. my .recollection,. really, of . w.llat 

happened. Lavelle was a tremendous co•ba.t · ·c;:o-arider. 
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He had a lot of know-how, and bis troops thought the 

world of him. I think he was doing a very credible 

job down there. I think he was in a very tough position, 

and he reacted the way he did. But there never was 

any understanding in Washington that this would be 

tolerated by anybody. 

In fact, I bad attended a conference out at CINCPAC 

where his deputy had come up, and we had talked about 

what we ' were going to·do about this situation. And I 

said to them, •x'll tell you the JCS thinking on 

this. The Chiefs say that we must abide by the rules. 

You cannot fire on them until chey've fired. on you, 

.£!!!:. once they've fired on you, there is no limit to 

the amount of effort you can put in in response. In 

other words, if you want to go back there ana just 

beat the living bejesus out of that spot from which 

that fire came and drop a~l · your bombs on it, fine. 

There is no restraint on that whatsoever, bu~ clearly 

you aust--and this is a rule from the President 

himself--you must be fired on first. But once -you 

are, really go back and teach th~m a lesson. Turn 

the airplanes around and go back and d.rop youJ: bombs 

all over the place there and re.ally show them that 
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' you m·~a~ business." 

Whether he misinterpreted that guidance to mean that 

the Chief would support him in the other thing he did 

or not, I don't know. But in subsequent investigations 

that were ?onducted by OSD, they sent a team out. and 

others, it was demonstrated .very clearly that the . 

whole chain of command had sent the word down to him 

that he had to be fired on first, and he was, in 

fact, not waiting in some instances until he was 

fired on first. That was an infraction of a very 

strict rule imposed at a very high level which the 

Chief's thems~lves never did like but couldn't get 

changed. We had made repeated attempts to get that 

loosened up, but no, because you have to go back to 

what they were attempting to do. They were trying to 

demonstrate restraint. They were trying to get the 

North Vietnamese engaged in negotiations. They were 

trying to demonstrate t~at we were using great restraint 

in our own operations to improve the atmosphere to 

get these people around the conference table, and 

this was a carefully calculated political move to 

achieve this objective, and you couldn't have a 

commander in the field blowing it by ·doing something 
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else, and that's the way it worked. 

H: Where did this orig i nate, this particular restr a i nt 

you are talking about? 

V: Right over in the National Security Council and 

around the President himself, because they were 

., . 

planning this campaign of negotiation that I am 

talking about·, and · it was sent over to the Secretary 

of .Defense and down to the Joint Chiefs as a directive. 

H: All right. When you assu~ed command of the Seventh 

Air Force after General Lavelle's re110val, did you 

encounter any morale problems? . Row did they receive 

you? 

V: Well, we were in the middle of a major war at this 

point. You see, the whole thing had changed. The 

invasion had now started, ~nd you know the pace of 

combat activity just mounted dramatically. The 

situation, fra~kly, was this: The Administration had 

banked on Vietnaaization working. The Vietnamese 

would nov be able to do this job by themselves, and 

tbe¥-COU~-hapdle any future attempts by the North to 
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.. -"·'·· take'· over, and we ·had been pulling g·r-ound forces out , 

all over the place. So, at this point in time, there 

virtually were no more US combat troops on the ground 

in contact with the enemy. They had all been pulled 

back and were on thei'r way home or had gone home or 

back in rear areas. The south Vietnamese were now out 

there by themselves, and the enemy had been preparing 

for a whole year in anticipation of this situation, 

when we would have been out of there and no longer 

engaged on the ground, so that they could mount a 

major offensive and destroy the South Vietnamese, 

crumble the whole thing, gamble on getting a quick 

victory before we could get back in. S~ what we were 

faced with ' was making up the difference of 500,000 

ground troops in the face of the first really major 

large-scale invasion, and doing it with the Vietnamese 

themselves and with US airpower. OS airpower was now 

called on to do what 500,000 ground t .roops really 

hadn't been able to do too well in the previous year, 

and the work we had to do was cut out for us. We had 

to really go to work to save these little guys, and 

we had a whole series of crises--Quang Tri, and Tan 

Canh, and AW Loc--ever~thing was going to hell at 

once, and these guys came pouring across the DMZ; 
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they had these T-54 tanks, 130-millimeter guns. They 

just blasted all the South Vietnamese with three 

divisions up there. One of those divisions, the 

Third Division, just broke and ran. Christ, they 

threw down their guns and their arms and abandoned 

their tanks and fled. And so~e of them were recaptured 

later as far south as Hue, and some of them were 

executed by General Truong (Lt Gen Ngo Quang), the 

I Corps Commander up there, .because of having . fled in 

the face of the enemy, but units were crumbling all 

over. 

At Tan Canh, I remember this w~s the ffrst appearance 

of the sagger-wire guided Jliissile at Tan Canh, and 

tryis was up in the highlands, number II Corps. I got 

a call in the middle of the night from General Abrams, 

and he said, •Jesus, we've got a major catastrophe 

on our hands. The 23d Division at Tan Canh has been 

attacked by armor, and · it's fleeing in the tace of 

the enemY.• They've thrown down their arms, and we 

are goi"ng to lose Plei.ku. 'J?here is nothing between 

the enemy and the city of Ple.iku but this division 

who is in .rout. You have g.ot to get ait' up there.~ 

So we sent gunships up there that whole night, banging 
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c · . ·' away in the dark, trying to slow ttr~s thing down. 

:: -, _. 

The next day he called me and said, "The situation is 

getting worse.w He had just talked to the corps 

advisor who said that the enemy is advancing and that 

they can't form a line, and the 23d Division is in 

complete rout and, "What are we going to do?" So I 

said, "I'm ~oing to go up and see for myself.• So I 

jumped in an airplane and flew up to Pleiku, got in a 

small, light. Army plane and flew up over Tan Canh. 

It's now the morning ·of the next day, and there 

are tanks all over the place that. are burning and 

upside down. There is no sign o! anr marching troops 

pursuing the friendlies, but the road is choked 

with fleeing South Vietnamese 23d Division guys. 

They've all thrown everything down, and they're 

lightly clad now, and they're heading south as fast 

as they can. But nobody is in pursuit! 

The armor that had 'been pursuing them initially--that 

had hit them--had been virtually destroyed by our 

gunships. All night long they had been banging away 

on them, and there were burned _9ut hulk!J everywhere • . · . 
Then I flew ·up over the Tan Canb d-ivision .enca11p11e1tt ..... 
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area, where the friendlies had been before the attacx, 

and I could see untouched H-41 tanxs sitting there, 

completely untouched, where they had been abandoned 

by these little guys who ran. What had happened was 

that they had charged out to meet the armor attack of 

the enemy, and then they ran into these wire-guided 

missiles that they had never encountered before. 

And they'd picked ·Off these first couple of 

M-4ls, poof, like that, and these little guys knew 

they were up against something they couldn't handle, 

and they just fled. 

Well, I got back and Abrams is, pulling his hai'l" ou~. 

Be's just had another report from up the~;e. The 

situation is·terrible; the enemy is advancing. I 

said, •wait a m~nute. I just came from up there. 

ThQre' s nobodi' folla.r~ing thcso joKers. There's a big 

gap between Tan Canh and the retreating troops. If 

you told them to· stop now, they could turn around 

walk back to ·ran Canh unopposed. . He said, "Is 

that right?• I said, •Yes." We found out later 

this was an armor attack designed to achieve 

tactical surprise. They didn't hav·e the infantry 

suppoct for it; it was never meant to gain ground 
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Air was now being asked to do the work of US ground 

forces and,air, and it was a tremendous job. The 

artillery problem I 
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said to me, "We've got 

millimeter guns there. 
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had no trouble finding us. They had all the coordi­

~ates, · and all this fire would be coordinated and 

brought to bear so that Truong's artillery support 

evaporated. He had no fire support. And he .said, 

•unless you destroy these 130s, I won't be able to 

hold the line.• 

We went through a tremendous effort to try to destroy 

these 130s. We had to find them; we tried dropping 

sensors in there, try_ing triangulation from acoustic 

and seismic sensors. We ran thea through computers. 

we bad infrared-equipped airplanes up there to detect 

the flashes of the guns. I finally said to the Army, 

"You've got to give us some help, and get people who 

can do crater analysis to tell us the direction from 

which the fire is coming.• Up to thi~ point, they 

· couldn't even tell us where the fire was coming from. 

It was just BANG! impacting. When I went up there, 

General Kroesen (Gen Frederic~ J.J, who is now Deputy 

Chief of the Army, was the advisor up there, and· he 

said, •we don't have any capability to do cJ:ater 

analysis. These little guys don't know how . to do it, 

and I don't have anybody on JDY staff that can teach 

them.• I said, •unless I get soae idea of where it's. 
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coming from, ·<jet an azimuth,. so I know where~ to -lOok, 

I've· got this vast jungle to search and literally 

several hundred square miles for every gun fired." 

So I went baqk and told Abrams they didn't do crater 

analysis up there. Be couldn't believe this: in 

fact, he said, "You're full of bullshit!" I said, 

~come on up there and see.• Sc the next day he got 

in the plane with me, and we went back up and talked 

to Kroesen, Tr~ong, and his people. No; there wasn't 

a man up there that knew how to do crater analysis. 

Crater analysis is obtained when Y?U look at the hole . 

the shell makes in the ground and see the angle at 

which it landed, and then you can sort of backtrack 

and see where or what the trajectory was, and you can 

get an azimuth. 

Well, Abrams, when he got back to Saigon, got on the 

·phone and called Fort Hood (Texas), direct, and said, 

"Get a couple of guys out here iMediat.ely that know 

how to get an azimuth.• Well, when we got all this 

working, we were finally able to go to work on these 130s. 

We ultimately ~illed over 250 of them by air, finding 

them and destroying them. We were digging them out 

with laser-guided,2,QOO-pound bombs. lt ·was one heck 
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of an effort. I might add that that 130 still represents 

a tremendous threat ,, even in Eu rope. There are 500 

of them along the ~entrai reg i on . We are faced 

with the same problem tod~y because t he Army has not 

developed a counterbattery fire capability against 

that weapon. 

I had General Truong get me one of those captured 

130s, completely intact, a perfect gun, and I shipped 

it back to the Army, and it's sitting over here in 

Aberdeen Proving Ground. I said to the Army, •If you 

·do nothing else, reproduce it, so you'll have a gun 

. at least as good· as theirs.• It's never been done. 

The Array still pots around with 155s and other weapons. 

You know, they fire at half the rate--they've got 

one-half the firing rate; they fire 3 rounds a 

minute instead of 6, and they fire up to 14 kil~e­

ters instead of the 27 that this thing fires at. 

They are outranged and outgunned all the time. Th~y 

haven't corrected that problem. They're working on 

it, but to thb day i.n Europe _the problelll is ex~ctly 

as it was in Vietnam. Lessons learned? Apparently, 

zero. 
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H: That's rather. pathetic. Did you have any association 

with the Pueblo incident? 

V: You mean the 

H: The Navy spy ship ••• 

V: Off the Japanese ••• 

H:' Korea. 

(End Tape 4, Side lJ 

V: Somewhere there is in existence tapes. of the complete 

exchange via secure phone between General McRee's 

(Gen Seth J .) Headquarters in Fifth Air Force and 

PACAF Headquarters in Honolulu on this whole incident, 

several tapes of det:ailed infor:mation that went back 

and forth, instructions, directions, and everything 

else that went back and forth. The · whole thing • . We 

taped them and had them in the co~and center. I 

brought them back to washington later, and they were 

given to the comm<~nd centerf the Air Force co-and 

Post had them in their files and records. They may 
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jtill be there. If you ever want to get ~he ~rue 

story of what I'm about ~o tell you, that's where it 

will be in these ~apes. 

H; W~ have excerpts of those transcripts down at the 

Center (Albert F. Simpson Resea rch], but 1 don't 

think we have the entire thing . 

V:· Well, the incident occurred, as I recall, developed 

and moved very quickly. J\re you taping? 

H: Yes. 

V: The first indication we had at PACAf that there 

was an incident was wh'!n General McKee personal ly 

called the collll1land center and reported the incident. 

He said that a Navy ship was under attack, and he had 

to have instructions; he was being asked by his boss 

what he could do to help with the situation, and he 

was in Japan. This was happening in Korea, but he had 

command of all units over in Korea, and his air commander 

was over in Korea. Kunsan was being asked, by the UN 

(United Nations) co-·ander and US Comaander c;~ver there, 

what assistance the air could give to this developing 

situation, and he quickly outlined what haa happened. 
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still be there. If you ever want to get the true 

story of what I'm about to tell you, that's where it 

will be in these tapes. 

H: We have excerpts of those transcripts down at the 

Center (Albert F. Simpson Research}, but I don't 

think we have the entire thin~. 

V: Well, the incident occurred, as I tecall, developed . 

and moved very quickly. Are you taping? 

H: Yes. 

V: The first indication we had at PACAF that there 

was an incident was when General McKee personally 

called the command center and reported the incident. 

He said that a Navy ship was under . attack, and he had 

to have instructions; he was being asked by his boss 

what he could do to help with the situation, and he 

was in Japan. This was happening in Korea, but he had 

co111111and of all units over in Korea, and his air co111111ander 

was over in Korea. Kunsan was being asked, by the UH 

(United N~tions) Commander and us Commander over there, 

what assistance the .air could give to this developing 

situation, and he quickly outlined what had happened. 
' 

. 168 

;'r ~··. ~·:-·~ 

~·-~\~· 
This page is declassified lAW EO 13526 

1 



( . 

• ! 

VOGT 

This Pueblo was o~t the~e with its listening devices 

and the enemy had showed up and had captured the 

vessel and had taken the skipper off of it and were 

turning it around and were bringing it back to po~t, 

and we only had a couple of hou~s before it was inside 

territorial waters and landf ng. And he had to have 

some idea as to what his authority was to take action 

in support of the ship. Well, 1 was Chief of Operations 

at PACAF. I reiDe!llber 1 was at a· party that evening 

when this call came in, with General Ryan, who ,las 

the PACAF Commander. Ryan and I both beat it over to 

the Co~and Post, got on the secure phone with General 

McKee, and those tapes were then made of the word 

that went back and forth. 

The dialogue went something l i ke this1 McKee said 

he had very limited capability to respond. lfe didn't 

have proper ordnance on the airplanes, and it was 

going to be some time before he could do it. He had 

to have some idea of what his authority was to go out 

and take military actio.n a9ainst the ship that had 

captured the Pueblo. We asked him to stand by, and 

we'd attempt to get autho~ity from our command author­

ity·, which in turn was Cl!iCPAC, CINCPAC was just ·UP 
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The CINCPAC Commander was off on a trip somewhere, 

and he couldn't be reached. CINCPAC has traditionally 

operated in a way where nobody can make a decision in 

the headquarters t unless the CINC himself is the~::e, 

and the authority that has treen vested in the 

number two man, who is not a deputy incidentally, has 

traditionally been just a· chief of staff, has been 

very little, and this guy always has to ge.t hold of 

his boss to find out what's happening. So he's en­

deavoring to reach· his boss to find out what we want 

to do. 

In the meantime, they've sent the word on to Washington .. 
" that all this is happening. The word has now gone 

back through several channels. CINCUNC [Coamander­

in-Chief, United Nations CORIIIIand) has sent word back; 

US Forces, Japan, Commander has sent word back and 

his other hat--this is also General McKee:--and we've 

now g~ne back through CINCPAC with word that the ship 

is under attack and being escorted back, and what do 

~e want to do? 
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well, washington is in a state of confusion. we 

can't get any answer or any decision out of Washington, 

and CINCPAC is more or less paralyzed by the absence 

of their commander, and they're taking the view that 

nothing should be done in the absence of CINCPAC. 

The Chief of Operations at the time was General Roy 

Allison, OSAF [Lt Gen Royal B.). He was the man whom 

we were talking to up there, and he could take no 

action~ He had no authority to give us any authority 

to do anything in CINCPAC's absence. General Ryan 

and I said, •we've got to give General McKee some 

sort of an answer. If something is 9?in9 to be done, 

it's got to be done in the next pour or so because the 

ship is going to be back in na,tional waters pretty soon, 

and it's going to be much more difficult for us to take 

any military action when they are back in North Korea. 

We t~lked about it, and we finally reached the decision 

between us--and it was really General Ryan's decision, 

-because he was the co11111ander; I was just making the 

recommendation--that in view of the fact that this 

,was an attack against US forces ,, it was inherent 

in a commander's authori~y to take action in defense 

of his own forces. This has been an unwritten rule; 

in fact, it's a written rule in JCS pubs and has been 
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for years that authority is vested in the commander 

to take whatever action is necessary to protect his 

own forces. And we said, "This is a clear case of 

that. A US force is under attack; the commander now 

has a right to do something about it, and we're going 

to pass ~his auth.ority on." So, we authorized General 

McKee, right then and there, very clearly, to go out 

and intercept those boats and sink the North korean 

ships, if necessary, to turn it around and establish 

the sta·tus quo. 

Now, General McKee, at that point, is having great 

difficulty in determining whether he can do this, 

because the airplanes that are ready ~o fly happen to 

be ORA {quick reaction alert) airplanes that are 

on nuclear alert, and he has got to download nuclear 

weapons and then load them with conventional weapons, 

and he's got to have the proper fusing for them, and 

he finds that he's having difficulty finding fuses 

for bombs that'll match that he can now put on the 

airplane, and time is running out. And in the final 

analysis, nobody went out there and did anything 

because he couldn't physically convert those airplanes 

to a conventional bombing capability fro11 their 
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nuclear posture, but he had all the authority in the 

world to do it, given to him by the Commander in Chief, 

Pacilic Air Forces, General Ryan, under the rule that 

a commander has the right to take action to protect 

his own forces. 

1 know that in General McKee's ~ind he had--ana 

I've ~eard some of his testimony over on the Hill 

that in the absence of any authority or any aecisions 

made in Washington--to go ahead and do things an his 

own. But I say, •No.• Those tapes will reveal that 

he was given clear .authority by CINCPACAF to actually 

go out and take military action against those vessels. 

Now,. had he been able to put the bombs and the fuses 

together and to get out there, he might have sunk the 

escorting ships, and the whole nature of that incident 

~ay have changed right then and there, but he wasn't 

able to pull it off. 

H: Well, there was also a problem with the Navy being 

reluctant to notify Fifth Air Force Headquarters. It 

was quite a time lapse there. 

V: There was a time lapse, but they .were still in inte.r-
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national waters when all this wa,s going on, when all 

this discussion was going on, and it was simply 

physically impossible for him to match the fuses with 

the bombs and get them on the airplanes. If he had 

been able to do that, they would have been out there. 

H: And also, I understand that the Navy didn't notify 

anybody of the nature of the mission to have support 

lined up to begin with. 

V: That's right~ There was no preparatory action. In 

other words, no preparations made in case they got in 

trouble. But nobody thought they were going to get 

in trouble. This was a routine mission of a nature 

of something that had been going on a long, long 

time·, routinely. And ttie Navy hadn't had any incidents 

involving their ships before, and they didn't think 

one would happen now. So, it's understandable why 

they hadn't asked for any special protection at this 

time. But that wasn't the first time that ship was 

out there, nor was it the first place where it had 

been done. It had been done all around the world, 

but they were out in international waters, perfectly 

within their rights, and nobody thought these little 
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characters would come out of national waters and 

attack our vess.els on the high seas. We were wrong; 

they did. But our inability to react because of 

physical constraints on the equipment is really wbat ' 

the key was here, not in the absence of a decision. 

It's true, there wasn't one made by CINCPAC because 

he was gone, and his headquarters was paralyzed. 

General Roy Allison was the Chief of Operations and 

was the man with whom we were dealing in CINCPAC, and 

his hands l(iere tied. He couldn't take any action in 

the absence of his boss. Consequently, no decisions 

were made at the headquarters above us, but General 

Ryan bit the bullet and said, •co get theml Go down 

there and make a couple of passes~ and it they don't 

turn around and turn the ship loose, sink them!• Tne 

record is very clear on this. And if those tapes 

still exist in the USAF Command Post, you can get the 

precise wording of the.conversation which is essen-

tially what I just told you. 

M: This would require speculation on your part, but do 

you think that the North Koreans anticipated this 

problem with our weapons, that we wouldn't be able to 

175 

•.· 

\ \ 



VOGT 

~ · ·• 

'react that quickly? ; . -- 1 

V: No. I think they just thought we wouldn't have guts 

enough to react, that the washington scene would be 

consulted; there would be a big deliberation; they 

would have the whole thing pulled off; they'd be 

safely back in port befo~e any decision could be 

made. But they were fooled in that respect. The 

decision w;;~s made.; it was just the equipment limita­

tion that prevented us from doing it. 

H: I read some of the congressional testimony as a result 

of the Pueblo incident, and several of the Congressmen 

were very, very upset by the fact that here a major 

power was caught with their pants down, and tlley t ·elt 

it was just absolutely humiliating. 

V: I felt very badly, too. I was r.eally anxious to get 

those ships sunk. (laughter) If you read those 

tapes, you'll find that out by the tone of my voice 

on them. I was the one that was handling the telephone 

calls. Ryan was standing there alongside of me, and 

we ~ere d·iscussing this, and I would relay th'e message 

to McKee at the other end and tell him what to do. 
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we were very anxious to stop this thing and very. 

determined to stop it. We were physically unable to 

do it in the f i nal ana l ys is because of the equipment 

problem. You will find that in some parts of the 

tape there, McKee was sayi ng, • I don't have any f uses.• 

Well, we had punched the computers at PACAF and said, 

•well , we know you've got fuses. Our records show 

that you've got X number of them at so and .so. • 

He didn't even know this in his own headquarters: We 

finally told him where to go to get the fuses, but by 

the time he had everything . lo~ated, time had run out. 

8: How do you feel abou~ Couander Bucher's [Cdr Lloyd 

M,) action during this incident? 

V: ·well, it ' s awfully hard to put yourself in someboay 

else's boots when you were not on th·e scene. 1 think 

his interest was in saving lives. He d.idn't want loss 

of US lives. If you ask me what I would have done, 

I would have issued arms to everybody and said, 

•Fire! • You know, 1 would.n't ·have per111itted it to 

happen. I think I would have gone down fighting; that 

would have been my reaction. In his own defense, I 

.must say this was a d .ifferent type of shipJ it wasn't 
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figJtn9' sh~lp__of the Navy. 
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Th.ey ha4..; b~~~··'~.Eicli to 

believe all along that they were never going to be 

attacked. Th ey knew there were some risks attached to 

the mission, but they didn't think they were that kind. 

They were ill prepared for military activity, prob~bly 

didn't know how to fire the guns they had on board. 

So he picked the easy way and decided, •well, the 

path of least res.istance is no resistance. • 1 would 

have found that very· difficult to swallow if 1 had 

been the commander. 

H: Do you feel this co111promised our intelligence effort 

(~ any, by the11 getting ahold of this very sensitive 

ship? 

V: Well, it probably gave them some idea of th~ state-of­

the-art capability up to that point, but you know, we 

were going on to new equipment and everything else, 

·.' 

so we quickly went beyond that point in time where 

it would have been that meaningful. The new and more 

sophisticated stuff was not on the sh.ip. So it 

probably confi~med to them that we had a very good 

capability in this are.a, and it probably helped ~hell 

in the design of sillilar equipment, but it·w·s prlitty ..... 
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ancient stuff by the time they g~t a chance to ex­

ploit it. 

H: Well, as a result ot the ~ incident, did they 

stream! ine these command and control efforts? 

V: We went through a whole 'lot of soul-searching examina­

tions, and later on I was involved in some of them, 

because this thing was still reverberating when I was 

back there as a J-3, which was just 1 year later. 

We were doing ~omplete examinations of our co .. and 

and control, the response mechanisms, and how to get 

decisions made. One of the things we did, of course, 

was to put into effect support procedures for missions 

· of this kind. From that point on, all of these guys, 

wherever they were around the world engaged in such 

missions, ahl'ays had protective missions planned and 

ready. From that time on out there, Mckee and his 

forces ~ere now ready to move, and they were notified 

in advance, and the ·forces were On readineSS •tO SUpport 

thea. This was done all over the world, sort of 

locking the b~rn after the horses have been stolen, 

but we did tighten up on all those procedures. 
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But you have got to understand, you know, ~ there had 

been a whole history of these things. This had been 

going on for a. long time with nothing of this kind 

ever happening. You are sort of lulled into a false 

sense of security. He is playing the game the way he 

should. He's not out there in international waters 

interf"ering with somebody else's vessels nor are 

you. You know, Soviet trawlers are right off the 

·coast of the United States all the time, just beyond 

national waters doing the same thing, and we don't 

attack them. 

·o~ring the Vietnam war, when we were flying bombers 

out of Guam going into North Vietnam, the Soviet 

trawlers were sitting off the end of the runway, l 

miles . out, radioing ahead the takeoff times, force 

composition, expected arrival time, the whole works, 

and we weren't out there sinking them, because, you 

know, we play by more humane rules--international 

agreement and understanding. Koreans? No; they 

aren't constrained by anything like that. They're 

pretty much barbarians. in that regard. 1 wouldn't 

expect them to observe any covenants or rules • . You 

k.now, it took us a long tiae to learn this. 
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Did this 200-mile fishing limit put a stop to the 

trawlers coming in so close? 

V: No. It only says you can't fish out there. They 

aren't fishing. 

H: They're fishing but in another way. 

I'd like to backtrack a minute. You mentioned earlier 

that you'd like to talk later about . the ordnance on 

the F-111 and the problem that arose. Would you 

like to address that now? 

V: Yes. Th~ Air Force, for the last several years, has 

been making ·a conscientious effort to develop anti­

armor capability to deal with the tremendous tank 

threat in Europe. As you know, the soviets have 

20,000 plus tanks over there which they could bring 

to bear in a relatively short period of ti11e in an 

offensive in Europe, and people ~ave been very much 

concerned about this .. assive ar111or capability. so, 

the Air Force has been working on the A-10 to do this 

job, <tnd they have been putting a ~ot of time, money 

and effort into what I call •one-on-one• weapons. 
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These are weapoiiS of the Maverick type, :: the EO, 

eiectro-optical types, the little television guidance 

systems in the nose, and they home in on the contrast 

that the target presents, and they're designed to 

score direct hits. The Maverick, which has long 

been heralded as the answer to the armor in Europe, 

was sent to me in Southeast Asia when the war was 

still on. It was a brandnew weapon system with 

tremendous potential •. It was sold to me as a weapon 

that was going to stop all the traffic on the u·o Chi 

Minh Trail. •uere's a lethal weapon that has a 99 

percent kill probability. Man, if it sees a target, 

it's dead. • And we br.ought it out there. and we were 

killing nothing with it, and we discovered v~ry 

quickly the reason. As I said, the thing is a con-

trast weapon system; there must be a· contrast on toe 

target, and this thing then has a centroid system 

that measures the contrast and cente~s, and the 

weapon supposedly impacts on the center. But what 

happens if you don't have any contrast?' Suppose it's 

i~ the shade of a tree? Or the shade of many trees 

like it is on the Ho Chi Minh Trail? No contrast; no 

lock on; no weapon kill capability. And that's what 

we discovei:ed out there·. I kept getting these idiot 
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messages from these guys in Washington saying, •why 

aren't you killing more tanks and vehicles with this 

Maverick we sent you?• And I kept sending messages 

back saying, "This isn't a test that you are con-

ducting out in the desert on a bright, ·sunny day 

where you get a shadow and a contrast. We have 

this problem." And a few of them drifted out to 

Southeast Asia to talk to the pilots, and they dis-

covered that "Yes; this is a problem!" 

Now, when I became the commander in Europe, the first 

thing I heard was, •soy, we are going to get these 

Mavericks over here, and that's going to finish the 

armor problem.• Well, the weather in Europe is •no 

contrast" weather most of the time. It's just terrible. 

I said, •I don't think it's going to do this job, and 

we are wrong in giving the Army a false sense of 

security and ourselves a false sense of security. 

It's not going to do this kind of job or have anywhere 

near the kill capability we are describing.• Well, 

there were pros and cons and argu•ents b~ck and fo·rth, 

and the Air Force was about to buy 25,000 of them. 

Before the. Air Force placed the order for Europe, I 

said, "I want a test of this first in ~urope. I want 
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them to ~ome out- here ana we'll actually test this 

weapon in the European environment.• So in 1975 we 

ran such a test. TAC [Tactical Air Command} sent 

three of its best r-taverick pilots, and I had three 

guys that we trained up very quickly, and we put the~ 

to work, ·and we ran the tests for 3 months, as I 

recall, working with US Army tanks. They'd go out 

there every day on the range, and their mission was 

to fly around, find the tanks, lock the weapon system 

on, and not fire it, of course, but if we got the 

proper signals and indicators then we knew we had a 

lock on and presumably the missile was gQing to 

guide. We found it was very difficult to achieve 

this positive lock on and the assurance that it was 

guiding. 

The first thing we discovered was that all the lock-on 

ranges that had been talked about, 6,000-plus-feet slant 

ranges, was a lot of baloney. He weren't locking on 

at that distance. We had great difficulty in getting 

any kind of lock on: you know, they had to drive the 

thing down to 2,000 feet. Over a period of some 

several months, the kill probabilities that were 

reported were very low, and we tried all k.inds of 

things to make the systelll work. We slowed the air-
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planes down, which in itself is bad because· that 

makes the airplane vulnerable, and--mind you, these 

were the same crews doing it every day, and their 

proficiency gradually improved to the point where 

they were getting better, but only after many, many 

hours of missions, and I knew the·average pilot wasn't 

going to have this kind of training. The average guy 

told to go get the Russians that were now coming was 

going to be right where these guys were the first 

several days of their effort. 

well, it finally dawned on everybody that, you know, 

1 bad a legitimate concern, that the thing wasn't 

very good for the European .environment, so the Air 

Force went back and said, •well, we hao to come up 

with new, more sophisticated syste~s for guidance on 

this Maverick, and we'll look at · IR [infrared] heads 

and laser heads and other things, which is what they 

are doing now. 

I contended that this is okay in limited nuebers, but 

it should not be the major weapon we are relying on 

for several reasons. First, I can't see any JUStifica­

. tion in having one airplane duel one tank. This is the 
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so-called one-on-one system that I'm describing where 

an airplane lines up on one tank, goes down and 

presses attack and exposes himself to the support-

ing fire ·of those automatic ·we·apons l.hat are there in 

support of that tank. So you are taking a $12 or $13 

million airplane and exposing it to destroy a $100,000 

tank, and the odds aren't that good. The losses are 

going to be very great, and it just isn't worth it • 

. What I want to do is equip the airplane with the 

weapon that will get multiple kills per pass and 

which doesn't require them to line up precisely. 

Right now the pilot has got to make the pass, find 

the target, double back, maxe a lineup run, then come 

in and make a pass and lock the weapon on, and then 

get out of there. At any point ill that pattern, he 

could be shot down by multiple weapons, because we 

have a whole family now of surface-to-air missiles 

that are s~pporting this armor. They are all mounted 

on tank chassis that roll along with the armor. New 

weapons ~ike the SA-8 that has self-contained radar 

and radar missiles, rolls right along with the tanks, 

SA-6 system, the szo-23/2•, a very lethal radar­

controlled, high rate of fire, multiple-barrel weapon 

that'll knock an airplane down at 5,000 feet and 
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below, re.gulat:ly. And I d_on It: think w~ snould duel 

with expensive airplanes in that kind of environment, 

onl:!-on:-one. 

What I want to · do is locate the center of mass of the 

armor, which we can do today with many sophisticated 

platforms that w_e have up there. The SLAR [side­

looking airborne radarl ' airplanes, for example, side-

looking radar, has great precision r.ow. They can 

locate armor, and we can determine location. We can 

data link the data back immediately to the operational 

base where the -airplanes can·go i111111ediately to that 

spot. I want them to know the general center 

of mass location, then I want multiple-kill weapqns 

on board the airplane so that he gets into the area, 

and when he drops, he doesn't have to line up individ­

ually, he just knows that there are clusters of tanks 

down there, and he drops enough weapons with area 

kill capability so one of those clusters will kill 

that grouping of tanks. In other words, I want several 

tanks killed for every single pass, ana I don't want 

this guy maneuvering around down there to line up. 

I want him to go over at high speeds, at t~e most 

advantageous altitude and direction, and iay that 
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stuff in there. 

Now, I know these kinds of weapons can be developed. 

We haven't developed them because the interest has 

been elsewhere. The thrust has been on these electro­

optica·ls. Electro-opticals are terribly expensive. 

You know, even this so-called unsop.hist1cated Maverick 

that;. we were testing in Europe cost $20,001.1 to $25,000 

apiece. Yoi.!'d go bankrupt ~iring those things, you 

know, trying to kill 20,000 tanks. It's like the 

Standard ARM (antiradiation missile] that I had in 

Vi~tnam. This was an antiradiation missile that 

fired back down the radar beam and was supposed to 

kill enemy radars, enemy SAH radars, and acquisition 

radars. It would ho~e on the beam and go down. _ You know, 

they cost $200,000 apiece, and I never hao any concrete 

evidence that I had ever killed a single rada.-

with any one of those weapons, and we fired hundreds 

of them off at $200,000 apiece. So, the idea of 

going bankrupt that way nits lle the wrong way. I 

~ant multiple kill, minim~ exposure, and I think 

the kids in the airplanes want the same thing. Tbe 

boys who have Deen out there and have been . shot at and 

who ' have seen the heavy losses we sustained in well-

. , 



VOGT 

defended a.reas want an even chance. The answer lies 

in area-type weapons. · 

When I was in europe, I got with the Germans, and 

they were developing a system called STREBO for their 

airplane, which is the MRCA or Tornado and which is 

similar to our F-111, only it's smaller, and they 

wanted to be able to go out and get some worthwhile 

kills when they got there. So they were developing an 

area weapon, a very excellent concept, that was · going 

to carry these little 44-millimeter shape charges 

which would be ejected by a gaseous injection system, 

controlled out of little tubes so that it had a very 

precfse patter!! formed. And it cou~d be done from 

low altitudes ·instead. of using, · as we do, parachute 

drop canisters which then open and scatter the stuff 

around~ which is sort of haphazard and requires 

altitude in order to work. This could be done from 

low altitude and was controlled the positive way. 

I actually went down with the Chief of the German 

Air Force, Genera~ Linberg [Lt Gen Gerhard), and saw 

these things demonstrated. We saw the shape charges 

demonstrated against tanks, and I caRe back and got 
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hold of the Chief of R&D (research and development] of 

the Ai i Force, Mr. LaBerge I Hon Walter B. ] , who was 

Assistant Secretary for R&D for the Air ·Force, brought 

him ov.er, had some of his people look into this, and this 

thing was then dumped into the R&D research program in 

the States and quickly got nowhere, because it wasn"t 

invented here. If it isn't invented in the United 

States, then nobody is interested. People had a 
\.1 

million reasons why they didn't want that system to 

be seriously examined. Incidentally, they are still 

looking at it, because some of us.have been screaming 

and kicking so loud that they're working tne problem • 

But they've come along now with a whole new series of 

Air Force weapons which shoW great promise, if they 

get on with the11. But they are having great trouble 

getting it sold over on the Hill now, largely because 

the Air Force itself for years has been going the 

other way and casting .aspersions on this other 

approach. Now, they've got to turn around and try 

to se,ll it. But there are &Ollie of them that show · 

great promise, and I think, if you have a chance, you 

can get somebody to give you a briefing on s~e of 
these concept~ that they have worked up as part of 

this WAAM program--Wide Area Antitank Munitions. 
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But I think it has got to come, and if you couple the 

bad weather situation that I described earlier with 

loads of armor, and the risk of flying down low and 

making multiple passes, . then you've got to come to the 

conclusion that I have--that's not the way to do 

it. The best way to do it is to find the center of 

mass an~ then have a wide area kill, and you can do 

it day or night regardless of weather. You've got a 

weather delivery capa?ility in the F-111 airplane. 

Say, you load an F-111 with loads of weapon_& of this 

kind and lay that stuff in there, and everyone has 

multiple kills, and the thing could carry 20,000 pounds 

of this stuff; you could saturate a wide area with 

lethal weapons. You know you are going to get armor 

kills, because we can pretty well pinpoint the armor 

now. They can't hide from our side-looking radar 

any more. We've got RF-4s witli side-looking radar 

that'll pick out arl'lor, (sound), like that. But now 

you need to get the delivery vehicle in there and do 

what I just described, and the ordnance has to be good. 

It's coming. It's taking a lot of time, but these 

people are turning around. There was a great proclivity 

in the Air Force for a long time to like to buy these 

intricate weapon systems turned out by electronic 
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industries that costs thousands of bucks and involve 

advanced states of the art of electronics, and we 

were just really overboard on that kind of stuff, in 

my judgment. The money was going into programs of 

that kind. Nobody was putting it into o::-dnance that 

I've been describing. 

B: This STREBO you were mentioning that the Germans 

are developing. Is that an acronym for something? 

V: Yes, but don't ask me what it is. S-T-R-E-8-o. 

M: I've seen the concept. 

H: All right. Another issue we could discuss here 

shortly is the very controversial one that came up 

again recently. You might have. seen it on 20/20 

about Agent Orange and our defoliation effort in 

South Vietnam. There's a big public outcry now 

about so many of the airmen anq ground soldiers that 

•were exposed to th.is defoliation element, and they 

are suffering all kinds of aftereffects. 

(End Tape 4, Side 2] 

192 



{ 

( 

UNCLASSIFIED VOGT 

H: We were discussing the defoliation effort over in · 

Southeast Asia. Do you feel it was worth the effort 

to begin with , or how do you assess the value of it? 

V: We l l, by the t i me I got over there, we were doing 

very little of this. .I think the thing had run a 

full course by that time, and most people figured i t 

wasn't worth that much effort. It certainl y wasn't 

worth all the flak the military was getting in return. 

so., there was no emphasis on defoliation a.t all when 

I was in Southeast Asia. 

The requirement, of course, came initially ,from. the 

commanders who were very much concerned about the 

jungle cover that was being exploited by the enemy. 

Let's face it, they were taking advantage of the 

jungle cover right up to the edge of every military 

encampment in Vietnam and using the element of sur­

p~ise, and people said we should cut this cover down 

so they couldn't cont i nually a•bush us the way that 

they were doing. The R&D coa~unity grandly came 

forth with this solution, so everybody went overboard 

hoping to defoliate the devil out of .everything and 

destroy that jungle which was ou.r ene11.y and their 
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. friend. The North Vietnamese were extre•ely skillful 

in taking advantage of cover and ghosting through the 

j ungle. You never knew where they were, and eff orts 

were being made to control the approaches to valid 

military facilities. First, I don't think anybody 

knew there would be these aftereffects we are 

talking about, so the decisions to use them were made 

without that foreknowledge. That has a bearing _on 

your decision at the time, ot course, since you aren't 

encumbered by concerns of cancer or whatever later. 

But I think the t~ctical results, so far as I can 

see, that were really achieved with them'were minimal, 

because the jungle had a habit of growing back awfully 

fast even after it had been defoliated, and there was 

just so much of it. But there was no way you could 

have made much of a dent in it, enough to real ly 

· make that mucb_ dif f .erence to you. My own feeling 

. is, it wasn't worth all the effort. 

H: Doesn't this get back t~ what we were talking about 

earlier of trying to dam the waterfall up fro• the 

bottom instead of going to the source? 

V: Well, I think you were quoting General Weyland on 

1~4 

urrc ssm r:..u 



( 

VOGT 
UNCLASSIFIED 

that? I think he was implying that if we could have 

gone to the source, which was Hanoi itself, earlier 

with the Rolling Thunder operations many years before, 

the wa·r probably would have ended. I certainly agree 

with him, but politics being what they are, and the 

con&traints on the administrations being what they were, 

I understand why it wasn't done. 

we talked earlier about · the difficulties the Presid.ent 

has in keeping public opinion with him and keeping 

the>far effort -going an·d keeping the press from being 

absolutely ruinous in tbei.r campaigns against what 

you are trying to do. I Just don't think it was 

possible in any of the ad11inistrations that I vas 

familiar with back in those days to sell that kind of 

a program. You would have been called mad to go bomb 

them back into the Stone Age, as General LeMay is 

quoted as having said we ought to do. Bu~ when we 

did it in Linebacker II, you know, sent · the heavies 

up there and really laid that stuff in there, it 

brought the results • 

. But that's got to be put in perspective, too. I 

mentioned earlier that ~hat we did il1 Linebacker II 
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was simply redo what had been done previously in 

Linebacker I, only we cOlllpressed it now into a shorter 

time period, so the impact on the enemy was that much 

greater. But he wound up at the end of Linebacker II 

about where he had been in October after Linebacker 

I, with about the same kinds of targets destroyed and 

nothing more. We had simply made an error in miscalcu-

lating their willingness to sign an agreement after 

Linebacker I. When we took the heat off of them, they 

said, •well, to heck with you. We are not going to 

sign any agreement. We~re happy. You probably 

can't ever bomb again. We know your problems at 

home; the problems with the press and the Congress 

and the people, the waning support for the war. You 

have already said this one is' about to end. Now, how 

are you going to ' reintrod·uce all this bollbing?• So 

the President had t~ make a very tough decision to do 

what he did, when he did it. 

H: There were some very noteworthy and tremendous efforts 

on the part of Air/Sea Rescue in Southeast Asia. One 

interview we had with Stev'e Ritchie (Capt Richard 

S.), he mentioned that you were instrumental in in-

suring the rescue of John Locher (Capt Roger C.) who 
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was shot down -over in Viet-nam~ How dJp~;;,y;ou l:vtew the 

value of the Air/Sea Resc!Je? what part do you think 

they played in the overall role in Southeast Asia? 

V: Absolutely essential f or the morale of the combat 

crews. The guy had to have a feeling that he had 

some chance if he was shot down, and I consider it to 

be absolutely essential that we have a vigorous 

program of rescue going, and you know the thing paid 

off so well, .so many times. And it did instill in 

the combat crews a feeling that they had a fighting 

chance. It wasn't all over when they got shot down. 

For some reason or the other, that kind of thinking 

never got to Europe. For example, when I got to 

Europe I discovered there was no Air/Sea Rescue plans 

for combat operations in Europe. There was~'t a 

single Air/Sea Rescue unit based on the Continent of 

turope. The ~nly outfit was over in England, and it 

would be miles away from the combat once it started, 

and I wanted them reorganized on the basis of the 

kind of system we had in Southeast Asia. Well, that's 

gotten virtually nowhere. Money, other ~onstraints, 

peo~le who are willing to believe the war will never 
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happen, et ce.tera. But I am a strong believer in 

giving the pilot a fighting chance. 

The i ncident he's talking about was f or a 9uy who had 

been shot down and had been gone ~or quite a consider­

able period of time, as I recal l . Everybody had 

written him off, and then all of a sudden thf s walkie­

talkie came back on the air. pne of our raids was up 

i ·n that same area again almost 1 ~onth later, and lo 

and behold, this g~c~ is still alive, and he's ~p 

the~e. But he's way the devil up north and west of 

Hanoi, deep in the heart of enemy-defended country 

and~ you know, to mount an effort up there could be 

very costly. We could lose choppers; we could los·e 

escorting a i rplanes; we mi ght wi nd up with a whole 

lot of airplanes down and a lot of other guys down in 

the jungle just to save one man . A commander, when 

he authori~es a mission like th i s, has to weigh all 

these th i ngs. Do you wind up with just a terrible 

depacle when you are all through or what? As a 

matter of fact, this kid was located up in the hills 

in visual c:<tnge and v i~;ucsl sight of a major airfield 

on which "there were North Vietnamese colllba t airplanes, 

taking off and landin.g, and he wa.s watching thea 
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every day. We were going to have -to p'ul l this off 

right in the shadow of that major airfield. 

so, when . they came t o me and said they wanted to t ry 

it, I had to sweat out the possible repercussions. 

The whol e airfield could ha.ve oeen alerted. They 

could have taken off and shot down one or two Jol ly 

Greens with their crews, lost some of the escorting 

birds. It ·could have been a mess. But I really felt 

that if we planned it well, used the element of 

surprise, that we would get away with it, because l 

had been one of the champions of the Son Tay raid 

years .before where we had done the same thing essentially, 

and r ·felt it was worth it. I mean, here's a kid who 

had stayed alive, and he was led · to believe he had 

a fighting chancer now, you owe it ·to him. That's 

probabl}• what P.i tchie was referring to. I had to 

make the deci sion and I said, "Let's go get himt" 

And they d i d, without a single loss. 

-M: This might be a good point. Would you care to cOllllllen.t 

on your role? This is the second time you mentioned 

that in the Son Tay rai·d. 
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V: Well, Son Tay was conceived of back in Washington 

at the time I was a J-3, and when it was first ad­

vanced a lot of people thought i t was crazy, because 

here we were going up deep into enemy territory, just 

20 miles I think it was from Hanoi, to try to rescue 

some prisoners. ' The whole thing would have to be a 

masterpiece of execution if you were going to pull 

it off, because we were going to take choppers and 

~roops and land them up there. SAMs were almost 

certain to be encountere~ because you were well 

within the missile range not to mention MiGs. The 

whole thing sounded like a very great risk, but it 

was worked up by tHe special operations people in the 

JCS who were under my control. They ,briefed me on 

it, and you know, my initial reaction was "Good God!" 

But the more I thought about it, the more I thought, 

"Well, we ought to g'ive thos.e guys in the prison camp 

a fighting chance. lf we can pull it off, great." 

My job became one of organizing the planning for it 

and laying tne g_round rul,es down, and how it was 

going to be done. Then I had the maJor responsi­

bility for selling it over in the iihite House. I was 

the first guy to take it over to the Whit.e !louse, and 
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I, personally 1 along with the project -leader 1 15r ie fed 

Kissinger on it when he was the Nationa l SecuritY 

Council advisor, before t.he authority iia:i given by 

the Presideht for it . Lt was tou h and g all through 

those pla.nning days . It was •go" t.hen •no go, • and 

delays were encountec-ed and so foc-th , but we finally , 

you know, had to bi t e the bullet ~nd got them o£f the 

qround and away they ..,ent. As· you know, it was a 

very successful operation. From an operational 

standpoint, everything went oft fine. We didn't lose 

anybody, but the prisoners weren't there. It was 

just a failure in ouc- capability to detect with 

any authority that sort of intelligence. But at the 

time it was conceived, it was a pretty daring thing. 

H: Your earlier days, when you tirst . ca•de back after 

getting your degree , you wer~ in intelligence . It 

has been said before that on the · outside perhaps 

it was an intelligence leak on the San Tay raid. Do 

you share that belief.? 

V: No. I think l know what happened . son Tay was a 

camp that was built on the banks of a river where it 

had a 'habit of . f loodin9 occasionally. ciilr'inCJ ·heavy 
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I, personally, along with the project leader, briefed 

Kissinger on ' it when he was the National Security 

Council advisor, before the authori t y was given by 

the President for it. It was. touch and go all th.:ough 

those planning days. It was "go" then "no go," and 

delays were encountered and so forth, but we finally, 

yo·.; know, had to bite the bullet and got thell off the 

g.:ound ~nd away they went. As you know, it was a 

very successful operation. From an opera~ional 

standpoint, everything went off fine. We didn't lose 

anybody, but t~e prisone.rs weren't there. It was 

just a failure in our capability to detect with 

any authority that sort of intelligence. But at the 

time it was conceived, it was a pretty daring thing. 

M: Your ea.:lier days, when you first came back after 

getting you.: degree, you were in intelligence. It 

has been said before that on the outside perhaps 

it was an intelligence leak on the Son· Tay raid. Do 

you sha.:e that belief? 

V: No~ I think I know what happened. Son Tay was a 

casp that was built on the banks of a river where it 

had a habit of flooding occasionally during heavy 
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rain periods. Some years it didn't flood, other years 

it did. I think it had been a prison, initially, 

before it had become a prison camp. It probably 

hadn't been used as a prison for this very reason, 

because it was being threatened periodically by rising 

waters. At_a point in time prior to the raid, the 

waters had ri"sen, and they were right up to the walls 

of the thing. I think the decision was made to evacuate 

the prisoners at that point because of the threat of 

the rising waters, and off they went. They were 

probably going to be brought back at sollle later date, 

and they may have been moved temporarily to another 

facility. We si111ply didn't detect t he correlation 

between the rising waters and the other indicators to 

know that they had been taken out. We had reconnaissance 

· airplanes up there; we were taking pictures of them. 

We had drones up there, reconnaissance drones, ana 

the interpreters were car.efully looking at the appear­

ance of the camp to see if vegetation was growing up 

over the foot paths, and it wasn't. In the final 

analysis, they said, "It's still occupied." We learned 

later that they had moved a North Vietnamese unit in 

there. When we got up there, we discovered tha.t there 

were others in the camp occupying lt. They we.ren't 
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prisoners, but they were so11e other contingent that 

had moved in there. So that continued the signs of 

occupancy. They simply weren't the prisoners any 

more. In my mind, it was just a failure on our part 

to see the correlation between rising waters and 

removal of the prisoners, initially, and then another 

element totally unrelated to POW work coming back in 

to occupy the premises. 

You know, you've probably heard that we did have 

some last minute doubts. The intelligence people 

came in at the last minute--! think a day or two 

before the raid--and said, •uey, we think there's 

evidence now that it may not be occupied.• The 

DIA came in and said ~hat. But they couldn't be 

certain, and this thing had gone so far it would 

have been criminal to cancel it and then find that, 

in their latest analysis, they had been ~rong, and 

the guys were still up there, .and we had done 

nothing about it. We figured we were going to 

be able to pu'11 it off successfully with mini11um 

losses, hopefully with no losses, and, therefore, 

we ought to go through with it on the chance 

they still may be there. And that's what we 
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i did. But it took a lot of. guts baclt:'.-in tboSe · day~ 'on 

the part of everybody, including the President, you 

know, to authorize this, because it•could have been· a 
big debacle. They've bad a whole group bounced up 

there and shot down and guys down in the middle of 

the night and lost without l!lny chance of recovering 

them. It could have been a mess. 

But it was beautifully planned and executed. Lots of 

careful preparation went into it. I · was quite con­

fident. In fact, I was asked, when I was over there 

briefing Kissinger, whether or not I thought. it was 

going to work. Kis~inger had known me over the years, 
. . 

and after our little group had gotten through briefing 

him, he · called me aside. In flllct, I stayed behind 

a minute · in his office, and he said, •x want your 

view. Is thi.s going to work? Are we going to lose a 

lot of people?• ·I said, •No. It's going to work.• 

My neck was Wl!IY ·out at that point, as you can well 

imagine. But I bad a reasonable confidence, because 

.everything had been carefully checked, and we had 

calculated reaction times of the eneliiY, and how much 

time we had before the system would be alert to the 

point where they could really start opposing you. 
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And we were going to work within those parameters. 

This all prov.ed to be quite accurate. We just goofed 

on the intelligence. 

H: Once this failed, did that preclude any further 

attempts at this? 

V: Yes·. The enemy took ever~body from the outlying 

camps and consolidated them in carefully guarded 

camps, primarily in the Hanoi .area, where there was 

no chance you could get to them. And there we were. 

It did indirectly have a benefit1 in almost every 

case, their conditions improved because they were 

brought into civilization. These camps out in the 

boonies were pretty bad places: Now they were brought 

in and they were p~t in the Hanoi Hilton there, and 

conditions improved for all of them. And for the 

first time, they were put together. The isolation 

they had suffered previously--a guy all by himself, 

you know, in an isolated part of the camp--and 

now all of a sudden, they were together, and they were 

permitted to talk to each ~ther, and they were meet~ 

ing old friends and had a tremendous morale boost. 

And the word bad gotten to them, now the attempt had 
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been naade ~na the'lr raorale was e"xtreil~ly. lrigh. ; So·" 

the whole thing was useful even in its failure. 

H: These torture stories that came o~t of Vietnam. Was 

there a great deal of validity to these? 

V: Oh, yes. I think we have documented in our discussions 

with the boys who have come back that it was going 

on. They weren't observing any of the Geneva Con­

v~ntion rules. That's why I say that Jane Fonda and 

others were totally misled on this. They thought 

these boys were being humanely treated under the 

rules of the Convention of Geneva. Not so. 

H: tn the book, The .Air war . in Indochina, edited by 

Raphael Littauer an~ Norman Uphoff at Cornell university, 

it's pointed out in regard to the Vietnam war that 

•The technological approach to counterinsurgency 

outstripped the .political one froai the beginnin.g, and 

since the goal of the struggle is political rather 

than Alilitary, the means employed have represented a 

failure of the imagination and all the paraphernalia 

of: the electronic battlefield, while aiaed at iAI­

proving technical efficiency and reducing US 
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casualties, can .lead only to further depersonalization 

of an essentially human st·ruggle ." How do yo~ view 

this statement? 

V: Well, I think it's an overreaction on the part of the 

writers to something that was basically true. 'lou 

know, we had all kinds of' t echnology which had to be 

constrained in many ways because of the political 

constraints we talked about before. And there is a 

tendency on the part of the R&D and the scientific 

community to push forward develOPJIIents and proj_ects 

which may or .may not be acceptable to the people who 

were, you know, given the orders. I had all kinds of 

offers of help from the R&D comaunity, from people 

who thought they could end the war very quickly. 

Most of the concepts that they came up with really 

weren't worth the time and the effort. Some of them 

were pretty harebrained. But there was a lot of 

imagination shown by a lot of people, and we were 

moving very fast in the way of new technologies and 

new developments. It was a tough war though. As I 

said, when it was in the guerrilla phase, as I men­

tioned earlier, in many ways i~ was harder than 

fighting the way I was fighting, because the thing 
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had pretty· much gone regular forces activity when I 

got th~re. 

Even in Laos and Cambodia, the large formations were 

now assaulting with pretty well-defined positions and 

so forth, so you knew you could get to them, and they 

were using sophisticated equipment of tneir own now, 

which they couldn't hide in the JU.ngle the way they 

could hide a guy with a pack on his back and a simple 

AK - 47 rifle. 

But I think these people fail to see one thing. A 

lot of people have said that our failure to pursue 

the guerrilla phase and understand the nature of it · 

and to work it properly was the cause of our debacle 

in Vietnam: 1 think the nature of the war would have 

changed anyway over the years, because the North was 

getting far more sophisticated. They were getting 

this new equipment from the Russians. They were 

getting the capability to take this thing into the 

field on a much more sophisticated basis. They were 

get-ting pretty good equipment in teriiS of modern 

•• 1 warfare capability. A ·T-54 tank was a ~aatch for 

anything we· supplied the guys in the South. In many 
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ways it was better than the .M-48, which was the 

biggest tank that we had given the South Vietnamese. 

As I mentioned earlier, the artillery clearly out-

gunned us. It was far superior. And when we were 

talking about new weapons to destroy armor, these 

guys had, it in the fie.ld down there using it against 

us. The sagger-wire guided missile, which antidated 

the TOW and which went into combat early in 1972; was 

effectively killing our ta!'ks, and while we were 

talking about new, modern weapons or shooting down 

airplanes, t~ey were fielding them. The SA-7 was 

quite a revelation when it was first used. It took · 

the low-performance airplane and swept it out of the 

skies wherever that weapon appeared. We simply had 

to take them and ground them; we couldn't use them 

there. It meant the demise of the old A-1 which 

people had talked about very fondly as being the type 

of ·airplane to use in the guerrilla war of Southeast 

Asia. Well, what kind of a vehicle was it when they 

introduced more sophisticated weapons, as they were 

ultimately going to do anyway r·egardless of what we 

did? And they did. When they brought thea in, it 

changed the character and nature of the war. So I 
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don' t~' think it was entirely ir( o~:f hiinds. 

people were getting better equipped, and they were 

training in greater capabilities, and they were going 

to bring to bear whatever it took to win the war that 

they could get their hands on. I think the proof of 

that is in the Easter offehsive when all this stuff 

was sprung·on us. It was coming. So you may have 

been able to beat them back in the guerrilla phase 

but, you k~ow, they would have turned to the other 

phase anyway in hopes of defeating you. And they 

almost did. People don.' t realize how close that 

thing came to a total military defeat; you know, by 

late April or early May, things wer .. e in bad shape in 

Vietnam. Things were crumb I ing .all over. We were 

holdipg on to An Loc by our toes, and Quang Tri had 

fallen, and we had had 'the debacle up in II Corps, 

and the enemy was advancing everywhere in a major 

mili.tary action. It took a lot to turn all of this 

around. You know, to get the South Vietnamese back 

up to Quang Tri, it took a tremendous effor't. I had 

to be up there al~ost every day, up i~ the front 

lines ·with the Vietnamese forces, finding out what 

they needed in the way of air support. At this point I 

was no longer j.ust the Seventh Air Force Colllllander; I 
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was the Deputy ~ACV. 

When Abrams went back to become Chi ef of Staff of the 

Army, his deputy was moved up to be Commander; t ha t 

was Pred Weyand (Lt Gen Frederick C.), and I became 

the deputy and took over Weyand's old job. I had two 

jobs now, the Air Commander and the overall Deputy 

Coi1UIIander, and I _really had to get out in the field 

a~d do things that Fred himself was doing previously. 

I was out with the troops many, many days, actually 

out in tile field in the front areas. trying to find 

out what they needed. - We orchestrated, for 

example, the whole eft"ort to recover all of Quang 

Tri. I was up in the forward posts with the Marines 

who were launching the assault to retake Quang Tri, 

and we were planning air campaigns in support of them 

every day and then going back and laying on the 

111issions in support of the111. 

Ke had a few funny incidents that occurred. Once 

when I was at Marine Division Headquarters, I talked 

to this little Vietna•ese Marine general, a one-star 

who coamanded up there, and I said, •You haven't 

moved a bit since I was here last,• which was just a 
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few days earlier:· •we agreed if t''d put all these 

8-52s in you were going to move on out and regain 

some of this territory." He said, "Well, I tried 

very hard, but the enem. has. us pinned d.own with 

artillery fire, and we haven't been able to get to 

it. You know, there are three observation towers. 

They are water t'owers, and he's got spotters up in 

these towers, and he's spotting the artillery fire, 

and it's very accurate. As soon as we come out of 

the holes, well, they lay this fire on us, and I 

can't advance until we destroy that. I've got to 

have, at the minimum, those towers destroyed." I 

said, "Why didn't you call up and get some support 

from us? We could have used some laser-guided bombs 

and knocked those towers down right away.• He said, 

"Oh, I made that request.• I said, •well, what 

happened?" He said, "Th~ answer came back from your 

headquarters that using laser-guided bombs on water 

tanks .was not cost effective.• (laughter) This is 

true! Some kid up in Blue Chip up in ops center 

had gotten the request;.. and said, • I'm not going to 

expend any of these costly laser-guided bombs on 

water towers,• not .knowing the tactical a.ituation. 

The whole advance is held up1 nobody can ~ove because 
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of three water tower~. While I was standing there, I 

picked up the phone, called back, and within an hou.r 

we had a laser strike and knocked out three towers. 

Next day the general advanced 4 or 5 miles back 

toward Quang Tri. That's the way these things happen. 

You frequently don't understand why something doesn't 

come off, and you find it's some little glitch like 

this, some little human failing in some part of the 

mechanism. I found that I had to be personally 

involved all the time, and I mean every day, 7 daJs a 

week. 

In fact, in the 18 months I was out there, I ha~ 1 

day's leave. I took off Christmas Day during 

Linebacker II. (pause) We had a little respite 

there, and I thi.nk we stopped bombing for 3 

days at Christmas. My daughter came out to ·visit us 

in Thailand. That's the only day off I had in the 18 

months of that war, and the rest of that tiae, 18 

hours a day and la.te into the night, many times all 

night long, trying to stay on top. of these situations 

as they developed. 

Something like some young major who had been taught 

that it's not cost effective, you see, to use laser 

213 

UNCLASSIFIED 



UNCLASS~FIED 
VOGT 

guided bombs on water towers without really unde-r­

standing the problem in the field. 

H: While we are talking on that, one of the most talked 

about issues is the high cost of weapon systems. 

You have already' talked a little bit about it. When 

I interviewed Dr. Alexander Flax, one of the things 

he pointed out was that he had done a study 'on the 

risin~ costs of weapon systems in World War II, 

and according to his projection, by the year 2000 

it would take our entire present-day defense budget 

to buy one airp.lane. 

V: Well, be's quite right in discussing trends of that 

kind. I want to turn them around, really. I want 

more effective airplanes in smaller numbers and 

ordnance to make up the difference. That's where our 

great deficiency is. We are going the other way. We 

see11 concerned about nUIIbers·. We've got to have 

numbers. We created this high-low aix concept. 

We'll have a limited number of costly airplanes and 

' buy a large n011ber of lesser airplanes, and that'll 

keep the numbers up and then we'll . be able to do tbe 

job. But if all those numbers are on tbe ground and 
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can't fight, then wh~J't have you got? This brings up 

an interesting observation I have made to a nunaber of 

people about the choice of our F-16 for Europe. 

When I was over in Europe, I was not only the USAFE 

Commande~, that's u~ Air Forces in Europe, but I was 

the first command~r of the new headquarters that had 

just been created in the alliance structure, and it 

was an outfit called AFCE, Allied Forces Cent.ral 

Europe. I had to organize the headquarters and get 

it ready to be prepared to fight the whole air war 

in the central region, and it was ~y responsibility 

to fignt the forces of six air forces. There were 

six air forces ·under us in AFCB, you know, and this 

was quite a task to get all this coordinated, get all 

this communication in, get the plans written, and do1 

all these things. 

But at least, for the first time, it was a single 

airman looking across the whole central front 

of having it divided between the 2ATAF [Allied 

Air Forces) up in the north and the. 4ATAF in the 

south, who hardly spoke to each other and planned 

their own little wars. Now it was going to be all 
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fought as a single entity • 

. Well, now, comes the proposal to reequip the forces 

of these countries--Belgium and Bolland being two of 

the outfits under my control there--they are now 

going to pick an airplane. The United States comes 

in with a candidate which is the F-16. I had some 

doubts and concerns about the P-16 which 1 let 

Washington know about through us channels; namely, 

its lack of all-weather capability. I was particulaz::ly 

disturbed by the fact that it could only use IR 

missiles, the Sidewinder. It couldn't carry Sparrows 

which mea'nt that i .t would be limited in bad weather 

situations, because IR missiles don't fire when the 

weather is bad. And it had very limited capability 

to put black boxes in it .to acquire targets in bad 

weather. And its a very small airplane with limited 

cubage, single engine, one pilot. The one pilot 

alone, you know, vastly restricts the kinds of equip­

ment you can use to do the all-weather job, so I was 

sort of concerned about all this. 

(End Tape 5, Side 1] 
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There were two other candidates for the replacement 

a~rplane, and one of them was the Swedish Viggen, 

and the other was the French Mi rage. The F-16 was 

being pushed, of course, by our Government as the . 

best choice, new technology, good thrust-to-weight 

ratios, high acceleration, good maneuverability, but. 

they were -being very quiet on some of these other 

things that I was concerned about. You know, how was 

it going to fight in bad weather ana so forth. 

Finally, I started looking into some of the candidates, 

and I went up and flew the SweccJish Viggen. I tole! 

the Swedes I wanted to ~ly it to see what kind of an 

airplane they were offering, and they graciously did 

this. They brought me up there and permitted ae to 

fly the airplane to test the systems out and check 

its all-weather capability. I was very impressed 

with it, incidentally. It had true blind-landing 

capability. They could bring the thing back in and 

land it in zero-zero weather. It had radar missile 

capability. In many respects, . a fine airplane for 

the kind of theater we were playing with. I came 

back highly impressed with it. 
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I went to the French and asked to fly their Mirage. 

The only one I could fly was the Mirage v. They were 

very chary about the few F-ls they had available. 

They did let me fly their latest fighter, however, 

which was the Jaguar. They took me out to a French 

airfield and I. flew that. So I had flown the Mirage 

V and the Jaguar for the French. 

And then I sent in a request to Headquarters USAF 

to fly the F-16 so I would have a basis of compa.riSon. 

After all, I was the overall air Com$ander in the cen­

tral region, and I ~ad now flown some of the stuff 

the candidate airplane countries had, and it would 

have been a good idea to see what ay own had. And I 

liaS denied authority! No need for the CoJaJaander of­

Allied Air Forces Central Europe to fly ours. The 

decision had been made. We are buying it. What" you 

say has no bearing on it. They .uan•t say that, but 

that was the inference. They just politely said, 

•No; you can't fly . it.• And I sent this request 

directly back to washington to the Chief of Staff of 

the Air Force, and the response denying it came from 

the Vice Chief. What I am saying is, the operational 

commander has very little to say on matters involving 

equipment procurement. It was like ay trying to get 
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that all-weather capability when I was out in.PACAf', 

the LORAN. It never came except through a fluke when 

McNamara put money in the program. And when I wanted 

other things for Europe, people found reasons for not 

doing it. When I got over there, I discovered there 

wasn't a single laser-guided airplane in all of Europe 

2 years ~fter the ~ar had ended in Vietnam and after 

the tremendous success we had had with laser bombs--not 

one single laser bomb or an airplane capable of 

delivering it in all Europe. And when I asked the 

people in Washington, '"Why?" they said, "Well, we are 

just in the R&D phase of a new version of this equipment, 

and we are going to settle on th.is system and buy 

so111e later for operational use.• I said, "When will 

that be?" "Well, about 1982 or 1983." I said, "What 

happens if the war starts in the meantime?" "Well, 

that's too bad." 

How we • ve got lasers ov.er there because I made such 

a noise about it that they found some R&D pods, which 

were sitting on the shelves, and sent them to me. 

I traded PACAP for some of thei.r laser-equipped 

airplanes, and we finally wound up with a laser 

capability in Europe. The same thing happened on 

LORAN. I demanded they send me a LORAH capability. 
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There was none in Europe despite my previous story of 

how vital it had been in the campaigns in Vietnam, 

leading B-52s . into Cambodia, and bombing missile 

assembly sites in bad weather. Not a single laser 

capability in Europe! Why? "Well, there is going to 

be a new system that is going to come along and it's 

called NAVSTAR, and it's going to do the job better 

than LORAN." "When is it going to be operational?• 

"1987, we hope." It has slipped, of course, since 

then, and nobody knows when it is coming in. In the 

meantime, you get nothing. Once again I went back, 

and I traded PACAF for some of their LORAN-equipped 

airplanes, and I got the R&D guys and TAC to give me 

one of their R&D sets of LORAN, mobile LORAN, which 

· we moved over there and physically set up so we 

would have some all-weather capability in Europe. 

And then they sent the laser bombs and the LORAN­

equipped birds over to do it. Nothing hao been done· , 

like this previously. It's almost as if all the 

lessons we had learned down there had been totally 

ignored. 

When I asked for more F-Ills to get me around this 

bad weather problem, I ran into a hornet's nest. 
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There I ran into problems with the State Department. 

I found out later the real reason for my having been 

denied the authority to get the second wing. Dave 

Jones [Gen David C.), who had been in Europe, knew 

the importance of it, and be wanted to help and had 

tried to push it, but be was runnif!g into opposition 

across the river. 

I only found out, v.ery recently, long since having 

retir·ea, what had happened. It seems that Kissinger 

was over on an arms negotiation talk in Austria, I 

guess it was, and on his way back he had stopped in 

England at one of our bases. He was fly.ing in· Air 

Force 2, and they were using Mildenhall as a refuel­

ing point because we had similar airplanes over 

there in our command and control fleet. He"was 

greeted at the airport by my Air Force Canmander, 

the Third Air Force CoJIUIIander over there, Rosencrans 

[Maj GenEvan W.], and Kissinger took him aside and 

said, •what about this F-111 that Vogt is trying to 

get over here in larger numbers. Is it a good air­

plane?• Well, Rosencrans was a very enthusiastic guy 

and said, •aell, yes. It's a great airplane. We 

ought to have it. It's good.• Kissinger said to 

221 

I 



( 

UNCLASSIFIED 
VOGT 

him, •can it reach the Soviet Union from here?• And 

Rosencrans said, •oh, yes. It's got long range.• 

When Kissinger got back on the airplane, I am told by 

somebody who was in a position to know, Kissinger 

said, •Kill that proposal. It's going to complicate 

our arms discussion and negotiations if we bring 

another weapon system in that can reach the Soviet 

Union.• So here I am trying to solve an all-weather 

problem, and there's a political reason why we can't 

do it. 

In the meantime, the .Soviets are bringing in all 

kinds of systems, like the SS;..20, which can reach all 

our bases regardless of weather. Their missile 

systems are now posing a great threat to us, and 

nobody is concerned about this, but they are worried 

about the impact on arms negotiations. Only ~ worry 

about that sort of thing, apparently. This array of 

capabi.lity is building up across the line, opposing 

us, and we can't do something with · forces already in 

existence. 

When I tried to bring some B-52s over to demonstrate 

the capabili.ty of B-52& to support ground troops--
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I wante~ to stage a demonstrat i on for the cor~s 

commanders and the division 'commanders to see how we 

could bring i n firepower--! was denied au thority on 

the grounds that it would be provocative. Our own 

deputy commander over t~ere, Deputy CINCBUR (Commander 

in Chief, Europe] said, •No; th i s would nave to be care-

fully handled and would require that we invite the 

Russians to observe it. It has pol i tical overtones. 

We shouldn't do it." So here you sre we are placing 

hobbles and :-tstrictions on capabilities that already 

exist to do the job 'we may have to do sOReday. We do 

it to ourselves in many instances. 

But the point I am making with th~ remarxs I hav~ 

just made is, the operational co11111ander has very 

little say-so about the new systems and the weapons 

that are being brought along for his use. The things 

I have been screaming for, both as a commander in 

Vietnam and a commander i~ Europe, were not the 

things that were high on the list of priorities in 

washington for develop~~~erit. Those are things being 

pushed by others in other areas, particularly in the 

R'D area, who have thoughts and concepts of their own 

ana who are pushing that. While they are pushing 
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Maverick, I am trying to get area weapons. And who 

is winning? They are. We are buying Mavericks, that 

sort of _thing. So, how do you get the voice of the 

commander into the hardware business? Well, you've 

got to change the system somehow, and we haven't done 

it yet. 

General Goodpaster (Gen Andrew J.) tells a very 

interesting story. He was, of course, over there as 

SHAPE [Supreme Headquarte.rs Al.lied Powers Europe), 

Supreme Allied Command, - and bothered by the fact that 

he had very little say-so about weapon systems that were 

coming in. You . know, things were being ·introduced that 

didn't seem to fit the needs of the troops, and he 

came back and talked to the JCS about it. He said, 

"You know, I have no mechanism fo! getting my views into 

the choice of weapon systems you send over there." So 

the Chief said, •well, gee, sit down and write up a 

list of the things that you consider important. We'll 

work it in. We'l.l consider it.• 

So, he went back and conscientiously went to work 

wi.th the staff, and he came up with a list. Qf, I . 

think he · said, 20 syste111s tha.t be thoug_ht would be 
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extremely useful in Europe. He sent this message 

back to the JCS. Well, he heard nothing from ~e 

Chiefs. A month went by, 2 months, and 3 months--no 

response. He came back on a visit, went in to see 

the Director of the Joint Staff. He said, •whatever 

happened to the message I sent with these recommended 

priority items that we need over in Europe?• The 

Director said, •1 think that's being handled back in 

the Requirements s~op in Plans. Why don't you go 

back there?• So here's the Supreme Allied Commander, 

he walks out of the Director's office and went to 

the backroom, and he locates a lieutenant colonel 

who is the action officer on this. He said, •oh, 

yes, I got that. I've got it in my drawer s~ewhere.• 

And he rummages az.-ound, ·and he final.ly pulls out the 

-paper.- on which nothing has been done! That, I think, 

kind of sizes the problem for you. You understand 

why the air commander over there has no voice in the 

choice of airplanes, because the Supreme AlJ.ied 

-Co111111ander himself had no choice on any weapon systems 

that he's being told to fight with. 

No mechanism exists ¥hatsoever to get the Supreme 

Allied co-ander's voice into this. And you find 
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the various other countries buying stuff· that I think 

is worthless. We are not the only ones. 

I think the A-10, for example, was a bad decision for 

the United States Air Force in Europe. It m.ight be 

fine elsew~ere, but over there it's going to have an 

awful job staying alive. The Europeans are buying 

airplanes like . the Jaguar which has very little 

capability to do the job in the European environment. 

They don • t ha~~ nav [nav igation!tll systems 

that they need for that kind of weather and, you know, 

they are essentially clear airmass, dayl~ght capable air-

plan.es; yet they are· buying them in some quantities. 

Tile Germans are buying Alpha jets in great quantities. 

I have serious doubts about their being able to sur­

v i ve. They a re essentialiy A-37 type tra.iner planes, 

and who is going to keep them alive and keep enemy 

air off their backs a·nd do all this sort of thing_? 

So each guy comes in, throws something into the pot 

that be's building, and they ask the Supreme Allied 

Co11111ander to fight with it, never asking in advance--

that man who is going to have to run the war--what he 
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thinks. I think that's wrong. Don't you? 

I have written articles on this, and I have written 

a pamphlet for the Atl~ntic Council which may be of 

interest to you. It goes to this subject, and I make 

this point. .Maybe, slowly, people will begin to 

listen, but it takes a lot of time. Okay; you want 

to knock off? 

H: To begin this session, G~neral Vogt, could you maybe 

~ive us some suggestions as to how we could possibly 

alleviate this problem of mushrooming costs in weapon 

syste11s? 

V: We have two areas to concern ourselves with. One, of 

course, in the strategic area, and the other is the 

tactical area. I'll talk about the tactical are" 

first. 

I mentioned earlier that it might be a gOod idea to 

consider the development of new munitions which will 

give us lllultiple-Jtil•l capability for CAS {close air 

support) instead of using the Ol).e-on-one techniques 

which exposes airpianes unnecessarily to high loss 
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rates to the enemy ground fire. Theit ' ,llultiplier 

effec't of a multiple-ld.ll capability should be looked 

at very seriously. Instead of buying rnor_e airplanes 

that'll do less individually, you could buy less 

airplanes that'll do a lot more. I think we can 

probably find the ,answer that we are looking for. 

It's cheaper, obviously, to buy good muni.ti·ons than 

it is to buy airplanes, and what we have to do is 

improve the kill ratio for each sortie by making 

substantial improvements 'in our munitions. It doesn't 

make sense for us to be employing the same expensive 

systems that we are developing today at great cost, 

employ these systems with munitions that were essen-. 

tially designed. for world War II use, the SOU-pound 

bomb: the Hark 82, the Mark 83, and the Mark 84 are 

old weapons, and we've 111ade very little improvement 

since world War II in our capability in this conven• 

tional area. . I submit that one way to save costs 

would be to make great improvements in these systems. 

And these weapon systems that I am describing, or 

munitions, need not be costly. 

Fragmentation weapons can be very cheaply manufactured 
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once you put them on the production line. American 

technique and know-how, I am sure, will permit us to 

develop these weapons at relatively modest costs. I 

am certain that the answer doesn't lie in producing 

single-pass, single-kill weapons that costs $25,000 

to $50,000 apiece. That's the best way I know to go 

bankrupt. Not only do you expose the expensive 

airplane, but if you get a miss, you've expended a 

great percentage of your munitions budget. I think 

the answer obviously lies in cheaper, more effec~ive 

munitions in t)le conventional area alon9 the lines 

tbat I have desci:ibed. The Air Force WAAM program is 

'the initial step in this direction. 

We have to be careful here, however, that we don't 

once again make the thing too complex ahd costly. 1 

know the tendency, even in the WAA~ program, to do 

this. The concept of simple fragmentation effectively 

employed is being, I think, · somewhat obscured now 

when we start talkin9 about putting individual homing 

capability into each fragment, in each individual 

bomblet, so ~hat pretty soon we are putting circuitry 

in again and higher homing devices and all that, and 

the cost is going to mount dramatically. These things 
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we have to forego. so, I would make a plea for 

airplanes that can do the job, day, night, good 

weather, bad weather, but with a multiplier effect 

in the munitions they carry, so that each pass results 

in multiple kills of enemy armor, and other targets, . 

too, of course. Whether it•s oil storage depots or , 

munitions depots of the enemy, the weapons that 1 am 

describing can exact heavy tolls of targets of that 

type, too. 

Now the strategic area is something else. Here we 

are in a race with the Soviets who ·seem bent on 

achieving superiority, and they'le putfing consider­

ably larger amounts of money each ye~r into their 

strategic programs than we are. I d.on't tnink the 

Ameri~an public realizes . it, but the Soviets are 

expending approximately twice the amount we spend 

each year on strategic weapon systems, and they•·ve 

come from a position of vast inferiority just 5 years 

ago to a position of at least parity, and in the · 

judgment of some of us, superiority in the strategic 

weapons realm. 

Unlike other leaders in the Air Force, when I was on 
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active duty, I was not a strong advocate of the B-1. 

This may seem surprising to most people, but the B-1, 

I thought, was not going to be survivable for the · 

next 20 years in the face of Soviet weapon systems 

that I see coming along. The B-1, unfortunately, had 

to save on costs to keep the program alive, and ma~y 

things were cut out of the airplane that I thought 

were essential for . su.rvival. 

For example, supersonic dash capability on the deck, 

that was one of the first things to go in efforts to 

save money. And then we eliminated the high-dash 

speeds at altitude when we eliminated the variable 

airscoops on the airplane, once again, in an effort 

to save money. This began . to reduce the airplane to 

very modest penetration capabilities, ana having had 

a lot of experience with trying to get B-52s over 

Hanoi, I can assure you that the job is a tough one, 

and a second-best airplane can't do it. 

I think we have great pote~tial in the F-111 fleet. 

I think that airplane can be improved to do a better 

job in th.e strategic mission role. · It has all .the 

attributes I described. It's one of the fastest 
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airplanes in existence today on the deck, and it's 

probably one of the fastest at altitudes today. This 

may seem s urpr i sing to the uninformed, but the a i r­

plane wU l outperf.orm virtually all our modern f ighters 

today in ·high-speed runs at altitude or on the deck 

and has vast potential. It also has a superb bomb 

nav sys t em, and it can do the job regardless of 

weather conditions. It's limitations, of course, are 

on range because of the liqited cubage in the airplane. 

But, I think this can be handled: with some modifica­

tions in the fuselage, perhaps a re-engininq with 

higher performance engines which are coming along 

now. In other words, I don't think we need to go 

through the expensive development of a new B-1 which 

has in many respects inferior ·performance to the F-111 

that is already flying. So I would say there's one 

area where we could save 11oney. But already the 

pe~ple talking about a reworked F-111 are trying to 

hang on the kitchen sink. This could doom the whole 

effort. 

The cruise missile has potential. I don't think it's 

the answer that everybody would like to believe it 
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is. It will be susceptible to enemy interception by 

new and advanced SAM systems that are coming along. The 

SA-10, for example, has great potential here. The new 

IR systems may cause it pro~lems in the future, and new 

long-range interceptors Qlay work on the carrie~:s. And 

if its range is limited to 2,500 kil0111ete~:s, as is now 

the case in SALT (Strategic Arms Limitation Talks] nego­

tiations, it makes it possible for the soviets to con­

ceive of an advance-based, long-range interceptor to get 

after the carriers.* So there a~:e prooleas with this 

system, but I do think it has great potential for us. 

1 am opposed to expensive develo)?lllen~s in the strategic 

area which drive costs up unnecessarily. For example, 

we talk about mobile missiles; we talk about complex 

basing p~:oposals for them. One of the proposals was 

to dig a tunnel--a very expensive proposition. We 

have spent a lot of time and money looking at the 

feasibility of it. Now the concept is so-called HAP 

concept, or multiple-aim-point concept, where we will 

dig many, many holes and then hide missiles in . a 

smaller nu11be1: of them. 

~E: This range limitation has since been dropped. 
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I look at the Soviet approach with the SS-16 11issile 

which is much more simplistic. They come up with a 

launching platform, a TEL (transporter erector launcher), 

which. is a mobile veh i cle, and they can drive it 

around anywhere and fire it without the necessary 

ground support structure that we are describing for 

our systems, keeping the costs modest. 

We rule it out for a lot of reasons ·in this country, 

most of them political. People don't think it's 

feasible to drive vehicles !)f that kind around American 

roads armed with nuclear warheads, but I think we can 

get a.round this by sensible programs of basing the 

missiles on military installations, ·and then during 

periods of crises moving them out into the relatively 

. uninhabited areas. There are literally thousands of ' 

roads in American rural areas which could acco1111odate 

l'lissi'Ie systems like this and· wouldn't cause the 

problems that people are describing. 

So, once again, we do it the hard way; we drive costs 

way up with basing progra11s that are going to bank­

rupt us in the long run while the Soviets do it the 

siraple way. They design a truck-like vehicle with an 
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erector and launcher, and have the feasibility of 

concealing from us, if they wish, the total numbers 

they have available, · All they have t.o do is store 

them in buildings or caves .,..hich can't be observed 

from our satellites., and they are in business, So I 

think we have to take a lesson from the Soviet book 

in a lot of these areas. Some of their weapon .systems 

are basically very sound, very effective, and they 

don't drive the costs up with oversophistication, 

which seems to be our tendency in this country. 

H: Another problem in that regard which other'commanders 

have voiced to me is that when a weapon system goes 

into production, oftentimes the individual commanders 

will suddenly come up with some othei late modifi~a­

tion they want to put onto this system which will 

often entail a major overhaul of . the original plan, 

And this is another thing they feel .is a big fac~or 

in causing weapon systems costs to rise greatly. 

V: I think their point is a valid one. We get a basic 

design for a weapon system finalized, and then every­

body out in the field begins to dream up new additions 

and add-ons which they think will improve toe system. 
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And in many cases the ·increase in performance is _ very 

marginal and is certainly not worth the additional 

costs. 1 have been opposed to that. They were doing 

that with the F-15, for example. The F-15 was designed 

as an air superiority fighter, all-weather capable, 

to do a very ~ifficult job primarily in Europe in 

the tough weather environment, and the next thing you 

know they were talking about putting additional long­

range tanks on it, and they had all kinds of add-ons 

they wanted to put on the airplane that would result 

in a heavier airplane, redu.ce performance, and vastly 

increase the cost. I opposed that when I was a 

commander in Europe. I said, "The airplane is doing 

fine for our environment and for our requirements; 

don't garbage it up.• aut there is a tendency to 

try to garbage up these things. 

And a lot of people make a career out of dreaming up 

additional add-ons for weapon systems. I guess the 

Pentagon is full of little cubbyholes with little 

guys in it dreaming up concepts of this kind. 

H; All right. Going back to Vietnam again, yo.u already 

addressed this somewhat, but maybe you'd like to add 
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something t"O it. - John L. Fr-isbee noted in a September 

1972 issue of Air Force Magazine that •rn the Rolling 

Thunder years,· civilian officials in Washington decided 

what targets·would be hit, with what armament, on 

what days, and often at what tim~ of day.• As you 

voiced earlier, you didn't have quite the problem 

prior commanders had, but do you think ~his is some­

thing that is going to always plague the military 

in the future? 

V: Well, I would hope the lesson has been learned by 

all concerned, by both the politicians in Washington 

and the commanders in the field, that it's not the 

way to do it. I think you alluded earlier to the 

fact that somebody bas c0111111ented that Linebacker was 

far more e.ffective than Rolling Thunder for a variety 

of reasons, but one of the chief reasons being the 

freedom the commander had to pick the targets ana 

match them _to the operational requirements of the 

weather and the day, and the weapon syste11s available, 

and so forth. I think that lesson has pretty much 

sunk in now, and I would hope we won't revert back 

to the old system, but obviously there is no 

guarantee it won't happen again. We may have a 
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very sensit~ve politica.l situati!>n where people are 

worried about escalation and where constraints will 

be placed on the military again, but I would guarantee 

that as soon as that is done the military effort is 

going to become relatively ineffective again as it 

was in Rolling Thunder. 

B: .You had an interview some time back with the Seventh 

Air Force historian, and you stated in that interview, 

•I don't think the enemy has enough strength to mount 

another invasion like they did last spring, so I . 

don't think we are going to be faced with the situation 

which calls for the South Vietnamese having to do 

everything that we had to do along "ith them last 

spring. An enemy offensive can never achieve those 

proportions in the foreseeable future, so the job 

would be a consideratily less difficult one for them.• 

Well, in liqht of what happened in Vietnam, w·ere you 

a bit too optimistic at that time? Or how would you 

look at that now? 

V: No. I think my conunents were made in the context of 

an effective implementation, · of course, of th~ peace 

treaty provisions, and certainly, with one of those 
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key provisions being adhered to which was that the 

Ho Chi Minh Trail would not be permitted to be used 

by the enemy, which incidentally was pa:L"t of the 

agL"eement. To review the histoL"y of that again, the 

concern I had all along. was that if the enemy were 

peL"mitted to use the tr9il after the peace treaty, 

they would begin to build up a capability in Cambodia 

right across the border and in the immediate vicinity 

of the heart of the country, which was Saigon itself. 

I was assured by our negotiators that the .terms of 

the agreement were such as to preclude this. As a 

matter of fact, one of the articles of the agree­

ment, which was pointed out to me at the time, state!! 

both sides would be denied the use of Laos for 

their own military purposes. ln other words, we 

would have to stop bombing in Laos, which we did, of 

course, following the a~reement, and they would have 

to stop using the Ho ' Chi Minh Trail in connection 

with their intended operations in the South. 

Now if that provision bad been enforced, then what I 

have described certainly would have been the'case. 

But after the agreement was consuamated ano everybody 

went h011e and relaxed, I, of course, stayed down 
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there and observed that the t'rail ·was . being used in 

an ever-increasing rate, and that they were actually 

violating the provisions of the agreement· within a 

week _or · two of the signing of the agreement. And 

after we had left and stopped our 10ilitary activity 

in Laos and all bombing on the Ho Chi Minh Trail, 

they were jamming the trails with vehicle convoys 

numbering 300 vehicles or more. 1 sent a~l these 

reconnaissance photos back with urgent messages of 

concern and, of course, received n_o answers, because 

at this point everybody in Washington didn't want to 

have . ~o face up to the p~sib~lity of resuming bomb­

ing again. The guy was getti_ng away with a gross 

violation, and Watergate had paralyzed our reaction. 

I came back, after I finished my combat tour down 

there and after the bombing stopped in August 1973, 

and reported to the JCS that I predicted the South 

V~etnamese would not be able to contain the military 

situation, and it would be just a question of time 

before the war would be iost. Bverybody said, •well, 

this is very contrary to what intelligence is telling 

us.• Intelligence was reporting, especially the CIA, 

that the North Vietnamese were having difficulty 
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retaining a foothold in the South, that their numbers 

had been reduced to levels lower than ever seen since 

1967 or 1968, and that the areas coming under friendly 

control increased every day. 

(End Tape s, Side 21 

In essence, the view prevailing in Washington was 

that Vietnamization had succeeded, the enemy was no 

longer capable of mounting a major offensive, and 

the South had a very good chance of surviving under ""\ 

these circumstances that wer~ actually prevailing. I 

sent a mess~ge back to Washington to the JCS, through 

channels, in which I sa-id that without the h~lp of 

the United States Air . Force the South Vietnaaes-e 

could not fight the war if it ever resumed on a large 

scale again and hope to prevail • . This message was 

sent up to · the Secretary of Defense. In a very, I 

think, interesting response from the Secretary's 

office--actually not written by the Secretary himself 

but by one of his assistant secretaries--he stated 

that this is just General Vogt crying wolf1 it's 

an effort on his part to convince everybody the 

United States Air Force is sorely net1ded in Vietnam 

241 

UNCI l\. . . rr;'TF. } 



VOGT 
UNCLASSIFIED 

I 

forever and, therefore, his views should be disregarded. 

I'm sure this message is available in the historical 

files somewhere if somebody wants to see it. I was, 

at that point, forecasting defeat of the Vietnamese 

in the event of a major resumption of hostilities be­

cause of what I had observed to be happening, namely, 

a major buildup opposite Saigon. It was apparent 

that the enemy, this time, would go for the jugular-­

the main artery of the country--and they would not 

resort .to the type of campaign they had during the 

Easter offensive of 1972 where they came in from 

remote areas and worked down toward Saigon; in which 

we had, of course, been able to defeat them with 

massive applica.tions of airpower. 

Now when I finished my tour in Southeast A~ia, I came 

back to Washington and reported this to the JCS. We 

had a session in which I voiced m~ fears and concerns. 

I asked the Chiefs if I could be permitted to go 

present this case to the State Department, because I 

felt that there was some misunderstanding about South 

Vietna~ese capabilities to do the job. This authority 

was granted, and I asked for a meeting with the 

Secretary of State and his people who .were involved 
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in the Vietnam situation. 

The Secretary himself didn't see fit to attend, but 

he had his Deputy Secretary conduct the meeting. 

This lfas Secretary Rush .£Kenneth], who was a very 

competent and able man. I had known him previously 

when ~e was in the Defense Department, and he was now 

number 2 in the State Department. He did hold a 

meeting at my request and present were all his assistant 

secretaries and division.chiefs co~cerned with Vietnamese 

matters. I told them I thought it would be only a 

questi~n of time before the South was lost in the 

face of what I saw to be a major enemy campaign 

building up again. I expressly pointed to the use 

being ~ade of the Ho Chi Minh Trail in violation of 

the ag eement. I challenged the intelligence reports 

that were being issued at that time showing great 

optimism. And mind you, this was some 18 months 

or 2 years before the fall of Saigon, and I flatly 

stated it was just a question of time unless we 

took d-ecisive action to enforce the agree111ent. 

Secretary Rush took me into his office after that meet­

ing and said that while he bad respect for what I 
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had to say, he couldn't jibe it with the reports he 

was getting every day from many sources not only the 

intelligence sources but from our Ambassador in 

Saigon. A.mbassador Martin (Graham A. I was sending 

him very optimistic reports about the progress that 

was being made and the optimistic attitude that pre­

vailed in the South. He asked me how I could reconcile 

my views with all th~e official reports, and I said, 

•r think th~y are wrong and I predict that we will 

have a major catastrophe in South Vietna~. I can't 

tell you exactly when, _ but if a _ major offensive P.Ver 

occurs and we do not fulfill our commitments and get 

back into the war with American airpower, all will be 

lost.• I have talked to Secretary Rush since then. 

I met him later in Europe when he was the Ambassador 

to Paris, and we flashed back to that pe·riod briefly, 

and we agreed that it's just too bad the things 

th.at I was talking about then S011ehow couldn't have 

been transmitted or translated into actions that 

would have prevented the catastrophe that finally did 

occur down there. So far from being the optimist 

that is portrayed in that little quote from the 

historia.n' s interview, I was in fact the Cassandra, 2
1 

years before the fall of Vietnam, that was predicting 

244 

UNCLASSIFIED 



VOGT 

it, but my voice fell on deaf ears. 

H: Why were these intelligence r.eports so contradictory 

to everything you were saying? 

V: I think they were looking for the things they wanted 

to see. This js a case where eyerybody had breathed 

a great sigh of relief. We were now out · of the war. 

The bombing had stopped. We had an agreement. We 

were going to close our eyes to these little viola­

tions of the agreement, and what Washington wanted to 

hear were things that supported this feeling of well­

being. They didn't want to hear the things that were 

disturbing. The fact that the agreement was violated 

in the manner 1 have described, without any action on 

our part, was not only an unfortunate thing from the 

United States' standpoint but it was really a ~ellout 

of the Vietnamese who had been told flatly by the 

representatives of our Government that if they went 

along with the peace treaty, we would, in fact, react 

vigorously to any violation of the agre!i!ment by 

employing our airpower again, if necessary. And the 

Vietnamese President and his generals were told that, 

•General Vogt is going to Thailand where he is going 
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to stay with all t his vast American airpower. It 

will be poised to resume bombing, if necessary, 

if there is any v iolation of the agreement." And 

when t he viola tion came_, nothing happened. 

Now let me flash back to a situation that occurred in 

Laos some months after the agreement was Signed con-

cerning Vietnam. There was another agreement reached 

with the Pathet Lao which brought a cease-fire in 

Laos. We stopped all bombing in accordance with the 

terms of that cease-fire and both sides, the Vientiane 

Government and the Pathet Lao, agreed to essentially 

hold the positions they now held in the field at the 

time of the agreement, and neither side was to make 

any attempts to gain advantage nor to seize new territory. 

I, of course, was sitting up in Nakhom Phanom, and I 

had an intelligence organization that was quite effective. 

Reports began to come into me that the enemy was 

preparing an attack on a major route crossing JUSt 

north of the Mekong River, which the enemy had had as 

a major objective all during the war and which they 

had never been successful in accomplishing because 

the area was fairly heavily defended. As a matter of 

fact, there were Thai volunteer forces in there that 
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were defendi'ng this particular area. Inteliigence 

reports that I began to receive indicated the enemy 

was planning to attack and seize this major crossroad 

area in violation of the agreement they had just 

signed. 

When I got these reports, I flew up to Vientiane 

and saw ~mbassador Godley, and I said, •what will we 

do if these guys do in fact attack?" Well, he checked 

with his own intelligence sources up there and said, 

•well, I don't think it's going to happen. It's true 

that we are seeing some activity, but that can be 

explained away on various other grounds. But on the 

face of it, it's not very plausible that the Pathet 

Lao would rislc this settl~111ent which they labored to 

get and whi~h all of us had agreed and expose them­

selves internationally to a violation of an agreement 

just to gain a little crossroad. 1 don't think we 

have to worry about it.• I said, "I'd feel better if 

you and I, Mr. Ambassador, thought this thing out in 

advance and queried Washington so that I would know · 

what to do if it does happen because, obviously, I am 

the guy that is going to have to take the military 

action if and when it occurs. And it could occur 
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some night when we are all least expecting it, and we 

are going to have to be able to react." 

He agreed that it would be a good idea to do some­

thing about it, and he went back to Washington through 

State channels, and I, in turn, went back through 

channels to the Cha i rman of the JCS with a cequest 

that they give us some guidance as to what we can be 

expected to do if, in fact, this attack did occur in 

violation of the cease-fire. Washington wasn't very 

excited about it either, ·and the view prevailed that 

this would be a ridiculous thing for the Pathet Lao 

to do, but they agreed that in all probability t 

would have the authority to resume the bombing in 

defense of that area, if necessary, but that it would 

require approval at the time the incident occurred, 

Well, within 3 weeks or 1 month of tnis episode, I 

was called urgently one night by Ambassador Godley 

who said that. the friendly forces at this a['ea had 

just .repo['ted that they were und~r heavy attack, the 

enemy was advancing, and the friendly troops were 

retreating. They were in danger of being overrun 

and annihilated. The thing that 111ade this difficult 
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was that they were, in fact, Thai volunteer forces, 

and the politfcal implications of having a disaster 

involving a substantial number of Thai volunteers 

made this wh~le thing of utmost urgency. In the 

middle of the night, he and I had to get on the phone 

and call Washington. I called back through channels 

again to Admiral Moorer. He got Secretary Kissinger 

on the phone, and Washington now galvanized itself 

into action. And the Chairman and the Secretary of 

State met with the President and got a decision to go 

ahead and bomb. In the meantime, · ! had made plans 

for this and F-llls bad been alerted to the possi-

bility some days before, and we now got them ready to 

launch. 

I had sent a formal request for authority to bomb 

through channels which went, of "course, to CINCPAC. 

Some hours later I received a resppnse from CINCPAC 

which said: •The commander is not on the scene. He 

is off on a trip. We anticipate a 24-hour delay on 

any decision on this matter. In the meantime, you 

are directed, repeat directed, ~ to employ any 

military aircraft in response to this activity.• 

Well, the whole thing was going to be over in 24 
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·hours· because of the nature of the attack itself, the 

size of it, the fact that the defenses were crumbling 

and the forces were fleeing, and 24 hours would have 

meant total de f eat. lt reminded me of the situation 

which we described earlier when we were talkiny about 

the Pueblo, when the Commander of CINCPAC was gone 

and nobody could take any action, and everybody 

hesitated, and time was consu.Aed, and we were unable 

to get out and do the job we had to do then. Fortu­

nately, at this point Admiral Mo~rer was on top of 

this situation and phoned back on a secure phone and 

gave me verbal authority to lau~ch. If that verbal 

authority had not been received by me via secure 

telephone, there would have been a total debacle. 

I later met the commander of the forces who had been 

attacked and talked to him, and he said, •xf you 

hadn't gotten there when you did with those bombers, 

all would have been lost.• 

Well now, what ~re we talking about here? We are 

talking about the willingness of the Communists to 

violate agreements even when they don't seem to make 

much sense in the ltght of international polit:ics. 
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All .the reasoning that I heard from Washington and 

· from Ambassador Godley himself about why the Pathet 

Lao wouldn't break a solemn agreement that had inter­

national sanction, because what would it net them? 

All ~ent down the drain, and the Communists were 

thinking far out in front of the rest of us. They 

knew that we had very strong antiwar feelings at home, 

and our hands were now being tied in washington. The 

resolution was already in the Congress against resumption 

of bombing, and they had the very strong feeling that 

our hands would be tied in any of this activity. I 

think this explained the. activity on the Ho Chi Minh 

Trail, too. Their willingness to violate a major 

facet of the agreement was .based on their real acute 

understanding of the political situation in Washington 

which was one of making it improbable that the United 

States would resume full-scale bombing in Vietnam. 

Now the Pathet Lao misjudged the situation, because 

the thing still had not deteriorated to the point at 

this stage of the game where we were paralyzed from 

responding and we did, in fact, respond vigorously. 

The F-llls were in there almost inuoediately. We 

followed them up later with s011e B-52s, and the message 
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got across loud and clear to the .Pathet Lao that H 

they tried that again, they were going to get hurt, 

and they didn't. From that point on, they rather 

scrupulously observed the agreement they had signed. 

But irr Vietnam nothing was done about this gross 

violation of the use of the Ho Chi Minh TraLl, and 

they took t hat as a signal that we were paralyzed, 

and they could proceed apace in an orderly manner to 

get their campaign organized to launch .the final 

attack against Saigon, which came, as I predicted, in 

pretty much the manner in which I predicted. 

lihy did the peopLe down in Vietnalll itself, our Ambassador 

- and others on the scene, · not know this was happening? 

Well, let me tell you soaething that happened to me 

'personally while I was still down in Southeast Asia. 

After the· agreemen.t was signed, a military man--two­

star Army general--was assigned to the Ambassador's 

shop to oversee US military assistance which was 

continuing in support of the Vietnamese. He was to 

report to me through mi_litary channels for all matters 

involving military affairs. He obviou~ly ~eported to 

the Ambassador for all matters inside Vietnam. But 
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his chain of command was up through me. I still had 

responsibility for the entire area, including responsi-

bility for the possible resu~ption of bombing in 

Vietnam if and when the situation arose which re-

quired it. 

I had asked for and received permission from the JCS 

to continue my relationships with the Vietnamese 

Corps Commanders. I knew these people individually. 

General Truong, for example, in I Corps was an out-

standing officer whom I had supported all during the 

early days of the invasion and had been assisting him 

in retaking Quang Tri, which you recall occurred 

before the end of the war. They had regained all the 

territory they lost in the vigorous campaign to drive 

the enemy back out across the DMZ. The Chiefs had 

authorized me to make daily visits, or visits as 

often as I thought necessary, from my headquarters in 

Thailand to the corps commanders' headquarters through­

out Vietnam to keep •Y finger on the military pulse 

so I could inform them of what was happening. And I 

made some of these visits, Some of the things I saw 

I didn't like. 
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General Truong, for example, began to express concern 

· about what was happening in his area. He said the 

enemy was consolidating its position; they were 

bringing in military supplies in violation of the 

agreement. You will recall the agreement stated that 

both sides would permit -monitoring of the resupply 

activities of all forces in Vietnam, and we in fact 

set up procedures and machinery for permitting the 

North Vietnamese to examine and to count the materiel 

that was coming in in support; of the South Vietnamese 

forces. · They had to come through approved entry 

points, and they were permit~ed to exami'ne the mani­

fests. 

The North Vietnamese, l>y the terms of the agre4ment, 

would do the. same thing. And they would select 

certain pointsr ~cross-border points, by which their 

supplies were to comer and we were to be per$itted to 

observe the materiel coming in. Well, once again, 

they completely violated this agreement and never 

agreed to the inspection of any of the materiel coming 

in. And they were using cross-border pqints for the 

flow of equipment into the country in dir;ect viola­

tion to th-e agreement. Truong had noted this up in 
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his area. And he said, "I am very much concerned 

about it. It'.s like a sieve up here. This stuff is 

coming across." 

When I made some of these reports back up through 

channels, once again it was the kind of thing they 

didn't want to hear. And the ne~t thing you know I 

was told by our American·A~bassador, Graham Hartin, 

that I was no longer permi tted to visit the corps 

co.uanders. •r don't think the presence of a four­

star general, who has been leading the bombi~g cam-. 
paign, is conducive to the proper settlement of the 

postwar situation in Vietnam and that, henceforth, you 

wUl not be permitted bac.lt in the country except with 

my express permission.• So, in essence, I was now 

being denied access to the -people who could tell me, 

and who would tell me ana who would be frank with 

me, about their concerns and what was happening. 

Now, he didn't deny me the authority to have soae of 

these generals over to my headquarters in Thailand, 

occasionally, and I did resort to this. And I did 

fly some of them over to my headquarters to get 

informat'on from them on what was happening ·and to 
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reassure them that I was still there, and that our 

plans were current for the resumption of the bombing 

if and when it was necessary. But this was n£ sub­

stitute for the former close relationships I had had 

where I could actually go into the country and talk 

to these people and find out what was happening. 

So, we willfully cut off the flow of information that 

would have helped us in our efforts to see what was 

happening and which may have led us to understand 

what the enemy was up to. And, once again, the 

reason for it 1 apparently, was · it was the kind of 

thing they didn't want to hear in Washington· which 

was now beset with the problems of Watergate, growing 

unhappiness in Congress of our handling of the situa­

tion down there. It was just ironic that after 

having driven the enemy into a hard agreement, which 

if it had been adhered to would have preserved all 

our holdings in the South, we were now givin~ it all 

away. Having won the military victory, we were now 

giving it all away by our unwillingness to enforce 

the very agreeraent we, bad insisted upon. I think the 

American public ought to hear this _story. 
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When people say to me, "Why did you lose .the war in 

Vietnam?• it causes my blood to boil. We did not 

lose the war. We achieved a very substantial victory 

which, in fact, drove these people to the conference 

table. As a matter of fact, Kissinger himself told 

me, after his first visit to Hanoi following Line­

back~ II operations, that these people were on their 

knees and eager for a settlement at this time. 

Now, here's a case where it wasn't a military situa­

tion, and the politicians lost it. I hope the historians 

someday straighten the records out on this count. 

This was all occasioned by your statement that l was 

overly optimistic. I hope we have put that in proper 

perspective. 

H: Frisbee IJobn L.), from the Air Force Magazine, who 

t9ured Vietnam in the 1972 period, al~o noted, •so it 

.seemed certain by mi~-July that the invasion had lost 

its IIOI'Dentum, irretrievably. It had not reached any 

of its objectives: to discredit the Vietnamization 

progr.am; to humiliate the us, or to seize and hold 

enough South Vie.tnamese tercitory t;o cause the over­

throw of the elected government. Airpower had been 
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decisive." Well, did the United States really believe 

that the North Vietnamese had been this greatly 

decimated? Did they really . believe they were at the 

point where they couldn't mass another big invasion 

like actually took place? 

V: Well, I think what Frisbee was saying was that with 

the' presence of US airpower there, the fact that the 

ground invasion had been turned back, it was very 

unlik.ely they would ever be able to mount · another one 

under the same circumstances and prevail. This is 

the point that I made repeatedly. They had been 

hammere~ into the ground. They had been defeated on 

the ground by the South Vietnamese who had received 

massive doses of air support. 

Now I don't think people recognize how much of a 

part air played in some of these campaigns. ioie have 

already talked about the Tan Canh situation when the 

23d Division broke and ran in the face of the· first . 
use of the wire-guided missile by the enemy. But 

following the initial attack across the DMZ and the 

attack that drove down through Quang Tri and caused 

the fall of Quang Tri, there wa~ virtually no orga~ized 
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resistance left in the North which could have pre~ 

vented the fall of the ci~y of Hue trom these ,in­

vading forces--nothing, of course, except airpower, 

General Truong attempted to establish a defense line 

north of Hue and south of Quang Tri which had fallen, 

but his capability to hold was very limited. As I 

say, the 3d Division, which was the major element in 

the defense of that area, had broken and run. He. was 

in the process now of trying to round up the deserters, 

and he was extremely weak. 

We have talked about tbe. artillery situation that was 

causing him great difficulty. But now, here's the 

enemy, you see, · in a pos.ition to exploit the fall of 

Quang Tri and the decimation of the total division and 

to now march unimpeded against Hue.. Now what stopped 

them? Well, what stopped the~ was one of the most 

effective, I believe, interdiction campaigns that I 

have seen involving airpower.. we placed FACs [forward 

a~r controller] over every inch of that road between 

Quang Tri and Hue, and we deter~ined the vulnerable 

interdiction points, and we kept those points interdicted 

on a 24-hour basis. In our own battle room, we estab­

lished from aerial mosaics a gigantic map that extended 
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from one end of the room to the other on which was 

marked every single vulnerable point over which these 

people could move armor or tanks or guns, and that 

point was guarde? by a forward air controller who 

brought in air as needed to destroy it. And at some 

of the river crossings, ~or example, after we des­

troyed bridges, we saw the North Vietnamese bringing 

in, in broad daylight, cranes in an attempt to put 

new spans up in the face of all this airpower of 

ours, and we would destroy the cranes and the bridge­

building equipment right there. But they were anxious 

to get these inte.rdicted points open again so they 

could flow south and seize Hue, which was obviously 

their objective. But we inter?icted so thoroughly 

that none of their main battle tanks could move down 

across these river crossings and culverts, and so 

(orth, which were totally bombed out, primarily with 

the use of laser-guided bombs that were brought in by 

our forward air controllers, and we did such a thorough 

interdiction job that they were stopped. 

Now they finally resorted to the usc of amphibious 

tanks, the PT-76 amphibious light tank. One night 

they forded several streams with . about 35 or· 40 of 
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these tanks, and we caught them at daybreak coming on 

down toward Hue. 1'/e engaged them with airpower, and 

I think we had the largest, up to that point, single 

airplane versus tank battle that had been waged in 

the war. And a -t the end of the day, there was just 

smoking remains of the hulks of some 35 PT-76s on the 

battlefield north of Hue. They never got to hit the 

line that General Truong had hastily formed. So air 

had completely stopped the movement of these forces 

that were bent on exploiting their initial victories 

at Quang Tri. I don't know whether historians of 

airpower are aware of this very classic interdiction 

campaign which essentially saved the city of Hue. 

Now, An Loc is a story, I think, that has been docu­

mented. General Hollingsworth (Haj Gen James F.l and 

his heroic efforts to save the city of An Loc are, I 

think, well documented and recorded. I might tell 

you a very interesting incident that occurred in 

connection with An Loc. 

I had only been in Vietnam a couple of months. General 

Abrams was still the commander when An Loc was brought 

under major si_ege, and one day we had an urgent 11essage 
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from General Hollingsworth saying that he expected a 

major attack on An Loc the folla,.ring morning, and 

that he expected the attack to be an overwhelming one 

that involved a number of regiments, ano he nad 

to have available tomorrow to support him all. the air 

that could be made available including all the avail-

able B-52 support. This request came in to MACV 

Headquarters, info copy to me at Seventh Air Force, 

and it was routinely handled by the MACV staff. The 

request. was turned down that afternoon on the grounds 

intelligence information available to MACV didn't 

support General Hollingsworth's contention. When the 

word got to me that there had been a turndown of the 

request, I immediately checked with my intelligence 

sources, including my forward ·air controllers who 

were up over the scene at An Loc, and everything I 

heard tended to confirm General Hollingsworth's 

contention that they were, in fact, going to be hit 

'th a major attack the following aorning. 

End Tap. 6, Side ll 

General Abrams had his same staff elements present 

at the meeting that I had called for, and we · revi~wed 
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the bidding again, including the evidence I had 

presented which supported Hollingsworth's contention 

that there would be an attack in the morning. General 

Abrams turned to his staff intelliqence people and 

his operators and asked them what they thought. And 

they said they stood firm in their original view, 

that Hollingsworth was in fact crying wolf and they 

saw no need to divert the B-52s from their normally 

scheduled missions the following day. General Abrams 

turned to me and said, ·~ou are overruled. we'll 

continue with the normal air scheduling.• 

so I went back to my headquarters ana began a more 

intensive search into the data and the evidence. I 

had a FAC flown up from An Loc to my headquarters, 

and I queried him firsthand about the situation down 

there. He told ille about the obvious preparations that 

could be seen. They were bringing up large supplies of 

ammo [ammunition); the mortars were being repositionea; 

the ar.tillery was being moved up. tte could see rein­

forcement$ coming in; the indicators were quite clear. 

That evening, by ~he tiae I had gotten all tnis 

information to the point where I thought I had a 
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convincing case, I again called General Abrams, this 

time at his quarters, and asked for another session 

on this issue. He agreed. And when I got over there , 

it was about 9 o'clock in the evening, and he was 

sitting in his quarters with the same staff elements 

who had been there earlier in the day. And he said, 

~All right, present your case.• And I presented my 

case again. This time with more convincing data, aod 

the same sort of a sc.ene evolve<i with his intelligence 

guys saying "No; this wasn't so," and with Abrams 

finally saying, "You are overruled again.• 

Then I probably stepped out of line with GeoeJal 

Abrams, and I said, "General Abrams, you know the 

President is on a visit overseas at the present time. 

He's going to be talking to the soviets. It would be 

inconceivable that we would want to permit the loss 

of a major bastion like An Loc,• which had become a 

symbol of resistance and stalwart defenses being 

mounted by the South Vietnamese in the face of this 

invasion. "It's inconceivable to have this thing 

fall while all these riegotiations are going on." 

Well, fhis really made Abrams •ad. He said, "I dqn't 

need somebody like you to tell ae the political 
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consequences of the fall of a city like An Loc. You 

are overruled, and goodnight ! " 

I drove Qack to the othe r side of the field to my 

headquarters and got there j ust in time to hear the 

phone ring; it was General Abrams, who was very 

furious, on the telephone . He said he didn't appreciate 

my lecturing him in front of his staff on political 

significance of a military situation in ·an area i n 

which he had been fighting for a · long, long time. I 

said, •well, General Abrams, I can walk into these 

meetin~s and tell you what your staff thinks and what 

you want to hear, and I'll be of no use to you at 

all. If I walk in and tell Y,OU wh~t I think from a 

professional standpoint and argue the case the way I 

see it, I'm going to do you some good. Only in that 

manner can I be helpful to you. I've had ~Y hearing: 

you've made your decision, and I'll faithfully carry 

out your orders, but I can ' t agree that you should 

ask me to tell you only that which your sta£~ tells 

you and what you want to hear.• Well, there was 

silence on the phone fo~ a few seconds. He said, 

"All right, John, a l l right, all right, I agree.• 

And he hung up. · 
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And t~en to that man's everlasting "credit, he walked 

fro~ that telephone in his quarters over to the 

operations center at MACV Headquarters and redirected 

the targeting of all the B-52s for the following 

morning. And when the enemy forces attacked--as they 

did--the next day 1 the first battalion was caught out 

in the open as they came out of their foxholes and 

started toward the defenses of An Loc; the first wave 

was caught by a blast of B-52 bombs that came down 

and ob~iterated them, and An Loc was saved. 

Postscript of this story:·· I talked to General 

Hollingsworth just 3 months ago and told him this 

story, which he had never heard before. ·ue had never 

heard tha~.he had been denied authority to get that 

air support that night. It had been kept from him · 

completely by all his Army cohorts. And his comment 

then was, •Hy God, you mean those weenies up in 

that headquarters were trying to tell me wbat the 

situation was in the area- l was familiar with 

and was defending?• And, in fact, that's what they 

were trying to do, _and Hollingsworth nad been in the 

chopper every day, overhead, observing this himself, 

and yet he was being overruled by staff officers in 
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the headquarters many, many miles away, who were 

. routinely doing their job. This i .s one of the problems, 

of course, that we've had down through history where 

the guy on the scene is ignored, and somebody else 

wbo thinks he has superior knowledge, but who is 

really remote from the situation, makes th.e decisions. 

Well, to get back to the original point we were 

making, and that is that airpower had in fact saved 

the situation throughout all of Vietnam during this 

Easter offensive which was a massive effort by the 

enemy to take advantage of the fact that the United 

States had pulled all of its ground forces out of the 

war and were no longer engaged. They thought they 

could sneak in there and seize the country, a coup 

de grace, an~ airpower kept it alive. 

I think the man you have just quoted was, in essepce, 

saying that in their having 'been defeated by this 

massive use of airpower, they were in fact not going 

to be able to mount another offensive of that kind 

under the same circumstances--of course, where us air 

was still permitted to be on the scene and to help. 

That had been my contention, and that was really the 

267 

UN CT. STFIED 



U 1~cLASSll!li!.iJ 
VOGT 

basis of my earlier comments to the Seventh Air Force 

historian. But if you remove the threat of the use 

of US air, then you are, in fact, sealing the doom, 

and that's the case I was making. When you fail to 

enforce an aqreement which is carefully contrived to 

preserve the independence of Vietnam, and you stand 

by and let these violations occur without using the 

air as you promised to do, then you have in fact 

invited the defeat which occurred. 

H: Did General Abrams ever bring this point up again . 

with you at a later date? 

V: Never. We never discussed. the situation again, but 

General Abrams and I enjoyed the closest relationship 

from that point on. He understood what I had said; 

he understood that I was wor~ing for him, that I was 

doing my best to help him, ~nd I think he understood 

for the first time that there were other ways to look 

at situations in the field'except through the eyes 

of the staff who, in many instances, were ·pretty 

remote from it. 

I must say that the staff of MACV at this point in 
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time was sort of rooted to the scene in Saigon. "They 

were not getting out into the field. Later when I 

became, as I mentioned earlier, the Deputy MACV and 

actually moved into the headquarters and moved all 

my operations center physically over into the MACV 

Headquarters, and I now had a clear-cut. resp'onsi-

bil i ty to look into ground matters as well as air, 

could in fact get on out into the field. I had an 

Army chopper assigned to me full-time with a crew 

that could take me anywhere I wanted to go, and I got 

out ·into the countryside to see what was happening. 

And I knew what they needed in· the way of air support 

and help because I was out several times a week into 

the forward areas to see what was happening and what 

help was needed. And, occasionally, finding things 

that I described earlier like my own- headquarters 

denying a request for laser bombs to bomb water towers 

because that's not a cost effective application of 

laser bombs. This sort of thing was happening so 

often and can only be resolved by somebody who got 

ou~ there and · saw for himself what was going on. 

IJ: This situation kind of reminds 111e of what General 

w_eyland and General Kenney remarked about General 
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Ma.cArthur, that his s the real 

world, and he didn't see the real p_icture. 

V: I think this I 

think many an airman been an advisor to an 

Army commander, be it II or in Korea, has 

run into this problem. into the mechanism 

of the Army staff, and staff is a pretty 

stolid thing, and the system involves use of the 

staff. And an Army co•mmlcin•de~r, traditionally, works 

his problems through 

along with the staff 

being one of them. 

observation over 

is fine. But in 

who have overall 

professional advice of 

I might comment at 

ments in Vietnam. 

know it 

General Momyer wrote. 

and generally goes 

That's certainly 

are mavericks, Hollingsworth 

and large, that's been my 

Now, in many cases, this 

cases, it's disastrous. 

all Army commanders 

to listen to the 

t on the command arrange-

it. I 

in a recent book that 

e co~and arrangements were 
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difficult. The Seventh Air Force Commander, living 

across the field from HACV, had only scheduled appoint­

ments and meetings with MACV. He didn't interface 

with the MACV staff very much. He was busily running 

his own little air wa·r, and he was not in on the 

plan~ing phases of many of the combined activities 

which could have profited gl:'eatly from joint efforts 

before the actual combat activity took place. There 

was a tendency to call air in after things had turned 

to worms to try to retrieve a situation when, if air 

had been involved in the original planning and properly 

applied, it never would have turned to worms. 

When General Abrams went back to washington to become 

the Chief of Staff and General Weyand became the 

. co11111ander ~own there--this was I think in Kay 1972-­

the situation changed. Now my staff was there in 

the ·headquarters working with the HACV staff. I 

occupied the office right next to the colUiander 

himself. I now had authority to get into the ground 

business, and the close proximity of all the principals 

working together resulted in dramatic improveMents in 

air/ground coordination, which has led me to believe 

that air commanders and ground comnanders must be 
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'<' colocated in major areas of operation. 

When I got to Eu rope later, one of the first things 

I insisted o~ was an implementation of this idea or 

concept for wartime activities in NI'.TO. f'or e~tample, 

as the AAFCE (Allied l'.ir Forces, Central Europe) 

Commander, I was reporting to the AFCENT [Allied 

Forces Central Europe) Commander or the Forces Com-

mander for the· entire central region, who was a German 

four-star general. My headquarters was several hundred 

kilometers away from his, and it didn't make very 

much sense to have an air commander separated by that 

kind of distance from the ground commander. The 

accepted solution was that we would ultimately move 

our headquarters up to his headquarters so that we 

could be colocated. 

But that really wasn't the thing that I felt was 

necessary. I felt it was necessary that we be co­

located in our fighting headquarters, so t~at when 

the war actually came, if it came, we could be in the 

same operational facility conducting the war, and I 

went ~o work on the Boerfink bunker concept which .was 

an effort to bring the Af'CENT Co~ander and his staff and 
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the AAFCE ColtUIIander· and his staff together in a single 

operational facility with all the communications and 

computers, and the intelligence data and everything 

necessary to run a war together. This took a lot of 

doing, and there was a lot of opposition to trying to 

get this joint headquarters .operational to the extent 

that it would be manned, for example, in peacetime. 

People didn't believe we ought to be putting people 

in a bunker underground in peactime. ·This was r.~rt 

of an inhuman thing to do. And that attitude pre­

vailed for a long, long time. 

Even today we still have situations where air com­

manders are located many, many kilometers away from 

the ground commanders that they are going to be 

supporting. I point, for example, to the situation 

involving the 4ATAF Commander who is located at 

Ramstein, and the Army group commander who is over 

at Heidelberg, separated by a mountain range and 

many, many kilometers. They, obviously, have to be 

located together ·to fight the war properly, and until 

this occurs, the kind of situation that I have just 

described that prevailed in Vietnam will prevail 

there. We have to learn to put our airmen and our 
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ground force personnel together so they can fight a 

· concerted war, so air can be included early in the 

operational planning for any military mission and 

not be used to bail people out after they. get in 

trouble. 

My relationship with General Weyand was a good one. 

He was a very enlightened commander; he worked very 

closely with us in doing . these things. He made good, 

sound decisions. He appreciated the use of airpower, 

and I think we formed a team that was very effective 

in ultimately turning back the invasion and, essen­

tially, ~reeing the South Vietnamese ·territory of the 

invading forces. But it took a tremendous effort, 

a lot of sorties and a lot of determination by American 

personnel to do that job. 

H: All right, since you had the vantage 'point of being 

in both Southeast Asia and Europe, just what kind of 

fallout did we derive from the Vietnamese defeat? 

What did our Europea~ allies as well as our allies in 

Southeast Asia think of this •cop out,• so to speak, 

from the American side? 
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V: Well, of course, the United States went to great ends 

to convince people that that wouldn't happen in Europe, 

that you are allies who are protecting US vital inter-

ests · in an area of the world that we can't •cop out• 

of, and we began a series of reassurance visits to 

convince these people that this was in fact the case. 

But I must say that there is still serious concern 

and doubt in the minds of a lot of people. I en­

countered it when r ·was there on some occasions. 

After a few drinks, when some of the generals from 

the allied countries that I was involved with had a 

qhance to talk to me confidentially, they would ex­

press concern and ask for reassura·nces from me that 

in fact the United States would not, in the event of 

~oviet pressure, do what we had done in Southeast 

Asia. 

Now what kinds of assurances can you give these 

people? It recalled the situation that existed in 

Vietnam just prior to the signing of the agreement 

when I was asked by washington to reassure all the 

people I had contact with in the Vietnamese Govern­

ment that we would, in fact, come to their help so they 

would sign the agreement. You recall the South 
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Vietnamese President was very much concerned about 

going ahead with the peace treaty, and there were 

last minute efforts to convince him it was the right 

thing to do. General Haig was sent down there to 

reassure and to threaten him into signing that agree­

ment. He finally did agree to the signing after 

he received iron-clad guarantees that we would, in 

fact, be there in the event of a major.attack, 

But at this time, General Haig and others came to me 

and said, "We would like you to go to your military 

counterparts, the people that you have been fighting 

with and supporting here for the last year, and con­

vince them that we will in fact remain steadfast. 

You know, if you tell them now that the United States 

is serious in its determination to back up our guaran­

tees, they will probably listen to you.• And 1 

refused to· do this. 1 am sure it didn't make Washington 

happy to find out that General Vogt was not going to 

go around to Vietnamese generals who had confidence 

in him and assure them that we would take the political 

action necessary to turn on the bombing.again when 

the time came. I refused to do it. 
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And I refused to do it because I was looking at the 

Washington picture, too, just the way the Russians 

were and others and the Communists in southeast Asia. 

I could see the disintegration that was occurring. I 

c~uld see the resolutions that were being introduced 

in Congress against any resumption of bombing any­

where in Southeast Asia except with express permission 

of Congress after a vigorous debate. And I didn't 

feel that I could, in good conscience, offer 

reass~,~rances to these people under those circumstances. 

I can sleep nights as a result. I wonder if other 

people do. 

H: How much credibility do you assign to Frank Schnepp's 

book, the CIA man who was in Saigon during the fall? 

He voiced the fact that it was such a debacle, that 

there was no cohesive policy at all from the Ernbassy 

on down. 

V: Well, I must confess I have not read his book-. I 

have aeen busy reading some.of the other things. 

But I do intend to read it. But let me say, I would 

not be at all surprised to read in that book evidence 

such as you suggest he presents. It's in line with 
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what I described earlier to be the •we don't want to 

really face up to it happening" attitude that pre­

vailed, particularly in the Embassy down there. 

Somebody comes in with bad news( "We don't want to 

listen!" 

And I think what you had was an unwillingness on the 

part of the Ambassador, himself, to admit that things 

were going bad. And that we would, in fact, have 

to face the decision of someday getting out of there. 

I think his view was that we would prevail, that we 

would stand ffrm, and if we stood firm, everything 

would come out . ?ll righ.t. And I think the lack of 

planning for the evacuation reflects that feeling 

and that view. It was "never admit that it was 

happening to you.• Therefore, don't plan for it. 

I think the evidence that I have seen of that evacua­

tion somewh~t tends to · support what I presume is the 

main conclusion of the book; namely, that it was 

badly disorganized and sort of disastrous. I will 

read that book in the next few weeks, hopefully. 

I suspect that it's going to support my own views on 

what was happening down there·. 
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H: I guess that's sort of like the old saw about the 

king killing the messenger with the bad news .• 

V: It's reminiscent of Hitler in his bunker with bombs 

falling all around him, listening only to the ad­

visors who ca~e in and said, •Things are going to be 

all right." And the final inevitable day came when 

they told him the roof was falling in, and he had to 

blow his brains out. 

H: Well, in line with what you've been talKing about 

here, what are your feelings on the downgrading of 

the PACAF position to a three-star instead of the 

former four-star that it was? 

V: I think you have to look at the whole command arrange- . 

ment problem to make an evaluation of that--the whole 

command arrangements problem in the Pacific. I think 

I mentioned to you one incident earlier where 1 was 

getting conflicting guidance from Washington and from 

my sup~rior headquarters in Honolulu. One saying, 

•ao bomb,• and the other saying, •oo nothing for the 

next 2 4 hou.rs. • 
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What it suggested to me was that the arrangements· 

were not sound and were not good. The delays built 

into sending decisions, fo r example, f rom Washington 

to Honolulu where they were massaged and put into new 

words ' and sent on down to the man fighting the war in 

Vietnam, delays of that kind were inexcusable in a 

wartime situation. And I seriously question whether 

it would be to our advantage to fight a war that way 

again. 1 know General Abrams felt very strongly 

that it would have been far preferable from his 

standpoint to be answering to Washington, getting the 

decisions to the questions he asked from washington, 

presenting his case directly to washington for things 

he wanted to do rather than having to go through .a 

man who was, for all intents and purposes, as far 

away from the war as washington was. And what dif­

ference does it make if it's 7,500 or 5,000 miles 

away? The same problem. I think what we are talking 

about here then is, is there a neea for an inter­

mediate headquarters between the guy who is actually 

fighting the war and the decision makers in washington 

itself? I think the answer is, •Not• And if we ever 

become involved again out there, whether it's in 

Korea.or Southeast Asia, we ought to get the middleman 
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out of the business. 

Now if you look at it i n that light, then I think it 

makes sense to begin ~he downgrading of the component 

commanders who are under this middleman. Abrams was 

the first, of course, to move in that direction when 

he became Chief of Staff of the Army. He questioned 

the necessity and the wis dom of keeping large Army 

representation in rank in the component structure , 

in Honolulu in support of CINCPAC, and he downgraded 

that, took his four-star out, and eliminated the 

component commander for all intents and purposes. 

The Air Force was belatedly following that procedure 

sometime later when they downgraded the PACAF. 
'-

H: I have heard it said by a couple of other generals 

\hat they felt it just gave a further indication 

to our allies in Southeast Asia that we were assign-

ing less importance to the region. How do you feel 

about that? 

V: well, it could be construed that way, I presume, by 

the people who were concerned out in the area. I 

think they are going to be much more concerned about 
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other things though than the oowngrad.ing of the rank 

by one star in Honolulu. I think they are going to 

be concerned about other things they are seeing, like 

plans to pull out of Korea, or present difficulties 

in the Philippines which are lessening our involve­

ment. and our presence down there. These are the 

sorts of things I think will impress these people, 

visible evidence of the witharawal of the US power 

from these areas. If 1 were the remaining allies in 

Southeast Asia, I'd be looking around for ways to 

hedge my bets, also. And I think the number of stars 

on the guy sitting in Honolulu is not that important. 

That's all I have on Southeast Asia, if you have . 

something you'd like to bring in, Art, please do. 

M: No; I don't have anything at this time. When he gets 

over . to. Europe, I have one that's related which I 

made a note on, but that.'s the only thing. 

H: All right. Well, let's talk about USAFE awhile then, 

if you would like to get into that. You took over 

from General David Jones as USAFE Commander. Did you 

institute any changes when you took the position, or 
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did you . leave things pretty much in force? 

V: I made, of course, many changes out in the field in 

the areas that I talked about earlier, where my own 

experience or my recent experience in Vietnam led me 

to believe that improvements had to be ~ade. I think 

we've talked about how I introduced all-weather 

bombing systems with LORAN. We brought LORAN in and 

set it up and began actual training missions, not 

oniy .with US airplanes but with allied airplanes 

flying on the wing of our Pathfinders. And we con­

ducted actual live-bomb drops on Grafenwohr Range 

with these Pathfinders to see if we could do ·the job 

like we had done in Southeast Asia in all-weather 

conditions and found that we could even with German 

pilots £lying on the wings of our pilots. 1 had the 

new challenge, of course, of setting up the new AAFC£ 

Headquarters, which only became operational after 

arrived, and I had to create this whole new head­

quarters with all the supporting mechanisms and the 

communications. So that was a new job and a new 

task. 

I went to work on the Boerfink concept, which was 
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an effort to bring the fusion concept to Europe, 

where we fuse intelligence with operational decisions. 

we went to work on the design for the Boerfink bunker 

to bring in the necessa ry comrounications, intelligence 

processing capability, the highly classified intelli­

gence input into the bunker, and to establish all the 

relationships with the subordinate commands and 

the lateral commands, so we could use that fa.cility 

as an effective operational facility if and when war 

began. I was struck with the fact that most NATO 

headquarters were planning headquarters and not 

operational headquarters, and 1 was determined to 

make a change in that in the headquarters 1 was 

involved in. I observed, for example, the fact that 

~he Sovie~s had prepared themselves for surprise 

attack. Back in the old days, they were incapable ~f 

that. But they had now achieved a posture in Europe 

which, for the first time, gave them a chance to 

mount an attack with forces already deployed in the 

forward area. Indeed, their exercises de~onstrated 

this was what they had in mind. 

(End Tape 6, Side 2) 
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So I concentrated on developing the capabilities for 

immediate response both in the headquarters structure 

and in the force structure itself out in the field. 

I made other attempts to solve the all-weather problem. 

I made a concerted effort to get an additional wing 

of F-Ills over to Eu rope. I introduced the beacon 

bombing tactics we had employed in Cambodia and Laos, 

and actually ~emonstrated this to the corps commanders 

in the field, bombing through overcasts. We wrote 

doctrine and policy papers on the employment of this 

technique by ground force commanders a~d distributed 

it so they could call upon this all-weather capability 

in the event of actual combat. I began holding a 

series of meetings or symposiums with the . wing com­

manders and above, of all the air commanders in the 

central region, where we could sit down and discuss 

the kinds of problems we would run into if we had to 

fight together. It was a free exchange of views and 

information with follow-up actions being taken after 

these meetings. 

I set about getting, out in the field and flying the 

equipment and meeting with .the squadron commanders 
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and the wing commanders of the various air forces 

that were now going to be responsive to me in the 

event of a war, which included, of course, all the 

air forces of the central region, some six of them. 

I flew the British Harrier, for example, and examined 

its unique capabilities for operations in Europe. I 

flew with the Belgian forces in their Mirage air­

planes, and I generally got to work with and visit at 

the operational level all the air forces that would 

be fighting together with us. 

At the same time, I began an effort to work closely 

with the French, and I struck up a very close working 

relationship with General Rentier, who was Chief of 

French Tactical Air Forces in Germany, flew with his 

units, flew his ·Jaguars, and established liaison with 

him and began joint planning with him, so that if the 

French ever made the political decision to support 

NATO, the military plans would be ready. 

I worked ·closely with the British to resolve some of 

the difficulties we had in coordinating offensive and 

defensive activities. A big portion, for example, of 

American air was based over in England, and yet there 
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was no mechanism established to coordinate the offen­

sive and defensive activities involving the air 

space of Great Britain. The British were charged, of 

course, with the air defense responsibilities for the 

whole area, including our airbases; yet they had 

no mechanism to be informed of the offensive activity 

of those units. You know, when they were taking off, 

where they were going, and when .they were coming 

back, so they could be aware of all this. No machinery 

existed for any of this, .and we began to work directly 

with the British personnel involved to insure that we 

could, in fact, be knowledgeable of each other's 

activities. 

General Smallwood (Dennis) was the commander of all 

the British forces involved, and he and I worked very 

closely together. We esta.blished direct communica­

tions between his headquarters and n,y headquarters at 

AAFCE so that we could, in fact, talk and communicate 

about the impending air operations from British bases 

if and when they sho~ld occur. 

H: Was this a unique thing? Ha.dn • t previous COIDI8anders 

attempted to have this sort of relationship that you 

had? 
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V: Well, let me say, General· Jones did a tremendous job 

and spent a great deal of his time in attempting to 

get the concept of AAFCE sold in Europe. I certain ly 

don't want to downgrade or in any way underestimate 

the achievement that he made in succeeding in doing 

this. You've got to remember that Europe was pretty 

remote from the war in Southeast Asia, and there 

wasn't the same sense of urgency about being prepared 

for combat in the minds of the commanders in Europe 

that there was in those of us who were actually 

involved in the fighting. I think Jones, of course, 

appreciated the problems that existed with the division 

of air between the ATAFs over there and the inflexi­

bility of applying air in a concerted way, and so he 

spent a great deal of his time trying to convince the 

military and political authorities that we ought to 

create an overall air commander for the central 

region who could coordinate the activity. And I 

think to his last ing credit, he achieved this, and it 

was no mean achievement. 

So when I got there that had already been agreed 

to, and when the headquarters was actually activated 

and I became the first commander, the roadmap had 
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already been drawn as to which way it was to go. I 

had to go to work, ot course, and dream up all the 

concepts and doctrine, the policy papers for .the 

· new headquarters, issue the new direc tives, come up 

with a new Emergency Defense Plan; and all the other 

things that a new headquarters had to do but, by and 

large, they were in conformance with the original 

concepts that General Jones had succeeded in selling 

in Europe. So, I think that explains a great deal of 

• what I have described. 

His preoccupation with this was a very i~portant job, 

spending so much of his own time on it. It didn't 

give him the time to do these things 1 know he would 

have wanted to have done and ~hich I had a chance to 

do when 1 got there. 

What I did when I got there was sort of divide the 

respo~sibilities in the headquarters. I left the 

administrative responsibility, the housekeeping 

responsibility, the logistics responsibilities, the 

concerns about troop welfare and morale and educational 

programs, the school systems, and · dependents' care 

problems, and all that, to my deputy commander, 
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who did a superb job, General Poe [Lt Gen Bryce, II]. 

He was uniquely equipped to do that kind of a job. 

He vigorously attacked those problems, and I went to 

work on the operational problems. And that division 

permitted both of us to operate at maximum effective­

ness. I would commend th~t procedure to a lot of 

other headquarters. I know·, for example, that many 

commanders in the past have been bogged down in 

the mire of drug abuse problems, alcoholism and 

that sort of thing, when they should be out there 

worrying about how they are going to fight the war if 

and when it occurs. 

And I .must. say that the Army commanders in Europe 

have had this problem. · They've had to worry about 

and personally devote a large amount of their time to 

drug abuse problems and that sort of thing instead of 

g_etting on with the business of how they are going to 

fight if and when the war occurs. I tried to reverse 

all of that. I tried to be operationally oriented, 

and I was~ I think, since I had just come from a 

fighting war involving new Soviet systems and SAM 

systems and the other things that I encountered, I 

was imbuea with a greater sense of urgency to get on 
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with this kind of a job. And I was also aware of the 

fact that the Soviets had now, for the first time, 

achieved a capabil ity to surprise us, and selling t he 

idea to NATO, for example, that we would have limited 

time or limited warning proved a very difficul t one. 

I remember one of my first meetings with my immediate 

commander in the NATO chain, General Ferber, who 

was a four-star German general, Army officer, in 

· command of AFCENT--an outstanding guy with a lot of 

ability. When we first met, I express~d to him my 

concern about the new Russian posture which could 

lead them to attack us without much warning. I said 

i~ could be a matter of a couple of days instead of 

weeks or months, and I urged him to join with me in 

an effort to get our forces on a better posture of 

alert a nd readiness and to make the headquarters 

operational in peacetime. I noted, for example, that 

before we could be ready for the annual SHAPEX 

exercises we had to prepare for weeks in establishing 

the forward headquarters. ~e had to go out and put 

generators "in position, string lines and hook up 

switchboards. Do all these things to make these 

so-called .war fighting facilities operational, and we 
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literally started 1 month before the actual exercise 

so we could be ready in time to run the exercise. 

I said to General Ferber, "You know, if what 1 am 

saying is true and the Russians could attack in 48 

hours, we won't have time to do all this.• And 

General Ferber, as I say, was a very capable guy and 

a very honest man, looked me in the eye ana said, 

•General Vogt, I have assurances from the highest 

level in your Government that we will have at least 

30-days warning.• (laughter) And I'm sure tnis is 

true. secretaries of Defense, who had been over 

there previously, had made the case that our new 

techniques and intelligence systems would give us 

this kind of warning. 1 think it is now agreed 

everywhere, including the highest levels in Washington, 

that the warning time could be as small as 48 hours. 

And Secretary Brown (Harold, Secretary of Defense] 

has recognized this problem. I think he has been far 

more perceptive in this regard than his predecessors, 

and he's doing things now which are designed to 

increase our readiness in the face of this new capa-

biiity on the part of the Soviets to attack without 
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much warning. 

But that's the kind of environment, you see, I found 

myself in having come from a fighting war where I' 

could see the capabilities of new Soviet equipment, 

then going into an environment where people had been 

sleeping for a number of years, and where I saw, for 

example, communications equipment built in the early 

fifties that were quickly saturated during exercise 

play, .60-word-a-minute teletype systems--secure 

teletype systems--which when we ran our various exer-

cises through the years were hopeless.ly behind the 

play of the .urgent traffic. In the first 24 hours of 

one exercise, for example, we were· 7 hours behind in 

message traffic delivery. How can you possibly · tight 

a modern w~r involving fast movement of enemy forces 

and the need for instant response when you are .7 

hours behind in the delivery of messages? This is 

what I encountered. 

I s.pent a great deal of rtly time trying to pull our­

selves up by the boo~straps. One ·of the problems I 

ran into was the unwillingness of some to release 

highly classified intelligence which only the United 
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State~ had access to. t 'wanted to get that broken 

loose so it could be made available to NATO. We 

had to adopt various techniques, · a so-called qGreen 

Door" concept where it would be a US element that 

had access to this and could sanitize it and pass it 

out through a "Green Door• in the operations center 

to our allies who were going to .have to f ig.ht the 

war. 

Computerization--you know, when I first got over 

there, compu.ters were a bad word in NATO. People 

said, "What in the world are we going to do with 

computers?" And the people in higher headquarters, 

like AFCENT, said, "God, you are just going to flood 

us with info~mation and we won't be able to fight the 

war. We don't have any need for the kind of detailed 

information you are talking about that would require 

computers.• And I told them about my experiences in 

Vietnam where I had to computerize . the fra~ orders· to 

the wings, because it was now impossible for the_ 

human mind to draw up a frag order in the limited 

time we had between missions because of the new in­

creased complexity of those missions. And I pointed 

out, for example, what was involved in a simple 
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Linepacker operation up into the heavily defended 

areas of North Vietnam where missiles were a major 

factor, electronic surveillance capability was all 

over the place, redundant radars~ and so forth. 

I said, "Stop for 1 minute and think what goes into 

an operation of that kind. You have jamming air­

planes that have to be up and in position at pre­

cisely the right time, because if they are ahead of 

time or behind time, they aren't going to be effectively 

covering the orbit that has been established. to provide 

the electronic support for those strike airplanes 

that are coming in. You have your escort airplanes 

that have to be at precisely the right place at the 

right time so they'll be between the interceptors 

coming up to meet them and the attacking force. You 

have to have Wild Weasel airplanes at precisely the 

right position at the right time so they can use 

iheir antiradiation missiles to suppress-enemy SAMs 

' when that force is in a vulnerable position, and so 

it goes. • . All these things have to take off at p.re­

cisely the r~ght time so they can be at their appointed 

place at the right time. And computing all this 

becomes a very complex thing. So we had to go to 
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computerization. 

Ali our frag orders in Linebacker were computerize~ 

frags where the computer did all the computat1on~ and 

determined takeoff times; fuel loads, and even in 

some instances the types of munitions and all that 

had to be employed, the jamming frequencies that had 

to be employed, th-e spectrums that had to be covered, 

and all these things. 

There was a problem in Europe vastly more complex 

with more-complex Soviet systems to be dealt w.ith, 

and people were talking about World War II type frag 

operations and running missions as we did in World 

War II. I said, "It can't be done. That's why we 

need computers." 

I " pointed out to General Ferber that the enemy has 

the option of striking where he wants to, that he can 

mass'his forces. We have to find out where the real 

thrust is and where the feints are; we have to get 

all source intelligence up and that information has 

to be brought in immediately so the commander can 

make the right decision as to where our mai·n defensive 
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effort will be mounted. The time is going to be 

vastly compressed because of the rate of movement of 

Soviet armor. We won't have the leisure of looking 

at written reportr from intelligence sources that are 

2 or 3 days old, that the computers will take this 

irytelligence and digest it for us and disgorge the 

stuff we have to know. 

I said, "The log_istics problems alone that we are 

going to run into are going to be fantastic. There 

will be so~e units that will be short of ·defensive 

missiles and others that will be short of offensive 

missiles, and some will be short of. bombs, and just 

maintaining a· status report on our munitions readiness 

alone will sop up all the communications capability 

that now exists within NATO and provide no excess for 

operational matters that'll have to be discussed." 

So all this has to be streamlined and computerized 

and put into a m~nner that makes sense. Of course, I 

had had all this in Southeast Asia. People don't 

appreciate it. But we ·had a true fusion center • 

. I might tell a little story at this point Which . 

illustrates that what I'm describing was necessary 
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for Europe. In our Linebacker operations again.st the 

North, when they were reestablished by direction 

from washington, we began bombing up in Hanoi again 

after a layoff of a· couple of years following termi-

nation of Rolling Thunder. In those operations, we 

quickly encountered very effective fighter defenses 

by the MiG-2ls that were employee:! by the Nor·th Vietnamese 

,Air Force. They had done a great deal in the inter­

ven.ing years to improve the capability of that air 

force. The redundancy of their radar had been vastly 

irnprovea; they had better tracking capability. They 

had Soviet advisors in .their operations centers who 

were assisting them in detection of raids and determin-

ing the types of airplanes involved, et cetera, so 

they could effectively employ their own air against 

us. 

We, on the other hand, were operating well beyond our 

own radar range and our pilots were more or iess 

going b~ind when they flew up into the Hanoi area. 

Here we had an air force up there, North Vietnamese 

Air Force, having the advantage of detailed intorma­

tion on the precise location of every attacking 

airplane as well as their own airplanes, which they 
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could see on their own radars. So ·they could position 

these airplanes properly and evade our CAP [combat air 

patrol! airplanes. And for the first time, we began to 

suffer very heavy loss es. At one point the loss ratio 

fell below 1 to 1, the lost t~ victory ratio. This was 

a very serious thing. Never in the history of the United 

States Air Force had we fought an air war where we were 

now losing more airplanes than we were shooting down. 

There was great concern in Washington about this·. 

There were visits from everybody from the Chief of 

Staff of the Air .Force on down asking me what we were 

going to do about this. The proble~ was just essen­

tially the way I had described it. We were fighting 

up in his territory with a radar-rich environment on 

his part and totally devoid of a capability of our 

own. 

Now, the Navy had Red crown and .they had some radar 

capability, but it was not of very much use to us 

when we came in from our Thai bases. We were out of 

range of that radar, and we were~'t getting the 

support at the altitudes and in the areas where we 

needed it. So we were essentially going blind when 

we got up there. And we were asking the pilots in 
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the individual airplanes to do - the jobs that were 

being done by the controllers and the skilled operators 

of the vast radar ·system in the north. It sim~ly was 

no contest. 

I, finally, in an effort to do something about this, 

decided we had better take all the intelligence 

gathering capability that .we had_ and fuse it in 

real time with our operations so the pilot in the 

airplane could be told as he is flying along everything 

that we knew from all our intelligence gathering 

capability. This was the first real applicati~n of 

the fusion principle, and we· set up command facilities 

in our operations centers in direct contact to radio 

relay airplanes with the guy in the cockpit which 

could tell them, for example, that a MiG had just 

taken off and was coming toward him. 

Now, I can't, of course, go into the kinds of techniques 

that were used because some of it involves security 

classifications that are tight even today. Certain 

forllls of intelligence gathering that most people 

don't have clearances for, certainly not the pilots 

in the airplanes. But we set this thing in operation, 
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as I recall, in August 1972, and we had a dramatic 

change in the loss to victory ratios. From the 

previous month, July as I recall, where we had actually 

lost more airplanes than we shot down, the month of 

August and until the end of the war, the ratios now 

changed 4 to 1 in our favor, because our pilots were 

now alert to the dangers around them. This was the 

fusion of intelligence with operations. 

I note that even today· there is a misunderstanding 

about this capability in sotne of the interviews that 

you people have conducted with some of our ex-Vietnam 

pilots. I note one, for example, that you conducted 

with Ritchie where Ritchie said he sometimes wondered 

what we were doing at Seventh Air Force, that they 

were pretty much on their own out there and that 

they had to rely on radar information from obsolescent 

radar platforms, et cetera. Ritchie didn't know of 

this so-called •T-ball• system that I have just 

described, because he didn't have the security clear­

ances. And he didn't . know why, s~ddenly .in August 

1972, the victory to loss ratio dramatically switched 

because we couldn't clear him for that kind of in-. 

formation and still have· him go on a combat mission. 
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But that was the fusion concept in operation. 

I had satellite communications direct with Washington. 

Satellite receivers right on my facility so the 

information could be beamed directly down and rapid 

transmission of vital information back and forth to 

washington. I have already discussed the almost 

daily communications on the phone with the Chairman 

of the JCS, conducted through this satellite communi-

cations on secure means, all of which I had in South-

east Asia and none of which existed in Europe when I 

got there. 

I found,· to my great chagrin and dismay; for example, 

the first week I was in Europe I wanted to talk to 

General Ferber in his arunssum ·headquarters and had 

no means to do it. There was no secure communications 

via telephone with his headquarters. And a week 

later I had an opportunity, or a requirement, to call 

out to a bas~ in Thailand on some business that I had 

to strai ten out, going back to the days when I had 

been commander out there. I was able to pick up the 

secure US telephone, a KY-3 system, and call all the 

way out to Thailand and talk, instantaneously, with 
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somebody out there to get the intormation I needed, 

halfway around the world on a US system. Yet I was 

totally incapable of picking up a similar type instru­

ment and talking to my immediate commander JUSt 250 

kilometers away in Germany! That's, you see, the 

difference that I discovered between what we had in 

Vietnam and what we had in Europe. And that sized 

the problem f or me. 1 realized then that we were 

back in the World War II environment, and something 

drastically had to be done about it. 

I discovered many other thinl]s. I discovered, for 

example, that we were still geared for nuclear warfare, 

primarily, even though our strategic doctrine had 

changed, and we were not operating in accordance with 

MC-143 which called for new emphasis on conventional 

capability so we could build a pause in our combat 

. from the conventional to the nuclear phase, and so 

we didn,.t have to go nuclear immediately. I dis­

covered, for example, that no -conventional targeting ~ 

was being done in our facilities in Europe. We had 

a recce tech facility, for example, at Wiesbaden that 

was part of my US organization. This outfit did " 

v irtual)y all the tar9eting work for all the NATO 
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countries. It had not drawn up for many, many years 

one single conventional target folder! All their 

time was ~pent on drawing up the nuclear attack 

folders for the pilots in the cockpit. The word 

hadn't even gotten down to them that the doctrine 

had changed, that they were now supposed to be ready 
, 

to fight conventional wars. And when I asked, ' "Where 

is an analysis of the bridges and all that we will 

have to destroy immediately with our laser. bombs to 

slow down the enemy advance?"--there was none. 

Nobody had ever done th i s, because.they were worried 

about ORA strikes on nuclear targets and updating 

that, and all the computers and all the recce tech 

(reconnaissance technical) analysis capability was 

spent in doing that kind of a job. ·so nobody had ever 

bothered to do the other. Those are the kinds of 

things we had to get into and to go to work on to 

bring some semblance of the real world back. 

Then I ran into a great many other problems. I ran 

into doctri-nal problems between the air forces of 

the various countries concerned. The British, for 

example, told me they didn't believe in close air 

support as a concept. They said, •we don't intend 
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to do close air support. We are going to draw up 

bomblines, and we'll do battlefield interdiction, 

and our bombing will be done out in front of the 

troops.•. When I had made a pitch for bringing in 

tactical equipment that would permit the United 

States Air Force airplanes from OS bases over in 

Germany to go in support of the armies up in the 

North--the Dutch, the British, and the Belgians--! 

was told there was no need for this; they didn't 

believe in this close support. I w~nted to put 

forward air controllers up there and 407L tac [tactical] 

control ~quipment, and they didn't want any part of 

it because they didn't believe in it. And somebody 

said, •what's wrong with the old concept of battle­

field interdiction?• I told them a story that in­

volved me in world War II when we were using the 

boMbline concept. 

1 was sent out with my squadron to bomb a column 

that was supposedly advancing on a certain position, 

and I was under the control of a British ground 

controller. The ground rules were that I was not, 

under any circumstances, to bomb on this side of a 

bombline that had been established that day, and the 
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bombline was drawn on our ·maps as we took off. 

when I got out there, I contacted the ground controller 

who directed me to the area and authorized me to bomb 

anything on the other side of the bombline that 

looked like a column advancing on this position. 

When I got there, l discovered that the column existed 

all right. It stretched f or many miles and involved 

tanks · and trucks and guns, and other vehicles, only 

it extended on this road right through the bomb-

line. One-half of it was on one side of the bomb­

line: ·the other half was on the other • . So I called 

back for instructions and said, "Do -l bomb just half 

of it, or do I bomb the whole thing, and is it enemy 

or friendly?• •u it's on this side ' of the bombline, 

it's supposed to be friendly. If it's on the other 

side,· it's supposed to be enemy.• And the guy in 

the controller position said he had no further in­

structions; I was on my own. 

Well, you see, this is an intolerable situation. As 

it turned out, I finally had one of my wingmen drop 

his bombs safe and make a high-speed pass parallel to 

the column so he could get a positive identification 
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on it, and it tu~ned out that column was a ~et~eating 

allied column and not an advancing enemy column, and 

if I had ca~ried out the orders of the day, which was 

to bomb anything on the other side of tha t bombline, 

I would have been involved in the massacre of friendly 

forces. 

And yet that's the concept you see that people are 

talking about employing today in Europe which could 

result in many disastrous situations in a fast moving 

fluid si.tuat'ion on the battlefield. There is no room 

for it any more. We have to have a 9recise knowledge 

of what's .happening on the ground. There must be 

people on the ground who are in cont.act with air and 

who can. tell us precisely where the triendlies are 

and where the enemies are, and we have got to be 

able to bomb with some precision where it's going to 

do some good and void friendly casualties. We need 

all this tactical control capability over there. 

I might add the Russians have it themselves. They 

have their controllers, and they have all this forward 

equipment, and they control their airplanes very 

carefully from ground-based radar equipment. 
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The tape ended where I was saying that the Soviets 

have this equipment, including ground-based radar 

equipment, and we've got to be able to do the job at 

least as professionally as the enemy intends to do 

it. 

H: You mentioned awhile ago that it was difficult con-

vincing the European Allies to formulate phns for 

conventional warfare. Well, I have talked to various 

commanders that believe there is no other recourse, 

that we don't have an adequate conventional force in 

Europe to even think about countering the massive 

Soviet forces in the Eastern bloc. How do you view 

that? 

V: I think we ought to spend a couple of minutes on 

~his because it's important. Obviously, we are 

never going to have that kind of a capability unless 

we go to work on it and develop it now and to take 

refuge in the thought that, "Well,.we don't have it, 

and therefore we've got to use nuclear weapons imme-

diately,• and, accordingly, do nothing about correcting 

JOb 



VOGT 

the problem, I think, is a mista ke. And it's a mis­

·take for severaf reasons. 

The most impor t ant reason i s a milita r y r eason . 

¥ears ago when the United Sta tes had supe rior i ty in 

the nuclear realm, both tactical and strategic, this 

kind of a concept made sense. But the situation has 

drastica~ly changed today. 

First, in the strategic area, as I talked about 

earlier, the Russians are at least equal to us or 

perhaps even superior. But in the tactical area, the 

same thing has occurred in the last several years, 

and peo~le are not really cognizant of this. We no 

longer enjoy tactical nuclear superiority in Europe. 

The Soviets have introduced new weapon systems that, 

in some respects, are better than our own and in 

numbers sufficient to do t h e job. 

\ie like to believe that if the enemy advances with 

conventional forces and achieves a breakthrough, 

we can bring a pause in that activity by using, for 

example, nuclear artillery or carefully and selectively 

employing small yields, air delivered or otherwise, 
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or perhaps with the Honest John. If you look at 

Soviet exercise play, you discover that this 1s not 

the way they respond to your f irst use of nuclear 

weapons. They don't simply cease and desist. 

In their exercise play, they enlarge the war immediately 

and respond with a very massive nuclear response of 

their own. It's a theater7level response, but it's a 

response nevertheless. And it involves ·many and 

larger yield weapons than we employ, and they have 

developed new systems to employ in this kind of 

a mode. 

I mentioned earlier the deployment of the SS-20, but 

people should stop and contemplate what this involves 

now. The ss-20 is a 3,000-mile range, multiple war­

head, nuclear weapon designed to be used against NAi~ 

if and when we get into a theater nuclear war in 

NATO. Now, what will the target of this weapon 

system be? Well, it wi~l be all our nuclear facilities, 

our storage depots, our major airbases, our.major 

supply depots, our major oil supply depots, and in 

general, all the key things that we consioer to be of 

great importance and value to us. Our command and 
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control facilities, our communications facilities and 

centers, all will be targeted by this accurate weapon 

which really can 't be countered by any known weapon 

system we have in Eu rope today. How do you go find a 

mobile missile that's being towed around on the back 

roads of western Russia which is target.ing t he vital 

facilities that l just described? 

So, if anybody thinks that our resorting to the use 

of nuclear weapons is going to bring an end to the 

war immediately when this guy is planning and actually 

developing a capability to respond in a massive way 

on a tactical level is badly misled. Ana I would 

ask, for example, who thinks the war would last very 

long if we went to the use of tac nukes and he 

responded by destroying all our airfields and the 

equipment on it in a mass of employment of SS-20s? 

Who thinks the ~ar would last very much longer under 

those circumstances? 

So there are sound military reasons for our wanting 

to play the game along the lines that I have des­

cribed. We must pull up our conventional capability, 

and then make the resort to nuclear weapons on his 
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part a very, very serious thing which he'.s got to 

think about and contemplate long and hard before he 

opts t o do it. That means introducing systems of our 

own to counter things like the SS-20, and they don't 

exist today. What count er is there, or what weapon 

comparable to the SS-20 exists in all of NATO today? 

There is nothing. You must, at that point when ne 

starts using SS-20s, employ strategic nuclear weapons. 

And is it likely or probable that the United States 

is goi~g to escalate the theater war which the enemy 

is carefully limiting to so-called theater weapons 

to an intercontinental exchange? Well, one wonders 

whether we'll ' have the guts and determination to do 

it at that point. 

The weapons I haye just described that he's deploying 

are out· from under all SALT controls. They are the 

so-called •grey area• weapons, and they aren't being 

counted in the limits being placed on strategic 

weapons. · Why? Because we have all agreed, _ Even 

our side has agreed they aren't strategic we.apons; 

they are theater weapons. Do we ever contemplate 

their being used? Why, I imagine we do, because he 

does or he wouldn't be deploying them, and they'll be 
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used in the situation that ! _described, where we go 

nuclear very quick, and he responds with what he's 

got. And it's going to be very much to our disadvantage 

to do it, because our main nuclear capabi lity today 

are the limited battlefield-type weapons like Honest 

John, a few Pershings, the artillery, and our ORA 

airplanes. And, as I say, that's no match for mOdern 

long-range, multiple warhead, untargetable mobile 

missiles. 

H: I have read, and I am sure you have too, that per 

square yard West Germany has more Soviet agents 

than probably anyplace On the face of the earth. 

While you were USAFE Commander, .were intelligence 

leaks a problem for you? And how did you gq about 

countering this? 

V: Well, there is no question but that there has been a 

great deal of infiltration into the NATO system. I 

know, for example, in our exercise play major decisions 

were known to the enemy about as soon as they were 

made known to the subordinate commanders within the 

NATO structure itself. We've all seen•the yarious 

agents who have. been captured in recent years, who 
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have been apprehended, highly placed at the very 

highest levels of the German Government; some of them 

in the Briti~h Government. We know this infiltration 

has taken place. 

I used to offer, as· guidelines to my tr.oops, the thought . ' 
that we had to do our planning in such a way that 

even if the enemy knew about it, it wouldn't 111ake· 

all that much difference. In other words, we had to 

do things in a sound military way and employ weapons 

in a sound way and in sound procedures so, even 

if he knew we were going to do it, it didn't roake 

that much difference. He'd have to counter them with 

his own weapon systems and his own best capabilities. 

But I felt our ability to achieve dramatic surprise 

by more planning, for example, simply wasn't possible 

in NATO any more. I operated on the assumption 

while I was there that just about everything we 

said or did within NATO channels was known to the 

enemy within 6 months or, certainly, 1 year. And I 

wrote my plans, procedures an~ doctrine in a way 

which didn't make that much difference if it appeared 

in the newspaper the next day, because it was going 

to be a sound operation and a sound procedure regardless 
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of whether it was known or not. 

fl: In the February 1978 panel discuss'ion at the Air War 

College, in which you participated; the conclusion 

V: 

was reached that NATO is not doing enough to meet the 

Soviet challenge, and that our ~uropean Allies are 

especially lax in this respect. ·What can the United 

States do to get these people to reverse this situation? 

I think a · lot is being done today that had not 

been done previously because of the new emphasis 

Secretary Brown has put on NATO improvements. As you 

know, he has a Special Assistant for NATO Affairs, 

Ambassador Komer [Robert W.), who is sort of riding 

herd on these people trying to get thera -to make the 

improvements in the areas that are crying out for 

improvement, and I think it's a case of holding their 

feet to the fire. I think we are going to make many 

strides forward . in some of these critical areas as a 

result of this new emphas~s we are placing on the 

problem. But, basically, it's a matter of constantly 

bringing home t~ them the fact that the situation has 

changed. It's not like it used to be years ago where 

they had all the time in the world to get ready to do 
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these things. The soviets now have this overwhelming 

capability to move very rapidly, and we must be 

prepared well ahead of time . I think this is slowly 

seeping in over there, certain,ly into the military 

channels of NATO. 

The German Government, for example, put a white paper 

out here just 1 l/2 years ago which pointed to all 

these problems I have just described; you know, they 

said that the warning time may be 48 hours, and we 

have to be prepared to fight now with minimum warning 

and maximum readiness. So this is all an indication 

that things -are improving. Whether or not they will 

put the-actual dollars into the program that ace 

required remains to be seen, but I'm hopeful. For 

·example, there has been very good support here in 

this last year for the deployment of AWACS (airborne 

warning and control systems], which is a vital require-

ment to successfully deal with Soviet air which is 

increasing dramatically. I think we'll see AiiACS as 

a vi~ble program by 1982 or 1983 with airplanes over 

there flying. You know, 5 years ago people would 

have laughed if you said we expected something like 

this to happen. And we are seeing the creation of 
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these operational facilities, like Boerfink. They 

are coming into being, and there is modernization 

_going on in the forces. 

The Germans have made rapid strides in modernizing 

their own forces, and I think we are doing things 

ourselves in certain areas that will make a very 

~reat fundamental difference. 

I might take a minute to talk about Soviet air 

developments. The Soviet Ai'r Force was defensively 

oriented 5 or 6 years ago with short-range fighters 

of the MiG family, -lSs, -17s, ~2ls--earlier model 

-2ls that were essentially air defense airplanes. 

Now we nave seen a whole new family of ottensively 

oriented airplanes, fairly sophisticated with four 

times the capability for delivering ordnance that 

their predecessors had. The Flogger airplane, for 

example, is a good example of what I am talking 

about. It carries four times the bomb load of the 

MiG-21, and it carries it over a greater range, and 

in some models, like the Flogger D, it's well adapted 

to the air/ground role. 
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The new posture we see in Soviet air is one that 

is offensively oriented versus the old defensive 

orientation. This has great significance, because it 

shows Soviet intent. They are concentrating on the 

offensive employment of all forces now, air and 

ground. Also we have seen the devel'opment of sophisti­

cated airplanes which we, ourselves, have stopped 

building in this country. We have already ta!ked 

about the F-111 and the need for an all-weather capable 

airplane of that type. The P-111 is out of production. 

The S~viets have been in production and are rapidly 

deployi~g large numbers of the Fencer airplane, 

which is a smailer F-111 but which does the same 

kinds of things: terrain avoidance radar, all-weather 

bombing capability under low altitude delivery modes, 

and with good precision in that bombing with good 

air/ground bomb navigation systems. So while we are 

getting out of the business, they are getting into 

it. 

I just noted, for example, that the Senate and House 

Committee in conference here recently decided to cut 

the program of the Navy A-6, which I mentioned some 
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time earlier. It is the lone remaining all-weather 

bombing airplane in production i n the United Sta tes, 

and when it goes, we a r e virtual ly out o~ the business. 

·And t he Soviets a re build ing t hem . I don' t know what 

the potential p roduction ra t e is, but i t i s probabl y 

at least 5 a month, and they are turning them out, 

brandnew airplanes, so that today in Europe they 

have deployed op.erational units with Fence~S', i n 

excess of 100 of them, with no indication that t he 

program is going to slacken off. We may be facing 

500 of them in . the. next several years while we are 

going out of that· business. 

Those kinds of things: increasing sophistication, 

around-the-clock delivery capability that the soviets 

are striVi"9 · for, as opposed to our new emphasi~ on . . 
non-all-weather capable, cheaper airplanes in accordance 

with the high-low mix philosophies and concepts of 

the Defense Department of previous years. It's almost 

as if the positions have changed 180°. Where we were 

once in the business of stressing sophistic'ation, and 

he was in the ' business of stressing simplicity; now 

the tables are turned, and we are going back to the 

simple airplane, and he's building the complicated 
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and sophisticated one. Why has this happened? Well, 

things were· getting expensive, and we wanted to keep 

costs down while he saw the dramatic results of air­

planes with this kind o.f capability and decided he 

had better get into that business. And he ·jumped in 

with both feet. It's a turn for the worse, believe 

mel 

H: Another real problem in europe--and you commented on 

this in one of your articles and in the War College 

discussion~-is the lack of standardiz~tion of weapon 

systems in Europe. The bombs weren't interchangeable 

for various aircraft, and ammunition was not always 

standardized. Has there been an effort in this 

direction? 

V: I think so. I think General Evans (Lt Gen William J.) 

over there has been working very hard to promote 

interoperability. Standardization is something 

that has to start with the parent governments when 

they first buy weapon systems, but interoperability 

is something that the commander in the field can do. 

I think Evans has done a great deal to improve this. 

What we are talking about here is the ability to load 
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bombs on another guy's airplane, and if he lands at 

your airbase when his own has been destroyed and he 

wants to be turned around and sent back out, you are 

able to refuel t hem and take care of his maintenance 

problem and get him operational again. And they are 

working very hard on this in Europe, but they can 

only do so many things. 

I was struck by our limitations on this when, as I 

mentioned earlier, we first brought the LORAN Pathfinder 

airplanes in and started using them. I said to the 

German Air Foree, "How would you like to make some 

of your pilots available and fly on the wing of a 

Pathfinder to see if we can demonstrate this technique 

and to see if it will work for us? In bad weather 

conditions, if we have to, we'll use my Pathfinders 

for German airplan~s and on occasions when it is 

necessary. • He wholeheartedly ag.reed, and we set up a 

test to ·see if this could be done. We wanted to fly 

German airplanes on our Pathfinders, out on the range 

with live bombs, to see what would happen. 

The first problem we ran into was the shackles were 

different, and the bomb ballistics were different 
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between the two air forces. He couldn't carry our bombs 

on his F-4s, which we were going to use, and con­

versely, we couldn't use his bombs because our com­

puter in our lead airplane, or Pathfinder airplane, 

was set up for American ballistics. Here we were, 

you see, stymied by the inability to carry out this 

mission because of technical d-ifferences in the equip­

ment even though we were both using F-4s. I said, 

•You know, we have to do something about this kind of 

a problem.• So we set about, in our own shops, 

developing shackles that would permit his airplanes 

to carry our bombs. 

When I went back to the States with a proposal that 

we be permitted to do this sort of thing, I ran into 

the usual flak you ·run into. It would require safety 

testS! we'd have to go through a mod [modification] 

program that would take $1/2 million and l 1/2 years to 

improve the new shackles and mount them so we could 

interchange ammo. We said, •saloney.• we got a one­

time exception, and we ran the test 'and actually achieved 

dramatic results with very good accuracies under 

all-weather conditions and with the German airplanes 

actually dropping· their weapons on the wing of an 
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American Pathfinder. But, you know, that drove home 

to me the very thing we are talki~g about here. 

If the real war came and we had to do some of these 

thing~, here we'd be hamstrun9 in ~ major way by 

these little things that exist today. The shackles 

don't fit, or the lugs are different, the MERs 

[multiple ejection racks] and TERs [triple ejection 

racks) are different so we couldn't load our bombs on 

his airplane and vice versa! I think we can go to 

work on those problems and resolve the~, and the cost 

won't be very high. But we certainly have to do 

that, and we have to get on with it. 

M: This is probably a good time to bring this in. Have 

they continued to keep the LORAN and the Pathfinder 

c·oncept in Europe operational since your departure, 

or is that something that just passed with your 

going? 

V: .As far as I know it is still there. The LORAN net is 

still operational, and I think the Pathfinder air­

planes are still over there. Now the actual a~ount 

of work they have done· with it, I can't answer, 
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because I have not been over to OSAFE in some time, 

but I would imagine that any commander would be anxious 

to keep the l imited all-weather capability he has. I 

would suspect it's s till there. 

M: Another short question that I have. You touched on 

the Harrier capabilities over there. Of course, it's 

been very controversial with the Marines in our 

country. Could you share your views on the concept 

of the Harrier and the deployment? Not necessarily 

the Harrier but the aircraft of that nature and the 

operational concept that they feature about dispersal 

and deploying it to abandoned roads and what have 

you • 

. v: The idea, of course, originally was that the airplane 

could operate in forward areas in support of ground 

forces and escape the vulnerability which exists ba~k 

at the home base and concrete runways. It turned 

out, however, that the .British, when they finally 

deployed the airplane, had to tie it to a main base, 

and it was in fact operating from a concrete runway 

and from hangars and fixed facilities just like the 

rest of us. The reason for this was very apparent. 
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I There ~as only so much test equipment, so much ground 

suppor1t equipment, !iO much shop equipment, so much 

electr
1
onic capability, so many ·trained personnel, so 
I 

many bowsers, as they .call them, for refueling the 
I 

airplanes, et ~· If you took that force and 
I spread1 it out in small increments all over the place, 

the equipment simply wouldn't spread around to do 

So we found them sitting there 

on the hard concrete, just like the r~st of us, 

·operatiing from that hard concrete, and I might add, 

operat"ng not in the vertical mode but operating with 
I a ground role just like the rest of us. Now that 

' latter requirement existed from the fact that the 

' airpla
1
ne--if it: takes off vertically--of course, is 

very Ilimite~ in the amount of ordna~ce it could 

carry } With its full fuel load as it starts out on a 

missidn, and a full bomb load, it has got to roll 

along ~the ground. And I noticed this as soon as I 

flew the airplane, that we had to very carefully 

constrain the s~ores we had on board in order to do 

some ~f the things I wanted to see the airplane do. 

What y,ou wind up with then is a very inferior air­

plane !tied to the runway like the rest of us but with 

none 4f the range and payload capability and none of 
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the defensive capability that the conventional air­

plane would have. It's no match, for example, for 

the Soviet airp~anes in air combat, so it's going to 

have to be protected when it's operating in the area, 

and it's payloads are so pitiful by comparison that 

it is a relatively inefficient way to speno your 

money. 

Now having said that, r would also say that there 

are certain circumstances in Europe where the air­

plane may be the only thing we've got left if we are 

successful in dispersing it after the war starts. If 

it hasn't been destroyed on the hard concrete, .and we 

do get it out and dispersed and make heroic efforts 

to support it out in those forwara areas, and if in 

fact someth~ng like the SS-20 is used against the 

main bases, then the Harrier may be one of the few 

airplanes left operating. S?, you've got to think 

about that. On balance, I would say that the airplane 

and the concept is dubious for the reason that I have 

already described, and the effectiveness of the air­

plane is very limited. For example, in discussing 

this with an aircraft manufacturer recently, what 

they hope to achieve with the new Harrier, the improved 

326 



( 

VOGT 

Harrier that the Marines are seeking here in this 

country', I was informed that if and when they get it, 

it'll have approximately the capability of·the old 

A-4. 

Now the A-4 was an airplane that, as you know, has 

limited capabilities. It was built in t~e fifties; 

it's pretty much going out of everybody's force, and 

here we ·are in the eighties bringing in an a-i-rplane 

with about the capabilitie~ of a bird that has long 

since gone by the board. I don't think this is the 

way to do it. we have got to work the problem 

differently. l am not a champion of VSTOL (vertical 

and/or short takeoff and landingJ, certainly not as 

the state of the art indicates the capabilities will 

be for the next 10 years or so. 

M: I have heard, or actually read, a report on the 

Wild Weasel capability, and it led me to believe that 

we had to reinvent it for Southeast Asia, that the 

capability actually existed•for ~orea and was logt, 

and we turned around and reinvented it for southeast 

Asia. With the P-lOSs and the situation they are in 

and the limited number of P-4 Wild Weasels that I 
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understand we have, it appears this may be on the 

hori~on again--losing this technology and this capa­

bility. Would you comment on that? 

V: Well, it's interesting to learn that we did have that 

kind of a technique in Korea. I wasn't aware of it. 

But it certainly wasn't the sophisticated technique 

we finally developed for Vietnam. I know, for example, 

that we didn't have the antiradiation missile which 

is the essential element of the Wild Weasel technique 

in Korea. That came along later when we started 

using . the Shrike missile. The Wild Weasel was in­

dispensable to us in operating in that radar environ­

ment and.that threat environment in the North. It 

did .a tremendous job for us. I campaigned loud and 

long for an improved version of the F-4 Wild weasel 

airplane. I wanted it for Europe as well as for 

Southeast Asia, of course. And I thought, when I 

left the service, that was well established, and we 

were happily going down the road of a substantial 

Wild Weasel program with a new capability. I know 

bu~getary problems and other things will impact, 

and we may not wind up with what we want. 

328 



( , 

VOGT 

Another thing I wanted and was very much concerned 

about was the standoff Jammer. The ·Navy's £A-6B 

proved to be very effective in Southeast Asia and 

helped them screen their forces. lie know in some of 

the company code reports and analyses "that were done 

later that this airplane did a yeoman's j ob. I cam~ 

paigned for the program to convert some F-1lls into 

an EF-111 that could do this kind of a job1 the air­

plane has now been configured. Some. of the test 

results are ext~emely promising. It has about 10 

times the power of . the Navy EA-6B, and I know it's 

going to have ~ devastating effect on Soviet threat 

radars. But 1 also note it's been in and out of the 

program, Happily, in this conference of both Senate 

and House that I just described on the new appropri­

ations bill, the F-lll is still in as I think it 

ought to be. 

The Soviets are concentrating very heavily on electronic 

warfare. They have many, many more jammers, for 

example, than we do, both air and ground. I know 

they intend to wring out of their state-of-the-art 

capability everything they can to degrade our capa­

bilities in the electronic area. I think our own 
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Army, for example, has fallen way behind in this 

race. 

I'm mindful of t~e story told to me recently by Gene 

Fubini. Fubini, you recall, was in DDR&E (Defense 

development research and engineering) at one time in 

the Defense Department, a highly respected man in 

the R&D area. Gene told me recently tha~ he 

suc~eeded, a few months ago, in getting the Army 

to agree in one of their exercise plays here in 

the States to simulate the use of enemy jamming 

during the play of the exercise just to see what 

the ·impact would be on the exercise. The Army 

reluctantly agreed to this a~d finally agreed that 

for a several. hour period the simulation would be 

introduced. Well, after 15 minutes of this, the 

exercise commander came rushing in and said, •we have 

to call this off 1 • Fubini said, •My God, why?• He 

said, •well, we can't proceed with the exercises. 

It's disrupted the whole thing so badly that the 

exercise can't proceed, so you have ~o stop playing 

this.• There's a story in that. You see, rather 

than face the problem and say, •All right, let's run 

the exercise and see where our problems are and how 
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bad we are, • the approach is ra t her one of a,ssuming 

the problem away and gett i ng on with the play the way 

we want t o do i t. 

( ~nd Tape 7, Side 2] 

And I think there is a lot of this in many of our 

military activities today. We jus~ pretend, for 

example, the problem doesn't exist. 

While I am thinking about this, I might introduce 

one other matter of concern to me while I was over 

in Europe. We noted, for example, a great deal of 

activity on the part of the soviet forces in the 

chemical warfare area. I learned, for example, that 

Soviet armor is completely protected against chemical 

warfare weapons. They have filtration devices on 

them to filter the air that comes in. They have 

decontamination devices, some of them very sophisti ­

cated. They can take a whole airplane and wash it 

down qui~kly with a high-power pressure water system, 

or a tank and do the same thing. And they are deadly 

serious about chemical warfare play. We know they 

even used live troops and active chemicals, and they 
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have suffered casualties over the years in their 

practice and their exercise play in efforts to be 

realistic. 

The United States forces in Europe and, for the most 

part, all other allied forces don't have this capa-

bility. You know, one attack by chemical dispensing 

vehicles on any one of our American airbases could 

render them inoperative. we simply don't have the 

decontamination capability. We don't have the equ~p­

ment to do all these things. When we run NATO evalu­

ations by NATO Headquarters of 'our capability to deal 

with chemical attacks, the evaluation reports always 

say that the results were disastrous and the capa­

.bility is submarginal. 

Now what do we do to cope with this situation? We 

assume that the Sovi6ts will comply with t~e Geneva 

Convention and never use chemical weapons, and we 

don't have to concern ourselves with. the prepara-

tions necessary to meet .the problem. But is this a 

wise course? I seri'ously doubt itl The Soviets, 

themselves, have some reason to believe that chemicals 

may be employed and are doing all these things so 
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they can employ them and be ready, if and when. 

And we sit ther~, I guess in the blind hope that it's 

never going to happen, with our ·head in the sanl:l. 

M: This may be an appropriate time--you partially answered 

· it, but you were talking about Southeast Asia and the 

Communists signing and agreeing to a treaty, or an 

agreement, and then turning around in 1 week or 

2 weeks' time · and just openly and blatantly. vi?lating 

it. Of course, the comments recently about USAFB~ 

maybe you would care to comment on the SALT talks and 

the position we are putting ourselves into, the 

vulnerability in view of your feelings on the Communist 

ability to uphold the treaty. 

V: Well, SALT has been a matter of some concern to me 

for quite some time. I have spent some time lookin~ 

into the problem. In fact, very recently I was 

invited over to ACDA (Arms Control and Disarmament 

Agency) and given a briefing by Spurgeon Keen.y, who 

,is the Deputy Director of ACDA, to make me aware 

of the things that are being done an~, presumably, to 

allay some of my concerns and fears. I was apprecia~ 

tive of that briefing and some of the things .he 
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told me were very useful and helpful in resolving 

some of the concerns in my mind. 

I am basically concerned, however, wit~ the general 

problem of the mismatch of strategic forces that I 

see emerging on both sides. This really isn't some­

thing we can pin on SALT negotiators. It's somethi~g 

which has happened and which is a cause, I believe, 

for great concern. The soviets have chosen to em~ha­

size the development of large missiles with great 

throw weights and to emphasize the development of new 

submarine-launched missile systems wnich p~:esumably 

will be relatively invulnerable but which will have 

exceedingly long ranges and improved accuracies, so 

they don't have to move their subs forward where 

they can fall victim to our sosus [sound and sur­

veillance system] nets and our 'ASW {antisubmarine 

warfare] .capability. And they have obviously decided 

to go into the MIRV (multiple independently targetable 

reentry vehicle! business in a very substantial way. 

~ow, "the combination of large throw weights and 

developing HIRV techniques gives them, potentially, 

the capability to have many more reentry vehicle& to 
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do the job that must be done than we have. we used 

to talk, during SALT I negotiations, about this lead 

the United States had in reentry vehicles because of 

our MIRV techniques. That talk has now diminished 

in the face of what we've seen, which is the Sov iet 

exploitation of the earlier agreements which takes 

advantage of large throw weights and no limits on 

MIRV techniques • . so that we are faced now, I think, 

with a US force which is qrowingly vulnerable and 

obsolescent and which, ·I think, by early 1980's will 

be susceptible to destruction by Soviet surprise 

attacK. 

Just to refresh your memory on this, you recall the 

Minuteman II force as a single-warhead thing and 

somewhat vulnerable. The Minuteman III is the only 

land-based MlRV warhead vehicle that has three MIRVS; 

it is limited in size ·and dimensions to essentially 

that configu-ration. And the new Soviet weapon sy_stems­

going into the field, like th~ SS-18 for example, 

·theoretically can carry as many as 20 MIRvs·. So when 

we agree to limits on the number of launch platforms 

or holes out of which these missiles are being launched, 

and, as a matter of fact; give them a larger number 
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permitted under the agreement than we are permitted, 

and while at. tho same time permittinq them these 

lar9e missiles which we, ourselves, don't have , and 

\lhich we are prohibited from building by the terms of 

the same agreement, we arc in fact building, I think, 

a vast, both qualit~tive and numerical !nferiority 

on the side of the West. I can foresee the day when 

we will be outqunned in terms of actual warheads that 

can come down on us by very substantial margins. 

We·are told that we can live with this situation 

because we have a tremendous advantage in the bomber 

area. And here is where, I think, the great danqer 

.lies--in our promoting the view that we can, in fact, 

equate some ancient B-52s with modern Soviet missiles. 

Tho bulk cf the B• S;! force can't penetrate any more. 

I saw that and I described the problems we had trying 

to keep it alive over Hanoi against relatively un­

sophisticated SA-2s. so you c·an forget about its 

doing a job in the Soviet pnion. What you wind up 

with then is the B-52, essentially, as a standoff 

missile carrier. By the terms of the 'same agreement, 

'the number of standoff missile carriers we can have 

336 

This page is declassified IA W EO 13526 





VOGT 

will be strictly limited, ~ocause we have agreed that 

this B-52 carrier will be counted <UI ono of the ~IIRV 

launchers, just like any other missile. so · i~ we 

vant to stay within the numerical constraints thl\t 

have been placed on the total number of HlRV launchers, 

we either have to give up some Minutemen or some 

submarine launch vehicles or limit the number of 

B-52_s that we can employ in this mode. And that 

figure is roughly 120. So we have agreed, you see, 

to limit ourselves, essentially, to about 120 B-52 

cruise missile carriers. 

And because we ·are using the B-52, the number we 

can carry is extremely limited. It will be limited 

to about 20 cruise missiles. so the kinds of numbers 

we are talking about is l20 ' launch platforms with no 

more than 20 missiles on each one. That is supposed 

to offset all the factors that I descr·ibed earlier-­

the much heavier throw weights and.the large MIRV 

capability of the soviet weapon systems. 

The SOviets, on the other hand, have very cleverly 

manaqed to keep their own strategic bomber out of the 

count. Nobody would deny today that the Backfire 
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bomber is capable of reaching the United States. 

Everybody admits that it is. In fact, all the work 

I have done on it, and I have done some very e xtensive 

work, especially when I was a mer.mer of Team •a• and 

examining that Backfire capability, leads me and 

leads everybody in the Defense Department to the 

conclusion that with one refueling the airplane 

has a very, very fine capability against the conti­

nental United States. In fact, unre(ueled it is a 

5,000-mile plus airplane. If you refuel it, you are 

talking 7,000 miles or more, and it carries a vc~y 

impressive bomb load at that distance, And it's a 

supersonic airplane. It's got lots of 900d bomb nav 

capability on it as opposed to the lumbering·, slow 

B-52. Now that's out from under SALT. The only 

thing we will get from the Soviets is a written 

promise that they won't use it against the United 

States. No limits placed on it in any other way, you 

-see, other than stated intent not to employ it against 

us, (~ecently they promised not to increase production 

levels, but they refused to admit what these levels 

are.) 

So we will have to unilat~rally decide what these 
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leve l s are and say , "Okay, that's it, No~ you won't 

i ncrease it above t his f igure." And whe the r or not 

they do , we'll never know, a nd t hey 'll never te l l us 

what t he production rate is, Now t ha t ' s th ki nd of 

a bo~ we are ge tting ourse l ves into. 

You?ee, we 're, i n our own minds at least, equating 

some ancient B-5 2 capability with th i s vast new missile 

capability being developed by the Soviets and leaving 

out from their side of the equation a very modern 

bomber that's currently in production; the B-52 has 

long since been out o f production; it's a 20-year-old­

plus airplane. They're producing this thing at the 

rate of two, three, four, five a month, and it's 

going i nto the active force, and it's not going to be 

counted under the SALT agreeme~ts. 

So what I see em~rging is an imbalance, and I th i nk 

it's in considerable part one of our own making because 

of our overinflated judgments of the .capability of 

this ancient bomber force, Now the situation' would 

have been eased somewha t, of course, if we had boen 

permi tted to go ahead with the B-1 even though, as I 

said earlier, it was .being cheapened. And indeed all 
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the earlier discussions from SALT I on by earlier 

administrations had talked in terms of, wwe•re doing 

all this and agreeing to all these things beca~se we 

are going ahead with the B-1, and this modernlzed · 

bombe r force will make the difference.• But now 

that's fallen out, and we are still talking about the 

same equations and the same agreements minus the 

·modernization of the bomber force, and the cruise 

missile is supposed to make the difference. 

The cruise missile will have limits placed on it. 

I have discussed the numerical limits . Additionally, 

the Soviets are moving forward rapidly on new surface­

to-air missiles which could seriously threaten .our 

cruise missiles. These are the things that trouble 

me about SALT. 

Not only that but there are other things that I 

haven't discussed, like the SOviets have already 

tested an intercontinental mobile missile. It happens 

to be the SS-16, . the SS-20 we talked about earlier 

with another stage added to it, and the Soviets have 

the option, if they want to, to take the SS-20 and to 

put a third stage on it. We'll never know how many 



VOG'J.' 

third stages they develop and store somewhere, and, 

lo and behold, convert 'tha t SS-20 force, which is out 

from under all SALT constraints, into n interconti-

nontal force . When you talk to people, they say, 

"Oh, they won't do that. Nol They're going to get 

rid of the SS-16. Heckl They promised that they arc 

not <JOing to go ahead 11ith the deployment of that.• 

But · the fact is, they have already successfully tested 

and have in being a missile, third stage of the 

SS-20--which, incidentally, is launched from the 

same vehicle as the SS-20, and as far as we know, from 

the same TEL, transporter erector launcher. And, 

as a matter of fact, when a missile is sitting on 

that. SS-20, you can't tell whether it's an SS-16 or 

s~-20 becau~e it's in a cocoon, and the cocoon is 

big enough to house the third-stage version as well 

as the two-stage, and you never know what you are 

looking at. 

These things disturb me and cause me anxiety about 

the future, and I'm not certain the people in the 

business have enough military knowledge about the 

capabilities . concerned to really make v~lid judgments 

in these areas. I'm also concerned that we have 
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oversold our bomber capability and our willingness· to 

trade it off against substantial numbers of new, 

mode rn systems the Russ i a ns are bringing in, 

H: Paul l~arnke [Director, ACDA), as you know, is our 

chie f SALT negotiator, and he still voices the idea 

that nuclear war i s so unthinkable t he Soviets wouldn't 

dare engage in anything like this--neither side for 

that matter would engage in this. Uow do you view 

tha
1
t type of thinking? 

V: \'lell, this gets me back to my activities on Teall\ "B", 

which you may recall was an effort by the Ford Adminis-

tration to have an independent look taken at our 

intelligence-estimating process. Our national in-

telligence estimates in the strategic area have, I 

think for a long time, been understating both the 

capability and the intent of the Soviets in the 

strategic ~rea. If you go back 10 or 15 years, you 

find these esti111ates all saying the Soviets were 

' concerne~ with their position of inferiority an~ 

wanted to achieve parity with the United States, and 

after parity was achieved, they would level off. 

1-lell, then when the numbers got to the point where 
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parity was achieved, the rationale had to change, and 

they bo9an to thrash around in these e.&timatcs for 

reasons why the Sovie ts were now go.i.ng beyond what 

was obviou.& l y parity, The ki nds of reasons that wer e 

advanced weren' t very convincing to me, certainly, 

and indeed what they amounted to was a flat statement, 

"We don't know what their intentions are.• 

Team "B" was brought together in an effort to take a 

hard look at this estimating process and to see 

whether some things were being left out of these 

judgments and evaluations. You may recall that Dr. 

Richard Pipes from Harvard was put on this. He's a 

real capable guy, a Sovietologist, who has been 

looking at the Soviet scene 'for many, many years, A 

number of us who had had experience in the business 

were brought in, and i think we had the general feel­

ing when all the dust had settled that the intelligen~e 

system, ·~ !!• had failed to keep pace with the real 

intentions and objectives of the Soviets. I think 

most of us had the feeling, and'I certainly have the 

f.eeling today, that the soviets are not going to be 

content with parity, and they're not going to be 

content with achieving equality. They are, in fact, 
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after nuclear superiority, and they do believe it 

is. pos~ible for a nuclear war to be fought. I 

think here is the greatest area for policy examination. 

And we ought to really be bearing in on this one. 

If the United states believes, officially, nuclear 

war is unthinkable, then we are never going to do the 

things · that will permit us to fight a war should that 

war occur. And indeed that seems to be the way we 

are going. For example, in all of NATO there are no 

nuclear pr~tected facilities. All .the command centers 

and facilities, even the facilities that I talked 

about . like Boerfink that we have been striving to put 

together, are not nuclear capable or nuclear pro­

tected. The Soviets, on the other. hand, have developed 

deep underground protection devices and shelters. 

They've hardened all their communications against 

nuclear blasts, and they've gone to great extremes to 

see that the system will function in a nuclear .environ­

ment. 

ln Europe, we don't practice nuclear procedures with 

our troops. We aren't out there running decontami­

nation exercises, and we aren't simulating two-sided, 
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large-scaled nuclear war. You ask an American GI 

how to handle himself on a nuclear battlefield, and 

he wouldn't have the fundamentals, for . God's sake, 

and yet we see soviet troops actu~lly being exercised 

in so-called nuclear environments. 

So what this suggests to me is the Soviets really do 

believe that it is possible to fight a nuclear war; 

it may be necessary someday to do it; it · is thinkable, 

and they intend to fight and prevail and to be ready 

if and when it ·happens. we, on the other hand, 

adopting the views of peopie like Warnke, are assuming 

it's so unthinkable and so horrible. that it will 

never happen; it'll always be deterred and, therefore, 

we don't have to make all the preparations to actually 

fight when the time comes. I think this is an over­

simplification, but in reality it's a pretty realistic 

appraisal of what we are talking about. 

It explains why there is no civil defense program 

here to speak of in the United States, and why ~here 

is a very substantial one over in the Soviet Union. 

It explains why they go to great ends for nuclear 

protection of their tanks and their armo~ed personnel 

345 



VOGT 

c·arriers, and why they give th-eir troops all this 

training, and why we don't. It explains, for example, 

why even the great facilities we have in this country, 

like Cheyenne Mountain for the Air Defense Conmand, 

are not really capable against nuclear attack, and 

why the SAC Command Post, even though it's under-

ground, will be dug out very quickly by the fi:st 

blast that hi~s it. We've never really seriously 

talked about hardening them for nuclear war. The 

difference in this philosophy, as I say, is one of 

deterrence and the other of being capable of fighting; 

it's a war-fighting concept versus a deterrence 

concept. 

Now, the only thing I can say is: I hope to God 

Warnke is right, but if he's wrong, we are in deep 

trouble because we aren't doing the things we ought 

to be doing· to cope with the situation should it turn 

out the way I suspect the Soviets think it may. 

M: You actual.ly preempted what I was getting to. r' 

changed my mind about three different times on the 

question. I guess at this time the appropriate thing 

would be to kind of relate it back with a question I . 
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had in mind abo~t your comments on when you saw the 

forthcom i ng buildup in Southeast Asia and your report 

fe ll on dea f ea rs . Ge neral Keegan (Haj Ge n Georg 

J,, Jr.) has been pr e tty outspoken on the capabilit ies 

o f the Soviets, and h is crying alarm has sort o f fell 

on dea f ears, too, and ~eople in responsible positions 

hav~ tended to shove him off in a corner and ignore 

him. I guess wha t I am driving at is that I believe 

you share some of his beliefs but maybe not to the · 

extreme. Is this a true assessment? 

V: \~ell, General Keegan- and I) of course, know each 

other quite well, and I have had very fine relation­

ships with him. He was very helpful to me at the 

time I was involved in the Team •s• effort, making 

all his information ava i lable to me, as indeed d1d 

all the Defense Intelligence pursonnel. And I must 

admit that Keegan has been in the vanguard ~f a lot 

of things that have turned out to be right over the 

years. ¥ou know, his record is a pretty doggone good 

one in forecasting Soviet developments. I think his 

problem is that if he gets things out too far ahead 

of the intelligence community there is a tendency for 

everybody to dismiss them as bein9, you ~now, way 
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out. This is unfortunate, because the man has con­

tributed a tremendous amount to the quality and the 

effectiveness of our intelligence reporting, but he 

does tend to be pushed out into that lu~atic fringe 

area by policy makers and responsible people, because 

he is so far in advance of the normal intelligence 

community thinking. I think Keegan would be more 

effective if he cama back and got a little closer, 

still stayed out in front and made the case he's . 

making but rid himself of the extremist ima~e that 

people pin qn him. You know; in the long run, he may 

be right; he may be the guy who was •crying in the 

wilderness," but if he couldn't be effective and 

couldn't convince people because he was branded and 

pushed out there, his contribution would be thereby 

limited. I say he should get back a little closer 

and still continue to do what has to be done and 

· build fires under people and prod people but get 

listened to and believed, because people think he is 

no longer way out in righ~ field. 

H.: Oo you believe there should be greater parhcipation 

by our European Allies in shaping NATO policies and 

decisions? Do you think it's adequate now, or should 
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t hey have a g r ea t e r role i n th i s? 

Wel l, I t hink the mach i ne r y exists for t heir pa r t i e-

i pa tion. I don • t t hink the united Sta tes i s goi ng to 
• 

escape t he fact, howe ve r, that we are the b ig brother 

in the alli<lnce, and we a r e going to ha ve to take the 

l ead in most o f thes e th i ngs, It's going to be a 

case of constantly bring ing them along wit ti us , urg ing 

them into greater e f f orts, and in many cases, pointing 

the. way. You know, most of these countries haven't 

been involved in a war in a long time, since ~'iorld 

~lar 11 in the bulk o f t he cases, and they are behincl 

in their concepts and techn i ques and everything else. 

We've been active l y involved in a cou~le of wars 

since then. 1 think we owe them leadership. I think 

they look to the United States for leadership, but I 

think if we exerc i se th i s leadership with the machinery 

that is already established, they can get thei~ word 

in and certainly will. 

H: What about nuclear weapons in this regard? Do you 

think they should have a bigger say-so in this? 

V: I think they have a very large say-so in the nucl~ar 
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weapons business right now, and that may be part of 

the problem. There's still a tendency in Eu~ope to 

want to rely on these nuclear weapons as the panacea 

or the answer to all their problems, and we've been 

very forthcoming with them. You know, we created the 

Nuclear Consultation Committee in an effort to con­

vince them that they will have a voice in any decision 

to use nuclear weapons. We keep them informed on 

new developments in the nuclear realm. As a matter 

of fact, I was one of the architects of the Nuclear 

Consultation Committee idea way back in 1962 and 

1963 and proposed this when I was head of the Policy 

Planning Staff as a necessary device to keep our 

allies informed of what was happening in the nuclear 

area. This was adopted by Secretary McNamara, and I 

attended the first conference in Paris of defense 

ministers when he formally proposed this. It was a 

very interesting meeting, incidentally, and I might 

take a second to tell this story. 

The multilateral force had run into great trouble-­

multilateral force which involved everybody having 

their hand on the nuclear trigger by being part 

of ~ixed crews either on submarines or vessels. 
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And that had all died aborning for a lot of reasons1 

one of them being that Admiral Ricxover (Adm Hyman G.) 

didn't want US submarines exposed to foreign crews 

and said, •No; you can't ~se our submarines.• That 

kind of cut . the ground out of that proposal, and then 

they had to go to the use of .merchant snips, and they 

became so patently vulnerable and so easy to handle 

that it oidn't seem like a good idea any more, and 

the thing began to die. 

Ther~~was a need, however, to meet the natural aspira­

tions of the Europeans for some involvement in the 

nuclear decision making process and the n~clear 

warfare that might occur within NATO. True, they 

had ORA aircraft, and we supplied weapons to some 

airplanes, but this is a relatively modest role, and 

we kept the weapons locked up under US keys. 

I proposed to Secretary McNamara, I think it was in 

1962 or 1963 when this problem was created, that we 

develop a mechanism for meeting with the allies and 

giving them a share and a voice in all the nuclear 

procedures and discussions tnat were going on in this 

country. McNamara bought this, and we proceeded to 
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Paris so he could formally propose this. Now at .the 

defense ministers' meeting that year in Paris, every 

defense minister had a proposal of his own, and 

McNamara's got sort of buried under all the mass of 

proposals that were made, and it didn't create much 

of a stir. As a matter of fact, the French were very 

active at that time in those circles and didn't like 

the idea because it suggested that nuclear consulta­

tion could be a substitute for every country having 

his own nuclear capability. They were pushing the 

force-de-frappe and the nuclear capabi~ity that was in 

France, and they didn't like the idea of somebody 

saying, "Hey, we'll handle i~, but we'll keep you 

informed, and we'll let you be part of the decision 

making process. Just rely on us.• so they tried to 

scuttle the program. 

(End Tape 8, Side 1) 

McNamara got hold of me that afternoon and he said, 

"I want you to represent us on the communique writing 

committee because, after all, the communique that is 

issued will in effect determine the outcome ot this 

conference. If we can put in ' this communique the 
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statement that I had proposed a Nuclear Consuitation 

Committee, that'll get wide publicity all around the 

world and, you know , we'li be on our way to ge t ting 

our idea bou9ht." So I said, •okay,• a lthough I 

thought l was a little over my head in communique 

wr iting, e~pec ial ly when he had his own Assis t ant 

Secretary of Defense f or Public Af fai rs with him 

who is normal ly i n tha t business. 

In _ a~y case, when I went into this meeting to draft 

the communique, I . discovered that a draft had already 

been circulated by the Secretariat who vas h~ndling 

these meetings. He happened to be a Frenchman. And 

there was no ment i on of McNamara's Nuclear· consultation 

Committee idea. I sa i d, •well, I'm sorry; I can't 

concur on the communique because you haven't ment i oned 

secretary McNamara's dynamic new proposal.• This man 

who was running the show said, •well, General Vogt, 

if everybody in this t'Oom insisted on having hi s own 

defense minister's pet project put into this communique, 

it would be 100 pages long. Now what I have here 

is a balanced view of what happened. It .doesn't 

commit anybody to anything, and there is no room for 

your Secretary's discussion of the consultation 
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committee.• I said, •r•m sorry; I can't agree to 

it.• So he said, •you had better go back and get 

instructions, and we'll meet a9ain in the morning.• 

I went back to the hotel and "got hold of my boss, who 

I think was John McNaughton at the time. He was 

Assistant . Secretary to ISA, and I explained the 

problem. He said, •well, we had better go see 

-th-e- Secretary. • We went up ·to his room in the 

hotel, and I said, •Mr. Secretary, I want to 

report that I was unable to carry our your wishes. 

I was stonewalled by the Secretariat and by every­

body else there. They don't want to mention your 

consultation committee agreement. Now, I suggest 

that in the main session tomorrow .you bring up this 

problem and get it resolved. Tell them you are 

not going to agree to any communique unless they put 

your views in.• Whereupon McNamara looked me in the 

eye, and he said,, •vogt, you didn • t understand what I 

told you to do. I told you to get that communique 

written in a way which features my proposal. Now, 

you get back in there and do it. • •Thank you •. • 

Well, I went downstai[s to the bar, thinking of 
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nothing else to . do but to drown my concerns and 

sorrows, and I was sitting there wondering what I was 

going to do tomorrow because, obviously, I wa's up 

against or between two hard places--"the rock and the 

hard spot•--when in came the Secretary's Assistant 

for Public Affairs, and he sat down alongside me and 

he said, "You look pretty glum. What's the matter?" 

I said, "Well, I have this dilemma," and I told him 

what had happened. He ~ommiserated ~ith me and then 

left • . 

The next morning when 1 woke up the Paris edition 

of the New York Times and the Tribune and virtually 

all the other papers and the foreign press had big 

headlines saying, "McNamara Proposes Dynamic New Pro­

cedure for Nuclear Consultation in . the Alliance." 

When I reported to the Communique writing Committee 

later on that morning, I was met by this irate member 

of U:e Secretariat who accused me of leaking this to 

the press so he would be compelled to take cognizance 

of it in the communique, Well, naturally, I did no 

leaking and I can't prove it, but. the gentleman who 

was sitting alongside me at the bar had all these 

contacts, and the fact that the leak occurred, I 
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think, is rather significant. And it was very easy, 

then, for me to put this thing in the communique. I 

said, "Obviously, gentlemen, the whole world is talk­

ing about this. It's headlines in all the papers, 

and we obviously have to address it in the communique." 

Everybody else agreed, and they reluctantly stated 

that McNamara had proposed this. 

Now that broke the ice and ' we did, in fact, proceed 

later to meetings to organize this. Over the years 

since then, we have had this device for discussing 

nuclear matters with our allies. so there is a pro­

cedure and a method in effect to keep them abreast 

of what is happening and informed on nuclear matters. 

We do have a commitment to consult them on nuclear 

matters and the use of nuclear weapons. 

H: As you are probably aware, Mr. McNamara was not 

always too cognizant of the sensibilities, particularly 

of the British, and I am referring now to the sudden 

and abrupt cancellation of the Skybolt. They had 

relied on this very heavily for their defense system, 

and without any prior notice at all, he cancelled' it. 

I understand they didn't get over that for a long 
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time 'afterwards. 

V: This was part of the same problem that I described 

earlier. Not only the demise of the •tLF but the 

cancellation of the Skybolt had, you know, very severe· 

effects. It sounded as if the United States was 

trying to free~e everybody out of the nuclear business, 

that we wanted to have an exclusive province of our 

own. So the consultation idea was an attempt to 

reassure them that they did, in fact, have a voice in 

nuclear matters. We did ·~ake many ~ommitments over 

the years to them, to actually hear their voice in 

all these matters. So I think it did. to some extent, 

allay fears and concerns. Without it, 1 think we 

would have been in serious trouble with many of these 

countries who did have the feeling that we had delib­

erately .sought to exclude them. 

Of course, the estrangement of France from NATO was, 

largely, one of the results of this earlier policy. 

I think M~Namara can be held largely culpable in this 

area. He simply turned off ' all access to nuclear 

information and data to the French who, incidentaliy, 

were key members of the NATO alliance. 1 can under­

stand why they expressed great alarm and concern and 
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reacted the way they did. They didn't want to be 

treated like a poor second cousin when they deserved 

to be permitted to have at least as much as we gave 

our other allies, certainly the British. The French 

reaction was very predictable. So I think McNamara 

did have this blindspot. He wasn't concerned about 

European sensibilities, nor was he concerned about 

the sensibilities of his generals ' that worked for 

him, I might add. (laughter) 

H: Well, did we overcome the problem of the French with• 

drawing from NATO? Do you think we adequ'ately com­

pensated for it? 

V: No, no, no. French nonparticipation in the military 

aspects of NATO--you know, they are still in on the 

political side with both feet--but withdrawing as 

they did from military participation in NATO circles 

has been, is a terrible blow to NATO. You know! I 

tor one cannot conceive of NATO successfl.llly fighting 

a war without French coli'UIIitment. There's no way. 

For starters, the major POL (petroleum, oil and 

lubricants] pipeline for supplying all our US bases 
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in Germany comes through France. Just contemplate 

their turning that off someday in order to stay 

neutral and not ge t involved in the war • . Yes; the 

whole thing has horrendous possibilities. The French 

would have to be in; they would have to be in with 

their air effort; they would have to be in the defenses 

of the rear area. We are going to need their territory 

and space for maneuver. We need tne contribution ot 

French forces. As you know; there is a French division 

in Germany even. today. And if they don't fight 

effectively in support of their area of the line, we 

are going to have grave problems and difficulties. 

So I can't conceive of France not effectively working· 

within the alliance. That's why I worked so hard 

when I was over there to work with the French military. 

I must say that the French were very forthco•oing. 

Not only did I have excellent relationships with 

General Rentier, who was the tactical air commander 

of these French forces in Germany, but I was invited 

to consult with all the m.ajor ·air commanders from the 

Chief of the F~ench Air. Force on down to the chief 

of the strategic forces and their air defense forces. 

I was taken to their strategic command center, which 
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is equivalent to our SAC Command Post. I'm one of 

the few men who was invited down, actually, in the silo 

of the French missile, strategic missile, to discuss 

its capabilities and its e.nployrnent. I was in the 

heart of their underground command ·center and talked 

to the two launch officers that were on duty about 

their procedures and responsibilities in the event of 

nuclear war. And I did the same thing in regard to 

their underground facilities in the air defense net­

work. I had a free and full exchange with them on 

military thinking in all these areas. So I think the 

French, themselves, recognize that their lot is 

pr~tty much thrown in with ours"in the event of an 

actual Soviet wa! in Europe. They want to cooperate, 

but they have political constraints now. 

You know they've never lived down, certainly the 

Gaullists in France have never lived down, this affront 

to their sensibilities resulting from their second­

class treatment during this era that we just described. 

It's going to take awhile to overcome that, but we've 

got to do it. 

H: What about these inroads of communism in .both the 
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French and Ita.lian Governments? 1'hey have made 

sizable gains in the elections in recent years. 

V: Well, it was getting to be rather threatening there 

at one point, but I think the tide has recedeo now . 

I think the Communists have rather overplayed their 

position. The terrorist activities of the Communist 

elements in all the countries of Europe have, I think, 

caused revulsion on the part of the popUlace. I 

don't. think they have the support now that they had 

just as recent as 1 year ago. So I thin.k we .have 

stemmed that tide pretty effectively for the moment. 

There is a school of thought, of course, that suggests 

~e shouldn't actually stamp out or vigorously· oppose 

the development -of independent Collllllunist parties in 

.Europe. The thought goes something like this: 

Moscow has sought, through its party apparatus over 

the years, to control the foreign policy and the 

internal affairs of many of its Communist-allied 

partners, and cert·ainly in the east European countries 

they have been effective over the years in keeping 

these people in line. 
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They were seeking, through _the aid they gave the 

Communist parties in the Western World, to oevelop 

strong militant units that essentially could take 

over, seiz~ power in their own countries, and remain 

allied to the Soviet Union. But now we find some of 

these parties are beginning to break openly with some 

of the policies of the Soviet Union. There was quite 

a bit of outspoken opposition to the Soviet move into 

Czechoslovakia, fo! example, anq what they did in 
I 

Czechoslovakia later. 

There has been a great deal of outspoken criticism in 

the Communist parties in the Western World against 

some of the civil rights infringements that have been 

going on recently within the soviet Union ·itself. 

There has ~een sympathy expressed for some of the 

writers in Eastern Europe and in the Soviet Union who 

have been, as you know, brought to trial and con-

demned as traitors to the state.• So it may be what 

we are seeing is a break in the Soviet apparatus of -

control over Communist parties in the West, and they 

all now seem to be more or less tending to go in 

their own direction, and they are openly questioning 

· whether or not there has to be a complete subservience 
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and adherence to the Soviet view of world politics 

and of Communist doctrine itself~ 

Now, I think, on balance, this isn't a bad move. I 

wouldn't want to see any of these governments actually 

seize . power, but I would want to encourage all of 

them to be more and more independent of the Soviet 

Union and to be more and more critical of Soviet 

pol~cy, 'because it's bound ~o work in the long run in 

the tempering of the Soviet position and view. 

They've got to contend with this. It's all right for 

the so-called degenerate West to criticize their 

policies, but now when they get criticisms from 

Communist parties in the Western World, this hurts, 

and it has a great impact on the thinking of a lot of 

people, and the net result may be that we will see, 

in Eastern Europe itself, a gro~ing independence of 

these east European satellites from the Soviet master 

and fractionaliz~ng of the Soviet empire. I'm 1n 

favor of that. 

H; As you know, some of the independent Communist parties 

in the West have criticized the Soviet-Cuban incursions 

in Africa. And yet, at the same time, . so11e of our 
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people in high places in our own Government have 

sort of qualified these incursions. 

V: Ironic, isn't it? Who's mixed up, · huh? (laughter) 

M: This might be a point to interject, sir. Having been 

in USAFE in the position that you were, how critical 

do you think Tito's [Josip Brozovitch) death would 

be in the way Yugoslavia goes as far as whether they 

are going to survive or whether Russia will actually 

make a ' move on it? 

V: Well, a lot of people-have spent a lot of time analyzing 

the possibilities there. What it boils down to is 

that there are certain exploitable . elements within 

Yugoslavia that, if manipulated skillfully by the 

So~iets, could result in a split within Yugosl~vi~ 

which, in turn, could be turned to Soviet ·advantage. 

In other words, they might be able to promote ·an 

element within the country which they could then 

identify and which could ultimately take over and 

bring Yugoslavia back into the Soviet sphere. I 

think that's probably going to be an o~jective of the 

Soviets if and when Tito dies. 
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There are.certain constraints on the Soviets in this 

area. You know, one of the most outspoken and vo~if­

erous minorities is the Albanian minority in Yugoslavia. 

The Albanians, however, are probably more critical 

of the Soviets today than anybody in all of Europe. 

As you know, they have been aligned with the Chinese 

for a long time. They recently had a split with the 

Chinese, and I don't know who they are aligned with 

· today, if anybody, but it's quite clear that they 

have no desire to be brought back into the Soviet 

sphere. So they would have some influence, of course, 

on how the Albanian minority reacts within Yugoslavia, 

and this is one of the large mi~ority elements. .l 

think there is over 1 million of them. I would 

suspect that the Soviet's ability to manipulate this 

minority is going to be very limited in view of what 

I have just said. 

Now there are other elements th~t probably are more 

likely to be exploited--minority groups that are 

associated with other eastern satellite countries, 

Rumania, Hungary, and so forth. I think that the 

most objective analys.is ·I have read today is con­

vincing in that it feels Tito has, in fact, prepared 
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the mechanism for the transfer of power to prevent 

this from happening, and every effort will be made to 

see that there is no major split and the minorities 

will be carefully handled by the successor government 

to preclude th~ Soviets from making an issue of it. 

So the only other recourse would be for the soviets 

to move in in a forceful manner ~ith a military 

force and strength, and I don't think they are prepared 

to do that tpday, the state of the world being what 

it is. 

·~hey've got to be very careful how they expend those 

chips they have in the use of de~onstrated force 

in that part of the world today, because they are 

sitting right now on somewhat of a tinderbox. You 

know, we are running into all kinds of evidence that 

the satellite countries are growing more and more 

restive. We hear about a resurgence of nationalism 

in these countries. we know none of these countries 

have any love for the Soviet occupying forces. We 

know that most of them would like to talk . about the 

day when those forces will be withdrawn. I think the. 

Soviets, themselves, are aware that there's a ground 

swell against their occupation.. We have things 
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happening today like something that would have been 

unheard of a few years ago, in my judgment. 

For example, the Chinese Premier being invited over 

by the Rumanian Government for discussions. These 

are actually taking place, you see, despite Soviet 

objections, which indicates that the Rumanians now 

feel they can push the Soviets with regard to an 

independent policy. Everybody knows, of course, that 

the Chinese are not exactly welcome in any Soviet 

camp any,.johere, but here you are looking at a situation 

where they are actually being invited into a satellite 

country. So there is a certain unrest in there and 

unease. And I think the Soviets have to be very 

careful how they play that situation over the coming 

months. 

I think what I am saying is, I hope the Yugoslav 

transition to a new government, if and -when the time 

comes, will be a smooth one, and the Soviets 'will not 

be able to fish in troubled waters. But to be quite 

frank with you, there is nothing NATO can do to really 

alter it except to use the full force of its moral 

persuasion and world public opinion and UN outcry and 
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so forth as a weapon against this. If it ever came 

down to the requirement to use military force to 

protect Yugoslavia, I think you would find the answer 

would be "No," there ate no plans in NATO for that 

kind of thing. NATO is strictly a defensive alliance 

for the NATO countries concerned • 

. H: General Robert J. Dixon recently stated before the 

Senate Armed Forces Committee, right before his retire­

ment this year, that American airpower could not 

succeed against an improving Soviet Air Force. Do 

you ·share General Dixon's pessimism? 

V: Let me say that Boo and I thought alike on many, ntany 

issues with regard to the growing threat in Europe, 

and I think we had a ·good, close working relationship 

when I was USAFE Commander and he was the TAC Commander. 

Many of the things I was trying to achieve, he was 

supporting me on, and I am very grateful for the 

kind of support he gave me in a lot of these efforts 

that I was making. I think he was making real strides 

in putting TAC on a real operational businesslike 

basis. Bob is like me in many re~pects; he is blunt 

and outspoken. we aren't, either of us, noted for 
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our great diplomacy, and I think we tend to make 

statements occasionally that people seize upon as 

evidence of our being out of line or extreme. 

Basically, what he is saying, and I certainly concur 

in this, is that if trends continue, we a.re going to 

be outpaced in Europe. If the Soviets continue to 

modernize and improve and reequip and a~gment their 

capabilities the way they have been doing the last 3 

or 4 years, we will ~n fact be outpaced. We have 

already talked about the kinds of things they're 

bringing in. The rate of modernization has been 

unprecedented. You know, they have been modernizing 

at a rate which has never had a counterpart in the 

Western l~orld. No air force has ever been so com­

pletely equipped in such a short period of time 

as the Soviet Air Force, and we see no signs of it 

slackening. These things are coming in. 

I have already talked about the Fencer, that when 1 

first went over there they had none of them deployed 

operationally, or just a handful of them. And when I 

was leaving over there, you know, the numbers had 

swelled to a respectable amount and today that numoer 
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is in excess of 100 and , operationally, it's deployed-­

a brandnew airplane coming in and rapidly getting 

into the field and being operationally deployed. You 

know, it's a tremendous ach~evem~nt, and here they 

are turning it out in substantial numbers. Floggers 

com~ng out in great numbers and, in most cases, being 

flown into the forward areas as if it was an urgent 

requirement to get them there in a hurry instead of 

more economically shipping them in on flatcars and 

railroad ·trains. So there seems to be a sense of 

urgency about their efforts to modernize. 

1 would agree with him that, in the long run, unless 

we pull ourself up by the bootstraps and do the things 

we have to do, we are going to be outgunned in the 

air in Europe. · ~ow, people like to point to the F-16 

decision as the counter to all this. We've already 

talked about the limits of the F-16 and the weather 

environment and so forth, but more than that, the 

F-16 is a long way off. These things that are happening 

now in the Soviet Air Force are things that are 

happening today and tomorrow and were happening 

yesterday. This is modernization right now, and we 

are talking about an F-16 deployment that won't have 
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an operational impact for years . 

Even now you see problems springing up with the 

program. You know, the coproduction thing is very 

thorny, increasing costs on the airplane, there 

will be slowdowns of one kind or another as we· try to 

get through this maze of coproduction and everybody 

gets his hand in the. pie. You know, lt may be years 

before we see any numbers of that particular airplane 

in operational units in Europe, and in those inter­

vening years at the rate the Soviets are going, you 

are going to see a large edge of superiority developing. 

I have a few general questions that I would like to 

wrap this up with. One of the big problems that's 

seen iri the Air Force, and it's never .really been 

solved, is in regard to the assignment of roles and 

miss ions to the var_ious services. It appears t .hey 

are constantly infringing on the roles of each other. 

For example, as you well know, we nave three different 

air forces. Can you offer us any ideas on how to 

better define these roles, and what is a possible 

solution to it? 

371 

UNCLASSlFlED 



UNCLASSIFIED 
VOGT 

V: You know, the · Defense Department is always looking at 

ways to reorganize so they can effectively amalgamate 

the efforts of all the services . We have a new r eport, 

for example, that has j ust .been released, the so-called 

Steadman Report, on proposed revampiny of the struc­

ture of the Defense Department. 1 think probably all 

of these efforts are going to fall short, however, of 

that which is required to dp. Really, what you are 

talking about is, namely, to get everybody working in 

the right direction and complementiAg each other 

rather than opposing each other or competing. 

A certain amount of co111petition ·is good and healthy, 

and I point, f or example, to the fact that the A~r 

Force found itself fighting the war in Vietnam with a 

lot of syste111s that were devel~ped by the Navy. The 

F-4, itself, was a Navy a1rplane. It turned out to 

be our mainstay in southeast Asia. Some of the more 

effective weapons, like Rockeye, were Navy-developed 

systems. If we hadn't had the Navy in the business 

during this, the competition wouldn't have been there, 

and when the time came, we wouldn't have had the 

weapons to do the job. so I . think a certain amount 

of competit i on \s he~ltny, and l encourage it. But 
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we shouldn't get into major hassles over major roles 

in .major areas. I think that's where the joint 

machinery has t o be st r engthened to see that this 

doesn't happen. Instead o f each service coming out 

with its own menu of items for production and R&D 

every year, it ought to be something that's looked at 

and agreed upon i n the joint arena first with the 

roles and ~issions carefully hammered out. 

_The machinery for doing · this in the JCS structure is 

very weak. l-lhen I 11as the Director, we worked very 

hard at trying to promote one or tuo efforts--certain 

documents--which the Chiefs uere interested in develop­

ing which would, in fact, have us all take a joint 

look at the R&D program and the development programs 

for each of the services. These efforts really 

haven't gotten too far. 

You may have heard about one of the documents which 

was designed to comc .. up with a joint approach to new 

weapon systems development and who ought to be doing 

what, but it hasn't really achieved its intended 

purpose, and you still find each service coming in 

with his own ideas, and in many cases, selling them 
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separately ·to the Secretary of Defense and promoting 

them and sometimes in competition with the other 

services. I say we have to strengthen the machinery 

of the JCS, the joint machinery, so these issues are 

resolved and so . the charters are pretty well established 

within the services when they come forward to the 

point of sponsoring something bef ore the Congress and 

with the Secretary. I know of no other way to do it. 

It means more a~thority for joint machinery and 

little less for the individual services. 

Have you entertained the idea of the "one-uniform" 

concept? 

V: No. I like the idea of the competition between the 

services. I don't think that offers us very much. 

You know, they tried it up in Canada, and my Canadian 

cohorts tell me it didn't achieve any of the designed 

goals or very few of them. So I see no answer there. 

I think all of the services can work together in 

their own uniforms if they increase the effectiveness 

of the joint machinery. I have worked hard in the 

joint arena for many years. You know, I had 7 or 8 

years in the JCS, and for several of those years, I was 
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in a key position actually running the meetings of 

the operations deputies, and the operations deputies 

handled, you know, 90 percent of all the business ot 

the JCS, so I was in the middle of all these kinds of 

things you are talking about. 

I know well-intentioned guys are willing to play the 

game and the joint arena can successfully work together, 

and bhey can come up with appropriate divisions of 

their, roles and missions. There are roles and mission~ 

that are pretty clear for all of us. I think there 

is a piece of the pie for everybody. That's the 

( only solution I can offer. 

c 

H: You might r·emember that here awhile back it was alleged 

the Army actually h~d more aircraft that the Air 

Force. 

V: Yes. I think probably at one point that was true, 

helicopters and light planes and so forth. When you 

add ,them all up, there are large numbers. But nobody 

has ever suggested the Army has tried to take over 

the major airpower roles of the Air Force. 
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I think what the Army wants and expects, and has the 

right to expect, is assurances from the Air Force 

that we have a continued interest in their well-being, 

and we do intend to provide them the support they 

need in combat, and we are cognizant of their air 

transport requirements; we do intend to . develop, · 

for example, a new medium transport that will be 

able to hand!~ Army equipment. 

The Army is developing new main battle tanks and new 

weapons of all kinds. They simply won't fit in C-130s, 

so it's up to the Air Force to wind up with equipment 

that can handle these outsized cargoes and move them 

around in a combat environment. There is a need in 

Europe, for example, to assist the Army in this role. 

1 d9n't think the Army is going to be able to move 

their equipment back and forth over those roads in 

Germany once the war begins with impunity like ~hey 

would like to. You've got the refugee problem which 

is going to crowd roads, and you've got possible ai~ 

attacks by the Soviets to contend with, and a lot of 
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stuff will have to be moved in very quickly up in the 

forward areas and laterally bY air and, you know, the 

C-130 is simply not equipped to do that kind of a job 

any more, particularly when we t~lk about outs.ized 

cargo, certainly not main battle tanks and that sort 

of thin9. 

We have new prototype developments like the YC-14 and 

-15 which would go a . long way to help the Army in 

this rega~d. They don't enjoy the same .priorities 

and emphases within the Air Force that F-16s and 

F-15s and other weapon systems do, and I think the 

Army over the years has been a little resentful of 

this. You know, •You treat us and our concerns as 

missions of lesser importance.• I think there is a 

lot of validity in that. We tend to buy the things 

we want to buy to carry out our missions successfully, 

and the things the Army has to rely on us for have, 

in the past, gotten lower pri~rities. So r think we 

·have to treat them a little more fairly in this 

r~gard and meet their legit~mate concerns and require­

ments. If we do, I think our relationship with 

the Army would improve very much. 
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I haven't heard the Army, for example, saying, •well, 

we have to buy our own airplanes to transport our 

equipment around because you guys don't want to do it 

for us." They are consciously working the effort and 

trying to support us in getting these vehicles. It's 

just that the same kind of emphasis hasn't been placed 

by the Air Force on these programs that ha~e been 

placed on other programs of "greater interest to us. 

H: Here again, the helicopter force was built up in 

relation to the Vietnam war, and I have heard others 

say if you apply that same factor .in Europe, it's 

( going to be worthless. 

V: Well, the issue of use of choppers and all low-perform­

ance airplanes is a very real one. My own views are 

very clear on it. I don't think either the Army 

chopper or our low-performance airplanes, like A-lOs, 

are going to be too survivable, certainly not in the 

area of the FBBA (forward edge of the battle area) or 

forward of it. So the roles they will be relegated 

to are going to be less significant than most people 

appreciate or realize. The recent attempts for tne 

Army and the Air Porce to work together will mutually 
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support each other and also the JAWS [Joint Attack 

weapon Systems) exercise is a credible thing. I think 

we ought to encourage that sort of cooperation, but I 

have the impression that it's one weak reed leaning on 

another Weilk reed. If you have to hav.e an Army gunship 

to k~ep ~n A-10 alive and vice ~· you don't have 

much. And I am concerned that a lot of wishful 

thinking has gone into it. 

I do know that during the Quang Tri campaign we 

talked about earlier, when T-54 tanks were brought in 

and when the Army rushed over its TOW helicopter to 

help us with this probl~m, we were never able to. 

employ it up where it was needed--up in the high­

threat area--because the SA-7 had appeared. The SA-7 

made any use of choppers and low-performance air­

planes impossible up in that high-risk area , Ev en in 

Vietnam, you see, it had limited capaoility and 

application. The TOW in Vietnam was about as useless 

as the Maverick was to be on the Ho Chi Minh Trail, 

as I described earlier. 

So I do t~ink there is a lot of wishful thinking on 

the part of both airmen and Army personnel with 
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regard to the survivability of low-performance systems. 

The Army chopper will have a role. I can see a role 

for vertical lift capability to help move artillery 

a round behind ):he 1 ines, and 11edevac (medical 

evacuation) and certain vital equipment that will 

have to be moved forward when they are under fire and 

moving rapidly. The chopper provides this kind of 

utility and usefulness for them. The Chinook-type of 

thing which the Ar,my has, I think, is very useful to 

them. When I was over in PACAF, for example, I was 

assessing the requirements over in Korea, and it 

became a_ppjlrent to me there were limited quantities of 

things. They needed mobility, and the mobility you 

get with chopper lift is great. I foresaw over there 

a very decided requirement for chopper capability and 

vertical lift capability to move limited assets 

around. And NATO is pretty much in the same boat. 

So I would applaud the use of choppers and the employ­

ment of choppers by the Army in this role. I just 

think they're a bit overoptimistic in the use of the 

gunship in this kind of an environment. For the same 

reason, I say the same thing about the A-10. rou 

simply · cannot slow down in heavily defended areas and 

stooge around and live. 
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vertical lift capability 'to move limited assets 
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'H: Along a little different line here, there's been a 

lot of recent concern about the loss of Air Force 

pilots, getting out early and going to the airlines 

and so forth, and in a recent issue of ~Force 

~ a Captain Randy Smith stated irt a letter to the 

editor in .regard to this loss of Air Force pilots to 

the airlines: "The rate has certainly increased over 

the past few months as airline hiring began to pick 

up, but if you go back. and look, a healthy percentage 

of those separating were and are doing so, not to 

move to 'a better job, but to leave one that they 

could. no longer tolerate. • Captain Smith cites the 

OER (officer effectiveness report] · system, commanders 

bucking for a star, nonmobility weapon systems, forced 

overeducation, ~HE (professional military education], 

graduate degrees·, ~ ~· Were you aware of these 

complaints? And what would you recommend to alleviate 

this kind of a situation? 

V: Well, of course, in all of my southeast Asian ex­

perience, I didn't have that problem. I had some 

de9icated guys who were fighting a war and knew they 

were fighting a war and were highly motivated, and 

problems of this kind, which are problems of the 
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peacetime Air Force, didn't exist. Morale was never 

greater than I experienced among my troops down there. 

These were gung-ho guys, doing a tremendous job, keen 

on their mission, keen on their responsibilities, 

fully aware of the contributions they were making, 

and despite all the furor at home and the fact that 

they were being labeled as criminals ~nd e\~rything 

else by the anti-war elements, they hung in there ·and 

did the job. 

When I got to Europe, I expected to find much more of 

the peacetime morale problems, but r was quite sur­

prised to see that it didn't exist there either, 

because people seemed to be impressed with the new 

mission requirement--the requirement to get on with 

modernizing and improving ourselves and being ready 

to do the job that had to be done. Over there I was 

quite delighted to find many of ~he young guys that 

had flown for me in Vietnam now in the cockpits over 

in Europe and, I think, introducing a lot of realism 

into European planning and thinking in, certainly, 

tactics. 

I do note now that time has rolled on and we are 
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in a period of relative peace; the sense of urgency 

of the mission has diminished somewhat and with that 

comes the kinds of things you are talking about. 

If a guy is no longer really impressed with the urgency 

of his role and his mission and responsibility' and if 

he isn't concerned about the threat to the extent 

that he was before, he begins to occupy his mind with 

other things. I think we have got to recognize that 

we are dealing today with a new generation that is 

far more pragmatic than the generation I remember 

within the ~ir Force. 

Let me illustrate. When I was entering the Air Force 

and trying to fly airplanes, it wa~ with a feeling 

that I had a mission and responsibility and a great 

desire to be part of it. Of course, it was the war 

years of World War II. I thought the greatest ~bing 

in the world was to wind up in the seat of a fighter 

plane, to be my own commander of this magnificent 

p~ece of equipment, and to do the things that had to 

be done to f~ee the world of Nazism and all that. 

Over the years, the challenge which was ·presented by 

the threat of the Soviet movement around the world-­

the Berlin airlift, the Korean war, and the other 
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things--tended to keep me motivated and interested in 

doing my best to fight what I thought was a threat to 

our security. Virtually everybody in my graduating 

class wanted to be a fighter pilot. When we were all 

asked to state our preferences, we all rushed to put 

our names down for the new fighter outfits. We 

wanted to be aggressive, and we wanted to be in 

control of our own fate and destiny. 

Today, in the graduating classes of the flying schools, 

you find th~re is a qifferent view. I, last year 

for example, spoke at a graduating exercise of one of 

our flying classes, and I had a chance to talk to 

many of the graduating guys over a few drinks the 

evening before. It was a delightful and informal 

gathering, and I asked many of . the~, "What do you 

want to do when you graduate? What kind of an assign­

ment do you want? Do you want to get into the F-15 

or F-16 or what is it?" I was astounded at the 

answers. 

Very few of them were in~erested in flying the F-15 

or the F-16. Most of them wanted to get into multi-

engine. Many of them were asking for assignments in 
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MAC (Military Airlift Command). I asked some of them, 

•why is this? You know, when I was just getting into the 

business, 1 would have given my rig~t arm to get into a 

fighter, and the last thing I would want to do was wind 

up flying transports.• The answer I got was, •well, you 

know, the world has changed. Back in those days you 

were involved in fighting. You know, we aren't. 

Today we have to think about other things. We have 

to think about our future, our fa~ilies, potential in 

~ase we don't stay in the Air Force, and so forth. 

Let's face it, 2,000 hours in a fighter versus 5,000 

hours in a transport airplane makes a hell of a 

difference to a man who may decide later that he 

wants to opt for anoth~r career.• 

1 found_many of them very much more concerned about 

matters that we used to dismiss as trrelevant, like 

family inconvenience. You know, I hauled my wife 

and my daughter from one end of the world to the 

other without thinking or batting an eye. It was 

part of my assignment and responsibility and my duty. 

~Today this kid is very much concerned about what his 

wife thinks about his next move and whether or not 

she is going along and whether or not it's going to be 
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in an area where she will have access to commissaries 

and other things or whether she has to live on the 

economy. 

This begins to weigh on him, so you find that attitudes 

have changed. They are a very pragmatic bunch. I'm 

not saying they are not motivated as much as we 

~ere. They probably are, but they have different 

things motivating them now. And there isn't the 

sense of urgency we had when we were getting into the 

cockpit. But they aren't all anxious to go out there 

and be fighter jocks any more and to do the things 

we thought were so glamorous and so important. They 

are really interested in things that may help them 

later on in life. This is true, incidentally, not 

only in the Air Force. l have encountered this . in 

the naval arm, in talking to some of the people 

recently on that. 

I recently .had a chance to talk to US Naval Academy 

graduates in this last graduating ciass, and I find 

there is the same concern for other things like 

family life and their future. 
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H: Well, in ~elation to that question, I have anothe[' 

one somewhat akin to that. I n a Janua['y-Februa['y 

1976 issue of !!! University Review, a former Squadron 

Officer School (SOS) instructor pointed out that 61 per­

cent of the surveyed SOS junior officer students, "indi­

cated that in order to satisfy every requi['ement of their 

job, they we['e required to sac['ifice their integrity 

at times.• The survey showed there is a significant 

lack of faith on the part of junior officers in 

the integrity of senior Air Force mana·gers and leaders. 

What are your feelings on this, and what must be done 

to overcome this problem? 

V: You know, 1 saw this problem developing, and I saw 

how it developed. The higher levels in Washington 

we['e getting inc['easingly into the business of the 

se['vices and placing demands on the services in the 

- training programs, in the active programs of the 

various organizations and units, and we began to run 

into this problem of having to fill squares. A lot 

of these things were originated well above the service 

level, up in the Assistant Secretary levels of the 

Office of the Secretary of Defense, and indeed some 

of them beyond that, over in the White House or 
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elsewhere. all demanding certain things be done so 

the American GI or airman was, in fact, doing things 

expected of him. You know, we had the minority 

program items. 

Here's something which, while I won't discuss the 

merits of it, is an illustration of what we are 

talking about. Every guy aiong the line somewhere 

has to attend so many hours a year minority traini~g 

programs. This ~s something that was imposed, orig­

inally, on us at a . very high level to insure that the 

minority programs and the minority elements in the 

services were getting their just attention. I'm not 

saying it's right or wrong. What I am saying is that 

here now, on top of · all the other things a combat 

unit had to do to get its people ready to fight and 

to equip airplanes and to repair them and keep them 

operational, in addition to all that, now he has 

another requirement that's been dumped from above on 

him which eats into his .training time. 

Now you can do one of two things--either cut down on 

something else or expand the working hours of t .he 

individual. Now the working hour expansi~n thing ·is 
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knocked oat·by other directives that ~ave come down 

which state very clearly that you've got to limit the 

working hours of these people or give them compensatory 

time off. This is another infringement that impacts 

on the total training program. When you put all 

these things together, you find what this young man 

has described which is a situation where, in an effort 

to fill all the squares--all the blocks--that have 

now been levied against you, you either have to cheat 

and not do it, and in fact do what he suggests--give 

up your integrity and fill the square on the side--or 

make impossible demands on the personnel, timewise. 

You simply can't fill all these squares and still 

train and do your job and get the time off you are 

supposed to get. So this whole thing has become 

overburdened. 

The answer lies in reviewing all these things very 

carefully and seeing those which are absolutely 

necessary and those that are just nice to have and 

eliminating all of the nice-~o-have things and getting 

down to the hard-core things which really relate t"o 

the mission of that individual. I'd opt for a whole­

sale curtailment of a lot of these programs so they 
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don't eat into the time of the man who is trying to 

be trained to do his job. 

H: We 11, there is a perpetual problem that always h.aunted 

the Air Force as well as the other services which, of 

course, is the OER system. As you probably well know, 

they'v,e always had the tendency to inflat.e, and they 

eventually become 1neaningless. Therefore, it is revised 

from time to time. Could you shed any light on this 

problem, and what we must do to try to correct that? 

V: Let me say that my philosophy over the yea~s has been 

to ignore, as far as my own career was concerned, the 

OER system. some guys have been concerned about 

comments that have been made, and they appealed these 

comments, and they go before boards trying to get 

records changed, and they want OERs changed. They 

are awfully concerned about what the last commander 

said out of the fea.r that it's going to impact on 

their career. If 1 had done that, I would nave gone 

nuts a long time ago, because I was exposed to some 

situations where I was being rated by people from 

other services and where this wasn't always the most 

enviable position to be in. 

390 



VOGT 

I worried, initially, when I was a young officer 

about this, and I finally decided wwell, this is 

crazy. Don't worry about what does into your OER. 

Do your best, get people to appreciate that you are 

capable of doing a good job and your career will take 

care of itself.• 

My· advice to any young man today is to do just that. 

Your OER means one thing; but it's not nearly as 

important as your being wanted_ by somebody because of 

your reputation as a guy who gets the job done. And 

wl:lether your OER. says you are· very good, or fair, or 

good, or · excellent, is not nearly as important as the 

reputation you achieve which, in turn, leads to some­

body wanting you for a job he has in mind where he has to 

have a guy he ~an rely on. That's the thing that 

really makes the difference--your personal reputation 

built on your personal performance. Forget the OER • . 

You have t<? have, obviously·, OERs that get you by the 

boards and so forth, but that comes, too, as part of 

this process that I am describing. If you get to be 

a guy who is in demand and people want you in their 

Qutfit because they know you are performing, then the 
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ratings, you see, will support that over the years. 

You may get a few bad ones, but l;>y and large, they'l·l 

support tha t. 

Promotions don't come t hrough automatic procedures 

where a guy sits down and says, •All right, the time 

has now come for Joe Blow to be promoted.• It comes 

because somebody ·said, "This guy is ready for promotion, 

and I want him promoted." And they make the effort 

to promote him. That's how it works, certainly, 

in the officer corps. 

H: They're presently under, probably, a different system 

than you were ever familiar with--the quota system. 

V: Well, the quota system, of course, came in when I was 

there. But once again, do you think a commander is 

going to promote a guy whom he has no confidence in, 

or a guy who has the reputation of being a nine to 

fiver and takes great, big lunch hours and so forth 

but has been working hard at getting OERs and 'always 

contests the bad ones, and so forth, or that fellow 

who always does the job the way you want it done, who 

is in there when you need him, and who hasn't let you 
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down? 'when the quota comes before the commander and 

he's asked to state who ought to be in this quota.' 

that's the kind of thing he is going to be ~hinking 

about. 

H: That's still a very hard choice when you've got a 

whole group. 

V: Oh, sure, sure. Of course, it is, but there is no 

way that I know of where you can come up with an 

absolutely fail-proof system which will insure the 

most competent guy, under . all circumstances, always 

gets promoted ahead of the other. As I say, the 

factor of human relationships enter into it all the 

time. You know, the guy who· has a personality clash 

with his boss, who may have all the education and may 

pass all the service tests with flying colors, if he 

doesn't get along ~ith the boss, his efficiency 

report isn't going to look very good. 

H: Well, the way it stands -now, if that .happens at a 

critical time, when he's first coming up for promotion, 

it can definitely ruin him. The boards will never 

consider him again. I think there is--what is it?--
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less than 17 percent of . those that ~ave been passed 

over once will ever get the chance again. 

V: Sure. Well, over the years, as I say, that's been 

my philosophy. It worked for me. I don't think I 

ever, ever really made an effort to see :ny efficiency 

reports when they were finalized and put into the 

records. I remember once when we were all asked to 

come in and review our record~. For a long time, I 

found a million reasons why I didn't want to spend 

the time to g~ in. It really didn't interest me that 

much, because I knew I had to establish relationships 

with people who had confidence in me. And I knew 

guys wanted me for new assignments, and I figured 

that that was the way to operate in the Air Force. I 

knew other guys around me who were absolutely psycho­

pathic about those reports, who worried about it for 

months before it was due and who ran in to get it as 

soon as it was available, and then started appeal 

procedures and went in and cried on the boss' shoulder. 

I mean, that was ridiculous. 

I remember one guy--and this actually happened many 

years ago--who was very unhappy with the report he 
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got. He actually worked for me, but I was the assistant 

~o the overall man who was running the .show, who was 

a two-star, and I was a colonel, and this guy was . a 

colonel. And the rating system was such that I 

did the rating and 'the endorsement; was by the commander. 

I gave him what I tqought was a fairly good, reason-

able report. Well, he carne in and said, "Gee, if 

this doesn't read like I'm absolutely superior, how 

am I going anywhere? Everybody has to be superior to 

go someplace •. • I said, •took, you aren't that superior. 

Let·• s be honest. You're out on the golf .course most 

of the time. I'm in here~on Satu.rdays, and I know 

the guys who are showing p and putting the extra 

time in and that I have t rely on to get . the job 

done. You're not one of hem. I thought I was very 

fair in giving you this report, which is a good report.• 

"Oh, it's going to kill me, and I demand that I have 

this thing reviewed. I want the boss to prepare the 

report rather than you. You're just a colonel like I 

am.• I said, "Okay. I'll tell him that's whit you 

want done, and I'm sure he'll do it.• 

So I went in to this two-star and I said, "You know, 

he's unhappy with his report, and I thought I was 
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fair to him. But I think it's proper for me to be 

objective about it, so why don't you rate him? He 

is the senior division chief, and he is a colonel." 

The boss sa~ down and wrote a report that was measur­

ably worse than mine, (laughter) and it was a very 

stiff and a very blunt report. This guy got it and 

he goddamn near died. He came crying to me and said, 

"I want to go back to the old one.• So there you 

are. All he did was compound his problem. ln the 

end, it worked to his disadvantage, his overconcern 

for what the ·written word said and the numerical 

rating. I didn't fool around with that sort of thing. 

In fact, some of my ratings over the years, and now 

that I think back on them, were pretty me~iocre. Ot 

course, I would wind up in jobs where, as I say, the 

rating officer would be from another service or the 

guy wouldn't believe pilots were great guys. (laughter) 

He wasn't going out of his way to say, •vogt's a 

great fellow.• But I took that in stride. 

H: Do you want to add anything? 

M: I've got a question I've saved until the end. Maybe 
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you can shed some insight on it since you are the 

only individual who was in command of PACAF as well 

as USAFE. I'd like to personally believe there 

was a litt.le foresight on somebody's part to capital ize 

on the experience of Southeast Asia and bring it to 

USAFE. Co~ld you shed some insight on this? 

v: I think that's true. I think it was a deliberate 

move. It was a move by General Brown and General 

Jones [Gen David C.]; Brown, of course, was the re­

tiring Air Force Chief and Jones was coming in. The 

job in Europe was vacant: I think it was consciously 

an eff.ort on the part of both of them to get some of 

the experience from Southeast.Asia over in Europe, 

and indeed in some of my discussions later with the 

Secretary of Defense, he occasionally mentioned this. 

They had sent me over there for this purpose--to 

bring some of the modern thinking and the latest 

combat experience over to Europe. so it wasn't by 

accident. I think it was a concerted move. There 

may have been other reasons for it, too, but ·that 

certainly was one o~ them: 

H: You had at least a couple more years to go on your 
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tour. "why did you choose to retire when you did? 

V: By Air Force rules, I was up for retirement. The Air 

Force has rigidly adhered to this 35-year rule. 

There have .been some exceptions but, basically, they 

have stuck to it. My 35 years was up as the Air 

Force measures it, because I had some constructive 

service. I don't know if you are familiar with the 

constructive service system. Back in the days when a 

hump was developing in the services, they tried to 

space out the retirement dates of officers so that 

this hump wouldn't all occur at the same time, and 

they'd all get out at the same time. So they gave 

some of us what they called constructive service, and 

these were credits for combat duty and educational 

levels and other things -which were cranked into a 

formula which was then applied and which, in effect, 

.gave us retirement service . In my case, it was some­

thing like 1 1/2 years. So I really retired 1 1/2 

years earlier than the 35 actual years of service, 

but it was due to -this constructive service provision. 

I was technically up for retirement at this time. 

Now many of my compatriots in Europ~, and particularly 
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some of the foreign officers, couldn't understand 

th'is. They said, "You know, you've just come over 

here. You've only been here a year or so, and you 

started this new headquarters. We were all getting 

in gear. We were making great strides, and your 

country is pull~r.g you out." I said, "Well, you've 

got· to understand that the Air Force has a concept of 

staying young. We've got to stay young, and that's 

really what this is all about. We want young leader­

ship and new people coming up." 

[End Tape 9, Side 1) 

Well, I was asked one day by one of the chiefs of the 

NATO air forces why 1 was leaving after only 1 year 

or 14 months of duty over there, and I tried this 

theory out on him. I said, •rou know, it's the 

emphasis in the .United States Air Force on having 

young people in these . jobs.• He said, "Yes; I've 

heard that, General Vogt, but the man who is replacing 

you ls a year older than you are.• So I quit at that 

· point. (laughter) I didn't figure I could go into 

the intricacies of conat~uctive service and active 

duty and so forth. It happened, of course, in the 
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case of General Ellis [Gen Richard H.), who replaced 

me, that he had had interrupted service and had been 

out of the service and had got back in around the 

Korean war, and so he didn't have all the time in 

that I had. But, you can't explain this to foreigners. 

If the objective is to keep young; you don't put 

older officers in. Obviously, the Americans are 

crazy. (laughter) 

H: Well, I have heard it said by several retired general 

officers that they feel the retirement laws are un-

realistic: whereas, in civilian industry, you're 

reaching your peak about the age we put them out to 

pasture in the Air Force. How do you view that7 

V: I think there will be some modification over the 

years. I do think we are taking a lot of experience 

and talent and retiring it too early that ought to be 

available. This is true not only in the officer rank 

but in the enlisted ranks also. You know, the Soviets 

keep their people almost forever. You have commanders 

that have been there for 15 years or more. Take the 

co~ander of the Navy in the ' soviet Union: · I don't 

know how many years he's been there, but it's been 
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many, many years. He's been able to mak~ great im­

provements and advances in the Soviet Navy because he 

knows all the things that have to be known now, and 

he's moving forwarg in the areas he has to move forward. 

He doesn't have to relearn every 3 years like when a 

new guy comes in, you see. so we are at a disadvantage 

in that regard. 

You have to balance that off against the desire to 

keep people young and vigorous, but I don't think a 

guy is no longer young and vigorous at age 57, which 

I was when I got out--56. That's still pretty young, 
_t, 

certainly by ~ndustry standards.- But. I'm not out of 

Government service by any m·eans. I 1 ve taken a lot of 

jobs since then. I find my horizons have broadened 

considerably. I'm not only worried about Air Force 

problems now; I'm worried about the bigger problems 

of the .alliance; I'm worried about the SALT issues. 

I'm constantly involved in groups that are meeting on 

this. I get to go overseas and meet with foreign 

elements and groups. Every day when my mail comes, 

there is a request to participate in some meeting or 

some_discussion or some effort that's underway in the 

defense area or somewhere in the security area. I'm, 

401 

UNCLASSIFIED . 



( 

c 

u LAS~i._!!CD VOGT 

I think, probably having as much of an impact on the 

way things are going to turn out, ultimately, as I 

would have had if I ·had stayed in as a f ull four-star 

general. 

You know, when I was the commander over in Europe, 

for example', if I wanted to get back and talk to the 

Secretary of Def~nse, I had to go through channels. 

Everybody had to agree that it was a goOd idea, and 

many times they said it wasn't. Today I can walk 

into the Defense Department and,meet with the highest 

officials and find they are always willing and able 

to find time to talk to me. Just 1 week ago, for 

example, th~ Under Sfocretary for Tactical Systems, 

Bob Moore, had me in to talk to all his people and 

express my views on where we ought to be going in new 

tactical systei~S in the cooing years. I couldn It 

have done that as a four-star general. The Air Force 

wouldn't have stood still for having one of their 

commanders walk into the Assistant Secretary of 

Defense or the ·Deputy Secretary and express his 

personal views on what's needed. So if I did get a 

chance to talk to them, it would have ·been in a way 

that would have had me presenting the official Air 
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Force view, and they would have taken my notes and my 

speech and revised it. What would .have come out 

would have been the official Air Force position. But 

today 1 go in and tell them wha~ I think. So 1 think, 

in the final analysis, I am having as much impact~ or 

probably .more, on some very important areas than I 

would have had if 1 had stayed in as a four-star. 

And I discovered, as all officers will in time, that 

there is a world beyond the Air Force. Everything 

does not come to an end when ~our career ends in the 

Air Force. There are a lot of people who have an 

urgent requirement for your talents and your abilities 

and your experience. In many ways, it's a new challenge 

and a fascinating one--and broadening. Instead of 

narrowly focusing on issues of the USAFE Commander and 

the AFCE Commander, I'm now facing bigger issues, 

like . where should we be going in SALT?. And what has 

to be done within the NATO alliance to make it work? 

And things of that kind. 

8: As a kind of closing-out question, then, are you 

satisfied with the present direction of the Air Force? 
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V: Well, I think, as you can probably see in the dis­

cussion that's gone on before, that I'm critical of 

many of .the developl)lents in the Air Force. I'm 

critical of some of the choices of weapon s ystems. 

I'm critical of · their lack of emphasis on all-weather 

systems. I'm critical of their lack of effort in the 

more exotic conventional munitions areas. I'm con­

cerned about SALT developments, and the position that 

we are taking in those talks. I'm concerned about 

the strategic posture of the United States, a lot of 

which is represented by Air Force assets, and what we 

aTe going to do about them. so I think I would have 

done a lot of things differently than the present 

leaders of the Air Force have done. But I must say 

they are all very knowledgeable men with great ability. 

You know, the George Browns and the Davey Joneses are 

not neophytes; they are guys that have been around 

and have been there and have done the job. And one 

can argue whether my views are right and theirs are 

wrong, and whether ~y emphasis is the right one or 

theirs is the right ·one. I really can't say. But I 

like to feel that I know what I'm talking about, and 

that I speak with a professional viewpoint based on 

years of experience. 
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V: Well, I think, as you can probably see in the dis­

cussion that's gone on before, that I'm critical of 

many of the developments in the Air Force. I •-m 

critical of some of the choices of weapon s ystems . 

I'm critical of their lack of emphasis on all-weather 

systems. I'm critical of their l ·ack of effort in the 

more exotic conventional munitions areas. I'm con­

cerned about SALT developments, and the position that 

we are tak'ing in those talks. I'm concerned about 

the strategic posture of the United States, a lot of 

which is represented by Air Force assets, and what we 

are going to do about them. So I think I would have 

done a lot of things differently than the present 

leade~s of the Air Force have done. But I must say 

they are all very knowledgeable men with great ability. 

You know, the George Browns and the Davey .Joneses are 

not neophytesi they are guys that have been· around. 

and have been there and have done the job. And one 

can argue whether my views are right and theirs are 

wrong, and whether my emphasis is the right one or 

theirs is the right one. I really can't say. But I 

like to feel that I know what I'm talking about, and 

that I speak with a professio~al viewpoint based on 

years of experience. 
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I am cognizant of the fact that I was the last combat 

commander. !The guy that had the responsibility to 

fight the war in the ·last final hours, and I am very 

proud of th j fact that we did it effectively and in a 

professional way. I am extremely proud of all the 

support I 9ft from the guys who worked under me, who 

were all vety competent professionals, from the 
I 

sergeants down there on the line who were keeping 

this thing going, to the fellows in the cockpit who 

carried out l the responsibilities of the missions. 

That's been 1a good experience for me, and I have a 

very good feeling about my career and my experiences 

in the military service. 

I think the time had come, at that point when I did 

get out, where I had to get on to bigger and broader 

things. I right add that I had been asked to stay 

on. This isn't generally known, but I had been asked 

by the Secretary of Defense to stay on for another 

assignment, , but ~thought, all things considered, the 

:::: :::.·:[·:-:0:::.:: ::.
1

::·:~•• in •ind fo< you? 
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V: Well, I don't think I want to disclose that now, 

because it was one that involved some fundamental 

changes in command assignments, and I thought these 

would be difficult problems for him and, I think, as 

I say, the time had arrived for me, at that pointr to 

get out. Like all others, I would have liked to have 

been the Chief of Staff of the Air Force. More than 

that, 1 would have liked to have been Chairman of the 

JCS, an area in which r had had a lot of e~perience. 

Those kinds of things probably would have inspired me 

or motivated me ·to stay on in the service and extend 

beyond the 35 years. They weren't offered to me, so 

I think the time had arrived for me to leave, and 1 

did. But I do think the guys that were chosen were 

exceptionally well qualified and had great competence 

in the area and have done a good job for us. 

R: Are ther~ any areas I didn't bring up that you would 

like to address? 

V: Well, I'm sure there's a million things we could go 

on chatting about, probably fill 100 more tapes, 

but I think for the purposes of this effort, we have 

about brought it to an end. There'll be a lot of 
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words to transcribe there. 

H: On behalf of the Oral History Branch and the Office 

of Air Force History, we thank you most heartily. 

[End of Oral History Interview tK239.0512-1093} 
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